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Preface

The bulk of the intended contribution of this thesis
is the technical work of translation. Yusuf Ibrahim Yazbak's
volume® deserves to be read by those interested in 19th Century
Lebanese political and social history, in a more incidental way
it brings attention to 19th Century Ottoman provincial governnent
in general and to the origins of the institution of confessionalisn
in current-day Lebanese politics.

llore specifically, the chief merit of Yazbak's book is the
material it contains on the peasant revolt of 1859-60 against the
feudal landlords of the district of Kisrawan. DBoth the letters
published in Chapter V of this thesis and the ' Agiqi manuscript
of Chapter II furnish information on this subject which to my
knowledge is not available in Inglish- and French-lanzuage
sources. Yazbak's own commentary is also worthy of attention,
but more for its interpretation than its uncovering of factual
information.

In my ovm commentary I have sousht to fill gaps in the his-
torical narrative and to provide an interpretation which draws
both on Yazbak's work and on other available material. From the
handwritten files of consular reports of the British Consulate in
Beirut I have found data which I believe is not published else-
where relating to the Druse rebellion of 1842, the beginnings of
the Ga'im llaqamiyyah form of government in 1843 and 1844, and the

rule of Amir Bashir Amad AbT al-Lamah the Christian Qat im llaqam,

*¥  Yaszbak's original Arabic title_is Thaur fitn
Lubnan: Safhah najhiilah min tarlkf—a’féhjab—% ‘_"%141‘11-@1 1873
(Published by al_ﬂéil Tah magazine, Damascus, 1938).
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from 1854 to 1860.

The account of the 1860 massacres presented here con-
tains no significant new factual information. This subject has
received the attention of many writers of various viewpoints.
To name a few of the best knowm, I refer the reader to

Iskandar Abkarius, The Lebanon in Turmoil; Colonel Churchill,

The Druses and the llaronites under Turkish Rule, 1840-1860;

17, Jouplain, La question du Liban; and Francois Lenormant,

Histoire des massacres de Syrie en 1860. The reorganisation

of Lebanon's government in 1861 is the beginning of another
story than the subject of this thesis; it is well documented in
the British Foreigp Office's publication of Correspondence
Relating to the Affairs of Syria, 1860-6l. Chapter IV of the

thesis,-dealing with Yosuf Bey Karam, is included only because
it forms part of the translation, for it has little to do with
the internal conflicts of Lebanon of 1840 to 1850, Karam has
received rather scant attention from Western authors, but his
career has been covered in detail in Arabic, notably by Saj'3n

al-Khazin in his books YOsuf Bey Karam £I'1l-Manfa, YOsuf Bey Karam

Qartim llagam lasara Lubnan, and others.

The footnotes in this thesis include those by Yazbak and
those by myself. The former are indicated by a (Y) placed after
the footnote number. iy own have only the number, except when
they are sub-footnotes to Yazbak's footnotes. In such cases they
are signified by (K) without a number.

Chapters include (a) commentary by the translator (myself),
(b) commentary by the editor (Yazbak), and (c¢) the manuscript

by 'Agqiqi. Yazbak does not comment on Chapter IV, and Chapter V
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consists only of letters which Yazbak included in his publica-
tion. I have placed Yazbak's introduction to his boock 1in
Chapter I as part of his commentary, to avoid an unnecessary
break in the continuity.

The Arabic used by 'AqIqI in his manuscript and by
the various writers of the letters of Chapter V deserves a
word of comment. Their language is semi-literate and contains
frequent misspellings and grammatical errors. 1AqiqI's vocab-
ulary is simple and his phraseology extremely repetitious; I
have made no attempt to correct this in the translation. The
letters of Chapter V are far more difficult: their writers
seem to attempt a classical erudition that is far beyond their
reach and end by producing a curious mixture of obscure collo-
quial idiom and pompous phrase that defies an accurate and
sensitive translation.

My acknowledgements are due to Professor Zeine Zeine
for his interest and assistance in supervising preparation of
this thesis; to Drs. Nabih Faris, Anis Frayha, and Issam Yaktin
for assistance in the translation; to Mr. Norman Lewis for making
available files of the British Consulate; and to Mr. Yusuf Ibra-

hTm Yazbak for an informative and stimulating interview.

Malcolm H. Kerr.
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Abstract

This thesis includes a translation of the book Thaurah
wa fitnah fi Lubnan, by Yusuf Ibrahim Yazbak, and my own com-
mentary.

Yazbak's book consists of a manuscript by Antln Dahir
al-'Aqiql dealing with events in Lebanon from 1841 to 1873,

50 letters written by persons concerned with the 1859-60 peasant
insurrection in the district of Kisrawin, and Yazbak's commentary.

Yazbak's most significant contribution is the material
he publishes on the Kisrawdn revolt. In my own commentary I have
presented some information T believe to be hitherto unpublished
found in the Archives of the British Consulate in Beirut, par-
ticularly regarding the Druse rebellion of 1842, the instituting
of the Q&'im Maqamiyyah system of government in 1843-4, and the
rule of Q&'in lagin Bashir Amad AbR al-Lama'.

A factual summary of the thesis is as follows:

Chapter I. 'Aqiql manuscript recounts the expulsion of
Tbrahim Pasha and Amir BashIr Shih@b II in 1840; the appointment
of a Druse and a Christian Qa'im Magam or governor in 1843; the
hostilities between the two sects in 1845; the rivalry of Amir
Haidar, the Christian Qa'im llaqdm, and his successor Bashir Ahmad;
and the latter's unpopularity.

Yazbak supplies details in footnotes and describes the
cooperation of Druses and Maronites in 1840 to support his thesis
that there was then no sectarian enmity.

My own commentary explores the foundations laid for this
enmity under Ibrahim Pasha, the beginnings of the Qa'im Magamiyyah
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system énd the unsettling roles of the llaronite Church and the
Turks from 1841 to 1845, and adds a large body of detail.

Chapter II. 'Aqiql describes the opposition to Bashir
Ahmad after 1855; the unpopularity of the Khazin shaikhs of
Kisrawan; peasant organisation against them; the expulsion of
the Khazins; and Tanyls Shahin's leadership of the peasant
novenent.

Yazbak elaborates on the oppressions practised by the
Khazin family and states that Turkey, France, and IEngland were
responsible for precipitating disorder.

Ily commentary discusses Bashir Ahlmad's position; gives
details and evaluation of the peasant movement and the role of
the IMaronite Church in it; and discusses the disintegration of
feudal, ecclesiastical, and other traditional interests implicit
in these events.

Chapter III. *'Aqligl describes in detail the 1860 mas-

sacres. He blames feudal landlords and llaronite Bishop Tubiyya
'Aun for inciting the war. He reports the repression of hostil-
ities by the advent of Duropean forces and the mission of Grand
Vizier Fu'ad Pasha, and the latter's measures of reparation and
punishment.

Yazbak maintains that the massacres were due to the sub-
version by landholders and imperialists of the struggle of
peasants against landlords into sectarian warfare.

Ily commentary adds details, maintains that a number of
circumstances besides those Yazbak mentions were responsible,
and examines the part played by Turkey, the Powers, the llaronite
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Church, and social groups within the country.

Chapter IV, 'Aqiqﬁ traces Yusuf Karam's career after

1860: his period as Christian Ja'im Maqam; his expulsion of
Tanyus Shahin from Kisrawan; his later opposition to Dawid Pasha,
the Turkish governor; his exploits as an outlaw; and his exile.

Ily commentary is confined to details.

Chapter V. The letters here published by Yazbak, written
by Tanyus Shahin and those dealing with him, clarify the
grievances of the Kisrawan peasantry, ?ényﬁs' ambitions, and the
attitude of the Church toward him and his movenent.

Conclusions. The feudal and sectarian issues of 1840-60

are inseparable., The breakdowvn of traditionally unified inter-
ests of Church, landlord, local govermment, Turkish authorities,
and others created far-reaching dissatisfactions that led to the

1860 massacres.
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"“THE TURKISH RETURN AND THE
INSTALLATION OF THE QA'TM MACRIS



CHAPTER I
Commentary by the Iranslator

Whether it is true to say that Druse-Christian

enmity in the Lebanon originated in the period of IbrahIm
Pasha's rule is questionable. One finds occasional comments
such as that of the Lebanese Iskandar Abkarius, who, writing
of events in 1838, mentions "the bad feeling that existed of
old between (the Christians and Druses),"1 or that of Col.
Rose, writing in 1842, calling the Druses the "ancient
enemies" of the Maronites.z If one 1s to search for deep-
seated causes that created the antagonistic state of mind
of the mid-19th Century, he must consider the millet
social institutions and the French sponsorship of the
Maronites, both centuries o014 - not because they encouraged
sectarian strife, but because they encouraged sectarian
consciousness,

One would also have to consider that AmIr BashIr
Shihdb II, during his long reign, did much to upset the
feudal traditions of the country, by dispossessing land-
holders, sometimes violently, and alienating prominent

Druse families such as the Janblats and Abf Nakads, not

l. Iskandar Ibn Ya'kub Abkarius, Book of the
Marvels of the Time Concerning™ the Massacres
in the Arab Country. Translated and annot-
ated by J.F. Schekema under the title, The
%eb%gog in I%;gg;;. Syria and the Powers
in 1860. p. 60.

2+ British Consular Files. Records preserved
in the archives of the British Consulate in
Beirut. Col Hugh Rose to Lord Aberdeen, the

Foreign Secretary, No. 82, Nov. 9, 1842,



to mention numerous members of his own family. The con-
version of Bashir and other Shihabs to Maronite Christ-
lianity, furthermore, helped to make the family a rally-
ing point, after 1840, for the hopes of those desiring
Christian political supremacy in the country. It helped
to provide the latter with a "cause" -- surely a danger-
ous thing in a land whose equilibrium rests on long=
accepted traditions.

In the more direct and immediate sense, however,
the seeds of sectarian bitterness appear to have been
sown during the Egyptian occupation of the years 1832-
1840, which were BashIr's last years of office. Further
causes of discontent arose in 1841-5 and 1856-60; these
we shallldiscuss in due course.

No sooner had IbrzhIm arrived in Lebanon than he
met with opposition from a number of Druse leaders.
Sheikhs Hamnd Abl Nakad, As'ad Nakad, and BashIr Janblat.
actively cooperated with th; Turkish WE1T of Aleppo in
his effort to bring about the deposition of AmTr BashIr;
there were skirmishes between Druses and Christians, as
a result of this, in Deir al-Qamar, the Matn, and Zahlah.
It was BashIr rather than Ibr&hTm who was the particular
enemy of these Druses, until, shortly before the fall of
'Akk& in 1832, IbrahIm razed to the ground the houses of
the Janbldt, 'Imid, and Abd Nakad insurgents.3

3. Tanniis al-Shidyaq bar al-A'yan fT
; abal Lubnan, pp.’5 9-73. >
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In 1835 IbrahIm ordered the conseription of Druses
in Hauran and Wadi al-Taim. This was refused: with the
help of Druses of the Lebanon they repeatedly defeated
expeditions sent from Damascus. It was after a notable
Druse victory at Hagbayya that Ibrahim recruited k4,000
Lebanese Christians, armed them and others, and employ-
ed them in finally crushing the rebels in 1838. A group
of these Christians were guilty of plundering a Druse
khalwah, or sanctuary, an act not soon forgotten.

7 There were by now 14,000 to 15,000 Maronites under
arms and well disposed toward IbrEhIm.5 Indeed, Egyptian
rule had done much to raise the position of the Christians:
equality of taxation, abolition of enforced petty distinc=-
tions of dress, exemption from conscription, and the re-
turn of their arms gave them a new feeling of equality and
strength than ever beforeP/ Nevertheless, the opinion has
been convincingly expressed that the diversity of sects
was of great advantage to Ibrahim in meintaining his author-
ity, and that like the Ottomans, ™the Egyptians "always
sought to foment discord between the populations to prevent
them from unitipg and being able to revolt with some chance
of success.“6 A French priest wrote in 18%1 that since

4, Ibid. pp. 584-8; Abkarius pp. 59-60
5 Ferdinand Perrier,‘gg Sfﬁif

p v
6. Ibi .y ppo )""5'-6



Ibrahim's advent "we have seen that the fanaticism of the
1nf1del§ has lessened in a noticeable manner."’ These
words soon proved to be mistaken, perhaps because some
Christians mistook their new equality for privilege.

It gppears to have been after the battle of Nezib
in the spring of 1839, when hostilities were resumed be-
tween Egypt and the Porte, that the attitude of the Christ-
lans underwent a change, To support their campalgn, the
Egyptian authorities increased the corvee labour and re-
quisitions from the country; the rumour spread that the
Maronites would again be disarmed and then conscripted;
and various Europeans, chiefly Englishmen, were said to
have appeared in Lebanon ostensibly as traders or relief
workers but in reality to agitate among the Marbnites.8

In the spring of 1840 (in March, according to Perrier;
in May, according to Yazbak) Christian and Druse leaders met
at Dair al-Qamar and drew up the statement of alliance quo-
ted by Yazbak. AmIr BashIr was assured that he was not the
object of complaiht, and in turn he reassured the populace
that they would not be conseripted. But the Egyptian au-
thorities through BashIr now set out to collect the head
tax (fardah) both for previous unpaid years and for a year

in advance, and in May orders came from Muhammed 'All to

7. . . 39l+
8. ﬁﬁ.; Phe 36k-6
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disarm the Maronites. This touched off an immediate revolt.
Shaikh Francis Abu Nadir al-Khazin was chosen "Sirr 'Askar
of the Christians". Bashir sent envoys to dissuade ihe
rebels, who stipulated the following conditions: (a) Pay-
ment of the fardah only on the basis of living individuals,
(b) removal of Butrus Keramah, BashIr's secretary on whom
they blamed their misfortunes, from his position in the
dIwan, (c) inclusion of two members of each sect in the
diwan, (d) cessation of corvee labour in the Qurnayil coal
mines, (e) permission for all to keep their arms, (f) no
conscription. 9

The Maronites appear to have been more resolute in
their demands than the Druses, some of whom were satisfied
by promises from Bashir and Sulaiman Pashi.(a Frenchman in
Muhammad 'Ali's service). In Juhe the Egyptians attacked
and defeated the Maronites, and again after the inhabitants
of Dair al-Qamar raided Sidon. The revolt would have been
crushed once and for all were it not for the intervention
in the summer of the European powers, who, with the excep-
tion of France, came to the aid of the Porte by dispatching
forces to Lebanon and eventually forcing the Egyptians to
abandon Syria to the Sultan,

It cannot be said that the Maronites were totally
abandoned by their Druse and other allies. As late as July,
when the rebels had already met setbacks but before they

9. Ibid., pp. 367-7%; Shidy@q, op. cit.,
PP. 55
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received outside help, they sent messages appealing to
France, Britain, and the Sultan to come to their aid.:®
These were sent in the mme of the Christian, Druse, and
Mutawall (Shi'ite) sects. Shidydq in 1listing the rebel
leaders names numerous members of the Shihab, Khazin,
flubaish, Khurl, Dapd§h and AbT al-Lama' families, all
Christian or partly Christian, whereas“the only Druse
family that appears to have played a leading part in the
rebellion was that of Abd Nakad. -

It is superfluous here to describe the expulsion of
Ibrahim from Lebanon and later from Syria, or the exile of
AmIr Bashir and appointment of his nephew, BashIr Qasim,
to succeed him. We shall note only that, in Commodore
Napier's words, after the return of the Ottomans, "The
Turks,‘now considering themselves pretty secure in Lebanon,
took no pains to gain the good will of the inhabitants; on
the contrary, they soon made them feel that they had gained
nothing by the change of masters."12 Churchill, with his
accustomed hyperbole, comments that "the Turks returned like
screeching vultures to their baffled prey."l3 While Ibr&hIm
was still encamped at Zahlah, the Turkish authorities neglect-
ed to give any material support to BashIr Q@sim, with the
result that his Lebanese forces returned to their homes and

10. Sir Charles Napier, The War in Syria
Vol. II, pp. 303-7, gives the texts of
these letters.,

11. Shidyaq, op. cit., pp. 592=3.

12, Napier, op. cit., Vol. I, p. 237.

13. Col. Charles Churchill, The % the
Maronites under Turkish Rule, -1860, p.34.
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the pass at Zahr at-Baidar was left unguarded.lh 'Izzet
Pasha openly spoke of again disarming inferior suﬁjects, and
the heavy internal customs duties once imposed by Ibrahim
were resumed.l5

In retrospect, it is curious that it was the Maro-
nites who took the lead in the 1840 rebellion against AmIr
Bashir and Ibrahim P&shd. It is noteworthy that the Maro-
nites' complaints had nothing to do with sectarianism;
there‘was no charge of religious persecution, nor any
grievances not shared with equal justification by other
denominations. Perrier, writing in 1842, concluded his
book with the following words:

"La Syrie est livrée & l'anarchie et aux

désordres; tout ce que les populations

chrétiennes ont gagné par leur impolitique

révolte, c'est d'8tre en butte & la réaction

qu'elles souffrent aujourd'huiiamais ui n'est

cependant ni %'oppression,-ni persecuticn
réligieuse."16.

He does, however, note one fact of sectarian interest: that
in June, 1840, there was observed the previously unknown
spectacle of an open split within the Maronite clergy, with
the patriarch and bishops threatening excommunication to
the rebels if they persisted in disobéing the authorities,
while the lower priesthood made common cause with those re-
bels, appearing in their camps to say mass and give their
blessings on the eve of battle,l”

14, Shidyaq, op. git., p. 612
15, Churchill, Ine Druses and the Maronites,

" E;pge;, Vo. I, p. 238. s
. errier “ t. Pe 3 39
17, Ibid., 3. B2
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In this he is directly contradicted by another well-
Informed Frenchman who asserts that in 1840 the Patriarch
(Yusuf Hubaish, whose relatives were among the insurgents)
had given every encouragement to the uprising, only to be
disillusioned by the massacres that followed the Ottoman
return.18 We have no further evidence on this question,
although it seems clear that in the years 1859-60, when
clergymen of all ranks were involved in the turbulent events
in Kisrawan, there was no such cleavage as that deseribed
by Perrier.

Perhaps more than anything else, it was the newly
exalted position of the Christians, andparticularly the
Maronites, under IbrahIm Pashd that led to their later
difficulfies. They were encouraged as never before to
assert themselves, to count their newly found prosperity
and favoured position as secure and inalienable, so that
when in 1839 and 1840 they were called upon to make more
than a customary contribution to support the Egyptian mili-
tary effort (the request for their arms was made partly in
order to equip IbrahIm's forces) they could not understand
why they should be subjected to the same inconveniences as
were the Druses,” Some among the latter, resentful of the
help given Ibr&hIm against them by the Christians in 1838,
were perhaps not unwilling to stand aside and see the Christ-
lans chastised in 1840; and when the Maronites were rescued '’

18. Eugéne Poujade, Le Liban Syrie
1855-1860, "po 1262 g
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by Europe, that resentment was increased,
XXXXXXXX
BashIr Qasim Shih&b proved to be an unfortunate

choice to succeed his uncle, and in little more than one
year his threatening conduct toward the Druses, abetted
by that of the Maronite Patriarch, led to his own deposition.

At issue was the feudal power of the Druse shaikhs,
which was threatened in a number of ways. At the instance
of Salim Pasha, his Ottoman overloard, Bashir Qasim or-
ganised a diwan or council of twelve men, representing all
of the principal sects, to assist him in Judgment of legal
disputes. The druses refused to cooperate in this arrange=-

19. The anonymous author of Souvenirs de Syrie
one of the rare French-language sources crI-
tical of the Maronites and of French policy,
presents a stimulating account of the anti-
Christian reaction after 1840, After sta-
ting that Christian morale had been raised
chiefly by the apostasy of Amir Bashlr IT
and his harsh treatment of the Druses
plus the tolerance of the Egyptian au%ho-
rities, their repression of Muslim fana-
ticism and encouragement of Christian
liberties, the writer describes the re-
caleitrance of the Christians in acknow=-
ledging Turkish sovereignty once more,
even in paying taxes the belief that the
Turks owed them some {:hing for their help in
expelling Ibrahim. The Ottomans, for their
part, were anxious to reassert their authori-
ty over the rayas and practiced and excited
intolerance toward the Christians, especial-
ly in Damascus,

(Sgn%zﬁu de Syrie. francaise
%g 53 3 par "un temoin oculagire," PPe.
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ment by declining to choose their members, because they
saw in the dIwan an encorachment of the traditional le-
gal jurisdiction of the landholder over the peasants of
his mugata'ah or fief. Some Christian shaikhs object-
ed as well; and a number of them banded together with
their Druse peers to resist any invasion of their juris-
dietion.

Bashir Q&sim's reaction was a violent threat to
dispossess the Druse-shaikhs and divide their holdings
among his followers. This he actually did in the case
of the 'Imad family, from whom he took the village of
Shimist8r and gave it to the family of AbJ al-Lama'; the
latter, however, through the mediation of Patriarcﬁ Hu-
baish, restored it to the 'Imads.

8till more provocaéive was the circular sent by
the Maronite Patriarch and signed by Abu al-Lama' and
Shihab amIrs and other Maronites, calling on those
Christians living under Druse landlords to elect two
wakils (representatives) from each village to assume
the legal authority previously held by the shaikhs. This
was tantamount to the Patriarch asserting the right to
dispossess the Druse landholders, and was duly resented
by the latter, as well as by Greek Orthodox Christians
who were not disposed to be dragged into such an issue by
the Maronite Patriarch,2?

20, Shidyaq " ey PPs 615-20;
churggi.’él?nm uses and the Maronites
PP =0
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An incident in the Shuf then brought the growing
irritation to the surface. A dispute which began over
the alleged trespassing of a Maronite partridge hunter
from Dair al-Qamar on the property of a Druse from B'ag-
1In led to a pitched battle between the two towns in
which 27 Druses were killed. The battle was stopped,
but Shaikhs NagIf and HamBd AbU Nakad, Druse proprietors
of the Dair, planned to take revenge when Amir Bashir

Qasim visited the town .2t

In early November 1841 a meeting of Druse and
Christian leaders was called at Dair al-Qamar to arrange
the distribution of taxes -- another thorny problem that
had not been amicably resolved. At the request of Druse
chieftains, Amir Bashir Qasim attended, only to be attached
by a band of Druses led by the two Abu Nakads and besieged
in a building in the twon for 2% days without the benefit
of Turkish intervention. He finally left the town in
the most humiliating circumstances, and soon after was
dismissed and sent under arrest to Istanbul. 'Umar Pasha,

a German renegade, was appointed in his place.22

21, Shidyaq, op. cit., pp. 621-2 -
Churchill states that Bashlr Qasim had
levied @hristian tenants of the Ab#i
Nakads, which was a direct violation
of thelr feudal rights. (The Druses

and the Maronites, p. 47.
22, Napler, op. cit., pp. 292-5,
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The incident at the Dair touched off disturbances
between Druses and Maronites throughout the Shuf, in which
the Greek Orthodox stood apart or openly sided with the
Druses. A number of writers agree that it was the atti-
tude of Patriarch Yusuf Hubaish, who, in the words of one,
"announced that he and his clergy were ready to head the
Maronites and exterminate the Druses."23

The Turkish authorities shared in the blame. They
stood aside, as has been said, during the attack on the
AnIr, and in the Anti-Lebanon NajIb Pasha, Wall of Damas-
cus, excited disturbance by removing Sa'd al-DIn Shihab,

a Muslim popular with his Christian ten;nts, from his
muqafa'sh and replacing him with the Druse Shibll al-
'Ary;h; who had led the revolt of 1835-8 against Ibrahim
Pishd, Shiblf disarmed the Christians of his district
and then proceeded with Shaikh Sa'id Janbla} in an attach:
on the large Christian town of Z;plah, 1ﬁfiebanon foot-
hills near the Big@. An intercepted letter from NajIb
Pasha to the Sirr 'Askar in Beirut advised him to leave
matters in the Leb;non alone, for the incidents were

taking place there with thefull sanction of the Porte.

23+ Henry Harris Jessup, %éf;z- i%gﬁli
+» See a

S!IL‘ VOI. ¢ .
" ¢ 1 T 58, footnote by

Abkarius, op.
Scheltema. According to Churchill, the
ﬂoard

Patriarch ended by taking refuge a
a British warship. (8ee The Druses and

the Maronites, pp. 46-51,
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In the sack of Ba'abda and Hadath, Turkish troops openly
Joined the Druses,-and on one occasion the Sirr 'Askar
was heard to say that "he knew the Druses 1ntend;d to
attack Dair al-Qamar 14 days before the event occurred."2%
This pattern is seen by Chruchill as part of a Turkish
policy of asserting independence from Europe by in-
flaming Muslim fanaticism to counteract reforms forced
upon them, to discourage the population from relying on
Europeans, scorning the will of Britain in lesser matters
"knowing that the English will be the lastto desert them."
He quotes the Ottomans themselves as saying, "The Turks
cannot regain their lost position and influence without
they return to fanaticism.," 25

We shall later see more detailed evidence of the
fact that apart from ecclesiasti§a1 intrigues andTurkish
rancor, there were social forces at work in the Lebanon
amking for unrest. '"Unar Pasha, generally conceded to
be a good governor wﬁile he lasted, "had to contend ...
with the animosities resulting from the gradual break-
ing up of the feudal system which had been a potent factor
in the former solidarity of the Mount's interests," 26

24, Ibid., pp. 55-60.
25, Ibid., pp. 69-72.
26, Abkarius, op. m., Scheltema introduction,

Pe 21,
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This was in 1841 an influence affecting primarily the
Druse muqaga'jfs, whose tenants included a large number
of Christians, Mustafi Pisha, sent by the Porte in
November 1841 to investigate the disturbances, was able
to play on these circumstances in persuading or brow-
beating Christians to petition for direct Turkish rule.27
All that the European Powers could gain by their remons-
trances was the dismissal of 'Umar.,

The Druses soon learn;d that it was not out;any
love for them that the Turks had lent them their recent
support. A dispute over whether the booty seized from
the Christians the year before was to be returned to
them, plus threats to disarm and conscript the Druses,
led to the arrest and imprisonment of five Druse chief-
tains in late 1842. By November a sizeable uprising had
begun under that inveterate rebel, ShiblI al-'Aryan. At
the same time the Maronites of North Lebanon ;ere provoked
by an unsuccessful attempt by the Turks to arrest Butrus
Karam of Ihdin for his active opposition to their petition=-
sea‘king.28 The result was that Druses and Christians once
again found a common cause. Though the two parties could

not agree on a formal alliance ShiblI's insurrection re-

celved at least partial Christian support, notably from

27. Churchill, Ihe Druses and the Maronites,

Poujaée «y Pe 39.

28. Churgilliél, Ihe Druses and the Maronites,
PP. .
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Amlr 'Abdullah Shih&b and the Christians of the Matn,
Other Christians remained neutral. Col. Rose, the British
Consul in Beirut, wrote to London that "great as are the
wrongs inflicted on them by the Druses, the more reflect-
ing and respectable amongst them, as well as the clergy,
wish well to the movement of the Druses; gnd singular

to say, there is a sympathy on the part of the Christ-

lans for their hereditary enemies; they are glad when

they are successful, and sorry when they are not so, "29
Druse forces threatening Bait al-DIn refrained from cutting
off that stronghold's water supply, because in so doing
they would also dep;ive the Christians of Dair al-Qamar,
whom they did not wish to antagonise. A few days later,
however, Rose wrote that "it is very doubtful whether the
Maronites will remain true to the Druses, when they are
once committed in warfare. Corruption has already made
them act treacherously toward their own co-religionists;
probably these and similar temptations would induce them

to act in a similar manner toward their ancient enemies."30
And still later: "The Greek Antiochans, influenced by their
Patriarch and clergy, who are under a foreign influence (Russia),
shew a tendency to favor the policy of the Turks, and thereby
prevent the restoration of a Maronite Emir."31

29. British Consular Files. Rose to Aberdeen,
No. 84, Nov. 19, 1842,

30, «y No. 82, Nov. 9, 1842,

21. iﬁi&., No. 86, Nov, 25, 1842, It was chiefly
the Maronites hope of galning Druse support

for a Shihabl ruler that induced them to
give what help they did,
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On November 19 the Consul reported that the Turks
had inflicted a severe defeat upon the %Sgis. The Druses
were bitter toward the Turks, "who they state last year
incited them to destroy the Christians, and now turn
their arms against them because they do not give up the
Christian plunder which the Turkish authorities promised
them as a reward for their attack on the Christians." 32

'Umar Pasha had unsuccessfully tried to persuade &
the Christians of the Matn and Jazzin to take up arms
agalnst the Druses. He did have at his command a few
hundred Christian cavalry; these however were members of
hls regular forces recruited before the insurrection had
begun,

In early December the Mhrqnite chiefs met at
Anfilyis to consider openly joining the Druse rebels,
and decided to do so on the following conditions: (a)
Restoration of all plunder not destroyed or burnt. (b)
Agreement to a Maronite Shih@b governor. (c) The Druses
of the Matn to remain under the Maronite family of Aba
al-Lema', (d) The Druses to give bonds for whatever
plunder-eould not be liquidated at once. Rose however
foresaw that the Christians would not follow up their

propositions, for they "cannot be relied on +++ They are

32. Ibid., No. 84, Nov. 19, 1842,
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pusillanimous and can nearly all be bought, the only diffi-

culty is the amount." Amirs Bashir and Haidar Abii al Lema',

according to Rose, had already been bribed.33 )
As'ad Pasha, Mushir at Beirut, then made concessions

to win the support of the Antilyas gathering, including a

guarantee of seigneurial rights and a general amnesty for

those Christians in rebellion, but meking the condition that

the Maronite leaders pledge their unqualified fidelity and

their acceptance of whatever governor the Porte should appoint.31+

This gained the desired object. The revolt collapsed, the Druse

insurgents fled or surrendered, and AmIr 'Abdullah Shihib

and his small group begged British protection.3? Thus ended

the last notable example of Druse-Maronite cooperation for

3&. Ibid., No. 89, Dec. 7, 1842, s
3%. Text and translation of a letter from Amir
'Abdullah Shihab to British Consul Rose
found in British Consular Files. 'Abdullah

himself had only the previous June under-
taken a solemn engagement to desist from
further political activities or advocagcy

of a Shihabl governor for Lebanon. (British
Consular Files, miscellaneous papers.)
ShiblI al-'Aryan was brought to surrender
through betrayal on the part of his own
Christian draﬁoman. (Rose to Aberdeen, No.
2, Jan. 7, 1843,) The numerous other
Druses who were imprisoned with him were
released in February, thanks to Rose's
efforts. Shibll was sent to Constantinople.
(Rose to Aberdeen, Nos., 9, 10, 15, Feb. 3
and Feb, 8, 1843.)

35+ Poujade, op. cit., pp. 43-5.
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several decades, more significant for the circumstances
of its eventual failure than for the brief successes it
enjoyed, |

Even before the dismillal of 'Umar Pasha as Tur-
kish governor of the Mountain, negotiétions had begun
between the Porte and the Powers for an acceptable sys-
tem of rule. Despite the solidarily of England and France
in supporting the cause of the Shihabs (a cause later
abandoned by the British), and despite the numerous pe-
titions in Lebanon demanding a Shihabl ruler, the Porte
was successful with Russian backing in refusing. As a
counter-proposal, the Ottomans proposed a Muslim governor
for the country.

On May 27, 1842, a conference of the five Powers
and the Porte agreed in principle on a scheme proposed
by Metternich for two separate governments or Qa‘im
Magamiyyahs, with a Christian and a Druse Q&4im Magam
presiding over their respective co-religioniéts. Turkey
had "l'art de presenter comme une concession ce qui est
pour lﬁi une victoire," outwardly at least giving only
grudging acquiescence, calling the arrangement only a
temporary one, and setting aside the area of Jubail, on
the coast north of Beirut, to be under the supervision
of the Mushir in Beirut. She was, however, glad to be
rid of the Shihabs, who would. not be eligible for the

post of Christian Qa’im Magam, and she has been amply
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accused of favoring the arrangement as one which could
only lead to disorder and pave the way for the return of
her direct sovereignty.36

For the fact was that while in the north the popu-
lation was almost totally Christian, excepting a number
of Druses in the Matn district, in central and south
Lebanon a majority of about two to one were also Christians
living under a totally Druse landed aristocracy.37 Accord-'
ing to the decisions made in Constantinople, the authority
of each Q&%im Magam would extend over all his co-religion-
ists. Thig meant that no geographical boundary line could
be practicable, and it meant that Christian peasants in
the south would be under one governor while their Druse
landlords would be under another. These difficulties were
recognised to some extent at Constantinople, and As'ad
Pasha was appointed Mushirof the coastal province.éf Sidon,
with headquarters at Beirut, to supervise the practical
implementation of the scheme.

It was on this implementation that French and British
policies went their separate ways. It was the opinion of
As'ad Pasha, shared by Britain, that there would have to
be some safeguard for the feudal rights of the Druse Muqata'-
iIs. 1In order to avoid conflicts of authority or a repeti-

36. For statisties of pupulation by district,
see Appendix A.
37. Poujade, gop, cit., pp. 27-33
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tion of the affair of the Maronite Patriarch's circular
of 1841 dispossessing the Druse landholders,_the only sen-
sible solution would be to limit the Jurisdiction of each
Q&’/im Magam within set boundaries. To this the French ob-
jected, in the interest of their Maronite wards in the
Druse-governed area who would have no opportunity of red-
ress to a Christian authority. They maintained that tech-
nically title to the fief was not hereditary but appointive
-= the implicsation clearly being that it would not be in-
convenient to effect a wholesale dismissal of Druse land-
lords. In actual fact, France clung to her preference for
the ancien regime of the Shihabs, and would have preferred
to see the new plan discarded without being tried.38

The numerous Greek Orthodox of the southern half of
the country, for their part, voicéd their preference for
Druse to Maronite rule. It has been seen that they opposed
a ShihEbi restoration; they had been sympathetic to the Drusetf
in the 1841 outbreaks, and dreaded what they considered a
patronising intolerance on the part of the higher Maronite

clergy.39

As'ad Pashd meanwhile proceeded to put the arranged
plan into ;ffect, however vague it was. On January 1, 1843,
he named Anirs Jaidar Isma'Il Abd al-Lama' and Ahmad Arslan |

38. Churggiil, Zbe Druses and the Maronites,
pp. 80-1,

39. British Consular Files. Rose to Aberdeen,
No. 1, Jan. 1, and No. 5, Jan. 7, 1843,
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as Christian and Druse QaJIm Magam respectively., The
latter was brought to his‘new post from the jail where he
had been put only a few weeks before for his part in the
uprising of Shibli al-'Aryan. His selection was highly
displeasing to Col. Rose, the British Consul, who consider-
ed that it was his ineffectual character that had led the
rival Janblatl and Yazbaki Druse factions to recommend

him as a compromise cholce, and that had led As'ad to
accept him, Amir Ahmad returned each night of his own

will to the Jall, where he found the atmosphere companion-
able and spent thewrening in consultation with his interned
colleagues, Only three days after his appointment, he was
dismissed by As'ad for his "insolent" demands: confirmation
of the Druée feﬁdal rights and the release of the Druse
leaders; and he was returned to prison to spend his days

as well as his nights, until on January 14 he was reinstated

in office.ho

Further confusion arose when on January 10, encour-
aged by Basily, the Russian Consul, As'ad Pasha removed the
Greek Orthodox Christians from the authority of Amir Haidar.
This was partially in response to an attempt by Haidar to
assert his authority over the Greek Orthodox village of
Shwaifat, where As'ad had specifically recognised the Ars-

-

40, ;h;_.éhRose to Aberdeen, No. 7, Jan.,
1843,
41, dey Rose to Aberdeen, No. 5, Jan.
843,



- 22 =

lan family's Jurisdiction and where that family enjoyed
great popularit’.y’.h‘2

As'ad then consulted the consuls on whether to
divide thenauthority of the Qa4im Magams on a territorial
or religious basis, and it wns-generally agreed that the
latter was impracticable., In April instructions arrived
from the Porte to divide the country territorially, be-
tween the five Muqﬁ?a'ahs owned by Christians and the five
owned by Druses.h3 This was done, and the boundary was
drawn along the Belrut-Damascus road, At the same time
the area of Jubail was returned to the Maronite Qa’im
Haq;miyyah.h#

These decisions, however, were by no means suffi-

clent in themselves to provide the country with effective
government under the new arrangement. The Druse Qa“im
Magém made his headquarters at Shwaifst and the Christian
at Bikfayya, but both were without revenue or the means

of authority. The population found it more suitable to

do whatever business they had with the Turkish authorities
at Jubail or Dair al-Qamar.h5 The Maronite ecclesiastical

42, Ibid., Rose to Aberdeen No. 12, Feb, 5
" and No. 35, April 10, 1843, ’
43, {g&g., Rose to Aberdeen, No. 31, April 6,

L, ;B&g., Rose to Aberdeen, No. 12, Feb. 5,
1643. The town of Dair al-Qamar at the re-
quest of its inhabitants had been withdrawn
from its Druse Abu Nakad overlords and placed
under direct Turkish administration.

45, Iﬁ&g., Rose to Aberdeen, No. 21, Feb.26,
1843,
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and other leaders still clung to the hope that the current
plans would be abandoned and they would again receive a
Shinabl amIr as governor; there was some loss of faith

in France, who had not brought this about,

By 1844, with questions affecting the mixed dis-
tricts still in abeyance, As'ad Pasha reported to Cons-
tantinople that the Q&/im Magamiyyah plan as it stood
could not be implement;d except by fbrce. The Porte then
dispatched KhalIl, Kapudan Pasha of the Fleet, to invest-
igate the entire matter, intimating to France and Austria
that 1f Khalil deemed it advisable the Shihsbs might be
restored to power. He had scareely arrived (in June, 184%)
when he declared that he would accept no petitions for the
Shihabs; the issue was to be closed, and no mention was even
to be made of them. This was a great blow to the Maronite
and French partisans of that family, for only in May,
Bishop ?Ebiyyi 'Aun of Beirut had received a delegation of
Talhflg and 'Abd*al-Hilik Druses who declared their desire
for the return of Amir Bashir II,k7(who was then 76 years
of age). Khalil's mission, plus the return to the fold of
Islam of Bashir's son Anln, who was the leading Shihibl
candidate, effeétively put an end to any hope of a return

to the status quo ante,

l"‘&. Poujade mo . ppo 52-8.
h’?. Im., I,’po 5-3%&;. ’
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The question of the mixed districts was one not only
of feudal authority and judicial redress but also of taxation.
In 1841 it had been decided that Mount Lebanon would pay a
mIr] or village tax totalling 3,500 "bags" (one bag equaled
500 piastres), After the Investiture of the two Qa’im Magams
1t was provisionally agreed that the Christian subjects of the
Christian Qasim Magam in the north would pay 973,656 plastres;
the Druse Qa‘im Magam's Druse subjects in the south, 365,317
plastres; the disputed mixed districts, which were mostly
Christian, 373,527 plastres; and the Druses of the Matn, from
whom the Christian Qa’im Magam refused to collect, 37,500,

Of this total, the Porte allotted 1800 bags to be
divided equally between the two Qa’im Magams -- not as salary,
but as their total governmental income. To this Amir Haidar
Isma'il objected, since he collected two thirds of the total
taxes andclearly needed the laraer operational funds. He
further objected to As'ad Pasha's suggestion that the Druse
Qadim Magam collect the taxes from the mixed districts, on
grounds that this would prejudice the final disposition of
those districts. Under these circumstances, the MIrI was
not systematically collected at all; each Qadim Magam
c llected only enough for his immediate neod; as they arose.

48, Ibid., p. 64, Col. Rose had over a year
before attributed such a proposal to
As'ad Pasha. (British Consular Files,
Rose to Aberdeen, No. 35, April 10, 1843,)
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Khalil Pisha soon after arriving declared that he
would himself see to collection of the Turkish Government's
share of the mIrI, and on September 2 announced his deci-
sion that the mixed districts would be placed under the full
authority of the Druse Qa’im Magam. A1l districts were
ordered to elect representatives to meet with Khalll to
arrange a financial settlement; but the Christians of the
disputed areas refused, declaring that rather than submit
they would accept the scheme of emigration with compensa-
tion proposed by the British Consul and accepted by the
Porte.

Poujade, the French Consul, then proposed a plan
which, with.modifications, was eventually accepted by the
Porte. 1In each mugata'ah of mixed population a Druse and
a Christian wakil (rep;esentative) would be chosen, each
with judicial authority of first instance over his own

co-religionists and responsible to his own Q&4im Magam.

-

49, Poujade « cit., ppe 34-5. This
plan di& %g some ;xtent weaken feudal
rights of the landlord, which tradi-
tionally included power of punishment
not including death; the right to the
subject's service in war and labor in
peacetime; and collection of taxes. of
which the landlord retained a small per-
centage. (British Consular Files, Rose
to Aberdeen, No. 5, Jan. 7, 1843.)
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Mixed cases would be heard by the two wakils jointly. The
Porte, however, reserved for the Qa7im Mag@m of the district
Some choice in selecting the wnkils, with the result that
a Christian wakil in the south would not in reality be too
closely bound to the Maronite governor of the north.s0

In the spring of 1845 a number of causes combined
to produce a fresh outbreak between Druses and Maronites
more violent than that of four years before. Early in the
year the austere and respected As'ad Pasha was replaced by
Vejlhi Pasha as Mushir, whom Poujade found to be a classie
type of old-line Ottoman: one who 1liked to give Europeans
the impression of cooperation and good will while actually
having his own way. He had 16 wives andconcubines, lived
in great luxury, and "ne connaissait d'autre recréation...
que 1l'intérieur de son harem."’1 VeJihi stationed groups
of Turkish troops in various mountain villages in a manner
considered by some to be more provocative than reassuring,
the complaint being made that these forces were placed only
in Christian localities and that Christians but not Druses

were being disarmed.52

50 .y ppl "‘7.
51, pp. 78-9. Poujade spells the name
: edji", and Rose, "Wagieah." The
name as_fgund in Yazbak and Shidyaq
1s "WajIni", or, as pronounced in

- Turkish, "VejThi",
2. ggmln; ggggfn an%gl
%gfted and supp ement his ’

eldest son, p., 1
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There was, to be sure, ample cause for Druse irri-
tation. Maronite leaders, notably the Patriarch and bishops,
had persistently refused to renounce their demands for a
Christian Shihabl governor of all Lebanon, and meanwhile
were unwilling to concede the Druses enough authority in
central and south Lebanon to make the Qa’im Magam system
work. An American missionary wrote that"the friction in
1845, as in 1841 and 1860, "had as its determining cause
the ambition of the locally all-powerful Maronite Patriarch,
whose seat was in the North. Not content with his legal
rights to control his co-religionists in the Southern Le-
banon in matters spiritual, he now claimed jurisdiction
over them in temporal matters as well, His pretensions were
bitterly resisted by the Druse chieftains, who saw their
feudal rights threatened. ... The seeds ... were political
rather than religious."53 Another American has quoted
Patriarch Hubaish as saying that "all Lebanon must be under
either Druse or Maronite rule, the blow must be struck, and
he who strikes first will have two chances to one in his favor.“sh

ga. Jessup o git., Vol. I, pp. 162-3,

. Churchi1l, The Druses and the Maronites

Pp. 85-6. Churchill states that the Pat.
riarch used French and Austrian funds,
sent for relief of the 1841 refugees, as
a war chest, authorising the priests to
recruit combatants at a wage of four
plastres per day. (p. 86.)
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The Maronite leaders of Dair al-Qamar reportedly
forbade their people to have any dealings whatsoever with
their Druse neighbours; a Maronite priest was put to death
for having entered into friendly relations with Shaikh
Sa'id Bey Janblat. Christian tenants feared to approach
théir Druse landlords and therefore abstained from paying
rentals.ss The Druse family of Abu Nakad, for their part,
having long been feudatories of Dair-al-Qamar, were em-
bittered at having been dispossessed after 1841, with the

toﬁn placed directly under a Turkish mutasallim at the re-

quest of its inhabitants.

A Druse council of war was held at Mukhtarah in
January, and.later a Maronite one at 'Abbaih., In April
the Maronites marched on Mukhtarah, burning 14 Druse vil-
lages before being defeated by Turkish troops. From then

6

on the Druses were victorious,s with the active or passive

550 Mo Pe 91.

56. Poujade, op. cit., p. 83. Poujade went
to grea% efforts ln trying to_secure a
death sentence for Shaikh Hamid Abu
Nakad, the Druse leader of the raid on
'Abhaih. After prolonged delays Shaikh
Hamud was und innocent by a Turkish
court, but he was eventually exiled to
Nicomedia upon the threat of the French
Ambassador to leave Constantinople.,
(Pp- 8?"106) »
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assistance of the Ottomans -- notably at 'Abaih, where a
French priest was slain and the town sack;d under the eyes
of 200 Turkish soldiers.

Poujade, the French Consul at the time, has re-
produced in his book the texts of two letter from Shaikh
Sa'id Janblat to Shaikh HamidAbE Nakad and to the Muslims
of‘the Kharub district, which indicate a detailed plan of
attack drawn up in cooperation with Dawid P;sh;, the Tur-
kish military commander.57 The Turks, however, made some
effort to conceal such complicity by stationing a garrison
at Dair al-Qamar which did aid in quelling the outbreak.’d

Khalil Pasha had declared his mission at an end and
withdrawn from Lebanon in the spring, just at the time the
civil war had begun. On September 20 a new mission of in-
quiry arrived in the person of Shekib Effendi, the foreign
minister, with the announced purpose of general disarmament,
settlement of indemnities, and the establishment of mixed
tribunals attached to the two Qatim Magams. He demanded
and secured assurances of a rreeuhand from the European
consuls; he further asked for the withdrawal of all
European nationals from the Mountain, to which all but
Poujade assentad.s : Under Namiq Pasha, the ranking military

?Z Sasxes. as 2:158. Vol. I, p. 163
« JeSSup, 0Op. . Ol. Pe .
59. Poujade, op. cit., pp. 95-9.
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commander of Turkey's Arab provinces, a general occupation
of the Lebanon was ;ffected.

The conduct of the occupation troops and the
alleged one-sidedness of the disarmament provoked frequent
complaints by the Maronites and French, and the promised
indemnities were never paid.60 Shakib's creation of the
tribunals, or majlises, was however aacommendable accomp-
lishment that stood until 1860 and gave anxious minorities
some assurance of Jjustice. The majlis of each Q;‘im Maq;m
consisted of ten members, including one Judge and—one tax
assessor from each of the five sects (Maronite, Druse,
Greek Orthodox, Greek Catholic, and Muslim), each member
receiving a fixed salary. This institution was not popu~
lar with Anir Ahmad Arslan, the Druse Q&’im Magim. His
power was already restricted by aniolig;rchy of the
JanblatI and YazbakI Druse factional chiefs, who shared
in his income as well as his decisions. The majlis further
reduced his authority. His Christian opposite, Amir Haildar,
enjoyed a more indeﬁendent position and ruled over a com-
paratively unmixed population, and was therefore less averse
to accepting his majlis, the majority of wﬁose members were

6
in any case Christian, .

60, %p;%. pp. 101-3; Comte Melchior de
056, =33

Poujaédggglatol how a %gen

c f%igate
landed an armed force at Jiniyah Bay
to secure the release of a Lebanese
employee of the French Consulate who
had been arrested. (Qp. eit., p. 103.)

61. Mo’ PPe. 108“15.
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Thus the Shakib mission confirmed the Q&4im Magam
system at long last in g viable way, with boundaﬁies'fixed,
feudal rights defined, andmeans of redress provided for
subjects of all sects through local agents and the mixed
Judges of the majlis. Over three years had elapsed since
the Porte and the Powers had first agreed on the principle
of partition. Those years had been so full of suspicion,
intrigue, and violence as to render the plan almost uni-
versally unpopular, as a whole or in part, and destroy
the remaining confidence between Druse and Maronite that
was essentlal to make possible any long-term success,

It was first of all imperative that if the 1842
partition scheme was to work, it must be instituted with
vigor and wholqhearted determination by the Ottoman Govern-
ment, and must be clear enough in 1£s details so as to
avoid false hopes or exaggerated claims by either party.
Turkey, however appears to have been far from anxious for
it to succeed, and believed that by giving it only the most
halfhearted support she could demonstrate its impracticabi-
1lity and pave the way eventually for her own direct rule.
This statement is not to be classed with the mass of irres-
ponsible charges and counter-charges so frequently made by
the partial or frustrated apologists for one cause or another,
that one so frequently encounters in the material written on
this period of Lebanese history. Itis not to be compared
with the picture drawn by Frenchmen of the Maronite lamb
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devoured by the Druse wolf, or that by Englishmen and
Americans of the chivalrous Druse, slow to anger, taking

up arms only when threatened with imminent extermination.
That the Turks in 1842-5 sought the fallure of the QaJim
Magamiyyah system is a fact attested to by writers or-every
allegiance as well as by a firm body of evidence. Both
Poujade, who as French Consul disliked the plan, and Rose,
who as English Consul insisted that it be given a fair
trial, furnish such evidence. Thus in late 1844, long after
Turkey had officially committed herself to the partition
plan, Khalil Pasha -- who had come to Lebanon to make the
plan work -- deceived Bishop Tubiyya 'Aun of Beirut into
making a request for "any" form of go;ernment that would not
subject Christians to Druses. Thisrrequest was then openly
interpreted by Khalll as favoring direct Turkish rule, not
because Khalll expected to be able to Implement such rule,
but because he could use the request as an excuse to Rose
for further delay settling the question of the Qalim
Maqamiyyahs. 92 By the same token, Rose interpreted As'ad
Pasha's nomination of the weak-willed Ahmad Arslan as

Druse Qa‘im Maqam, his dismissal of him three days later,
and his reinstatement of him still later. Abmad was thus
shorn of his prestige before executing his first act of
office. The appointment of the Qa’im Magams without defining

62, Ibid., pp. 74 - 7
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their jurisdiction or providing for their Support or means
of authority betrays the same motive,

The Porte, to be Sure, followed this path partly
because it was not strong enough to win its own way in any
other fashion. The partition scheme was not Turkey's; she
had her own favored plan but was not permitted to employ 1it.
Thus when Sir Stratford Canning urged SarTm Effendi, Ottoman
foreign minister, in the spring of 1843 to divide the Qatim
Magamiyyehs on territorial lines. Sarfm indicated his
"eoncession but courteous rejection of responsibility."63
Lack of responsibility, in fact, characterises Turkey's
role in the entire question, )

Who then was responsible for the plan of partition?
The original suggestion is commonly attributed to Metternich.,
The official British position at thaf time (May 1842) was,
like that of France, favorable to a return of the Shihabs;
after Metternich's plan was adopted, Britain was openly in=-
sistent on its adoption in good faith. But Dayid Urquhart,
a British writer, in 1860 produced an analysis that suggested
an insidious British plot to impose the scheme, knowing it
to be ill-advised, and throw all the blame on the Porte,
According to him, Aberdeen and Canning encouraged Col. Rose

to support the scheme and Richard Wood to denounce it, the

63. British Consular Files. Rose to
Aberdeen, No. 35, April 10, 1843.
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former having himself hatched it and the latter thinking

it a Turkish idea. Rose was allowed to eriticize the Turks

in 1841 for imposing a high internal tariff in Lebanon while

Wood behind his back worked for its enforcement and bribed

the chieftains opposing it with "a considerable sum of money,

watches and ornaments,” so that their followers would be

left in the lurch, civil war would ensue, Bashir Qasim

would be deposed and the way would be clear for the Qa’tim

Magamiyyah system. The right hand was kept from knowing

what the left hand was doing, so as to create a state of

anarchy and discontent which could be blamed on Turkey.6h
This fanciful and improbable account serves better

to show the dangers of a creative imagination than to explain

Britain's actual role in the question. Aside from his fail-

ure to ;uggest a motive Urquhart ignbres the fact that there

-

£

64, David Urquhart, T (Mount Syrig):
a History and a Diary. Vol. II, pp. -
30. As an example of Canning's ignorance
of the affairs of Lebanon, Urquhart quotes
him as saying that "the Sheikhs Beshir"
were a royal family of the Mountain. "The
Sheikhs Beshir," as Urquhart says, is equi-
valent to "the Misters John." (p.418). But
he exhibits his own misinformation by iden-
tifying Russia, not Austria, as the power
that firstogroposed the Qillm Maq&@ miyyah
plan. (p.406), -
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was no effort to conceal Britain's steadfast support of the
new arrangement of Turkey's distaste for it; nor could they
have been concealed, }

The opinion of some Frenchmen was, perhaps correct-
ly that England's chief motive in supporting the 1842 plan
was to keep out the Shihab family whose rule over the entire
Mountain would mean the return of unchallenged French inf-
luence. Guizot came under heavy criticism in the Chamber
for maintaining at all costs France's cooperation with the
other four Powers rather than unilagerally and forcefully
insisting on the restoration of her protegés. There was
impassioned talk of "ces populations (chrétiennes) qui
ont été gardées, maintenues par la Providence comme une
protestation eternelle contre la barbarie qui les entoure," >

The answer, of course, was that France could no
more afford to defy the rest of Europe any more than she
could in 1840, Her position had been weakened by her support
of Ibrahim Pasha against the Maronite rebels. Guizot's own
words were that "1l faut soigneusement éviter tout ce-qui
risquerait de nous donner aux yeux des autres l'apparence
d 'une action propre, cherchant & devancer ou & dépasser la
leur. ILa conséquencey inévitable serait de les réunir encore

une fols contre nous, et de nous rejeter dans 1'isolement,"56

65. Poujade gf ggg gendix II, p. 279,

Speech ﬁy éon de Malleville in the French
Chamber of De uties, June 15, 1846,

PPe -5 Guizot dispatch of 1842

quoteé by Malleville, June 15, 1846,
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France had no commitment or responsibility to support the
1842 plan, and made no effort to hide her preference for
the Shihabs; but she could not match the vigour displayed
by the British in advancing their own interests.

Turkey and Britain blocked the Shih&b restoration;
France and Britain opposed direct Turkish rule. The system
of Qaim Magams, proposed as a compromise and steadily
urged‘by England, neither France nor the Porte could refuse
outright, though the former could encourage the Maronite
clergy to demand unreasonable terms and the latter could
play upon the ensuing dissension to cause the plan to fail,

XXXXXXXXX

The years 1846 to 1856 inclusive are passed over
lightly in almost all the best-known published works on
Lebanese history. These years were a relatively quiet
period in the Mountain, in which the Qa‘im Magamiyyah system
functioned fairly smoothly. It may not-have deserved to be
called "good government," but it was not seriously challenged;
there were no further sectarian outbreaks, and no noteworthy
political developments until 1854, when the death of the
Christian Qa’‘im Magam and of the Maronite Patriarch brought
to office tw6 personalitieg whose careers were of the geat-
est significance.

For an account of these last years of comparative
tranquility -- 1854 through 1856 -- and for much of the
following three years as well, I have relied almost exclusive-
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ly on the unpublished record of dispatches from the British
Consul in Beirut to his government, as the only source
avallable to me that enters into any detail. It is one-
sided, but it is conscientious and substantial, and it
carries a day-to-day report on events that otherwlse are
largely ignored.

The Crimean War had a decided impact on affairs in
the Lebanon. Nevin Moore, who had succeeded Col. Hugh Rose
as Her Majesty's Consul at Beirut, wrote of his "conviction
that the tranqﬁility of Syria is mainly to be attributed to
the existing alliance between England and France. So great
1s the influence of these two powers in this country, that
the mere knowledge that it is the wish of the agents of
those Governments that the Syrians should conduct themselves
as dutiful subjects, suffices to keep this heterogeneous
and turbulent population in ... tranquillity."6? Moore made
it his poliecy to advise all segments of the population to
demonstrate the devotion they professed by "cooperating with
the Sultan's authorities for the maintenance of publiec tran-
quility and avoiding of all party femls and strife.n 68

To maintain peace and quiet did require some effort.
At the start of the Crimgan War leaders of the Druses professed

67. British Consular Files, Moore to Lord
Clarendon, No. 58, Nov, 25, 185k,

68. ]%1@. Moore to Ciarendon, No. 3, March
30, 1851,
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a desire to serve in the Ottoman Army. Wamiq Pasha, then
Mushir at Beirut, responded by devoting 150,000 pounds for
recruitment, and the Druse Qasim Magam was directed to levy
10,000 men. This proved to be no easy task, and while the
Qa‘im Magam sought futilely to fill the quota, those men
whém he did enlist loitered on the coast, having drawn their
equipment and advance wages, creating a considerable problem
to the authorities and a menace to the unarmed Christians of
the country. The Qa’im Magam sought further funds, which
were refused; his auéhority was already circumseribed by the
oligarchy of“mquEa'sz surrounding him.69

"The present attitude of the Druses," wrote the acting
British Consul, "is fraught with importance when viewed in
connection with their attempts to excite the Christians of
the Lebanon to engage in a bloody quarrel with them. Their
extreme reluctance to comply with the repeated requisitions
of the Mushzr of Saida to hasten their departure betokens
likewise not only a grest lack of the loyal feelings which
they manifested at the commencement, but it betrays likewise
a lurking sinister design on their part o.."79

69. +9 Moore to Clarendon, No. 1, March
i , 1854 i ’

Churchti)li, Ihe Druses gnd the Maronites,

PP 110-1,

70. British Consular Files. Charles J,
Calvert to Clarendon, No. 3, Jan. 19,

1854,



_.39-

‘The delay was due 1in part to the question of who |
would waild authority among the Druses in the absence of
Amir Amin Arslan, the Qalim Magam. The Acting Consul re-
ported in March, "I have-the honor to state, with some
satisfaction, that the joint action of Mr., Consul Wood
and myself in the effort to consolidate the British inf-
luence amongst the Druses of the §ebanon has been attended
with no despicable success." The two had aided in consoli-
dating the power of the Janblat faction against that of the
Yazbaks, who had tended to flout the authority of the Mushir
and of Amir AmIn, The AmIr now showed new independence of
the Yazbak party, under whose thumb he had long been, in
the face of British and Turkish displeasure. He now sub-
mitted to British advice on the choice of a deputy to act
in his absenee,71 and before finally leaving for Anatolia
with his Druse recruits, made to Moore "the humblest con-
fession of his past misconduct, and expressed his sincere
regret and contrition."72 His young son Mubhammad was named
Acting Qa’im Maqam, though without the proposed Janblatl and
YazbakI advisers "on account of personal and family rivalry."’3

Moore had further to use his influence in restraining

disorders in the mountains, where "many of the complaints

7lo Ibid., Calvert to Clarendon, No. 12,

72 ggish 7M01 5ht Clarend N 5, April
° ore to arendon Oe pr
lé y y

73, %‘{g Héore to Clarendon, No. 32, Aug.
, 1854,
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preferred against certain Druses of having usurped the prop-
erty of their Christian neighbours in the Mixed Districts
and in some instances entire confiscation were only too
well founded ." He singled out his great favorite, Shaikh
Sa'id Janblat, as "almost the only Druse chief who cannot
be-charged with acts of violence and extortion towards his
Christian tennnts.“7h

Meanwhile on May 11 the Christian Qa’im Maganm,
Anirfaidar Ismi'T1 AbG al-Lama', had died and his nephew
Bashir 'Assaf aﬁpointed, on the recommendation of the
Europeaﬂ consuls, to fill the office temporarily while a
Successor was sought. The British and French Consuls soon
agreed on Amir Bashir Ahmad Abu al-Lama', who, "notwith-
standing some objectionable traits of cﬁaracter;“ appealed
to Moore as courageous, firm, experienced, and in fact the
only qualified member of the family of AbT al-Lama' (from
vhich the Qa‘im Magam had to be chosen). He was admitted
to be obstinate and ambitious, but to Moore's mind the best
means of dealing with his ambition was to satisfy 1t. Bashir
'Assaf, for his part, was "universally allowed to be wanting
in the requisiteqaulities, he has neither sufficient exper=-

lence nor does he possess the personal endowmants...“75

74. Ibid., Moore to Clarendon, No. 33, Aug.

17, 1954,
75. ébig. Moore to Clarendon, No. 12, May
] ana NO. 13’ May 12’ 19%"’0
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There was however opposition to Bashir Ahmad 's
candidacy from the Khazin Shaikhs of Kisrawin, who addressed
a memorial to Patriarch Yusuf, a member of their own family,
proposing (1) that AmIr Isma'Il, "the weak-minded and in-
capable son-in-law of Emir Haidar," be Q&'im Magim with a
Khazin zs his Kakhiya (administrative assistant), or (2)
that a Khazin be Q&'im Magam, or (3) that the Christian
muqdta’jIsrule their districts directly under the Turkish
MushIr; without a Q&'im Magam, The Patriarch hastily dis-
avowed any complicit§ in these proposals.76

The Greek Orthodox Patriarch had his own ideas,
first asking that Amir Haidar's successor be an Orthodox,
and later asking Wamiq ;Esha for a Muslim Qa'im Maqam.

Each request was abruptly dismissed.7?The Crimean War had
for the time removed what influence was customarily enjoyed

by the 0rthodox,78 and the Porte was in no position to irritate

76. +y Moore to Clarendon, No. 16, May
foid:s 5, : ’

77 %Qi_. Moore to Clarendon, No. 12, May
’ No. 15, May 19, 1854,

784 The Greek Orthodox made 1little attempt to
hide their loyalty to Russia. When Patriarch
Maximos of the Greek Catholic Church offered
prayers in a public service for vietory of
the Sultan over his enemies, the Orthodox
Patriarch (who had once been the Tsar's con-
fessor) was so offended that he refused to
pay the customary courtesy visit to Maximos
after arriving in Beirut.

Moore to Clarendon, No. 59, Nov.

( :
2%?1%B§h.)
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its French and British allies as it had frequently done a
decade before, by encouraging requests for Muslim or direct
Turkish rule. On August 13 Bashir Ahmad was formally in-
vested in office.

November 3 of the Same year also brought the death
of Yusuf al-Khazin, the Maronite Patriarch, and the success-
lon of Bishop Bulus Mas'ad to the chair of Antioch. Moore
received assurances froﬁ the new Btriarch that "he had to
greatest disinclination to engage in secular affairs at all,
and would never countenance political intrigues; and I really
believe him to be sincere in those profesdions ... His Emi-
nence is, I have reason to think, one of the few exceptions
among the higher order of the Maronite clergy, or indeed of
that of any other Christian communities in this part of Syria."??
It will be seen how well these hopefulrwords were to be borne
out. Moore's dispatches suggest that he exercised significant
influence in securing the selection of Bilus ManVad, und Ne
had earlier declared that "the existing favorablé sentiments
(of the Maronites) towards Great Britain have been of gradual
growth commencing from the time of the intervention of Her
Majesty's servants in the affairs of Mt. Lebanon."a1 One
feels iﬁclined to treat these claims with considerable re-

serve after reading Eugene Poujade's account of the active

é Moore to Clarendon, No. 50, Aug.
l

%hiﬂ Mbore to Clarendon, No. 49, Nov.
and No. 52£ Nov. 13, 1354

;é;g., Moore to Clarendon, No. 20, en=-
sure, June 7, 1854,
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part he played as French Consul in 1845 in the election of
Yisuf al-Khazin as Patriarch,o2

In April 1855 Wamiq Pasha became WElT of the Damas-
cus province and was replaced at Beirut by Mahmud Nadim
Pasha, who enjoyed a reputation for exceptional ability
and enlightenment, .

In June a dispute flared between the Christian town
of Zahlah and the Mutawalls of the Biga'led by the Harfush
family . Edouard de Lesseps, the French Consul, took an
actlve part in deposing Amir Faddah Harfiish and securing
the appointment of his relative SulaimEn, whe was under

French patronage. De Lesseps earned the annoyance of his

82. See Poujade, op. ¢it., pp. 119-93, Pou-
Jade traveled through North Lebanon as
a mediator and emissary among the higher
clergy in the dispute over the location
of the election, which eventually took
place at al-DIman. Three bishops had
been held as hostages at al-DIman by the
Partisans of Biilus Mas'ad, the unsuccess-
ful candidate, -

Canon law decreed that the Bishops of
the Maronite Church must name the new
Patriarch on the ninth day after the death
of his predecessor. Should they fail to
agree, the choice would be made from Rome,
It was to avoid prolonged dispute, faction-
alism, and the intervention of Rome that
Poujaée andpossibly Moore used their in-
fluence in 1845 and 1854 respectively,

Poujade 1lists nine bishoprics of the
Church: Aleppo, Damascus, Beirut, Sidon,
Eopoli, Jubail, Ihdin, Tripoli and Cyprus.
Six additional’bishops were without 4io>
cese: two were vicars of the Patriarch
spiritual and temporal; one representad
the Church in Rome; and three resided at
Varioug locations in the Lebanon. (Ibid.,
p. 129).
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colleagues and of Mahmid Pasha by what was considered a
usurpation of the Mushir's authority. "He has invested
shaikhs and other individuals with robes of honor, a mark
of favor belonging exclusively (to the Porte)." Wamiq
Pasha from his post in Damascus was accused of'“equivocal
proceedings" in the matter in cooperation with de Lesseps;
and when in'January 1856 wamiq and Mahmid exchanged offices,
Moore saw theAformer's return to Beirut as having been
secured under "foreién" (i.e., French .‘Lnfluence.83

Affairs of Syria took a general turn for the worse
in 1856, as interpreted by Moore's dispatches, Despite
the issuing of the Hatti Humayun of that year, of which some
clauses were intended to promote sectarian equality, the
Christians of both Lebanon and Syria found cause for comp-
laint in a requirement that they pay the badal or redemption
fee in lieu of military service, without the right to choose
to be conscripted even if they so preferred. The badal
was to be paid by the community at the rate of 5,000 piastres
per man, in the same proportion as the Muslims were obliged
to furnish actual conseripts. The petitions of the Christ-
lans were rejected, and the Maronites especially considered

themselves humiliated.ah

83. British Consular Files. Moore to Claren-
don, No. 41, June 25, No. 69, Dec. 8, 1855,
and No. 1, Jan. 18, 1856..

8lt, %ﬁé%., Moore to Clarendon, No. 37, Aug. 18,
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There were armed disturbances between the Druse
families of Janbla} and Abu Nakad, which Moore attributed
to de Lesseps, the latter purportedly attempting to woo
the Abu Nakad shaikhs away from British influence. Wamiq
Pasha declared himself powerless to intervene.== an indica=
tion of the "utter subserviency of Turkish officials of
every grade to French 1nfluence.“85

The British Consul painted the blackest picture of
the general state of affairs in Syria in a dispatch of
Nobember 24, 1856, commenting on the lack of security and
of respect for governmental authority and on the "disgusting"
interference of France.86 The following month he reported
Zahlah to be in a state of anarchy, with two factions at each
other's throats, the more powerful supported by the French,
whose influence frustrated all efforts by Wamiq Pasha to
87

restore order,

The Crimean War and Anglo-Turco-French cooperation
in Lebanon appeared to have drawn to a simultaneous close,

and the way was prepared for renewed disorders,

%m éMoore to Clarendon, No. 37, Aug .

1

;Eig é Moore to Clarendon, No. 58, Nov,
1

Moore to Clarendon, No. 61, Dec,
9, 1356.
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Commentary by the Editor

(Quotations)

"Often, Members of the Chamber, we attribute

to the Maronites and Druses a lack of civilisation,
deception, and fraud. But when one day they learn to
write history, they will no doubt charge Europe with
treachery, because from it men came to them to throw
them into turmoil, promising them retention of their
privileges, even with broadening their domainj and

88
You have seen how they kept their promisesl..."

88. This is translated from Yazbak's
Arabic; the full speech is found
in the original French in Eugéne
Poujade, Le Liban et La Syrie
PP. 275-98, The passage here’
quoted is as follows in the ori-
ginal: "Nous parlons beaucoup,
messieurs, de la ruse, de la
perfidie 5e ces races non civi-
lisées. Si elles apprennent Jamais

ecrire l'histoires, elles auront
& parler de la félonie de 1'Europe,
car & cette époque on est alléd les
agiter en leur promettant le main-
tien de leurs garanties, de leurs
priviléges, que dis-je, en leur
promettant de les étendre.
"Et voici comment on a tenu paroles..."
Unless otherwise 1ndicated' all
quotations found in Yazbak'!s text
are translations from his Arabic,
and not the originals.,
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~ Deputy de Malleville, in the French
Chamber of Deputies, June 15, 1846,

"In Syria are two evils, the Christians and the
Druses, and whenever one slaughtered the other, the
Sublime Porte profited,,."
- Ahmad Pashi, Governor of Syria and

Marshal of the Garrison of the Arab countries,

"The Maronites are submissive soul and body to
France... and there remains for England no choice in the
matter, indeed it has become incumbent on her to protect
the Druses,.."

-~ The English Colonel Rose to his

Government,

"The old Turkish party, desirous always of a
policy of violence, deceit, and bloodshed dreams of
annihilating the Druses by means of the Maronites, and

vice versa,."

- Guizot, Foreign Minister of France,

"The plan to divide Lebanon into two sanjaqs,
Christian and Druse, aims at igniting the fire of clan

warfare there,, "

- Rif'at Pasha, Ottoman Foreign Secretary,

"The Druses came to make war on us only under the
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compulsion of the landowners,
by beating them with sticks - and there

who forced them to do this

is no contradicting

that Lebanon will

enjoy no rest as long as its leaders
9

retain their privileges and exemptions..."

- The people of Zahlah to the French
consul in Beirut, 1845,

"It is our love for France and our asking for her

help that have brought on us these calamities and mis-

fortunes,.."

= Bishop 'Abdullah al-Bustani,

89, The entire text of this letter 1is
reproduced in French in Poujade,

CDe 1t
quo%za

*y PPe 245-6, The passage
here by Yazbak appears in

French as follows:
"D'apréds les rapports qui nous

sont faits,

i1 parait positif que

les Druzes ne viennent nous faire

la guerre que

parce qu'ils y sont

forcés par leurs mokatagis, méme 3
coups de béton,

"En foet’
des prétentions

tant que les chefs auront
des priviléges, des

imminutés, le L{ban ne pourra par

Jouir de 1la
priviléges

palx, car en réalité ces
et ces immunités n'étaient

accordés aux Druges que par le prince

de la Montagne, &
des services a

qui ils rendaient
qui les leur retirait

sa volonté,."
The next sentence is remarkable,

"Le Liban n'est
Druzes, il est &

point la propriété des
nous. Les Druges

sont des réfugiés que nous avons bien
voulu accueillir lorsqu'ils ont fui

de 1'Egypte apre

s le meurtre de

1'imposteur Hakim-el-Amrihe (HZkim bi-

amrihi), ils ne sont

done point les

vrals propriétaires du pays: ils sont
étrangers,"
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The Purpose in Publishing this Book

During my search in the villages of Lebanon,
especially in Kisrawan, for manuscripts and traces on
which to rely in my study of the "republican" revolution
which the people of Kisrawan undertook under the guidance
of their great leader, Tanyiis Shahin, against their feudal
rulers of the Khizin family, there was presented to my
noble friend, Sha'ya al-®AqIql, bearer of the popular
standard in his town, Kafar Dabyan and its environs, a
manuscript 20 centimeters in length, 14 centimeters in
width, in which his deceased relative Antfin Dihéf al-
'Aq1tqt wrote a chapter on that revolution and its pre-
ceding factors and causes, the writer having lived
surrounded by and observing most of them, This chapter
has come to throw new light on the history of the Mountain,
some of which continues to be unknown or ignored, and some
mistaken, despite the efforts of our best and most zealous
historians who strove to eliminate this deficiency and
expended much of their efforts and even their lives tour-
ing the villages and hamlets, monasteries, and ancient

. houses, smelling the stench, dust, and germs, expending

their eyesight in solving the mysteries of some of the
manuscripts. Most of them paid the widow's mite as the
price of a certificate or a trace, all that in order to
publish folded letters or manuscripts relating to this
history; and they - may God prolong their useful lives -
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continue to serve knowledge and the nation with their
valuable writings, and their precious searchings, without
receiving any recognition or compensation for their
excellent qualities,

The manuscript with which we are today concerned
1s in two parts: first, the elastic history of Bast and
West ~ and this is more than what is found in the spice
shops - "authored" by the novice Antunyls, son of Shaikh
Abou Khattdr al-ShidyZq of the house of al-Hajj 'Abd al-
Nur of the village of 'AintfirTn. It runs to 264 pages
consecutively numbered, and it was copied by the deceased
Antun Dahir al-'AqIqI. It is of no concern to us now.

The second section which we are publishing to the
letter below, without changing a word or letter, is the
"Memoirs" set down by the copyist, iﬁ which he recorded
the events which he says he eye-witnessed, or heard about,
from the year 1841 to the year 1873. These are, on the
whole, the most momentous affairs to have taken place in
the dear Mountain, unfortunate Mount Lebanon, from the
time it was first settled to the present day.

It appears from the course of these Memoirs that
the writer recalls events according to what he knew in his
own surroundings, and according to the relation of these
events to Kisrawlin, ignoring some of what took place, or is

taking place, in the southern part of Lebanon., But he
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has his excuse for his deficient information, and his
ignorance of its analysis or correct understanding, for
Kisrawan was "farl" - in that day - from Dair al-Qamar,
for example, where the revolt put an end to the rule of
the Egyptian Ibrahim Pashd. News was not spread with the
ease we know today; political secrets were velled from
most of the people, and culture limited to a special group
of the sons of the ruling feudal houses, with rare
exception.

The writer, however, despite the existence of all
these reasons, which hamper a true and complete history,
displays in many cases a sound logic, a valld conclusion,
an excellent political consciousness, and courage (an
instinctive truthfulness) to declare what does not agree
with the policy stated by some of the leaders of his own
Maronite sect, although he is a Christian, a Christian
from the top of his head to the soles of his feetl So you
see him stripping Bishop TubiyyZ 'Aun, head of the
bishopric of Beirut, of his robe of innocence, although
he was his own relative,go saying of him that it was he
who incited the Christians to fight their brothers the Sons
of Ma'rti? (the Druses) in the year 1860 in opposition to the

90, (Y) The writer of the Memoirs, confirmed
by many supporters, says that %ho YAqIqX
family in KafafDabyan, the 'Aun family in
al-Damlir, and the Ra family in
BisharrI, are of a single origin.
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will of his chief, Patriarch Bulus Mas'ad, who "prohibited
the occurence of this ineluctable business." Bishop
Tibiyya had intrigues in that black and violent year which
were not free of momentous responsibilities; and we believe
that the time has come for him to bear his just share of
them in justice to history and truth...

We also see Antfin al-'AqIgl in another part of his
Memoirs narrating the cause of that eivil turmoil among
the Lebanese, with entire truthfulness, saying that in
origin it was a revolt of the peasant against feudalism,
that republican revolt led by its heroic chief, Tanyls
Shahin, to the noblest page of our country's history. This
farrier became its commanding lord, "giving orders for
obtaining rights and punishing the sinners as he willed,
without opposition, and saying, 'by the power of the
Republican Government.' His name became great, and his
reputation penetrated the whole population." That
revolution which the peasantry set ablaze was, then, for
the declaration of republican government in Lebanon - the
oldest republic in the East! - but the Druse overlords
and the feudalists deceived the people and set them in
sectarian conflicts"... That was in the beginning of the
year '60., The cause of its occurrence was that some of the
people of that district (the Shuf) yearned to throw off
their feudal lords such as the princes of the house of
Abu al-Lama' and various Druse and Christian shaikhs.
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8o they began their mischlevous movement. The Druse
Shaikhs learned of this news and began persecuting the
people with a kind of trickery and incited disturbances
between the two sects etc..." This historical truth has
unfortunately been forgotten today. Common Lebanese
éﬁinion has ignored it entirelysj it was dealt a decisive
blow by the misleading "historiesl" which were circulated,
and whose poisons are still breathed, by a party of
foreign missionaries and their hirelings, the pack-
animals of the colonialists, the extremists among the
shaikhs and clergymen, and those who benefit from sectarian
division among the Lebanese.

| We aléo see al-'AqIqI enlarging on his description
of soﬁe'of the painful slaughters that occurred in that
year, so profuse in his description that its publication
today still opens woundsj it provokes these fishers in
turbid waters who seek office or promotion of disunity;
and ‘the colonialist agents take advantage of this to awaken
buried hatreds. But if reactionaries profit in some way
from the publication of these Memoirs, the nationalist
c¢ause, the popular cause, and with them historical truth,

will greatly benefit and profit from their publication
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91
together with the clarifications we have attached to them.

Indeed we say; the publication of these bloody incidents
and a detached explanation of them are necessary to every
writer who works for future generations, for they bear a
valuable message to the people, who learn from it the
evils of reprehensible extremism, which profits those who
blow its horn - and they are but individuals - while
others burn in its furnace, and they are the whole nation.
It is to be considered brutal humiliation which the masses
approach because they are guided by haughty leaders, and
it is tangibly evident that every foreigner to these

91, (Y) Sources of the commentary:
1, Sulaiman Ab@l 'Imz al-DIn,
I m Pa fI Su y Al-
Motba al-Adablyyah, Beirut 1929,

2. E!lEQJleELA&EELIS_iﬁaﬂl_
Sivasiyyah wa'l Mufawadst, 1840 ila
gi nnah 1910, Translated into Arabic

y Philip and FarId al-Khdzin, Sabr
Press, Jlniyah, Lebanon, 1910.
3. Iannﬁg al-Shidqu, p

y a literary committee sponsored by
Isma'Il HaqqT Bey, Mutagarrif of Mount
Lebanon. Al-Matba'at al-Adabiyyah,
Beirut, 1334 A.H.

5. M., Jouplain, %g_gggggggg_g¥
%;%;g (Jouplain is the pen-name of the
ate

Bulus Nujaim), ILibrairie nouvelle
deodroit dt de jurisprudence, Pafis,
1908.
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houses = whether Turkish Muslim or European Christian -
trafficked with our grandfathers and permitted the shedding
of their blood for the sake of his greeds. Nay, the truth
must be considered more momentous and more painful when
it is seen that the grandsons of most of those feudalists
and foreign agents who caused the slaughters, and permitted
violation of honor, blood, and sustenance - that most of
the grandsons of those criminal feudalists continue today,
as their grandfathers did 80 years agoy to make war with
the foreigner against the Lebanese people! This feudalist-
colonialist unity is a logical result of the factors on
which rests the present order in the world.

We do not deny that Antun al-'AqIqI errs in some
of his accounts, but his errors are unintentional, and we
shall see him in the following pages éhowing sympathy for
individuals and a yearning to support certain policies.,
He nevertheless exerted himself - God's pardon! rather he
went forth behind his naturally truthful disposition =
in saying the truth whenever he could, and trying to be
fair to everyone he mentions in his Memoirs, He is markedly
honest, and many cultured historians would do well to
imitate him.

Those few individuals who have been able to make
a serious study of the Eastern Question in its various

stages, and were acquainted with the aims of the colonialist



states of that day (Russia, England, and France) to
interfere in the affairs of the Ottoman authority, know
that the Arab countries were the gate to that great
Question; and if we are correct in saying this, = and we
are correct - then from sound deduction we aver that

Mount Lebanon was its key. Inasmuch as the momentous
events related in this book concerning the Mountain are
unknown to most readers becuase they have not had the chance
to study them in detail, we thought of facilitating their
task with a brief word, as an introduction, so that they
may begin reading about them with knowledge of some of the
principal causes.

We in Lebanon, and in all our Arab countries, are
in need of many studies like these Memoirs, so that the
masses of the people may rise from their disunity and unite
their ranks. What al-'AqIqI has written in its pages bears,
as I have said, a valuable message in this field. This is
why I have printed and annotated it as far as possible,
and I hope that the readers will receive it with open arms,
and thank with me the dear "Al-Tall'ah" which undertook its
publication, for it has contributed to the cultivation of
the Arab masses and their direction toward high ideals, and
it is the 1living example of the pure and noble periodical
which serves its readers with truthfulness and sinceritye.
Would that we had 100 "TalI'ahs" 1like it!

Bhamdlin, September 25, 1936.
Yisuf IbrahIm Yazbake
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Introduction
The Syrians and Lebanese were bending, at the

outset of the 19th Century - and the length of the Ottoman
period - under the yoke of tyranny, fatigue, and humilia-
tion. Anarchy was general in all their lands, and they
were ruled by conditional factors. The rope of securlty
was shaken, rights were lost, and landowners competed to
rent tracts from the governors (agents of the Sultan) to
utilise them for their own personal gains, ruling summarily
over the necks of the inhabitants, spoiling the land, and
then willing it to their own sons after them.

When Muhammad 'AlI secured his footing in Egypt,
after his sword had sparkled in saving the Hejaz and the
platemux of al-Murawwah, he stretched his ambitious eye
to the eastern bank of the Suez straits (the canal had not
yet been dug), greedy to widen his holdings and fatten his
wealth, and to enlarge his army, and began to prepare the
way to the conquest of Palestine, Lebanon and Syria. He
spread his "eyes" into them to glean news for him and find
the vulnerable spot in their strength, and sent his agents
to persuade their inhabitants to support him. The ties
of friendship were firm between him and BashIr al-Shihabl
the Maltese, governor of Mount Lebanon, and he showed favor
to individual Lebanese so that his name became beloved to
certain persons. Strangely enough, most of the population
of geographical Syria were expecting their liberation by
his hand from the noose of the Ottoman tyranny and its



cruel agents, at a time when Egyptians were fleeing from
the tread of Muhammad 'AlI}s rule and taking refuge in Syria.

That desire governed Egypt's ruler until it became
almost his sole concern, especially since Jéiﬁgiég the far-
reaching Arab area to his rule would remove his capital
city of Cairo from the Ottoman frontiers and make him secure
from the sword of the Turkish Sultan. When the first
opportunity presented itself, then, early in 1831 he sent
his eldest son IbrahIm Pashd at the head of a force of
30,000 troops equipped with heavy cannon and a variety of
weapons, and among them his cleverest, most experienced
leaders, to occupy these lands. The Arab cities all
received them with welcome, and they met with no opposition
except from the garrison of the fortress at 'Akkd, most of
whose men were & Dalatian5924 and Albanians.

The country complied with equanimity to the rule
of the friendly "conqueror". With the aid of its sons, and
especially the Lebanese, Ibrahim Pasha was able to continue
his victorious march on Kuthahia and to humble most of
Anatolia up to the walls of Constantinople; and had Anglo-
Russian policy not stood in his way, he would have occupled
the Ottoman capital and deposed the Sultan.

92+ According to Yusuf IbrZhIm Yazbak,
denotes Ottoman irregulars of remote
North African origin, whose ancestors
migrated to Egypt an& later to the
Levant,



- 5D =

We do not now propose to examine the "nature"
of the Arab Idea which ran in the mind of Muhammad 'All
and his son IbrahIm, and led them to found an Arab realm,
far-reaching, full of courage, conscientlious in benificence,
but we do assert unquestionably that it was not the child
of nationalist will or the emanation of racial partisan-
ship. It was no more than pure materialistic greed whose
analysis has no place in these lines,

What does deserve mention in this connection 1is
that Mubammad 'A1Y sought influence with the ShariIf of Mecca
to win over the Arab countries to himself and to please
them with his plan., He accused the Caliph of unbelief and
sought a fatwa for this thought, and broadcast in the lands
"a circular in which he accused Sultan Mahmoud, charging
him with straying from the faith and with unrestrainedly
imitating the unbelievers, declaring that the likes of him
were unfit to possess the office of Caliph and to sit on the
throne of the House of Osman; and he followed this by call-
ing on all true believers to rise to save the faith which
was threatened by him who ought to be its strongest defen-

93
der..."

93. (Y¥) Abu 'Izz al-DIn, p. 58, taken from
Sir John Gardner Wiikinson, Modern

mm):_ﬂihem_a, (London, Murray,
1843).
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Some historians see the rule of Muhammad 'AlX
in the Arab countries which he governed, and especially
Lebanon, as being on the whole a period of goodj for he
was just to the various religious sects of the people
and rendered everyone equal before the law and in payment
of taxes, and in the lands of the vilayets (outside
Mount Lebanon) put an end to the preference, favoritism,
and deprivation which the Ottoman imperialism had planted
in compliant Arab souls. He put an end as well to anarchy
and thievery, spread satisfaction, and worked for the
revival of agriculture and industry so that he might profit;
and profit he did. But those happy days of his did not
laste The tyranny of foreign rule did not lessen however
much its justice increased; and its evils were several
times its benefits. The author of Ibrahim Pasha fI Striyya
sald that the sons of that country welcomed the extension
of Muhammad *AlI's rule "because of what they had endured
of the anarchy of the authorities and tyranny of the
governors in the Ottoman period, because of the coaxing
promises Ibrahim Pasha gave them, and what they saw of the
good behaviouk of his troops in the country and their for-
bearance from touching the honor and money of its people.
But after his conquest of Syria was completed, the garb of
politics was shed, laying bare what was under it. He

directed himself toward exploitition of the sources of
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wealth of the Syrian country and weakening of the power of
its people. He began to collect arms, conscript the men,
monopolise the trade with the national produce, impose heavy
taxes, and force the people to work for the promotion of

94
the government's plans. The Syrians had not been accus-

94 , ¥+—pepe—88+ Ferdinand Perrier

describes in some detail the system
of rule imposed by IbrahIm Pasha in
Syria.
Taxation included (a) the mIrI, or _
collective village tax; (b) the Khara]
(imposed on Christians and Jews); (c)
the fardah al-rus, which was a newly
imposed head tax; (d) the customs duties;
and (e) government monopolies.
The mIrt was originally established at
the time of the Ottoman conquest, belng
imposed more by right of conques% than
by any deeper legal sanction. A
cadastral survey made by Sultan SaliIm
served as the basis for assessment, but
by the 19th Century was of course hope-
lessly out of date. A "green miri" was
also levied on fruit trees, at the rate
of 5% per year of the produce; payment
began when the tree was planted, before
it bore fruit, thus discouraging
adequate plan%ing. Furthermore, the
land mIrT once levied was never lifted
no matter what became of the land. In
1839 some Lebanese pleaded with AmIr
BashIr to take property which they were
abandoning, so as to relieve them of the
tax; this was refused. "In the East,"
says Perrier, "it is not that the tax
itself is exactly ruinousj it is the

© lack of reasonableness that governs its
distribution, the violence and partiality
of the arrangement, that cause all the
evil.," There is no evidence that Ibr&him
took measures to correct this outmoded
system, though he cannot be held respon-
sible for its creation.
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The Khardaj, or tax on the rayas, had
long ago been fixed at about seven to
nine piastres per head. Owing to the
long~-term devaluation of the plastre
it had by the 1830's become relativeiy
negligible. _
The fardah al-rus, an Egyptian creation,
was levied on all heads without distinc-
tion of religion. This aroused the
objections of Muslims who saw in it an
impious innovation. As Yazbak states
below (his page 26) it varied between
15 and 500 plastres per man., This was
not high in itself, but the minimum
was harsh on the poorest individuals,
and it was assessed at a total for each
town which grew with the population but
never diminished.
Customs duties touched not only imports
from abroad, but goods and animals
entering towns from the nearby country-
side.
Add to this the fact that the cost of
living under Ibrahtm had risen sharply
as a result of the quartering of troops,
the corvée labor, and the monopoly
system, Perrier concludes that Egyptian
rule was an economic burden to the
countryside, which had to contribute
more to the support of Ibrahim's army
and government than it had for the Turks,
while the trading and artisan class of
the towns, which in days past had been
the first to feel the effects of Turkish
misrule, was now better off than before.
(Perrier, ODe sy PPe 95"109).
The disarmament here mentioned by Yazbak
was one of the first actions of Ibrahim
in Lebanon, where 60,000 weapons were
taken from the Christian population.
The disarmament of the Druses came later,
a fact which contributed to bitterness
between the two sects. As for conscrip-
tion, Perrier states that in the years
ust before Ibrahim's advent, the Turks
ce pressed the Christians into service;
though not in large numbers, enough to
irritate both Christians and Muslims.
(Perrier, op.cit., pp. 359-61).
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tomed to all these undertakings in previous times, and
the fires of revolt intensified in most parts of Syria,
with the exception of Lebanon, where Muhammad 'AlI,s
government was able to divide the aims of the people with
the aid of AmIr BashIr Shih&b by promoting the enmity
that exlisted between Christians and Druses and even within
the ranks of the Druses, whom they weakened by inducting
their young men into the military corps and showing
favoritism to the Christians to guarantee their friendship.
For after having collected their arms from them, he
distributed arms back to them in the year 1838 to seek
their help in putting down the Druse rebellion when it
spread from Hauran to WadI al Taim...“95

We have sald: The Lebanese had not, Before the
Egyptian regime and its pack-animal BashIr al-Shihabi,
known sectarian division. Theirs had been a feudal
partisanship uniting Christian, Druse and Muslim in a
single rank, against Christian, Druse, and Muslim in the

opposing forefront. In earlier times they had been divided

95, (Y) Abu 'Izz al-DInI . 2565 taken
er

from Ferdinand Perr La Syrie ggu;
le Gouvernement de Mé&émet-A%i Jusqu'en
1840. (Paris, Bertrand, 1842).
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96
into Qaisites and Yemenites., When their contenders

quarreled, the allled families of numerous sects took the
field against their competitors, pushed on by partisan,
rather than sectarian interest. A look at their history
before the ominous ShihabI rule shows us a clear page of
religious tolerance and unity; in fact it is sufficient

for us to look at the situation at 'Ain Darah, for example,
at the outset of the 18th Century, when the two parties
fought the struggle of men ready to die, and the prospect
of Mount Lebanon was turned head over heels. This was the
most momentous event in its national history, and we see

that the families of al-QadI, 'Imad, Nakad, and 'Abdul

96, {¥s—puge=38) The origins of the ageless
Qais~Yemen factional rivalry are obscure
and need not be discussed here. Suffice
it to say that, as Yazbak observes, it
cut across sec%arian lines. After the
extinction of the Ma'n family and the
succession of the Shéhabs to leadership
in the Lebanon at the end of the 17th
Century, the rivalry came to be super-
seded by that of the JanblatI and Yazbakl
factions, especially among the Druses.
This new alignment is traced by Colonel _
Churchill to the two sons of 'AlT Janblat
Pishd, governor of Aleppo, who took refuge
in the Shilf district of Lebanon after a
military defeat suffered by their father.
The later descendants of Janblat and
Yazbak, the two sons, occupied the Shiaf
and 'Arqllb districts respectively, the
latter being led by Shaikh 'Emad, founder
of the Druse family of that name.
Eventually the two families quarrelled
and became known, with their adherents,
as the Janblat{I and YazbakI factions.
(See Col. Charles Churchill, Mount
Lebanon: a Teg Years' Residence, vol. I,
p. 2073 also Poujade, 92.912 » pg. 2l-23

3.

L]
also Perrier, op.cite., pp. 42~



- BB =

Malik, who were Qaisite Druses, fought against their
co-religionists 'Alam al-DIn, Harmish, Arslan, and Sawwaf,
who were Yemenites. The former were Joined by a group of
Christians, whose Christianity made no impression of their
Druse allies or enemies, We see that Shalkh Qibldn al-
QadI, "Chief of the Shuf sects," as al-Shidyaq describes
him, died in the year 1712 without an heir, bequeathing

all his leavings to the Muslim Amir Haidar al Shih&bI, who
was bound to him by the Qaisite tie. Indeed, we see a
still more significant event than all that, in support of
the partisanship, and that is that the Maronite Shaikh
Francis al-Kh3zin shortly before his death appointed his
Druse ally, Shaikh BashIr Janbl&t, as guardian of his
children. Again, we see the Lam'aites and the Yazbakl
faction under the leadership of the Nakads fighting BashIr
al-Shihabl and applying themselves to confirmation of his
cousins in the government against the Janblats, the 'Imads,
and their allies who were supporting BashIr. Then we see
this same BashIr agreeing with the 'Im&ds to kill their
enemles the Nakads by a base plot. History also shows us a
Maronite from Dair al Qamar named Hann& Baidar rescuing his
compatriots Mahmild and W&kid of the NakadI Druses from the
'Akka prison by a daring scheme that no Druse would under-

take. And so strong was the sympathy of Shaikh BashIr
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Janblat for the Maronites in his domainsthat he built
churches for them at his own personal expense, and the
Maronite monastery of Mashmlishah in the JazzIn district
testifies to this day of the tolerance of that Druse chief-
tain. No doubt his grandsons have kept the letter of the
Holy See to him thanking him for his "good intentions"g7
toward his Christian countrymen. Then history shows us
that AmTr Amin 'Abbas Arslan, a Druse, joined the army of
the Christian Amir Khalfl BashIr al-ShihabI and fought
with him against the Druses of wxdl al-Taim... These
events and witnesses, which are a few out of many, affirm
to us that it was feudal partisanship that led the Lebanese
in their lives, and sectarian division did not enter their
ranks until after the coming of Ibrahim Pasha to their
land, and then the spreading of evangelical missions there
with their diverse creeds..

In justice to history it 1is incumbent on us to say
that the Buropean powers, particularly England and France,
strove mightily to create this division among the Lebanese
and to split them into religious factions. There is
Colonel Rose, the Englishman whom London sent to Lebanon
and Syria to expel IbrZhIm Pishd from them, saying quite

97, (Y) Tarlkh al-A'yan, p. 142.
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frankly in an official report which he sent to his
government, "The Maronites are submissive soul and body
to France ... and there remains for England no choice
in the matter, indeed it has become incumbent on her to
protect the Druses..." »

The above-mentioned Colonel Rose is to be reckoned,
with his colleague Richard Wood, who later became the
consul of the English government in Beirut y the most
cunning of those who combatted and killed the policy of
France and her agent Mupammad *A1T in Syria. After they
succeeded in taking advantage of the Egyptian authorities!'
111-treatment of the Lebanese, they worked hard to win the
sympathies of the Maronites over to England. When they did
not succeed they sought to kindle the fire of division
between them and their brothers the Bant Ma'rif (the
Druses), and to split the Mountain into two segments,

Druse and Christian, appearing to help the Druses, as we
saw in the Colonel's report, so that be means of them
England could gain supervision over this country and pre-
pare the minds there whenever the opportunity permitted her
to conquer it, following the way of India, and to spread
British trade in the Near East.

98, (Y) é; Muharrardt gl-sgxig;ngh, vol.I,
Se ’
99, It was Rose, not Wood, who became
Consul General in Beirut. Wood was
later Consul in Damascus.



Again in justice to history we should mention that
politics 1s treacherous and does not fulfill covenantse.
France, to whom "the Maronites submitted soul and body,"
was unconcerned about the complaints of these friends of
hers against the Egyptian tyranny and shut her ears to them,
and even helped their enemy IbrahIm Pashal For thus her
interest decreedwws This painful truth was recognised by
Monsieur Guizot, the French Foreign Minister, in the
parliament on July 15, 1845, when he said: "We were in a
position inconvenient to a vietory of the Syrian Christians...
and lately we neglected them in their opposition to the
Pasha of Egypt, and protected the Pasha not only against
the Sublime Porte but also against the Maronites of Syria,
who were rising against him...“100

Returning to IbrahIm Pashd and the revolt against
him, we say: After his victory at Nisibin and the political
conflict over the Syrian question, Muhammad *AlI was
convinced that he must undertake the struggle of a new war
for the defense of Egypt and Syria, and he determined to
increase his land and sea forces to 400,000 fighters.

Among other things he resolved to conscript the Lebanese of

101
all sects and to collect "poll tax" money from them for

(Y) 100. Ibids, pe 199. .

(Y) 101. Or a head levy, which is a tax Ibrahim
Pasha imposed on all males on the basis
of 12% of the subject's income from lands
or condition that it should not exceed
500 piastres however great the income,
nor be less than 15 plastres even if the
subject were poor. Men of religious
calling and government workers were
excused.



- 69 -

seven years in advance. He knew that the Lebanese would
oppose these demands in view of the misfortunes they had
suffered at his hands, and he ordered that thelr arms first
be collected to deprive them of the means of defense.

r in ear 1840 numbe fE s had 3

through the country, claiming that they had come to trade
or to dietribute help to the need d the d u

alleviate their needs and losses caused by the succession
of wars and revolts. At the same time the rumours spread
of IbrahIm Pashia's intention to conscript the Syrians

Page 27 once again to make up the gap 1n the ranks of his army and
to prepare it for a new warj and tongues carried the rumour
that Buropean troops would soon come to Syria to save 1ts
people from misfortune and 1ift from their shoulders the
exactions of Muhammad 'A1I's governmente These rumours

made a great impression on the people, pervaded as they were

with despair and trouble. A phrase much repeated on the

tongues of the Lebanese at that time was, "Oh Lord, Thy
102
comfort or Thy Buropeanl" Every moment on the part of

Muhammad tA1T's government gave rise to a thousand
conjectures. For example, when Sulaiman Pashd "the

103
Frenchman" moved from his residence in Sidon to Beirut,

102. 'k’J-g’,U)i\“,Lﬂ-?)juJL'

103, This was Colonel Sdve, onetime officer
of the French armye.
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it was rumoured that he had done so in order to conscript
the Beirutis and the people of the neighbouring towns.

Fear crept into their hearts, and many Muslims fled with
their families from Belrut, some traveling by sea to

Cyprus and the Greek islands. It happened that Muhammad
'A1T ordered the conscription of Muslim youths in Egypt,
and among those selzed were the Lebanese Christian

students who were studying medicine in Egypt. When the
news reached the Christians of Syria, they believed they
would be conscripted like the Muslims. It happened that
there arrived in Beirut during this time a ship laden with
military clothing, and it was rumoured that they had been
prepared for the young men of the Lebanese Christians, and
their fears of conscription intensified. Negotiation

took place between the Christians and the Druses in Lebanon.
Their leaders held a meeting in Dair al-Qamar and agreed to
resist IbrahIm Pashd with all their strength if he attempted
to take a single soldier from Lebanon. Coffers were set up
for the collection of funds to purchase arms and munitions
when the need would arise.lo4 The news of this meeting was
related by a contemporary writer who may have been staying
in Dair al-Qamar, for he said: "On the 27th of May,
Wednesday, the people of Dair al-Qamar elected 12 (actually

104, For all of Yazbak's page 27, see
Perrier, pp. 364-6, and Shi&yaq,
PP. 588-9,
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it was 14) men to make arrangements (from the Druses:
Hamd al-ShahharI and Khazii' Khubais. From the Maronites:
Nadir Abd 'Akr, IbrahIm 'Id, Faris Thabit, Sa'd Bz,
Yisuf Abfi Sham'fin, Ghandfiral-Kak, Bishirah al-Julkh, and
Manglr Murhij. From the Catholics: Salum al Heddad,
Hanna 'Isd, Dawud al JawIsh, and HabIb al-$lisah) and they
agreed that all they planned would be kept secret until
the time for action. On the same day men from the wvarious
districts presented themselves two by two representing
every district, and met with the 12 (more correctly, with -
the 14) and formed a pact with a single view, heart and
voice., They then spread the call to rebellion to all
corners of the land, and we came across a pamphlet of this
call whose literal text is as follows:

"1Following the 1ntroductioﬁ: previously we sent
to your Excellencies other messages for clarification of
what has been happening, and perhaps they have reached you.
We are repeating for your information, that last Saturday
the 22nd (more correctly, the 23rd) of this month, a high
order was issued to the entire country, from His Excellency
the Master of Favors - may God support himi - requesting
the army rifles in our possession. Immediately we presented
our plea three times, to keep the arms now in our‘possession,

and this was not accépted; and once he has realised his
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request for our arms, there will follow, first, seven poll-
taxeSIOS, and second, demanding our sons of all sects to
enter the service (that is, military). Since this is an
order which has no equal, we must show rebellion after
Page 29 trusting in God, and seek to oppose this treachery and
render obedience to his Excellency the great Amir.
Yesterday on Blessed Wednesday, we received news from Sidon
that soldiers went forth from this side accompanied by
their Excellencies the Shaikhs of the House of Abu Nakad.
On Thursday we receilved the wonderful tidings that they
defeated those forelgners and took from them 180 rifles, and
that they are still stationed on the bridge of Sidon await-
ing the troops that may pass to our side. We desire that
you should be, as we, wakeful and watchful, alert to any=-
thing new in the environs of Beirut and the northerm side,
and whenever anything new reaches you, inform us at once by
speclal messenger, and with God's help you will be victori-
ous. We need not urge you to be wakeful so that this will
be good and beneficial to all. We ask Himemay he be
exalted! - that we may hear whatever your pleasure may be
on account of your past favors. This is what you should
know, and may God keep you.
Your brothers,

The people of Dair al-gamar
Druses and Christians,.106

105. (Y) That 153 demanding payment of
the "fardah" or capital levy, for
seven years in a single payment.

106, (Y) AbQl 'Izz al-Din, pe. 256 ff.
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When the news of this pamphlet reached Amir Bashir,
he burned with anger and wrote warning the people "against
falling into this error which would necessitate ruining
the houses and uprooting the traces..."

We understand from the above that the "kitchen" of
the national revolt against foreign rule was in Dair al-
Qamar, although it neighboured on Bait al-Din, where
resided the ShihabI governor, hated for his promotion of
the policy of the Egyptian occupation. Those who raised
the standard of that noble revolt were the Druse and
Christian "brothers" of the Dair, together, on the 27th of
May, 1840. On the 28th the news reached their town that
under the leadership of the Nakadls they had defeated the
foreign army. The author of IbrZhim Pashi fI Suriyya
goes on to say: "Among those who blew the tempest of
rebellion and led its men were a number of the ShihabI and
Lama'l Amirs and Shaikhs of the families of Khazin,
Hubaish, and al-Dahdah, because the Amir BashIr had robbed
them of the feudal authority they had enjoyed, not because
of friendship for the people of the country, but in order
to transfer it to his own people and well—wigﬁers, such as

ons randson those who were ¢ e to him in

and outside his family; and these were firmer in their gri

n the people than their previous rulers had been. Among

those who shared in the leadership of the revolt were Amir
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Khanjar al-Harfiish, Ab0l Samra Ghanim, Ahmad Daghir, and
107
Yfisuf al-ShantIrI,"

On the seventh of June the leaders of the Lebanese
rebellion on all sects met at the church of Mar Ilyas at
Antilyas and wrote the following compact:

"The reason for writing:

"On this day we met at Mar IlyZs, Antilyds, we
whose names are listed, in a common body, Druse,
Christian, Mutawdli, and Muslim, known throughout
Mount Lebanon in ali villages, and swore on the
altar of the said saint that we will not betray,
nor comply with any harm to any of us, as we speak
and believe as one. And we the Druse populace 1if
we show the slightest defect we shall be innocent
of our faith, and cut off from the company of the
Druses and the Five Favours, and our wives will be
divorced from the Seven Ways and forbldden to us
in all ways. And also Mar Ily&s will testify
against us and be our antagonist. And we have
called upon a Shaikh, His Excellency the Shalkh
Francis, son of His Excellency Shaikh Hanna Haikal
al-Khazin of Ghistd. And we the Christian
populace, may Mar Ilyas be the enemy of him of us
who betrays us, and may he not die a Christian
death. Recorded on the eighth of RabI', the end
of the year 1256, twelve hundred fifty-six.

Concurring,

The Druse,
Christian, MutawalI, and Muslim populace of Mount
Lebanon in a common body."

"Those whose names are registered above met and
swore on the altar of St. Mar Ily&s in accordance
with what 1s recorded above literally, and for
clarity we have recorded this witness on the
seventh of June in the year 1840 A.D.

(place of the seal) The Scribe

107. (Y) Ibid., p. 261l.
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The clergyman IsbIrIdin 'Aramini, the servant of
Mar Ilyas, Antilyas, AntinyanI." 108

The next day (June 8) the Lebanese rebels broad-

cast to their compatriots the following circular:

"Dear Compatriots: You all know of the injustices
which the Egyptian government has brought down
upon us, the huge taxes, the hardships, the kinds
of enslavement which ali Syria has bent wearily
under. BRuin has come to many families, while the
people of Lebanon, despite thelr pride and spirit
of independence, have borne with patience the
injustices of the tyrannical authorities in
obedience to the wishes of AmIr Bashtr al-ShihabIl
in the hope that this patience would guarantee to
them the keeping of their honor, freedom, and rank.
And if up to now we have not resorted to arms to
free ourselves from the tyrannical authorities, it
is because we had built all our hopes on the
mediation of our Amir, Amir Bashir, issuing from
patriotic generosity éo lighten our distresse.
Unfortunately this government, persisting in its
error and oppression, has not kept faith with our
AmIr for the service he rendered in quieting our
revolt, nay, when he wanted to intercede for us
repeatedly, it threatened him and worsened its
treatment of him in a debasing fashion in Tarsus,

as you all know. And since that time this

government has followed an ominous path, harmful

country, by dividing our alli e, seeki
this go = d false promises, It demanded
our arms and collected them, first from the weak
districts, then it collecte& them gradually from
all, and it employed those treacherous ways in
order to conscript us. So the enslavement of a
large number of our brothers was facilitated, and
its yoke became heavy on them because all preferred
death to remaining under its rule. They revolted
and many regular troops were killed in humbling
them.

"May they rest in peace, the bodles of our brethren
who died in the path of freedom, for they resemble
the courage of the Frenchmen who, when they were

108. (Y) Al-MuharrarZt al-Siyasiyysh, vol. 1,
Pe 2e
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threatened with annihilation if they did not
surrender, preferred death and faced the abyss of
war, killing 150,000 men. And this, brothers,

is a historical Incident which you should not
forget. TFor our compatriots who fought in Hauran
were few of number, but despite the weakness of their
means, as you know, they surpassed the French. As
we were tested with those obligations and we have
been asked to deliver our arms which the government
had given us; and as experilence, which is the great-
est teacher, teaches us that taking us for the army
is a result of our weakness, we must awalt no other
indications of the evil future threatening us. As
death comes to those who awalt it 1n a cowardly

way in their homes just as it does to those who
arise to throw off the yoke of tyranny, do not
hesitate; nay, let us form a firm union whose warp
and woof are mutual sympathies, and let us arise
fearlessly, for the despotism which threatens us to
the last hour of our lives is about to destroy our
country. Is not that quite clear? But it is abso-
lutely certain that late repentance will not save

us if, God forbid, we become divided or heslitate for
the wink of an eye from uniting our strength to
bring back our freedom. So that we may act
decisively in accordance with what the momentous
circumstances such as these require, adapting our
work to wisdom and sobriety worthy of a free people
like ourselves, we must hold a meeting of the men
known for their high rank and lofty knowledge. The
foundation of this soclety will be five heads elected
by a majority of votes in every district. All or
some of them will hold a council in an appropriate
place to agree on establishing an organised leader-
ship and to choose 10,000 of our brave men to resist
all plots and movemen%s hostile toward our freedom,
and to determine taxes - which the government had
intended to seek payment of from those it wishes to
consceript if we should not arise against it - to
purchase the necessary provisions for 10,000
fighters who will settle things with the courage of
the Maccabeans, every one of whom used to fight ten.
For he who has right on his side is unconquerable.
It is requisite that the bonds between the members
of the society be continuous so as to facilitate
making rapid arrangements for the defense of our
countrymen whom danger is staring in the face, and
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to save ourselves from slavery and wrong, and
prevent all plots and tricks of the hateé au-
thorities from dividing us one from the other.
Previously the Greeks were the finest example
for us, since they achieved their liberty with
God's help. The people of Dair al-Qamar are
among the first to have armed for the defense

of our sacred and just cause, and may their
patriotic call be heard in all directions. As
for us, our resolve is strong and unshaken,

and we have sworn the refggn of our independence
or death in this path."

And morej; for this brief foreword helps us to
follow Antun Dahir al-'AqIqI in his Memoirs. And so to

the manuscript, dear reader.

109. (Y) Ipido’ VOIQ I’ PoSo
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Page 36 Quotations

"You know in all certainty whence blow the storms
which are destroying unhappy Syria. Their source is not
the Mediterranean but from behind the English Channel."

-From a speech by Deputy Bélieu in the
French Chamber of Deputies.

"On that date (1840) everyone was expecting the
imminence of the partition of the Ottoman Sultanate.
Yes, endeavours were being made to strengthen the bases
of her existence, although it appeared that the building
was cracking and had begun to crumble on every side.

The observation of Burope was especially directed to
some of the vilayets which were starting to split off,
particularly Syria...

"I accuse the French Government no only of weak-
ness in her conduct in the great Eastern Question since
the year 1836, but also with the paucity of wisdom,
resolve, and determination; and there is not a single
open-minded man aloof from every personal aim, who does
not share my opinion...

"Austrla, a Christian state having, like France,

a religious gnd commercial interest in the East, opposed

her own interests in order to please England, whose agents
Page 37 have for six years undertaken a hateful task whose principle

was to plant the seeds of enmity between the Maronites and
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the Druses, and to stir up hatred between them..."
- From the speech of the poet Lamartine
in the French Chamber of Deputies.

"They resorted to creating reasons for interven-
ing in the East. Syria was quiet, and 1t was necessary
to make her aware that the English, who needed to create
a justification for this intervention, intended this
method and went to Syria in order to inflame minds
against the Pasha of Egypt and to plant enmity between
the sects which were living in peace and friendshipeees

"Often, members of the Chamber, we attribute to
these people a lack of civilisation, deception, and fraud.
But when one day they learn to write history, they will
no doubt charge Europe with treachery, because men came
in that period to throw those people into turmoil,
promising them retention of their safeguards and privileges,
even with broadening their domain; and you have seen how
they kept their promises...

"You have verified the moderation of the (French)
Government in its dispute with the European states,
even though this House has been insistent toward it and
urged it from atop this podium to follow the request for
the return of authority to the ShihdbI family because it
is the only way...to keep our influence... It is easy

for me to contrast the weakness of our government with
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the energy of the English agents and their resolution
in refusing the return of the ShihabIs, and what great
endeavours they undertook to preserve the order of 1842
(the split of Lebanon into two Sanjaqs) which drew
calamities on Syria and which was 1n thelr eyes an
attainment in that it realised their desires, namely,
the expulsion of France from the East and the destruc-
tion of her influence.

"Your supporters and friends, Mr. Foreign
Minister of France, were saying a few days ago, "We
must make Lebanon like Switzerland! As for me, all I
wish is that you do not make her like Polandl" o

- From the speech of Deputy de Malleville

in the French Chamber of Deputies, June 15, 1846.

110. The original French of Malleville's speech:

"I1 fallut & cette époque se créer des
prétextes. La Syrie était tranquille; Il
fallut 1'agiter: et alors ceux qui avaient
besoin du prétexte de l'intervention en
Orient, ceux-134 méme allédrent exciter en
Syrie 1a révolte contre le Pacha, la division
entre les races qul vivaient en paix...

"Nous parlons beaucoup, messieurs, de la ruse,
de la perfidie de ces races non civilisées.

Si elles apprennent jamais d& écrire l'histoire,
elles auront a4 parler de la félonie de 1!
Europe, car & cette époque on est allé les
agiter en leur promettant le maintien de leurs
garanties, de leurs priviléges, que dis-je,

on leur promettant de les étendre.

"Et voici comment on a tenu parole:..." Yazbak's
next sentence is the roughest paraphrase of
page 282 of Poujade. Then (page 284): "...
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Ce qui est vrai... c'est que l'Angleterre

a mis depuis cing ans l'ardeur la plus
soutenue 3 écarter a tout prix le
rétablissement de la famille Cheab et de
1'Emir Béchir. Et pourquoi? Personne

ne s'y troupe, le rétablissement de 1!
autorité unique et chrétienne dans le
Liban, c'est la restauration de l'influence
Francaise, et c'est 14 qu'on vous refuse
toujours... (page 298) "Vos amls disalent
il ya quelques Jjours: Il faut faire une
Suisse en Orient; mol je demande qu'on n'en
fasse pas une Polognel"

(Poujade, _O_Eogj_._t'o, PPe 275'-298)0



Page 40 The Manuscript

A chapter about what the copyist said and what
happened in this period; some of it by witness and some
by hearsaye.

In the year 18hllllIbr§hIm Pasha came with his
Egyptian troops, which numbered around 16,000 fighting
men, to Mount Lebanon and camped at Watd al-Jawz because
the country was in rebellion andpopular revolt.llzThe
leader of the populace was Shaikh Francis Abu Nadir al-
Khizin. IbrahIm Pashd came in order to enforce the obed -

ience of the country, and on his arrival the allied fleet

crossed the sea, delivered arms and ammunition to the people

of the country, and left. Stambull (Turkish) troops came to
the aid of the people of the country. Trouble arose between
TbrahIm Pasha's troops and the inhabitants at Wata al-Jawz,
where the troéps stayed about 35 days. There were many
troubles between the two parties, and defeat was inflicted
sometimes on the Egyptian troops, and sometimes not. After
this the Egyptian.Proops split into two groups, one of them
making for al-QE;Lu_and settling in Bhirsaf. There were
many troubles in %he two places, and during this time they
(the Egyptians) burned part of Bait Shabab and its environs,
and those in Wafd al-Jawz burned part of Falt arun. As for

‘the Turkish troops, they stayed down in Juniyah, or if they

(Y) 111. More correctly, 1840.

(y) 112. A popular revoit in which the general
populace participated. A literal
translation of the French word "C ommune"
attached to the popular revolution in
Paris of 1871.
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did go up (the mountain) during the day, at night they would
return to Juniyah for fear of Ibrahim Pasha. After this
time the Egyptian troops were driven from Kisraw;n, with
the help of God, on Sunday, the first of October, and re-
treated from Kisrawan. Of the troops of the Egyptian there
were many killed and captured, and the troops of the country
acquired much booty. Later, they (the Egyptians) were
driven from Bhirsaf and headed for Zahlah and t:hen.Damuascus.ll3
They stayed four months in Damascus, collected their troops
from all places, and set out for Egypt disappointed, after
ruling this country about 10 years.

After that the Government of Damascus was headed by

Ajmad Agha al-Yusuf on behalf of the Sublime State (Cons-

tantinople). He remained approximately 4 months, and after

113.(Y) The retreat of the Egyptian troops _
from Kisrawan under the commaend of 'Uthman
Pasha came immediately after a battle that
developed between them and Bashir Resim
Shihab ("Abou ThIn") and his men on Octo-
ber 4th (not the lst), for 'Uthman Pasha
was detergined to move yith his troops
from Mairuba to the Bigd'. The Leba-
nese continued to follow-on the heels_
of the Egyptians as far as Naba' $annin
and captured close to 300 of them. On
the 10th of October IbrahIm Pasha was _
routed in the historic battle of Bpirgaf,
and fled to Qarnayil by way of Salima,
then to Zahlah and the Biga'. On the
same night Sulaiman Pasha withdrew from
al-Hazimiyyah, leaving his cannon and
2,000 troops !n Beirut under command of
AAmiral Sadiq Bey who surrendered with
the wnit to the allies on Bo—id.

et 1.
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nim came Walls on behalf of the State and occupied the
post of Damascus.llu

As for Mount Lebanon after the departure of the
Egyptians, AmIr Bashir Qasim became prominent in the country
and came up from Juniyah with soldiers, taking the place
of the Egyptian troops, and with him were the troops of
the country. He stayed in the village of Hammana for a
time. After that he ruled the land a full year; and as
for Amir Bashir "the Maltese", he had gone down to Sidon,
from whence he appealed for help to the French Gov ernment;
thence he went to Cyprus, andthen to Istanbul, he and his
three sons - Amir Khalll, Amir Qasim and AmIr AmIn - and
with them a group of about 300 servants and their harem as
well. After they stayed in Astaneh (Constantinople) for

a time they moved from there to Bursa (Brussa), where His

Grace died as a Christian and received very great honorse.

11%. (Y¥) The Egyptian troops met in Damascus
and stayed there a few weeks. Thelr
oppressive taxation aroused the people
against them. "And when Ibrahim Pashi
decided to leave Damascus once and for
all, he convened a council to which he
invited the notables of the town and
charged them with the selection of a
governor (Mutessallim) for their city.
And the choice fell on Hasan Bey al-
K&hgﬁlah"o On Monday, December 29
Tbranim Pasha and his soldiers left the

city, and Ahmad Agha al-Yusuf came to

1t, delegat® from the Sirr-'Askar Mu-

Qammad 1Tzzet Pashd to take charge of

governing it in the name of the Sultan,
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Some of his sons died before him and some after him.

AmTr Bashir lived 96 years,llsand ruled Mount Lebanon 45

115. (Y) Bashir "the Maltese"_was born on
January 6, 1767, in Ghazir. The period
of his rule began in theyear 1788, al-
though it slipped from his grasp more
than once, and his authority was not
finally assured until 1822. After the

Page 43 expulsion of IbrahIm Pasha from Leba-
non the British Admiral Robert Stopford
dismissed him (October 9), and he came
with his family tg Sidon surrendering
(Oct. 11) to Khalil P&shd, delegate of
the Ottoman State, who treated him well
and welcomed him. But the Commander of
the English fleet, Commodore Sir Charles
Napier, was not satisfied with his surren-
der and asked that he be sent to Beirut.
In Beirut it was dﬁcided to remove him
to Malta (Nov. 1)

He was permitted the company of his
family and "to take his money in gold
which totaled 18,000 bags"!'! After he
stayed eleven months in Malfa he was
moved to Za'faran Bol (an inland village
near Istanbul), then to Brussa, and later
was returned to Istanbul. He dled at Qadi
Koy (on the Bosphorus) on December 29,
1850, and was buried in the Armenian “hurch
in Pera - so he lived 83 years less seven
days. The Lebanese in his day suffered many
misfortunes. As for his son Amin, he ab-
jured Christianity and made a pretense of
returning to the Islamic faith.

(K) According to Shidydq (p.611), BashIr
was given his choice of exile by 'Izzet
Pasha, of anywhere but France, Egypt and
SyI“ ia.




years. AmIr Haidar Isma'll at the time of the government
of Amir Bashir Qasim had been taken to Sannar and after one

year returned from SannEr.lléﬂe governed Mount Lebanon in

116. (Y) When the matter of the Lebanese re-
volt becamg serious in the eyes of Mu= _
hammad 1A1i's Government and his Shihabil
8lly, The latter determined to inflict
exemplary punishment on those of his
enemies whom he could. He began to col-
lect arms from the people, expel the feu-
dal landlords, and arrest whomever he
could. On August 7, 1870, he sent Z5
Lebanese prisoners to Muhammad 'All in
Alexandria and the latter sent them to
Sannir in the Sudan. They were returned
to their own country in mid-March 1841,
after IbrahTm Pasha's rule was erased

Page ik from Lebanon. One of them,kYﬁsuf Sulai-
man Shihab, died en route.

(K) Sir “harles Napier lists the follow-
ing among the_prisoners: Maronite rs:
Haidar of $allma (later the Christian _
d2'im Mag&m), Fa'll Shihab, Faris Shihab,
Yfisuf Shihgb, Mahmud Shihab, 'Abdullah
Umrad , 'Ali 65'1 Bey, 'All Faris. Druse
Shaikhs: Hamid-AbU Nakad, Q&sim, 'Abbas.

Mu?ammad 'Ali sent the prisoners down
the Nile under guard with orders to be de=-
livered to the governor of Khartfim. En
route, they bribed the guard to give them
the orders, planning if they were to be
sentenced to death to escape into the de-
sert toward Yemen. But upon breaking the
seal and learning that they faced only im-
prisonment, they allowed themselves to Dbe
taken to Sqnnar. (Shidyaq, op. ey DP«603)e

Colonel Edward Napier eventualiy secured
the release of these men, following the
cessation of hostilities, and they were
returned to Beirut abroa& an Egyptian cor-
vette in March, 184l. French merchants and
priests in Beirut publicly claimed the
credit for their liberation. (C. Napier,
m. Qi;., v°1o II’ ppo 259-620)
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the period of 'Umar Pashda'l’on behalf of the Sublime State

Page 45

117.(Y) BashIr Qasim Mulhim Shihab, famous

as "Abu Tgtn“ was installed as governor
over Moun Lebanon on October 9, the day
his namesake retired, but he was not a

good politician and dealt badly with the
Druse chieftains, most of whom rebelled
against him., The pestilent winds of strife
gathered in the land, and the Christian and
Druse landholders began to slit one ano-
ther's throats at the instigation of for-
eigners, especially the English. As the
situation became critical the Ottoman
Government delegated Sirr 'Askar (military
commander) Mugtafa Pashd as Emissary Ex-
traordinary to the Mountain, with a great
force of troops. He dismissed Amir BashIr
Mulhim and sent him to Astaneh (Constan-
tinople) in late 1841; with his departure
ShihabI rule in Lebanon came to an end =
and praise be to God, after they had caused
disgraces and disasters to fall on the Leb-
anese people.

Then 'Umar Pasha "the Austrian" was
appointed as successor to the divested
ShihabT. His policy was worse than that
of his predecessor in its provocation of
scorn and protest, and he was removed late
in the year 1842,

Ideas differed on the form of government
and person of the governor. There were leng-
thy negotiations between the Powers and the
Sublime Porte on this matter, "and M. Metter-
nich , Chancellor of the Austro-Hungarian
Empire mediated in the question and proposed
the appointment of a Christian Qa'im Magam
over the Druses. The State accepted his
proposal on the 7th of December, 1842, and
forwarded it to the Powers, all of whom agreed
to it except the French Ambassador, who elung
to the right of the return of soverelgnty to
the ShihdbI Princes. The Porte appointed
As'ad Pasha as WE1Y of the eyalet of Sidon
and entrusted him with responsibility and
authority over the_affairs of Lebanon. He
msde it into two Qa'im Mag&miyyahs, Christian
and Druze. To the first was appointed AmIr
Haidar Ism&'Il Abli al-Lama'. It was extended
from Tripoli to the Damascus Road, including
the Matn, and later, on 14 March, 1843, the
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for Mount Lebanon to this period was divided into two Qa'im

Magamiyyahs,

one for the Christians and one for the Drusés.

Therefore they fixed borders as follows: from the Damascus

Road southward was entrusted to the Druse Qa'im Magam,

and to the north of it was entrusted to the Christian Qa'im

Magam. The Government of the Mountain underwent this di;

visionllaafter it had been under the Government of him who

118.(Y)

Page 46

Jubail country was attached to it. Abu
al-Lama' took_Bikfayy& as a capital for
the Q&'im Magamiyyah. AmIr Ahmad Arslan
was appointed to the second Q&'im Maqd -
miyyah, which stretched from the Damas-
cus Road at the slopes of Zahr-al-Baidar
to Sidon; and for his capital he took
Bait al-DIn, The administration of Dair-
al-Qamar was transferred to the respon-
sibility of a Turkish Mutasallim ( =See
Lubnan, p. 298 -) The author of gl-

ygggggégj -Kis sald (pe.306),
"Tn 1842 'Umar Pasha was discharged from

the govermor strip of_the Mountain, and
to replace him yuiiafa Pasha 1nstailed
AmTr Haidar Isma'll al-Lama'i, in accord-
ance with the views of the Patriarch
YOsuf Hubaish; and so he stepped forward
and was named Q&'im Mag&m of the Christ-
ians. -

The division of Lebanon into a Druse
Q&'im MaqZmiyyah and a Maronite one, in
aceordance with the ambitions of certain
foreign states, only increased the inter-
ference of the Consuls and their agents
in the affairs of the Mount. This inter-
ference was not in order to show mercy
and compassion to the Lebanese, but rather
made their friendly and brotherly sects
into fuel for the fires of insurrection
and intrigue. Once agaln anarchy spread,
and Astanah (Constantinople) delegated
Admiral Khalll Pasha, a son-in-law of the
Sultan, to return to Syria. He had been
preceded in this responsibility by Sallm



had occupied the throne of Dair al-Qamar since long ago.

Page 47

Bey Wall Pashd Z&deh, son of 'All PEshd Te-
pelen, to observe the actions-of Mugtafd
Pasha at that time. As for KhalIl P shi,
he was charged with settling the question of
the indemnities which it had been decided to
give the Maronites, and cessation of their
crushing misfortunes without enforcing the
arrangements of the &th of December, 1842.
AL ed As'ad Pasha, WELT of Sidon, to
issue an order to stop consideration of the
return of sovereignty to the ShihabI family.
On July 4, 1844, or 14 JamBdI al-Ukhra,
1260, he wrote }rom Beirut to the AmIrs
shaikhs, notables village officials, and
peoples of the southern district, beginning
from the border of the Qaga of Jaffa to the
end of the Qada of the Matn. At the same
time he also wrote in the same sense to the
people of the northern district from F am
al-MIzgb, above BisharrI, to Juniyah, and
notified them all by his two above-mentioned
manifestoes, of the arrival of Khalll Pasha
with his fleet to reform conditions in Le-
banon and regulate its affairs. On the 15th
of September of that year As'ad Pasha called
the “hristian and Druse chieftains together
end informed them that the administration
of Dalr al-Qamar would be delegated to two
agents, one Christian and the other Druse.
With their appointment, the Qa'im Maqims
of the two sects, who were the-two afore-
nentioned AmIrs, would be free to make other
revisions in organising the arrangements
whose formulation and execution were desired. Kk
Then Mupammed Ve IhI Pashd's vileyet of Sidon,
of which the governor's authority over the land-
owners and officials of villages of mixed pop-
ulation was cancelled; and their supervision
was transferred to the two Q&'im Mag&@ms, each
group of them falling under the final juris-
diction of the Q&'im Maglm of its own district.
Because of the-failure to stamp out the
complicated local intrigues, there came forth
those who sought to arouse %he latent hatreds
between the Druses and Maronite Christians.
The fire was 1it in lateApril 1845, and with=-
e filey the conflagration intensified and
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Page 46 The money of the collective village tax (MIrI) was

its evils spread. BahrI Pasha, Mutasallim of
Beirut, hastened to repalr the situation
before it became serious. He gathered the
feudal leaders and chief spokesmen of the
Druses and Maronite Christians to set right
the enmity and root out the remaining hat-
red, What he desired was achieved, and the
chiefs of the two sects wrote down a co-
venant of their agreement to forget their
melice and concealed hatreds of the past,
redeeming the blood that had been shed.
They signed this on the 2nd of June of
that year, or 24 JamadI al-Ula, 1261. But
all that was not enough to extinguish the
fire of enmity and erase its traces. The
situation required the presence in Syria
of ShakIb Effendi, the new director of
foreign affalirs, %o ensure public security
and complete tranquillity in the land, and
to remove the causes of the upheavals and
disturbances. He came to Beirut on July
14 of the same year, accompanied by two
regiments of infantry, and began taking
and collecting arms from the people, which
caused them some difficulty and ar&ship.
Page 48 Cooperating with him was MushTrkk (Marshal)
Namiq P&sh&, commander of the garrison of
the Arab countries. Then he dismissed the
Druse and Christian Qa'im Magams and sent
Ham®d Nakad to al-Astaneh (Constantinople)
where he received the just deserts of his
deeds. He then brought back both AmIr Haidar
al-Lama'iand Amir ArslEn to thelirres-
pective-Qa'im Magamlyyahs, revised the order
of December 7, 1042, gnd reformed it by re-
organising the divans of the two Q&E'im Mag&m-
iyyahs. This is known to the present time as
the reorganization of ShakIb Effendi. His
work stood until the year 1860." - Lubnan,

Pe 299.
"eee 'L.,

This is misleading; the fact as reported

by Poujade (op. cit., P. 78) 1is that
As'ed was replaced as MushIr by "Vedgi."

£\
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fixed on the people of the two districts at no more than
3,500 bags, in accordance with the system instituted for
the State by Shakib Effendi. Out of this he would take
money for the two Qa'im Magams, for the landholders, and
the confederates and servants of the governors, totalling
about 2,000 bags. The remainder reverted to the Treasury -

may it prosper! For each Qa'im Magam a divan was set up

composed of twelve men, of éhom six were judges and the

Page 48 other six ordinary members.119 The tribesmen remained in

(KK)The term "MushIr" denotes both mili-
tary and civil functions: in this case
only the former. The governor of a
province often combined administrative

and military authority and therefore some-
times enjoyed the simultaneous titles of
"WE1T" and "MushIr".

The Governors of the province of Sidon
residing in Beirut were known as "Mushirs",
although their predecessors had been known
as "WalI"of 'Akka' (Acre) until the seat
of government was -transferred to Beirut
in 1841. (See Shidy&aq, oD. %&1., p. 615
and Abkarius, gp. cit., p. footnote.s

119.(Y) In October 1845 the above-mentioned
Vigier ShakIb Effendi directed a
(command or proclamation) to both the Druse
and Maronite Qa'im Mag in which he said
to them: "A royal firman has been written
permitting the formation of a council
(majlis) for each Qa'im Mag@m, similar to
the councils found im other parts of the
Sultanate, to cooperate with him in the
discharge of his functions, taking account
of the special and the general demands of
the subject peoples to the two QE'im Mag¥m-
iyyahs, in accordance with ancient local
customs and sectarian principles, and to
govern by these principles through policles
in keeping with the {ntentions of His Majesty
onr Great Sultan, which are founded on justice




- 92 =

Page 49 their customary situation, each ruling his own people under

and equity... etc. Inc uded in the inform-
ation broadcast by Shakib Effendl concern-
ing the composition of these two councils
was that their members, "the judges and
councillors, would be elected and appointed
with the knowledge of the bishops and 'Uqqal
(Druse 1n1tiates§ of the two sects;" that
each one would be from the distric of

his council; and that the following three
cgn%itions would be observed: (in selecting
him

1. That he should not have been employ=-
ed by foreign agents.

2. That he should not have been und er
the shadow of foreign protection.

3, That he should not be of the popu-
lation of those villages which lay
outside the department of the Moun-
tain administration.

As for their positive gualities, they were:
"One of the most important functions and con-
cerngof the two councils is to attend to
the distribution of the land tax (walrku)
of the Mountain every year with all Jjus=-
tice and right; and in the second place,
to consider ali claims and disagreements
which require settlement and judgment,
in keeping with ancient local custom and
in sccordance with justice and dignity ...
it 1is necessary that the distribution of
the taxes should not cause even the least
justified complaints on the part of the
population, and that these taxes should
be collected in full on condition that
there be no accusation of oppression or
fraud by the collector, or of his doing
harm or of his heavy expenditure... and
that the persons aggointed to collect
taxes should not take head taxes greater
than the fixed land tax (Wairku). Where-
as all the sects have the right to be
treated with gentleness and forbearance,
and in order to guard against everything
entailing the creation of dislike and en-
mity among the sects, it is necessary that
the tax-gatherers whose appointment 1is




the authority of the Q&'im Magam. The Q&'im Magam of the
Christians was Amir Hai&ar and the Qa'im ﬁaqim of the
Druses was AmIr AmIn Arslan. Conditions progressed in
Page 50 this way with complete tranquillity and security. AmIr
Haidar ruled for 14 years,lzowith the people at their work

desired should be from the sect of the

villages to which they are sent, by

what even megns that can be arranged.

That is to say, that a Moslem should

be sent to the Moslems, and a Maronite

to the Maronites, and an Orthodox to

the Orthodox, and so forth. Each of

them will work in this fasion when it

is necessary to inform them of the re-

gulations, or take measures leading to
Page 50 the welfare and benefit of the sects of

the Mountain, by expending efforts to

do away with disturbances of their peace

as much as possible - (sic) - and by con-=

forming to these principles, especially

by implementing them with exactitude in

what concerns the monasteries.” s

The salary of the deputy Q&E'im Magam
was fixed at 600 plasters a month, that
of the member (of the council) at 500,
and that of thesecretary at 450 piasters.

ShakIb Effendi's directive on forma-
tion of the two councils ended with the
following paragraph:

WIn connection with this, the members
of the council are warned against taking
any gifts or anything else from those
submitting claims, and they must expend
their efforts in follouing the twin
paths of purity and honesty, and serve
their Sultan, country and religion with
loyalty; and let them be sure that every
obstruction of their duty will without
doubt bring upon thelr heads the Bunish-
ment they deserve." = Al- al-
Siyasivvah, Vol. I, pp. 218-227.

120.(Y) Haidar Ab# al-Lama' was-ggaélat
Salimi in 1787 and was -appointed Q&'im
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and their trades, with the grain-taxes being paid yearly
according to the law, and with the world at rest from
troubles and disturbances. There was at this time, how-
ever, some discord between the Druses and Christians in
the Sh@f district, and there were many evil doings. This
was before the rule of AmIr Haldar or at the beginning of
it. Most of the country there (1{.e. in the Shif) was
burned, and afterward the Druses all descended on Zahlah
and laid a heavy siege to 1it; and they besieged Dair al-
Qamar. With God's help they were driven away from Zahlah,
and they lost a ﬂumber of killed and wounded. They were
also driven off from Dair al-Qamar. The hostillity between
the two sects remained; and for this reason, in order that
conditions should progress and affairs come under control,
the Government of the Mountain was divided into two Qa'im
Magamiyyahs, as was mentioned. But Satan watches over his
work closely, and he did not leave the people in peace,
but started implanting evil jdeas and envy among them, un-
t11 AmTr Bashir Apmad AbU al-Lama' rose against his uncle
AmIr Haidar, in order to take from him the government of
the Christien Qa'im Mag@miyyah in the Mountain. 121 He began

Magdm in December, 1842 (actually Jan-
uary 1, 1843). He died in 1854,

From Al-Mugata'at al-Kisrawaniyyah,
p. 322: "His ru e~lasted 11 years and
five months, during which time the pop-
ulation enjoyed rest and quiet.”

121¢In early 1854 WamEE P&shi, the MushIr

of Sidon, appoint Bak_xEIr Ahmad to



- 98 =

to bribe certain Pashas in order to become head of the
government, and a sharp quarrel arose between him and his
unlce, each bribing the (Turkish) State officials to harm
the other. A partisanship developed on both sides in this
way and they suffered heavy losses.122 Nevertheless, des-
pite that, AmIr Haldar remained theruler until his death,

because he was a man of "strong faith and of piety and

to raise 2,000 volunteers for the army
from the Christian districts, but neg-
Jected to inform the Qa'im Mag@m or the
MugEta'jls. These complained to Wamig,

and were assured that the Esrte did not

in fact require troops. BahdIr Apmad's
instructions were not rescinded, however,
and he continued to sollicit voiunteers
against the wishes of Amir faidar and the
Mugata'jIs. He had no ready arms or money
for distribution and consequently met with
little success.

(British Consular Files. Calvert to Claren-

don, No. 7, Feb. 13, 1851"'0)

122.(Y) This course of bribing had been_follow-
ed by the ShihabIs before the Lema'is
who were now quarreling. The Shih&bIs in
this particular hed shameful gquarrels,
and used to pledge their women, thelr
children, and their men to the Ottoman
Walls who would signify their satisfaction
when they paid the Walls the agreed price
for the right to rule Lebanon and plunder
its people, And among the "distinctions,
..." of Amlr Bashir the Maltese, whose -
pralses are sung by some simple%ons was
that he was the first Lebanese to o%feg
his wife to Jazzar (Apmed al-Jazzlr, wall
of 'Akka) as a guarantee for the price of
the governorship. No Lebanese before this
ShihabI had offered his wife.
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Page 52 conscience, so much so that he was known as "Father of
the Rosary". Most of the people would appeal to him for
help, as long as he lived, because he was SO beloved for
his mercy and compassion; and there are many sayings
about him in this vein. It was said that he governed all
this time by means of piety. That was in the days of the
reverend Father Mar YiUsuf al-Khazin, Patriarch of Antioch.t23

Some disagreement arose between the AnTrs and the Patriarch,

but they did not herm one another, and afterward, by God's

inspiration, the AmIr Haldar went to the village of §ar——
ba, while the Patriarch was at his monastery residence,

BkirkI, and peace fell between them. H1is Grace the Amir

went up to his Beatitude, and they asked one another's

pardon. FPeace fell between them because the two weré

so very pious, Twenty days after the affair, Amir

Haidar fell {11 with paralysis and died in the village

of Sarba. The Patriarch was present at his death,

123, The origins of both the Patriarchate of
Antioch and the Maronite Church from
which it sprang are obscure: According
to the Enciclopedia Itallana,.the
Church "takes its name from an ancestor,
St. Marfin, who died at the start of the
Vth Century... A Maronite tradition
attributes ... the foundation of their
patriarchate and community to one John
Margn, & monk ... (who was) Patriarch
of Antioch 685-707 A.D.; but the very
existence of this John Martin is extreme-
ly problematical and the tradition re-
garding his patr archate has become ge-
nerally recognized as a legend, arising
not before the 1lith Century."(Enciclo-

Rizzolil and Co., Milan
193k irticle Miaroniti®, Vol xxi1,P.408.)

124 (Y¥) The Patriarch did not live long after
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and his protégés were also presentlzsas well as his rela-
tives from the district of Bait Shabab. They took his
body there and it was burried in Bikfayya with all honor.

him. He died gon November 3, in the same
year, in al-Diman, and was succeeded

in the Patriarchal Chair of Antioch

by Blilus Mas'ad, the greatest prelate
and wisest leader of the Maronlite
confession (he died April 18, 1890).

125 (Y) The protégé or "patronage" (i
iJ4e ) according to Lebanese custom
was a practice whereby a common man
would offer his services to the leading
AmIr or feudal shaikh. "The follower
would strive to please the patron, while
the latter watched over him, kept him
from his enemies, bestowed money on him,
Page 93 helped him touar& his goal, and honored
his particular requests. If he became
angry with anyone and opposed him,
that person could be rid of him only by
taking refuge with another chieftain who
would dare to oppose the wrathful patron
ees If the AmIr fthe governor) marshalled
his followers against the shaikh (the
landholder) and the latter ranged those
under his patronage and their allles,
he could control them as he could his
own fingertips. They were known in their
many occasions for their bravery and
their unity (even if they were of differ-
ent religius groups)... The greatest gover-
nors bore witness to their credit, such
as 'Abdullah P&sh&, WALI of 'Akka, Ibra-
htm.Pasha the Egyptian, and others. If
they rebelled against %he governor or the
shaikh, then known as they were for their
fine loyalty, they were transformed into
bitter enemies."

- Lubnan, p. 180.
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His Kakhiyd (Administrative Deputy) was Shaikh Abl gﬁtim.
Then after his (AmIr Haidar's) death the government was
entrusted to his nephew, AmIr BashIr 'Assaf, by temporary
appointment. That was in the year 1853,126and he remained
in the appointment for only four and a half months. Then
AmIr BashIr Ahmad took charge of the government and re-
ceived the cloak of officelg7from.w5miq Pasha, WA1lI of
Sidon, to become Qa'im Magdm of the Christians in Mount
Lebanon. Amir Amin Arslan remained Qa'im Magam of the
Druses, ruling over his district as before. At the start
of his rule, AmIr Bashir Ahmad employed excessive harsh-
ness corresponding to that of AmIr BashIr Qasim the I~‘Iall.1:,e:-:.e::28
ineluding harsh measures, imprisonment, and expropriations
against wrongdoers, until he terrified the sects with his
government. He would 1isten to the words of none of his
family and servants, thinking that he could return the
government to what it had been previously in the days of
AmIr BashIr (al-ShihabI). But despite this, he presided
over a government of Justice and set out to obtain those

rights that had been trampled on and abandoned. He restrained
the strong from (harming) the weak with his bravery and the

126. (Y) A 1ly, 1854. . »
127. (x) E“{Hb §’.C)" t)lh“c-e-')

According to traditional ceremony, the
appointee would put on a cloak which sym-—
bolized that the WalI was pleased with him
upon his investlture.

128, It was not BashIr Qasim, but his uncle and
predecessor in office, who was known as
(the Maltese".
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strength of his courage, as opposed to the course taken by
the government of his uncle Amir Haidar. For he substituted
harshness for mercy, took no notice of anyone, and did not
pay any attention to the concerns of his feudal chieftains
or anyone else. He remained in this course for about six
months until the people thought that AmIr Bashir had risen
from the tomb. By this time he had humiliated some of the
people in matters affecting their honour and set about to
replace them. Some of them were represented by the house of
Khazin, the house of Hubaish the house of Dabdag,lzgand others.
They came to be very much afrald of him although at that time
the greatest landowners were perplexed in this particular.
Then Yusuf Butrus Karam came to him from Ihdin and asked him
to make him chief of his district in that area. (The Amir)
did not grant this to him, because he had (already) confirmed
his (Karam's) brother, Shaikh Mikhayil, in the title over
the district which he had controlled since the days of Amir

gaidar three years before the aforementioned Yiisuf pleaded
that his brother had had three years of authority and that
now it was his right to have an equal measure. His Grace the
Amir did not concede that, but replied that he did not recog-
nise such honor in him, nor did Yfisuf have any following.

As for his brother, he had given it (the overlordship) to
him simply as a favorj for there was unfriendliness between

the Amir and Yisuf Karam.

129, (Y) The three feudal families of importance
of the Maronite millet. The Khazins were
proprietors of Kisrawan, the Hubaishis
proprietors of Ghazir, and as for the Dahdalh
family, they controlled al-Futfth.
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Y@suf tried every means with His Grace the Amiy but did
not attain his desire, and after despairing of his request
he went away disappointed from His Grace, There was a dis-
pute between Ylisuf and His Excellency Hannd Bey al-As'ad,
who was kaZkhiya (secretary) to His Grace the AmIr, and

this was the reason that Yusuf's request brought no result.
So he went to the 1llustrious.French Consul in Beirut

and asked him to enable him to obtain what he had requested
and attain his right, saying that the right to assume res-
ponsibility for the affalrs of Zgharta was his and not his
brother's. Inasmuch as YUsuf Butrus Karam had taken Te-
fuge unéer1he protection of the French State since the

days of his father and claimed that King Louis had been his
godfather at his baptism and was the protector of this state,
the French Consul was obliged to give him consideration and
wrote to His Grace the AmIr to put the title (to the 1land)
in the hands of the above-mentioned Yusuf, to the exclusion
of his brother. 'The AmIr was not pleased at that. He had
this case reviewed many times and convened the divan
(commission) repeatedly; and after considerable evidence
and reports Yiisuf proved that the title belonged to him,
and the Consul wrote to His Grace the AmIr to invest Yusuf';
so His Grace had to invest him with the title, not because
he had a right to it but out of respect for the words of
the Consul. And so Yusuf received the title in place of



his brother against the will of the AmIr,
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130,74 he (the

AmIr) clothed him with the "Sago"?3land he (Y@isuf) re-

turned to his own country in peace.

130. Baptistin Poujoulat discounts the

story of Karam's baptism. According
to him, the Prince de Joinville (later
King Louis Philippe) visited Lebanon
and was "witness or godfather" at the
wedding of YUsuf's dster. YUsuf was at
that time 13 years old and already bap-
tised. (Lg vérité sur lg Syrle

' y Pe 371

- Poujoulat's account of the dispute
between Yusuf and his brother Mikhayil
states simply that the latter, being
the elder, was named as mugata'ajl
on the death of his father in 1847, but
Ydisuf being clearly more capable and the
favorite of the inhabitants, "& la de-
mande du peuple entier le calmacan nomma
Joseph gouverneur du district de Bécharré".

(Ibid., pp. 374-5.)

131 (Y) The AmIr clothed the seeker of control
over the land with the "Sago" (a ceremon-

ial cloak) as a sign of sovereignty over
it and of his (the AmIr's)favor, while
the AmIr, for his part,-would seek in-
vestiture from the Ottoman Wall,
Lubnan, p. 179; the seeker of authority
in this Mount would "present to Jazzar
(Ahmad al-Jazzar, WalI of 'Akka) six

fine horses with silver saddle and harness
and 50,000 piasters in payment for the in-

vestiﬁure anéd the certificate (the ghart

namé)
thori{y whose present had been preferred

to the others..."

Frequently he would recelve the au-

(K) A document listing the obligations of

the office,
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CHAPTER II
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The career of Tanyfls ShahIn and his peasant move-
ment in Kisrawan from what may be considered the core of
Yazbgk's book. The manuscript of this chapter, together
with tﬁe letters found in Chapter V, constitute the real
contribution of his work, inasmuch as they bring to light
a detailed, though scattered and incoherent, account of an
obscure but significant page of the history of the Lebanon.

It 1s first necessary to give some attention to
the troubles which befell AmIr BashIr Ahmad AbG al-Lama',
the Christian Q&'im Magdm of 1854-60, of which 'AqTqT
gives a brief acéount. The widespread oppositién to the
AmTr had, as 'Aqin suggests, a decided bearing on the
peasant uprising of 1859.' Like the events of the preceding
years, this opposition is largely ignored in the most read=-
ily available sources, and we have again been obliged to
rely almost wholly on the unpublished British consular
dispatches.,

It was seen in our commentary to the preceeding
chapter that the appointment of BashIr Ahmad received the
full approval of Nevin Moore, the British Consul, as well
as that of his French colleague. Only three months after
the new @'im Magam was invested in office, Moore had ex-
pressed his satisfaction with that functionary, who relied
heavily on him for advice. "That confidence is indeed un-
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limited: so much so that matters which do not seem to me
to require consultation are nevertheless brought for my
opinion."132 The AmIr continued to enjoy an untroubled
rule through the Crimean War. Early in 1857 he began to
encounter the opposition of the Greek Orthodox and the
Maronite clergy; the former in part because he represented
Maronite domination over other Christians, which the Ortho-
dox had tried to resist in 1854 after the death of Amir
Haldar, and the latter chiefly because of the strong views
of Patriarch Bulus Mas'ad. Blilus had risen from an unknown
peasant family to receive a religious education in Rome
and eventually to reach the top of the ecclesiastical ladder;
he was noted for his piety -- or fanaticism, some would
say -- and for a marked dislike of the landed aristocratic
class. These sentiments were shared by many of the lower
Maronite priesthood, and found an object in the Q&'im Magam,
who had been born a Druse and was not known for hié close
adherence to the religious 11fe.133
In March 1857 Moore reported lively disagreement among
the Maronite bishops over whether to continue to tolerate the
AmTr. The Patriarch and bishops were all ill disposed to-
ward him and would join in asking for his dismissal were it

not for their reluctance to take a step which would be so

132, British Consular Files. Moore to Claren-
don, No. 56, Nov. 25, 185k4.

133. See Churchill, The Druses and the Maron-
ites, pp. 120-2,
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welcome to the Greek Orthodox. The AmIr enjoyed the firm
backing of Wamiq P&shd@, France, and Austria. The Austrian
Archduke Maxilimian, on a visit to the East, wrote to him
guaranteeing Austrian support against his remova-l..ly+

A memorandum was submitted by the Orthodox Bishop
of Beirut asking that the Orthodox population be placed
under landlords of their own faith so as to free them from
the gbuses of the Maronite Qa'im Mag@m and feudatories,
and demanding a larger Orthodox participation in BashIr
Ahmad 's administration. In reporting this Moore commented,
"The institutions of the Lebanon are of themselves exceed-
ingly well calculated for the benefit of the country. T he
evil has all along been the want of cordial support on the
part of the Mushir and the dishonesty of the present two
Kaimakams ..."137 _

The Maronite Bishop Tlibiyyd@ 'Aun of Beirut complained
to Moore that "it was impossible théy could have a worse
Kaimakam that Emir Beshir Ahmet and that he would never
give him his support."” Moore promised his efforts to re-
concile the antagonism between the Maronite and Greek clergy,
the latter appearing to view BashIr Ahmad and the Maronite
nation in general as one and the same. Petitions flowed
into Beirut protesting against the Qa'im Magam from
Christians of both sects, despite opeﬁ Intimidation and

forcible interference by the AmIr.136

134, British Consular Files. Moore to Claren-
don, No. 11, March 14, 1857.

135, Ibid., Moore to Lord Stratford de Red-
cliffe, No. 34, May 4, 1857.

136. Ibid., Moore to Stratford, No. 37,
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These events represent the collapse of what Chur-
chill describes as the triumvirate of the Patriarch, the
French Consul, and the Christian Q&'im Magam, a collapse
which he attributes to the invasion by the AmIr of the
rights of the Maronite clergy.137 The French Consul stood
by Bashir Ahmad ; he alone among the European representatives
refused to accept the petitions of the Orthodox and trans-
mit them to Constantinople. In October 1857 an event
occured which hastened the withdrawal of the Maronite
muqdta'jls from Bashir Ahmad's side. Shaikh Khalll
gubaisﬁ was jalled by the Amir on charges of favoring
petitions against him; Shaikh Khalil denied this, but
was told he would be released only by appealing to the
French Consul This he refused to do, saying that "he will
owe his liberation only to_English intervention." The
combined efforts of Moore and KhiirshId P&sha (who hgd
succeeded Wamiq as MushIr) were to no avall; ShaE;S
Khalil was finally freed on the advice of de Lesseps. 138

On December 3, 1857, Moore wrote, "The Emir has
veo dispatched an armed party to scour the country and

arrest and bring before him alive or dead such persons

as are (Involved) in petitioning." 139

May 26, No. 38 29, and No. 39
May 30, 1857, Bashtr Abmad admitted
to the Austrian Consul that he had
placed men on the roads to selze those
suspected of bearing petitions; he de-
nied his guilt to the MushIr, however.

137. Churlggills The Druses and the Maronites,
P L]

138. British Consular Files. Moore to Strat-
ford, No. 58, Oct. 30, 1857,

139. Ibid., Moore to Stratford, No. 68, Dec.

3, 1857.
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_ It was soon after that that the landed aristocracy
organised their opposition in a series of meetings and so-
cieties. The assembly at Ziq al-Kharab, dated March 15,
1857 by 'AqlqI, took place actually a year later than
that daté and was reported by Her Majesty's Consul as
follows: "A very numerous and 1nf1uentiai meeting is now
being held at a central point in the Kesrouan to which
Christians of different sects, as well as Druses, resort
from every district." This group submitted petitions
to the Consuls, directing against the Qa'im Magam the
charges cited by 'AqIql in his manuscrip£: injustice, inf-
luence of selfish*interests, acceptance of bribery, and
failure to follow the "straight path of religion."ll+0

Moore appears to have seen in these events an oppor-
tunity to extend British ;nfluence, for he wrote, "The
French have succeeded in establishing a system of terror
all over Syria by means of which they have become the vir-
tual rulers cf the country." Though the Maronites are
"French" and the Druses "English", the former, with en-
couragement and assistance, "would desert the French and
come over to us ... England enjoys the moral, and France
the material weight in this country... that latter specles
of influence is unquestionably the more advantageous and

and practicably useful 141

140. Ibid., Moore to C. Alison (British
Chargé d'Affaires in Constantinople),
No. 32 March 16, and No. 23, March
17, 1858.
141, ;ﬁ;@., Moore to Clarendon, No. 8,
enc losure, February 19, 1658.
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Does this explain England's espousal of the cause of those
complaining against the Qé'im Magam whom France supported?
There were other possible éxplanations, chiefly that Eng-
land simply viewed the maintenance of an unpopular govern-
or as a danger to the political system that Moore consider-
ed "exceedingly well calculated for the benefit of the
country."” And as we shall soon see, it was France rather
than England who favored the popular cause in the peasant
movement against their aristocracy in Kisrawan.

AmIrs AmIn and 'AlY AbT al-Lama', relatives of
the Qa'im Maq&m, in retaliation for his interference with
their ﬁroperty in the Biga', then "made an attack upon
him and compelled him to sﬁut himself up in his own house."
On May 10 BashIr Ahmad fled his Brumm&n@ residence, follow-
ing a threatening demonstration by the populace, and took
refuge in Beirut. The Maronite aristocracy submitted a
fresh petition of their grievances, insisting that in the
meanwhile they would not permit his return to Brumm@nZ.
Weckbecker, the Austrian Consul, recommended that he be
reinststed by force of arms; but the complainants blocked
- the rosds to prevent communication with Beirut, and BashIr
Ahmad rented a house in Beirut for six months and resigned
himself to a protracted stay.lhz KhurshId, however ,showed

more determination: in less than three weeks he sent the

142, Ibid., Moore to Alison, No. 35, Mayll
and No. 36, May 14, 1858; Moore to Mai-
mesbury, No. 21, May 12, 1858.
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Amir back to Brummang accompanied by a force of imegulars,
Albanians, and Druses, who met with no opposition.lu3

A delegation then presented the English Consul with
a long list of grievances, including the charge that since
his return the Q&'im Magam had resorted to "violent pro-
ceedings" to crusﬁ the opposition. These complaints Moore
"saw it his duty" to support.ll+l+

The Turkish Government had six months earlier
promised to send as a special emmisary Ata Bey, to invest-
igate the charges against the Q&'im Magam. Delay followed
delay; Ata Bey went to Cyprus onﬁanother mission. He
eventually reached Beirut on June 9, only to insist shortly
afterward on referring the entire matter to Constantinople.
This was taken as a guarantee of further procrastination.
Literally thousands of mountaineers were r eported stream-
ing into Beirut to submit their complaints; Ata Bey, how-
ever, was said to receive only the petitions of the few
supporters of BashIr Ahmad, and armed men were placed on
the roads to block the procession fof further complainants
into the city. It was clear to Moore that Ata Bey and
KhtrshId Pasha were determined to maintain the (&'im Maq&@m

at all costs.lu5

143, ;h;ngSMoore to Alison, No. 42, May

W, ;pig Moore to Malmesbury, No. 28,
June y 1858.

145, Ibid "Moore to Malmesbury, No. 31,

s 10, No. 32, June 23, Ro.

June 25, and No. 50, Aug. 5, 1 56
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In July the time was due for collection of the
mIrI taxes, and KhiirshId P&sh& commanded the Qa'im Magam
to proceed with this duty. The announcement of‘this in-
tention brought a storm of protest from the populace,
who stated alternatively their willingness to pay the
tax either directly to the Beirut authorities or to é
specially appointed agent, but in no case to BashIr Ahmad.
Representatives informed Ata Bey that "if the Kaimakam
did not at once withdraw the officers whom he had sent in
virtue of the Pasha's orders, they would drive them out of
the districts, attaék the Emir and expel him from the
Lebanon." Under these circumstances, Ata Bey ordered the
Qa'im Mag@m to withdraw his agents and refrain from collect-

ing the tax until further notice.l*o

It was not, however, until September 14 that Moore
wrote the dispatch quoted by Yazbak, reporting "the nomi-
nation of an acting Kaimakam pending the pretended inguiry
into the Kaimakam's conduct but without suspending the
latter ... The pe;son selected to act is Emir Hassan
Bellamaa (Hasan Ab@l al-Lama'), relative of the Kaimakam
and his warmest-and-adhereng and quite unqualified as to
capaclty and personal consideration for the appointment.

I need scarcely say that under the circumstances his selec-

tion has given universal dissatisfaction.

146, .y Moore to Alison, No. 59
o 17, 18s8. . ’
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"The second measure adopted by the Turkish sutho-
rities is the dismissal of the Emir Beshir Assaf from his
post of Mokatadji, an act of injustice and vindictiveness
which Emir Beshir Assaf has done nothing to meritl’? As for
the innocence of Bashir Assaf al-Lama'i one may note the
account given by 'AqIqI of his "election® as Q&'im Magam
by the assembly of BashIr Ahmad's opponents which had met
in Raifin, and of BashIr 'Assif's subsequent efforts in their
behalf. Moore's dispatches make no specific mention of this
although he once wrote to Lord Malmesbury that he had not
"intrigued" with 'Assaf, but "he had had my assistance and
countenance in coémon with the other complainants and as
being the most considerable and influential amongst them.
But I do not admit that he 1s a rival of the Kaimakam;"
if he was so in secret, he had done himself no good by irri-

tating the Turkish guthorities and identifying himself with

the c:on:;painant;s.:I'l*8

It appeared after BashIr Ahmad's suspension that his
dismissal was only a matter of time. *Weckbecker, the Aus-
trian Consul, declared that he had changed his opinion and
that he now considered the AmIr wholly "insoutenable", and
a month later Moore reaffirmed his belief "that it is the
intention of the Turkish authorities not to dismiss the

147, +y Moore to Malmesbury, No. 5%

éé%%.’lu, 1858, e ’
148, +y Moore to Malmesbury, No. 28,
une %, 1858.
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Christian Kaimakam until the Lebanon shall have been in-
volved in civil war ..."149

In protest against the continued rule of the Q&'im
Magdm, the Christian town of Zahlah on December 15 reques-
ted to be placed under the direct rule of a Turkish gov-
ernor. They had organized a provisional municipal coun-
cil and , as 'AqIql states, elected a shakih shahZb or
leader to gov;rn, BashIr Ahmad 's authority for all prac-
tical purposes having for someatime been without effect

150 Their demand was not acted upon until

in the town.
the following July, when orders arrived from the Porte to
place Zahlah under the government of Damascus; but the
inhabitants, who had thought they were choosing the lesser
of two evils, now complained that all they had wished was
"that a Ma'mour (official) should be sent to us on the part
of the Turkish Authorities of the Eyalet of Sidon to which
Pashalik 6&? town, as well as Mt. Lebanon, from old times
belr:ung."ls1 Accordingly, KhiirshId Pasha dispatched a Muslim
overseer to rule the town. Shortly afterward, however, he
was withdrawn and Zahlah returned to the authority of the
Qa'im Mag@m, and when one faction of the inhabitants again
re&uested direct Turkish rule in late November, KhirshTd

refused to receive their petition. At the close of the year

149, Ibid., Moore to Malmesbury, No. 57
Sept. 29, and No. 63, Nov. 1, 1858,
150, Ibid., Moore to Sir ﬁenry Buiwer,
No. 103, Dec. 22, 1858. (Bulwer had
succeeded Lord Stratford de Redcliffe
in Constantinople.)
151, Ibid., Moore to Sir Henry Bulwer,
No. 39, July 21, 1859,
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Moore wrote that the people of Zahlah "are divided among
themselves as to whether they are to be under the Kaimakam
or follow up their demand for a Turkish Governor; but it
seems that the great majority are averse to g change, 1if
the present Kaimakam were replaced by another Governor."ls2
Zahlah haqhot been alone in its demands. In July

the village of Amyun in North Lebanon, whose inhabitants
had failed to obtain satisfaction in their complaints against
the Qa'im Maq&m, petitioned the Porte asking to be detached
from tﬁe Lebanon and annexed to the Tripoli district under
Turkish administration.l”3

To return to BahsIr Ahmad: the Turkish officials,
having put him under an unofficial suspension, now made efforts
to secure his return. KhiirshId undertook to bring about a
reconciliation between the Q&'im Mag8m and his rival, BashIr
'AssEf, taking the latter facﬁ into his good graces and offer-
ing to restore him to his post of muqapa'jI. tassaf resisted
this bait, however, and refused to withd;aw his complaints
against his cousin.lsuBentivogQIio, the newly arrived French
Consul, next succeeded in foreing the Khazin Shaikhs into a
reconciliation. They were "enj&hed by Count Bentivoglio in
the most emphatic terms to be prepared to accompany the Emir

152, Ibid., Moore to Bulwer, No. 53, Sept.
30, No. 62, Nov. 25, and Quarterly
: Report ﬁpec %l Bi§§9 No. 35, July
153. g;% oore to wer, No. u
%9 ’ ’

%é%g., Moore to Bulwer, No. 18, May 7,
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back to the Lebanon whenever it may be convenient to send
him. Every remonstrance on their part was overborne and
I am assured it was signified to them by Mk. de Bentivoglio
that they must obey this injunction."52It will be seen
shortly that the ground had been prepared for these moves
by the popular uprising in Kisrawan, which by this time had
caused the expulsion of the Kh¥#zin family from their homes
and driven them to Beirut and elsewhere, so that in the
interests of their own return they could be prevailed upon,
however reluctantly, to accept the reinstatement of their
enemy. In September, when on a trip to Bait MirI to inves-
tigate an outbreak between Christians and Druses of that
town, KhiirshId P&shz installed BashIr.Ahmad once more in
Brummana, though without officially proclaiming him as reins-
tated. "The Christian Kaimskam remains", Moore reported on
October 15, "with a force of about two hundred irregular troops
in the pay of the (Turkish) Government. The fact of the Pasha
having leftthis force with the Kaimgkam gives rise to the sur-
mise that the Authorities are afraid of leaving him without
this suppc’rt."ls6

As if trying to please both sides at once, Khturshia
Pasha and Ata continued to hint that BashIr Abmad would be
dismissed, so much so that in January Ata declared his inten-

155, Ibid., Moore to Bulwer, No. 31, June 8,
1859.

156 . Ibid., Moore to Bulwer, No. 51, Sept. 17,

and No. 53, Sept. 30, 1859.
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tion to secure this dismissal and the British Consul con-
cluded with satisfaction, "The dismissal is to be inferred
of the present Kaimakam gnd appointment of Emir Beshir Assaff
in his place."!570nly a few days later, KhiirshId issued a
proclamation of reappointment of AmTr BashIr Apmad.l>8But
the AmIr could not regain effective control, for at the end
of March "the disorganised state of the Lebanon has increased.
The Emir's authority is everywhere treated with contempt, and
his poli;e driven away whenever they attempt to execute his
orders, and this notwithstanding the efforts that are made
by the French Consul General to uphold him."l59He was again
obliged to leave the Mountain, and on the very eve of the
historic 1860 massacres, he was reported "residing at Beirut,
although his district ... is in a state of disorganisation
which he 1s powerless to check."16°

We must now return to the fall of 1858 to take up
the story of the peasant revolt against the Kh&zin shaikhs
of Kisrawan. Although some brief mention of this movement
is magde by almost every European Qriter dealing with the .
general period of the 1860 massacres, such mention is usually

so vague that one can deduce little more than the fact that

157. Ibid., Moore to Bulwer, No. 1, Jan.
10, 1560; enclosed report by 1nter-
preter H. Meshaka to Moore, Jan. 9.

158. ;ﬁyi. Moore to Bulwer, No. 3, Jan.
18, 1660; enclosed report by Meshaka
to Moore, Jan. 18. _

159. Ibid ., Moore to Bulwer, No. 7, March
30, 1860,

160. Ibid., Moore to Bulwer, No. 18, May
"B'LJ. 1860.
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the rebellion did take place (some give the date as 1857,
about two years too earlyl®l); that the Kh&zins were driven
from their homes; and that the rebels received some outside
encouragement. The British Consular reports at the time
made frequent mention of the uprising, but contribute dis=-
appointingly few details or informed explanations of the
underlying causes; their first mention of the affair is not
till January 29, 1859, a good two months after events had
taken place that would have been handwriting on the wall to
an on-the-scene observer,

Nevertheless, isolated facts may be pieced together
from the diplomatic papers to make some contribution to the
story. Baptistin Poujoulat's volume, La verité sur la Syrie

et l'expedition £ s iublished in 1861, contains an
’ ’

abso;bing account, long on ‘interpretation but short on facts
(and inaccurate on datesléa). On the whole, the 'AqIqT manus-
cript and the collection of letters found in Chapter V of this
paper probably contain more informs tion than all the avail-
albe French and English sources combined.

In review of the difficulties of AmIr BashIr Apmad,
the Christian Qa'im Maq&m, for our present purposes it is

desirable to dwail on the alignment of his friends and enemies

161, Even British diplomatic documents commit
this mistake. See Corres Relating
o the Affairs .Qr. _xzj.n, 1660-61 (henceforth

referred to as _x;%g _g;;g_ngnggggf pub~
lished by the Foreign Office, I, Lord Dufeeriy 4o

Bulwer, Jan, 18 18 1,
162, He places the start of the outbreak in

early 1858. (p.61)
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rather than on the original causes of discontent with his
rule. He was supported, we have seen, by the Turkish autho-
rities and by the French and Austrian Consuls, albeit with
habitual dissimulation on the part of the Turks, who managed
to give the impression that they planned to dismiss him with-
out actually doing so. He was opposed by the British Consul
and by the overwhelming mgjority of the Greek Orthodox and
Maronite ecclesiasts and Maronite landed aristocracy.

Churchill's image of the triumvirate of the French
Consul, the Maronite Patriarch (representing his clergy),
and the Christian Q&'im Mag@m (representing the landlords)
was indeed valid until the advent of BashTr Ahmad in 185k,
This triumvirate constituted a solidarity of Catholic int erests
which remained unshaken for over a decade. Now it was breaking
up; the Qa'im Mag@m lost the support both of the Churech and
of his own‘fellow landholders. Nor was this all, for after
1858 a split between the landholders and the Church, and
between the landholders and their hitherto docile peasantry,
completed the process disintegration,

Let us examine each stage in turn. The unpopularity
of the Qa'im Mag&@m with the shailkhs and the clergy seems to
have been‘largely a personal affair. He was charged with
usurping rights of landlords, of the Maronite Church, of the
Orthodox Church; he was unpopular with a cross-section of the
population, as in the town of Zahlah. He was simply a bad
ruler. The Turks maintained him in‘office for obvious
reasons: he seemed to offer living proof that the system of

government in the country should be changed., The French
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had thelr reasons too, though these were more obscure.
Possibly, not demonstrably, they shared the motives of

the Ottomans. They are said by Churchill to have been

stirred by the "unpardonable sin" committed by the Kh&zin
family of laying their grievances before the British cOnsul.163
British motives appear in a one-sidedly favorable light,

of course, in the British Consular Files, which imply

only that Her Majesty's Consul was committed to good govern-
ment in Lebanon -- which need not be denied in itself,

Faced with his difficulties, the Q&'im Mag&m could
only be expected to look for opportunities éo plant among
his enemies troubles of their own. His efforts found fer-
tile soil.,

We must avoid the sweeping overstatement that the
Maronite clergy in a body were brought into conflict with the
Kh&zin family, or that they gave ungualified support to Tanyis
ShahIn and his bande T he letters of Chapter V, while confirm-
ing the involvement of Patriarch Bfilus Mas'ad, P3re Frangois
Leroy of the Lazarites, and other 1nd1v1du;ls as something
more than mediators, at the same time do not suggest direct
complicity with the insurgents and indeed reveal, on the part
of some, decided disapproval of Tanylis' tacties,

Poujoulat eliminates the rank ;nd file of lower clergy
from any implication with the words, "Ces hommes de tant de

vertus manquent d'instruction en général; en dehors des fone-

163. Ghurlgf)_lill, Ihe Druses and the Maronites,
P .
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tions du saint ministdre, ils n'exercent sur l'esprit des
populations aucune espdce d'infiuence; et, 11 faut le dire,
ils ne la recherchent pas .:. Il nous faut écarter les
simples prétres comme une des causes de la révolution liba-
naise.“161+

What intentions had the higher clergy? Certainly
not an ecclesiastical state, says Poujoulat. They did want
to combat the influence of certain individuals in the Church.,
But those among the rebels who refused to return property
stolen from the Shaikhs were excommunicated, nominally in-
cluding not only Tanyus Sh&hIn but relatives of the Patriarch
himself., The equivocal attitude of Bfilus Mas'ad "tiendrait
bien plutét a un caractdre d'homme qui, dans un but qu'il
croit louable, cherche & men;ger tout le monde, que daﬁs
une pensée arrétée de bouleversement & son profit."165

There was, however, a desire within the Church to res-
trict the Kha@zin influence. This family traced their overlord-
ship in Kisrawan to the days of AmIr Fakhr al-DTn, and had
later formed an alliance with the Druse/igm§i§b15§ against
AmTr BashTr II,1€p1tnough the bishops of the Maronite Church
had historically been drawn from all classes, the local power

of the Khazins in Kisrawan had its effect. "Jusqu'en 1787,

-

igl;. Poujoulat’ ODe. m.’ Pe 73
166. Churchill, Mount Lebanon, vol. I,
pp. 87-8. _
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époque & laquelle 1l'émir Béchir fut é18vé au gouvernement
unicue de la montagﬂe, gouvernement qu'il a conservé jusqu'en
1840, les cheiks du Kersrouan (sic) et surtout les cheiks
Kazen avaient exercé dans cette province, gu'ils possedaient
presque en entier, une influence réelle sur ia nomination

des évéques. Mais, a partir de 1787, cette influence fut
singulidrement paralysée par la forte main du grand Béchir.
L'antique puissance des cheiks renaquit en 1840, épogue de
.1; chute du cél2bre gouverneur de la montagne. Cette puis-
sance en trouve une nouvelle, en face d'elle: la pulssance
populaire. Il y eut résistance réelle &e la part de 1l'Eglise
maronite contre la prépotence ancienne des Kazen principalement.
Cette Eglise ne voulut plus laisser introduire dans son sein
un autre élément que le sien propre. De 13 des froissements
inévitables. Et ces froiss?ments ont produit une sorte

d 'hostilité morale réciprogue. L'Eglise maronite a voulu
g;rder toute sa liberté et, selon‘moi, elle a bien falt...

Ce qui est nouveau peut-&tre, c'est l'acte par lequel le
clergé a voulu renoncer & une sérte dé tutelle gque les anciens
cheiks exercalent sur lul. De 13 est venue contre le clergé
l'accusation fausse, c'est ma conviction, d'avoir armé les

fellahs contre les cheiks. Ce qui est vral, naturel, c'est que

-

les fellahs sont alliés au clergée déja en lutte morale avec

les cheiks."167

167. Poujoulat, op. cit., pp. 74-6.
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Poujoulat's account was by no means shared by a11.168
In saying that "L;Eglise maronite a voulu garder toute sa
liberté" he provoies the retort, well founded in Letters
No. 28, No. 30, No. 31 and No. 3% of Chapter V, that in 1859
the Church in Kisrawln leaned heavily on France. Apart from
this, Poujoulat 1s at least not contradicted by the contents
of the letters or by the 'AqIqI manuscript.

It seems significantﬁthat the letters contain petitions
to the Patriarch from both the peasant representatives and
from the Khazin shaikhs, and that there are clear references
(Letters No. 15 and No. 17) to the Patriarch's mediation.
Letters No. 28 and Nos. 30-34, however, suggést close con-
sulation between the Patriarch, Pdre Frangois Leroy of the
French Lazarite mission, and the French Consul, all of whom,
with the assistance of certain mediaries, held Tany@ls ShahTn

at arms's length but actively supported the demand for selection

168, A British diplomatic agent in 1861 reported
that "there is reason to believe" that the
French Consul and Maromite Patriarch toge-
ther incited rebellion and armed the pea-
sants. (Syria Correspondence, II, p. 144,
Colonel Burnaby to Lord Dufferin.)

Comte Melchior de Voghe, one-time French
Ambassador at the Porte, is closer to Pou-
Joulat in saying that the clergy stood aside,
hoping to profit by their neutrality.

Les événements de Syrie, p. 4)
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of ma'murs(local officials) from among the peasantry.

it remains to examine the final instance of the dis-
integration of Catholic interests: the cleavage between lard -
lord andpeasant, which led directly to the rebellion.

In general terms, peasant emancipation in Lebanon
carried with it some of the historic features found in
similar movements in Europe: a weakened feudal aristocracy,

a changing economy, snd an awakening peasantry stirred by
@imly understood new social ideas and hitherto unknown sense
of opportunity. The Khazin and Hubaish shaikhs, like the
Janblats in the south, had been hard hit by the rule of BashIr
ITI Shih&b, who had installed his brother Qasim as overseer in
GhaRzIr, Though in 1860 the Kh&zins still were proprietors

of 30 villagges, they had been obliged to sell property to
peasants, while some peasant families enjoyed a decided rise
in prosperity. %9 ‘

There were, moreover, instances of abuses and opp-
ression by the aristocracy. In 1852 Col. Churchill had
written, "Till within the last few years the feudal system
which has existed so long in the Lebanon pressed on the
peasants with peculiar severity. On the slightest pretense,
horsemen were quartered on them, and not taken off until they
had pald whatever sum it pleased their chiefs to exact. T he
slightest resistance was immediately punished by summary

169. Poujoulat, gop. ¢it., p..59
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corporal punishment. Indeed, the EmIrs and Sheikhs loocked
upon this power of fining, as a considerable source of re-
venue, Under the despotic rule of the late Emir Bechir, the
exactions on the people were so repeated, as more than once
to raise them into rebellion, and they obtained the reputation
of being restless and insubordinate " 170

Some idea of the particular oppressions exercised on
the people of Kisrawan may be had from Letter No. 3 of Chap-
ter V, which enumerates the demands of the insurgent leaders:
equitable distribution of taxes, cessation of unjust exactions
and of obligatory gifts to the shaikhs on festival occasions,
some political representation for the populace, and the equal-
ity of all before the law and in social dignity. Poujoulat
cites the further complaint that the Khazin shaikhs had with-
held 20,000 piastres of tax revenues from the Government to

finance a cadastral survey that was never helﬂ.ll?1

The shaikhs could remind dissatisfied tenants that
there was scarcely a locality in the Ottoman Empire where
the peasantry enjoyed a more prosperous life of farming or
industry. The raising of silk had indeed made Kisrawan
wealthy. But it may have been this very prosperity that had
encouraged the dissatisfaction. 172

170. Churchill, Mount Lebanon, vol. I,

PpP. 51=2.
171. Poujoulat, ope. gcit., P 59.

172, Ibide, p. 60.
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To AmIr B ashfr Ajmad, therefore, the possibility
of instigating the populace against their landlords must have
been a very real temptation; but apart from the undocumented
charges of such instigation made by various writers and by
'AqTqI himself, we have no direct evidence with which to
indict him.'73We can at most infer a sort of guilt by asso-
clation, reasoning that the Qa'im Magam was the protégé of
the MushIr and the French Cons&l, who unguestionably gave
the rebels their moral support. But this is no reason to
deny that the insurrection was able to gather its forces on
the strength of purely local conditions; and as Letter No. 32
reveals, BahsIr A@mad's authority was scorned by Tanyfis Sh@hIn
and his followers. That the Qa'im Magam originally encouraged
the insurgents is guite probabls; but what is more demonstrable
and significant is the fact that once the movement had begun,
his French and Turkish supporters -- for they were more in-

fluential than he == chose to lend their assistance.

173. Poujoulat states that Shaikh 'Abbas al=-
Khazin of 'Ajaltlin was chosen-by the Q&'im
Magam as the "instrument of discord," be-
ing promised authority over a “considerable
portion of the Mountain" in return for his
evil efforts; but after his success, he was
discarded without reward. (ops citey ps 65.)
16 s 1o the pime Innisidmy SEE LBl
Shaib&n al Kh&zin, the writer of Letter No. 4,
which seems likely, we must discount the story.
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This assistance was chiefly of a negative sort on the
part of the Turks, who refused to send an effective military
force to restore order in Kisrawan and return the Kh&zins to
their homes after they had been expelled in January, 1859.

In February a handful of troops were quartered on various
towns, but soon withdrawn. The efforts of the British Consul
to persuade KhurshId to take action continued sporadically
until finally in May , 1860, he concluded that "if Khorsheed
Pasha were sincere in his desire to restore order in the dis-
turbed district, he has abundant means at his command of doing
80 without the cooperation of a military force. It cannot for
a moment be supposed that a handful of unsupported peasants
should venture to defy the authority of the Porte." He did
however note the fact that almost all Turkish troops from the
Damascus Pashalik were being returned to Constantinople, and
the transfer of a battalion from Beirut to the interior of
Syria was contemplated. The military means of keeping order in

the Lebanon were meagre at best.l7k

' The Porte furthermore fai led to act on the numerous
petitions of the Khazin family for redress, or even to provide
them with relief of any kind. "This large body of persons,
about five hundred in number," Moore wrote, "are reduced in

many instances to actual beggary and in all to the greatest

17%, British Consular Files. Moore to Bulwer,
NO. 16’ Ma.,y 9’ 18600



straights for the means of subsistence." 175 And later:

"Their application to the Pasha for protection and Justice
elicit from His Excellency nothing but unfulfilled promises.“176
The role of the French Consul was more direct, in
that he enjoyed the great confidence of the Maronite clergy
and population and was able to utilize his personal contacts

to advantage., Letters No. 27 and No. 28 of Chapter V men-
tion his visits to T&nylls ShahIn and Pdre Leroy, the latter
being actively involved in negotiation of the question of

selecting a ma'mir from the populace.l77

-

175. Ibid., Moore to Bulwer, No. 49, Sept.
3 18§9 5 ) p

176. +y Moore to Bulwer, No. 52, Sept.
29, 1859.

177 . The Consul's prestige is amply revealed
in the following report to Moore from
an agent at Ghazir, describing a visit
by Count Bentivogllo to that town.

( . Moore to Bulwer, No. 61, Nov. 8,
1859, enclosure.)

"dn Saturday last, the 5th instant,
about midday, the Consul General of
France came %o Ghazir and took up his
quarters at the Jesuit @ollege. Orehour
afterwards the people of the town in a
body assembled having Messrs. Botros
and Wakeem Bakhos at their head and fired
musketry in honor of this visit.

"On the following day, Sunday, the people
assembled again fully armed, displaying the
French flag and singing hymns of praise, in-
voking blessings on the Consul General and
his government, declaring that they are de-
voted to them and living under their pro-
tection. After an hour they proceeded 1in a
body to the College of the Jesuits , still
singing and firing their muskets and with
the French flag before them, entered the
Convent and sat under the trees in the yard
where they continued about three hours the
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Of Tanyts Sh&hTn, who as chief among the wakIls or
representatives chosen by the villages of Kisrawan, one
finds varying descriptions. An unverified legend relates
that this one-tim muleteer and shodder of animals, almost
totally illiterate, fell gravely ill in 1857. His wife
and nephew (he had no children), thinking him about to die,
searched out his hoard of small savings that he had hidden
away and fell to quarreling over it. At that moment Shaikh
MErtin al-Kh@zin passed by, stopped the quarrel, and took the
money with him to keep in trust until T&nyfs should die and
the rightful heir be identified. But Tanyus unexpectedly
recovered and reclaimed the money; Shaikh Marilin returned the
box containing 20,000 pilastres. ?Enyus asserted that 10,000
plastres were missing; he accused the shalkh of theft; a
bitter dispute arose, and thus Tanyts ShahIn became the

staunch foe of the Kh&zin family,t’®

same professions in presence of the Consul,
who, afterwards taking leave, mounted, pre-
ceded by the crowd with the flag until he
reached the Convent of St. Elia of Ghazir.
On the Consul bidding them farewell, he
ordered that a sum of fifteen hundred Pias-
tres be paid to them, namely, Ps, 500 for
the cost of the gunpowder used on the occa=-
sion and Ps, 1,000 as an assistance to the
needy amongst them.," (sigged) Tanous Bakhos.

178l POIlelllat, u. m.’ p‘



?Enyﬁs was described in sweeping terms by Lord
Dufferin as "the insurgent blacksmith Tannous Shaheen, a
ruffian of the most despicable character, the author of sever-
al murders, and one of the chief promoters of the late distur=-
bances" (i.e., the 1860 Druse-Maronite war).1/? Poujoulat gives
him little better treatment: "C'est un homme profo;ément dissi~

-

mulé. Son regard fauve trahit, malgré lui, ses mauvais ins-

tincts. On le croit capable de tous les forfaits."lso On the

other hand, an anonymous auﬂior is found to say, "Tannous
Schahin était un homme simple, naif, dépourvu de 1l'intelli-
gence et de la capacité dont est doué, d'ordinaire; 1'homme

du peuple qui s'éldve subitement; mais 11 gtait aimé éour

sa probité et son desintéressement. Les paysans se servaient
de lul comme d'un drapeau et lui avaient donné une importance
dont 1l ne se souciait nullement. Palsible et point ambitieux,
il eut préféré ne pas avoir & jouer le rfle dangereux de tri-
bun et de chef d'insurrection.”18l The same writer asserts that
the Patriarch tried to persuade Tanyls to leave Kisrawanj; the
latter called on him in great pomp, riding a white mule and

refused to give in, claiming to have a great misstion to fulfill.182

179. 8 Correspondence, II, p. 152.
i Bulwer, Aprii 20, 1861.

180. Poujoulat’ OD. gigo, P 6l.
181. "Un témoin oculaire," Souvenirs de Syrie.
10~11l. These impre-

de R
ssions are belied %ypzetters No. 30, No. 31
and No. 3% of Chapter V.

182, Ibid., p. 1l.
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The deeds of T&nyus and his insurrectionist follow-
ers against the landlords have been much exaggerated. "The
crimes committed by the Christian followers of Tannus Shahin,
on the persons of some of the unfortunate ladies of the
Khazin family, exceed anything that has ever been laid to the
charge of the Druse nation," wrote Lord Dufferin. "It is
also, I am assured, a fact too notorious to be disputed, that
the rebel leader and his adherents ... were encouraged and
countenanced in their excesses by Bishop Tobla and some of
his brother ecclesiastics." 83 Actually, only three murders

were charged to the rebels.lau That they seized the Khazin

183. Syrias Qg;zggpggggggg I, p. 519, Dufferin
to Bulwer, Jan. 1 1861,

184, The wife and daughter of Shaikh DiyZb al-
KhZ8zin were shot, and a second daughter
badly beaten. The bodies of the first two,
it was charged, were stripped, left for
days, and then dragged to a wall that was
demoiished and mmde to collapse on them
as a means of burial., (Syrisn Correspon-
dence, I, p. 520. Accusations brought by
Kh&zin shalkhs against Ta&nyus ShZhTn.)

A second charge was that Shaikh Du'aibis
al-Khazin, while returning to Ghiista,-~with
the sanction of the Patriarch, to recover
his property, was seized by the people of
'Ashqfit and pounded to death in an oil-press.
(Ibid., I, p. 577. Dufferin to Bulwer, Feb.
11, 1861.)
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properties, collected their harvests, and cut down trees
is generally agreed, but the Khazins were not permanently
expropriated: only the produce of their property was com=
mond eered by ?Enyﬁs for peasant use.185

Kisrawén remained in the hands of this peasarnt
band throughout the massacres and their aftermath until
March of 1861, when, as we shall see, they were expelled by
Ylisuf Bey Karam. The Khazins returned and narmal conditions
restored; but the interlude of revolution had had effects
that reached farther than Kisrawan itself. Some of these
had to do with the massacres, others with the system of
government that in 1861 replaced that of the Q&'im Magamiyyahs.
But apart from these fragmentary results, the m&vement is more
significant as a symptom, a manifestation of the social change
taking place in the Lebanon. The traditional vested interests
of feudalism had been repeatedly shaken since the time of
BashIr II ShihZb by successive rifts between Druse and Maro-
nite, governor and landlord, clergy and landlord, gnd now
landlord and peasant. The trickl of emigration had begun;
commerce grew; missionary education spread., A weakened
Ottoman authority, lacking the means to enforce order in
these decgdes of transition anqhampered by the insistence of
European rivalries, sought inevitably to salvage some ves-
tige of prestige for itself by exploiting dissatisfaction
in the country wherever it appeared¢, with the result that

the social conflicts were all the mbre extreme,

185. Poujoulat, gp. git., p. 61.
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Commentary by the Editor

(Quotations):

"The Khazin family is famous for stirring up
trouble..."
-Mr. Alison, secretary of the British
Embassy in Constantinople,

ar€

"As for the policy the Turks,following, and
from which they have never relented, its aim is to direct
their efforts in the Druse and Christian Qa'im Mag3miyyahs
to cause the troubles in Lebanon to continue, hoping to
annul the (present) regime there..."
-Mr. Moore, English Consul in Beirut to
hls Ambassador in Constantinople.

"As for the purpose behind Khiirshid Pasha's conduct
in the Lebanese question and his intentions which I have
tried to see through, they are the very intentions of
Turkey, that troubles should rule Lebanon, in the hope
that she (Turkey) can, in the midst of the general disturb-
ances, annul the system there which she has always
regarded with a jaundiced eye."186

~-The same Consul to his foreign minister.

186. None of these three quotations is in
the original English,
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"An order has been given by the Seven Powers to
free the Christians, and they must not remain the slaves
of anyone. And if you wish to be freed, no man can prevent
you, neither the MushIr nor the Qf'im Maqﬁm...“187
~Tanyfls Shahln to the people of Jubail

on April 3, 1860.

In the following section the late Antfin Dahir
al-'4q¥qY presents some of the causes of the popular revolt
in Kisrawén against the Khazin family, and relates some
of its particulars.

We say, "some of the reasons" and "some of its
particulars" and do not generalise, because 1t was not in
the power of that faithful historian, Though sound in
logic, to know everything, understand everything, and deduce
everything, for the transmission and reception of news in
that day were not what they are now.

We must remind the reader that the bad conduect of
some of the Khizins, and their despotism and cruelty, were
not the only cause of the revolution, for indeed the clash

of imperialist interests participated in igniting the fire;

187. See below, Yazbak page 210,
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and the agents of the Ottoman State were not satisfied
with the system of government that the covetous greeds of
the powers had imposed on Lebanon, dividing it into a
Druse regime and a Christian one, as we have seen (p. 45).
For 17 consecutive years they (The Ottomans) worked to
achleve that mutual hatred in the breasts of the sons of the
one country.
The government of Constantinople arranged plots
and promoted intrigues so that "The Lebanon shall have
been involved in civil war - as a means of introducing
direct Turkish rule, an object never lost sight of since
the establishment of the existing Instj.1:1.11::1.ons..."188”189
It was reasonable for them to be pleased with the
evil doings of some of the Khdazins and the grumbling of
the people at them, their irritation at them, and their
anger against them, and with the revolt of the people
against their rulers, so that the two sides would be thrown
at their (The Ottomans') feet, which is just what happen-
ed,

188+ Original English text, copied from
British Consular Files, Beirut.
Moore to Earl of Malmesbury, No 63,
Nov. 1, 1858.

189. (Y) From the report of the English
Consul General in Beirut to his
Government on November 1, 1858.

%l-gg¥grrgr§t al-Siy&siyyah, p. 343,
ol. .
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The agents of the Sultanate were successful with

many of their traps; and they compelled the Christiggo
sons of Zahlah to ask for a Turkish WalIl over them. The

190. (Y) On the 20thk of April, 1859, the
English Consul General in Beirut
wrote a report to his Ambassor in
Constantinople about the condition
of the Mount, in which he said
"As connecteé with the views of
the Turkish Authorities in regardK
to the government of Mt. Lebanon,

I have to add that after the
employment of every possible method
to disgust the population against
the existing institutions by
exciting one class against another,
at one time instigating the
peasantry against the Sheiks, and

at another affording the Sheiks

the means of retaliating upon the
people, the result has been a common
determination by both parties to ask
for a Turkish Governor as the only
means of being permitted to enjoy
tranquillity. The town of Zahlé was
induced by the same manoeuvres to
make a similar request. The Pasha
informed the Deputation of the
Zahliotes that their petition has
been transmitted to ConstantinOpng
but the result is still unknown,."

Al-My%grrgrgt al-Siyasiyyah, p. 359,
ol. I,

(K) Yazbak's Arabic contains the
following distortion:

(Since I was connected with the
intentions of the Turkish Government...)

(KK) Original English text, copied from
British Consular Files, Moore to Sir
Henry Bulwer, No. 17, April 20, 1859,
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people of Zahlah were attached first to the vilayet of
Syria, then to the vilayet of Sidon. The same was done
to the Christians of [agbayya, and they asked "that the
Turkish sovereignty be spread over them directly so that
they would be rid of the aggression of the Druse chief-
tains; so the government immediately sent a force of
organised troops, and the petition received due consider-
ation.“191

It was to England's interest that the system of
government in Lebanon should remain as it was, so that by
means of her new "friends", the Druses, she could interfere
in the affairs of the country at whatever hour she wished,
and spread her influence in it so that one day she might
gain complete rule over it and extend her occupation of
the lands lying on the rqute to India, the source of her
welfare and livelihood. And so she awaited the opportunity
to step in, while France strove for the return of her
influence. The desired chance came to her to show her
"amity" for her friends the Drusesj; and against whom?
Against their brothers! Her agents started in the Shiif to
fan the fire of rebellion, and the winds were favorable.

As for France, she had preferred that her ShihZbz

agents remain as governors so that she might continue to

191. (Y) Al-Muharrarat al-Siy&siyyah,
Vet I, page 367.
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have the final word here (in Lebanon). But after the
defeat of her policy and the collapse of Ibrahim's
rule, she feared to lose her "friends", The Maronites,

so she was pleased with the status quo in which she

might preserve among them at least her dying influence.
Then she began to encourage the ignorant among them to
"take revenge"; and against whom? Against their brothers}
and with the weapons of the foreignersl...
As for the Kha@zins, they sought the help of all
the consuls and asked them to intervene, and provoked
the foreign powers against the rebelling Maronite population!..
The exposure of the colonialist quarrel over the
division of the Lebanese appeared in its clearest deceit-
Page 64 fulness since the positions of London and Paris in their
traditional policies were at odds with each another. The
English Consul set about befriending the Khazin family
agalnst the rebels - and the Khazin family had for long
been the agents of French colonialism, as is known - so the
French Consul went to befriend the rebels in order to
punish their former agents who were now with the English.
The agents of London were inciting the Khazins against the
Christian Qa'im Maq&m, and when the latter was dismissed
from his post, the agents of Turkey and France began to
incite the followers of the Qa*im Magam against the Khidzins;
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and the free men among the people seized the opportunity
to throw off the feudal yoke, and revolted against the
Khazin family. The intelligent men will see an appalling
consideration in this policy of playing with two ropes
(i.e., pulling in two directions at once), namely:

Politics i1s treacherous and tyrannical, not
fulfilling obligations nor showing mercy, selectlng
individuals from the people as its "friends" in order to
accomplish its object, by means of them then letting them
down and neglecting them, and then befriending theilr
enemies for the same purposej and thus alternately..e.

It was really sorrowful when one of those pretended
leaders, whether Christian or Druse, did not understand
the game of imperialist politics. The Druses did not
understand the reason for the "friendship" of the English
Consul, nor did the Maronites understand the French Consul's
"friendship" for all of them.

It must be pointed out that the Khazin family
did not all behave the same, and among them were individuals
of zeal, manliness, generosity, and praiseworthy conducte
More than once they called the attention of thelr relatives
to the need to treat the people fairly, avoid impoverishing
them, and lessen their (bad) conditicnsj; but levity pre-
vailed over reasonableness, and provocation reached its
farthest 1imit, with the result that the great wrath (of
the people) was unleashed and raged in the mountains and
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vallyes of Kisrawdn, from the pines of Sarba to the snows
of Farayya, and made the oppresors taste real torture.

There remained a group of the people who were
loyal to the Kh#&zins out of regard for the most just and
the best among them, who took (upon themselves) the sin of
their relatives and suffered calamities, though they
themselves were innocent.

As for Tanyfs Shahin, leader of that revolt, he
was a noble and high-minded example to the Lebanese,
zealous for his own and his Mountain's honor. He breathed
his democratic and pure spirit into his brothers, but he
did not allow any of them to shed the blood of any of the
hated Shaikhs, even though it was in his power not to
allow a single one of them to remain. During his "repub-
lican" rule he distribupgd justice among the people in
Kisrawan, and displayed a strong Lebanese tendency. If
he had had the good fortune to achieve his aims and if he
had been well educated, the face of history in this
country would have been changed...

Antln Dahir-al-'Aqlql said in his manuscript which
we left on page 55:

*
* ko ok

Then the landowners began thinking their evil

thoughts of how to depose the AmIr from the government and
started to submit petitions complaining of him the W&li
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of Beirut, who applauded them and bribed government
officials to do this. The governor of Beirut at that time
was Wamiq Pasha. The first to become partisans against
the AmIr were the people of Zahlah, who set up a "Shailkh
Shabab" (chief) at their head and convened a council
composed of six elderly men. They decided not to accept
AmIr Ahmad as governor, so his grace set out for Zahlah

to attend to the question. He stayed there about three
months and buillt buildingslggthefe, but could not undo
their work, although his ardour to silence the affair a-
bated somewhat. He then returned to Bait MarI and Brummana
to 1ive, but this poison began to spread throughout all
the districts. In the meanwhile there came a clamoring
from the people of Ghazir against the Shaikhs of the
Hubaish family, avowing that they would not accept its
Shaikhs. They set up a Shaikh ShahZb (chief) following the
practice of Zahlah and wrote compacts concerning their
activities in this matter. When the Shaikhs learned of
this they began to threaten the peasants concerning their
actions. An uproar arose between them and several were
injured; The matter was laid before his Grace, and he

seized a number of men from both sides and put them in

192. “J_;Lg)‘g.
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prison for a time, then released them. The AmiIrt's
government came to be reduced in authority bit by bit
although the WE1I of Beirut intervened in favor of

the AmIr because he had been bribed by him and those

with personal aims were unable to achieve their aim

of deposing him from the government. Finally in the

year 1855-6 his Grace the AmIr authorized the arrest

of some of the Shaikhs of the Kh3zin family and

rounded up some of them because of a number of incidents.
The Shaikhs in this situation then handed together and
planned to agitate agalnst the AmIr. They addressed

some of the AmIrs and Shaikhs on this idea and a party
was formed of them. The agitation in the country
increased and'grew day by day. They organised the first
assembly in Zliq al-Khardb, and this assembly was attended
by people from the Khdzin family and AmIrs from the

Abu al-Lama' famlly, such as AmIr BashIr 'Assaf, and they
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193
addressed the people of Zaglah blaming the AmIr.

Afterwards some of them went down to Belrut and presented
the consuls with a complaint regarding their situation
and saying that all the subjects were oppressed by this
government., Their words were answered by Churchill Bey,
the Englishman, who commanded them to present their
petitions to the authorities. So they began to submit
petitions on the subject of the above-mentioned AmIr

193. (Y) The writer of al-Muqita' -
Kisrawaniyyah says - p. 328 - that
the meeting of Ziig Kharib was on the
15th of March, 1857,% and in it those
assembled from the ﬁani Kh&zin
decided on "the increase of the
partles complaining against the AmIr,
They carried out this decision by
establishing agents for the villages
of southern Kisrawan and had seals
made for them so that they could seal
the petitions of complaint against
the AmIr... When the news reached_the
ears of his Beatitude Patriarch Balus
Mas'ad, of their meeting and appoint-
ing of agents for the villages and
other measures such as this, it distressed
him because he realised tha% these deeds
might be interpreted to their dis-
advantage, as one who seeks death by his
own claws (who digs his own grave)",

(K) Actually March 15, 1858. (See
British Consular Files, Moore to Alison,
No. 22, March 16, 1858.)
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(Ahmad), bringing charges against him to the government's
attention in which they exposed everything insulting
about his Grace (the AmIr), concerning the injustices and
influence of selfish interests and the acceptance of
bribery and his lack of regularity in following the
straight path of religion. They also presented those
charges to the other consuls,and as for the Consul of
France, he was straightforward with the AmIr, as opposed
to the English Consul who wanted the AmIr deposed, while
the AmIr was trying to clear himself from this (deposition),
And the petitions which were coming forth were from certain
people who did not desire peace, but unleashed evils and
troubles; and indeed all their petitions were corrupt.
Things remained in this condition for some time.

After that, an assembly was formed by some of the
Shaikhs of the Khazin household in the School of Raifiin,
and all those having personal aims attended,all of them
being members of the society and enemies of the Amir. They
called it the Assembly of the Brotherhood, and allowed no
one to enter it except those of their own religious
community. They installed as head of its transactions
Shaikh As'ad IbrahIm al-Khdzin, as general president,
Shaikh Husn Bisharah as first director, and Shalkh Saqr

Euraiqah as second director. There men were conscripted
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har ¢ we e,

for this work. Whatever losses and costs,these were to

be borne by all. From there (Raiffin) the said Shalkh
As'ad went to Beirut to deal with the AmIr, and the two
directors went with him to help him. The others stayed
behind in the country. And if they submitted petitions,
the whole party would sign and seal them without further
consideration. They began to suffer many losses and could
not carry out all their work, but they always had a
promise of help from the English Consulate. Then they
elected the Amir BashIr 'Assaf to be Qa'im Maqam,lg4

since they thought him suitable for the general tranquility.
The said AmIr agreed with them in this idea, as did
several of his relatives., He ('Assiaf) started paying them
(the Assembly) a part of their losses and costs. He went
down tc Beirut frequently to make complaints against His
Grace the AmIr (Ahmad) aﬁd to contradict what he said. As
for Hls Grace, he was bribing the Pasha a great deal, and
for this reason his affairs progressed unhindered, for
bribery blinds those in authority. But His Grace was un-

successful in governing and (the people) caused him much

194, This of course was purely a
demonstration of sympathies,
having no legal standing.

BashIr Ahmad remained in office.
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trouble. An accumulation of debts piled up on him, and had
he not been wealthy he could not have put up with this
opposition. Nevertheless he sold a part of his property

to pay his debts which he had sustained from this (opposition)

195
for all at once he sold an amount worth 190,000 piasters,

195. (Y) On January 28, 1856 Mr. Moore,

the English Consui General in Beirut,

wrote to Mr. Alison, Chargé d'affaires

of the English Embassy in Constantinople

a report on this subject, in which he

sald,®¥.. The decided support given by

the Turkish authorities to Emir Beshir
Ahmed is easily explained. Without
being at present prepared to charge
Khorsheed Pasha himself with venality,
I must state that nobody seems to doubt
that of the Defterdar,®® who exercises
great influence over His Excellency and
who is known to be a warm supporter of
the Kaimakam. The greater part of the
large debts, about two millions of
plastres, incurred by the Kaimakam, of
which the authorities to this day have
not enforced payment, have in all
probabllity been expended in bribery.
Another reason for Turkish support is
the policy which has never been abandoned
of encouraging a state of disorder in
the Lebanon upon which to find a pretext
for the abolition of the existing
institutions. The same system is pursued
in the Druse Kaimakamiya.

In the case of Emir Beshir Ahmed a
fanatical feeling 1s mixed, inasmuch as
it is now generally believed that he is
only nominally a Christian. He is born
a Druse, a falth which permits the
external profession of any other creed,
which may suit their policye Usee.!?!?)

The Druse Kaimakam is a Mussulman
and observes all the rites of that faith.
Thus though the Porte is pledged to give
to the Druses a Druse and to the
Christians of Mt. Lebanon a Christian
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and likewise AmIr BashIr 'Assaf in a period of two months

Governor, they have virtua%iﬁ ful-
filled neither condition,"

Al-Muarrarat al-SiyZsiyyah, Vol. 8

P 293,

(K) Original English text, copied
from British Consular Files, Beirut,
Moore to Alison, No. 5, January 28,
1858 (not 1856).

(KK) Yazbak's Arabic version twists
the meaning slightlys

(although if I had the evidence with
which to charge Khi¥shid Pasha with
taking bribes I must state that no
one -doubts that the Defterdar does
(also)).

(KKK) Poujade states that after 1845
the Druse Qa'im Magam, AmIr Apmad
Arslan, regularly attended worship at
the mosque, as did other Druses. (gp.
ﬂt:_o DPe 234.)

fhe statement that the Druse
religion permits profession of another
creed, which Yazbak finds so incredible,
is 1n&eed attested to on good authority.
Philip K. Hitti (The Origins of the
Druse People and Religion, p. 48
writes that "when the Egyptian Ibrahtm
Pasha insisted on enforcing his
conscription laws...many Druses, in
order to evade the draft, began to
partronize the Christian churches of
their Maronite neighbors. A few years
ago (Hittl was writing in 1928) when the
great_Druse leader, al-AmIr Mustafa
Arislan, who had held many high govern-
mental positions under the Turks, died,
his funeral services were conducted
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lost about 50,000 piasters, not counting what the Khazin
Shaikhs loste As for a second group of the Khazin Shaikhs,
it was their desire that His Grace the AmIr (Ahmad) should
remain; and they submitted petitions of commendation of
his works. Incitement to violence increased and grew
between the two factions, and the Khazin Shaikhs dis-
agreed among themselves on their affairs; the evil
increased and they were evenly divided in number, each of
thelr factions striving to overthrow the other. Conditions
remained in this state for about two years until 1857.

Then an order was issued from the Wilt for the cessation

according to the Sunni Moslem rites."
Elsewhere he states that the Shih&bs
in the 18th Century, though outwardly
Muslim, "secretly showed sympathy with
Drusism, the religion of the ma jority
of their Slfbd@CtSo" ;bi ey Do 7.)

The Abll al-Lama' of which AmIr . [. .

BashIr Ahmad was a member had only been
converted to Christianity within the
lifetime of its older living members
of the time. While some of them
notably Haidar Isma'Il, the first
Christian Qai*m Maqam, were devoted
Maronites, others were scarcely known
for their piety and perhaps Justly
suspected of being Christians in name
only.

(See C?nrchill, Mount Lebanon, Vol. I,
po 100 °

o/
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196
of the government of His Grace the AmIr (Ahmad)

196. (Y) We have no official document
confirming the date of the staying
of the hand of the said Q5'im

Magam: the author of g%;ﬂgggg%lgx
%l:ﬁiﬁEﬁ!EﬂlXX%h says (p. 331):

On the 28th of September (1858) a
high order was issued to stop AmIr
BashIr Ahmad, the Qi'im Maq&m, from
his work, and substituting Amfr
Hasan al-Lama'l (Abflal-Lama') in
his place. The enemies of the
former rejoiced and were very much
Pleased in their satisfaction at his
misfortune and hoped for his dismisgsal
soon,"

But Mr. Moore, the English Consul
General in Beirut, wrote on September
14 of that year to Count (Duke
Malmesbury,® the English foreign
Minister, saying to him: "I have the
honor to state that the Lebanon
affair has made but little progress
since my last reports., The only two
changes in the situation are the
nomination of an acting Kaimakam
pending the pretended inquiry into the
Kaimakam's (BashIr Ahmad's) conduct
but without suspending the latter in
accordance with the Sixteenth Article
of the Regulations of the Empire. The
The person selected to act (is) Emir
Hassan Bellamad, relative of the
Kalmakam and his warmest adherent and
quite unqualified as to capacity and
personal consideration for the appoint-
ment. I need scarcely say that under
the circumstances his selection has
given universal dissatisfaction.

"The second measure adopted by the
Turkish authorities is thﬁxgismissal of
the Emir Beshir Assaf..."

=Muharr -Siydsi 9 Vol. I,
Pe 333.
Then the said consul wrote to his
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except in the matter of government tax moneys which had

to be collected despite the suspension (of AmIT Ahmad ),

197

197.

minlster on the 1lst of November saying:
"The recent discovery of a secret
compact said to be favored by the Mushir
(KhiirshTd Pasha), entered into by the
Metualis of Mt. iebanon and a party of
Druses, adherents of Emir Beshir Ahmed
and no{orious for their intrigues,
directed against the Christian complain-
ants, has confirmed the belief that it
1s the intention of the Turkish Authorities
not to dismiss the Christian Kaimakam
until the Lebanon shall have been in=-
volved in civil war - as a means of
introducing direct Turkish rule, an
object never lost sight of since the
establishﬂﬁﬁt of the existing Institu-
tiODSo-o"

v°1! I’ p. 343.

(K) James Howard Harris, Third Earl of
Malmesbury (neither Count nor Duke).
See Encyclopedis Britannica, 1lth
EditiOn’ Vol. XVII.

(KK) Original English text, copled from
British Consular Files, Moore to
Malmesbury, No. 54, September 14, 1858,
Hooreg dispatch continues:"...
dismissal of the Emir Beshir Assaf from
his post of Mokatadji, an act of in-
Justice and vindictiveness which Emir
Beshir Assaf has done nothing to merite.."

(KKK) Original English text, copied from
British Consular Files. Moore to BEarl
of Malmesbury, No. 63, Nove. 1, 1858,

On the contrary: The ﬁritish onsular
Files make it clear that BashIr Ahmad
was made to desist from tax collection
two months before being being suspended
from other duties. (See Moore to Alison,
No. 59, July 17, 1858).
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because his Excellency Wamiq Pashd had been removed

from the Vilayet of Beirutlgsand had gone to the Vilayet
of Syria, and another W3lI came to Beirut,lgg with thgoo
result that the order was issued to suspend the Amir.

At that time the incitement to rebellion increased in
Kisraw@n among the Shaikhs and those with selfish
interests. The two parties began to increase in hatred
for each other, contrary to what was thought of them, and
His Grace the AmIr (Ahmad) started to employ trickery to
debase the Khdzins from their honor, as they had done to
hime It was no longer possible to distinguish between
good and bad, but despite this there was no immediate
result. As for the common people, they began to discuss
their situation in connection with this business,
considering themselves yo have become as slaves in the
hands of the landlords and to have no longer any say or
consultation in anything. At that time there was
discussion among the people about that, among some who

were not leaders. This was done in each village of

198, More correctly, the Vilayet of
Sldon, of which Beirut was the
Capital.

199. (Y) This was the above mentioned
KhlirshId Pashz.

200. A full year elapsed between
KhiirshId's arrival in September
1857 and the suspension of BashIr
Ahmad in September 1858,
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Kisrawan without knowledge of the next villagej; for

fear was falling on the hearts of all the subjects

and especially fear instilled by the KhZzin family into
the people of Kisrawan, for they no longer took account
of their subjects, nor their chiefs or leaders, in
anything. They used to say that the peasant and his
possessions belonged to them, and they did not care in
any waye. The least of the Kh3azins insulted the greatest
of the people, not to mention killing, imprisonment and
things like that. Fof example, ShamsIn al-Khazin

took the money of Mr., Sh&htn al-Qamii' in 'Ajaltun, and
when the latter charged him@.with that before the judge,
who was the previously mentioned AmIr Haidar Isma'll,
the sald ShamsIn came to ShdhIn's house at night and

201
slew him and 1it a fire over him , And by the same

201. (Y) There is a second story of this
Shaikh ShamsIn al-Khd@zin concerning
burning people with fire, the
substance of which is that MIl&d al-

DIk of 'Ajaltfin used to trade in silk,
buying it from Kisrawdn and selling it
in Damascus. He had friends among the
Kh&zins who would deliver their silk

to him, confident of his trustworthiness,
good judgment and management, and he
would sell it and pay them i%s price by
installments, so that they would not
have all of 1t sold for a single payment.
Shaikh ShamsIn sent to him asking for
money, though having no silk (deposited
withg him (MIlad), and MI1&d answered,

"I sent silk to Damascus, but I have not
yet obtalned its price, and as soon as

I obtain the money I shall send His
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token Mulhim D'aibis of Ghiista spoiled for a fight with

Excellency the Shaikh what he
requested, even though he has no
silk (deposited) with me."

The messenger took this reason-
able statement to his master, and
the Shaikh burned with anger and
shouted, "Certainly he has it, he
has money, but he won't lend me
anything because I have no silk
with him. I know how to teach the
likes of this pimp who dares scorn
a Khazin. Whom does this dog
depend on? On my cousin Shaikh WadT'?
Doesn't he know that we, the sons of
Khazin, will slice a man in two parts
if necessary, each of us taking a
part, and that we do not differ on
what pertains to raising the cause of
the family? And we break the head of
anyone who dares not to hasten to
comply with our demands, whatever they
besss

The Shaikh carried his stick under
his arm and went to the house of MI1ad
al-Dik, The weather was rainy and the
cold was strong, and he pushed open
the door and went in, malice flying
from his eyes. He found MI1ad warming
himself by the fire and his wife and
children asleep around him. He did
not wait for him to stand up, but seized
the brazier in front of him and threw
it at the head of the unfortunate man.
Then he drew his dagger and stabbed
MIlad in...and left him to breathe his
last while he himself returned home
as if nothing had happenedl...

The cries of the wife and children
were raised, and the neighbours came
running in Ehe night, and they found
that MI18d had met his end!
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Ibn Buylls al-Shni'I for a trial of strength, and when

Ibn Buyiis defeated Shaikh Mulhim, Shaikh Mulhim struck

him with a large knife and killed him. And again, he

laid Ibn Faris al-BIt&r in his grave while he was still

alive, even though he was one of the leading people of

the country,

202

And by the same token Shaikh Yiinis al-

202,

(Y) The story of this Shaikh Mulgim_
D'aibis al-Khazin with Ilyas al-Bijar

i1s no less amazing than its earHer
counterpart, the gist of which is that
the Shaikh madly loved a girl of the
people of Ghiistd and began to visit

her against her will. She refused his
efforts at seduction, especially since
she knew that the KhZzins married only
girls of their own family because they
counted themselves of nobler origin
than the people, this consideration
having its source in feudal traditions
practiced in many countries. The lover
imagined that Ilyas al-BItar loved the
girl and that it was he who encouraged
her to reject him. The Bitar family in
Kisrawidn was one known for its gracious-
ness and good character, and the Khazins
hated them because the iatter were their
competitors for the loecal leadership,
The Shaikh became angry at the afore
mentioned IlyZs and began to watch over
his movements in order to assault him,
One night he lay in wait for him near
the church, in front of the door of the
"corpse-house" (Khashkhashah) (The
mountaineers' name for the graveyard)
and on Ily&s's return home the Shaikh
leapt on him, put him in fetters, cast
him in the graveyard, and returned to
his house. It happened that someone
passed by the burial place, heard the
groans, lifted the stone from the door
and saved the poor man from the grave
and returned him to his people. History
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Page 75 BadawI of Mazra'ah stripped N&Zdir al-QasIm of his
clothes as his Lord created him, made him ride on a
she-ass, and began to beat him with sticks on his
private parts and elsewhere; and by this process Nadir

203
died after a time had passed, tThe cause of his death

says that the BItars did not dare
complain because the Governor used
to close his eyes to the deeds of
the BanI Khazin, his partners - in-
booty. But the relatives of Shaikh
Mulhim D'aibis met and agreed to
take their cousin, hands bound, to
the BItar home and throw him on the
ground so that the owners of the
house could beat himj; but they made
the condition that the father of

Page 75 the "burkied alive" Ilyas be flung
on Shiikh Mulhim so as to keep the
blows from him. And thus the
"satlsfaction" was completel

203. (Y) Nzdir al-QasIm, nicknamed Abii-

L0blyya, was an old man in his
éightieth year, well known for his
piety, the genéleness of his
disposition, and his avoidance of
evil and its causes. He worked as
a miller in the mill of the village
(in Wadt JazIrah). Shaikh Ydnis al-
BadawI al-Khdzin sent him some wheat
with his servant to be ground, and it
happened that the servant arrfved at
the moment when another man was start-
ing his milling, so that the Shaikh's
messenger was obliged to wait and was
delayed in his return. When his
master found him he asked about the
cause of his lateness, and the servant
told him. The Kh&zin Shaikh was angry
that a_worthless individual 1ike Abu
Tubiyya should not leave his milling
of wheat immediately to grind his
(Shaikh Yiunis's) wheat for him. He
went to that old man, seized him by the
beard, stripped him of all his clothes
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being this deed. And by the same token, Shaikh Mansir

Hanna Dandash was said to have killed the daughter of
* 204
Ighnagiyus 'Agl for he shot her with a rifle in one

and made him ride the beast of burden
of the mill. He brought him to the
church of the village, and on the way
rained blows on him with his stiek.
Then he cut a sharp thorn and placed
it between his thighs... When the
people witnessed this sad spectacle
they were troubled and tears came to
their eyes. Hlstory says: No one
.dared to protest against Shaikh
Yfinis, and as for his relatives they
burst into laughter and guffawsi _
Two days later the unfortunate Aba
Tublyya died. -

204. (Y) My friend Sha'ya al-'AqIqT has
told me that this girl was YOsufiyyah
Ghanfis 'Aql Butaish, from a very poor
family known as’' "Bg Qurfin", and God
had favored her with a touch of beauty.
As_for her story with Shaikh Mangur al-
Khazin, its essence is this: Shaikh
Mangur was living in Kafar Dabyan and
was known for his wrong doing and tyranny.
His madness led him to deflower the
virginity of the unfortunate Ylsufiyyah
whom we have already mentioned. She
became pregnant by him and gave birth
to a boy. It was a grave matter for
the Khazin family and they decided to
kill the mother and child together, and
that "what Shaikh Mangfir had planted,
he would uproot with his hand."™ So he
went one day to Y{isufiyyah and took her
with her child on a walk, and when he
had brought her to a pPlace called "Wzdt
al-Shawmarah" he took her into a cave
and satisfied his desire for her for the
last time. Then he slaughtered her and
slaughtered the fruit of his sin and re-
turned home heedlessly. In the evening
Y@sufiyyah's family wondered what had
delayed their daughter. They knew that
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of the caves for reasons which we do not knowy God knows
best, and let the reader understand. There are many other
such occurrences whose introduction item by item we have
omitted for fear of making the story too long.

The people took to holding meetings to find a way
to preserve themselves from these oppressions, without any
opposition from the authorities. First there was a meeting

205
in the village of 'Ajaltin held by a number of young men,

she had gone out with Shaikh Mangir,
and they went to ask him about her.
He cursed them and struck them and
then said to them: "Go look for her
in the cave of Wadl al-Shawmarah,."
They went to that place and found the
slaughtered girl and her child covered
with blood... History has said: The
news spread the length and breadth of
the country, and reached the Qa'im-
maqadm, AmIr Haidar AbD agl-Lama'. He
was weak-willed and faint-hearted and
an ally of the Khazin family. He sent
an officer with several soldiers to
investigate, and when the said officer
arrived in ﬁafar Dabyan he was met by
the relatives of Shaikh Mangfir who
convinced him that the incident was of
no great lmportance and that cutting
some mulberry trees from the grounds
of the killer would suffice for his
punishment! So the officer went to a
place called "the slope" (al-Muzahliq)
which the said Shaikh owned and cut a
few mulberry plants there ... and God
used to love those who did goodl
205« The name,in Arabic is correctly written
. : y transliterated 'Jaltfin,
The spelling "'Ajaltin", however, is
more comprehensible to éhe English-
speaking reader,
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who made a compact among themselves that none would
betray the other, and that if one of the Shaikhs should
aggress against any of them, all of them would come to
his aid to the point of blood. They set up as their first
(chief) WakIl $31ih Jirjis Sfair, and as second WakIl
Dawud Mahbiib al-Qami'e. Whoever divulged this secret or
delayed in coming to the others' assistance, all would be

206
against him. That remained secret for a time without

206, (Y) The late Philip and Farid al-Khazin
have recalled thlis meeting as follows:
"In the month of November, 1858, the
disturbances (they meant, the revolution)
of Kisrawan began, and there was a
succession of meetings and plots in the
villages against the Khazin family, by
order of the AmIr BashIr A?mad to his
delgégate who ignited the fire (of
rebellion), Ilyas al-Munayyir. The
people chose their representatives to
direct their affairsj; and these are
their names at the first meeting they
held:

"$alih Jirjis $fair, Yisuf al-ZughbI,
Yusuf al-Biskintaw Makhluf BarIdI, Sa'd
Ghugn, (more correctly, Tanniis Sa'd Ghusn),
Yasuf Tannfls Tabit, from the people of

'Ajaltun,
"Hasan ifalr and Bujrus Kan'an Kassab
from al-Qla 1ate

"Bgkhils Abl Ghdlib and Yisuf Antun
Nasr from 'Ashqiit.

"I1y&ds al-Munayyir, Antiin Bisharah
Qafyan, Ilyds Knadra, ﬁabrb al-JamatT, and
Yiisuf HabalIn from Zuq Makayil.

"HEZb1l al-KharI, HabIb Yazbak, Ilyas
gabag, Dahir al-KhurI from Mazra' ah Kafar

abyan.’

"Saj'En al-'Udaiml and Bisharah Ghanim
from JOniyah.

"Hanna DIb and Yasuf Ighnatiyus from
Dar '{in.
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anyone knowing of it. And similarly there was a meeting
at Mazra'ah Kafar Dabyan also, and they formed a compact
among themselves. At first they were about 13 persons,

no more. They installed asW&kil HZbI1 al-Khiirf al-
'AqIqI. All this remained secret without information
passing between the two parties for about 8 months. After
that, the Shaikhs began to carry on detailed conversatlons,
and a way of actlon appeared to them, though without
knowing what was the basis of these meetings (of Kafar
Dabyan and 'Ajaltfin). As for the people of al-Mazra'ah,
when they learned of the meeting of the people of 'Ajaltun
they sent messengers to them secretly. They began
exchanging information until it ensued that they divulged‘
to each other all their concealed thoughts, which were
devoted solely to protection. As for the Khazin family,
because of their hatred toward AmIr BashTr Ahmad, they
took to inciting the people, saying, "Hold a meeting and

"9alibI al-Q&'T and Martin al-QIm from
Suhallah and its neighbouring farmlands,

"Then these agents began to incite the
villagers to join under the bannér of the
uprising to get rid of the rule of the
Shaikhs and they chose Tanylis Shahin as
its leader.,”

Al-Muharrardt al-Siydsiyyah, Vol. I, p.390.
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appoint a Shaikh Shabab (chief), and present petitions
rejecting AmIr Bashir Apmad." And a second group said to
them, "Do those things (appoint a leader and write
petitions) but reject Amlr BashIr 'Assaf, and ask for

Amlr BashIr Ahmad, because he is a very good man." Each
group desired its own success and the defeat of the other;
and these Shaikhs did not know that the affair would end
on thelr own heads, as it has been sald - he who desires
evil to his brother, it will return on his own head =

for after a few days this business became known, first in
the village of 'Ajaltlin, because (the villagers) made their
meeting known in a way different from what was thought by
the Shaikhs, that the purpose of the meeting was to oppose
AmIr BashIr Ahmad or (AmIr BashIr) 'Assaf; actually it was
against the Shaikhs (themselves). They then asked the
chiefs of the country to come to the village of 'Ajaltiin
for a reconciliation between them and the people, and this
meeting was attended by some of the well-regarded priests
and gentlemen such as Ibn al-BItar and from the 'Assaf
family and others.The two groups consulted together in
'Ajaltliny that was in September, 1858, The people began
to Jjustify themselves, saying that they wished the Shalkhs
to be as they had been at first, and that they had no
harmful thought or (thought of) changing (anything). As
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Shab@b (chief) over them, and with him representatives
and assistants. Similarly in Jiniyah there was a great
commotion and Shaikh Yusuf WaradZn was beaten, on October

208
2y 1858, and it was a painful beating, This sort of

origin of the Munayyir family is from

amgh, from the "HilZl" family, and

heir forebear was nicknamed "al-
Munayyir" ("the framemaker") because
he manufactured_frames for the weaving
of silk in al-Zug. It is reated about
Amlr BashIr Abhmad Abl al-Lama' that in
1860 he borrowed 30,000 piastres from
Ily&shl-Munayyir and wrote for it four
recelpts (to be repaid) over a period
of two months. Three months passed
without his paying it, and he died in
debt. The creditor was obliged to
appeal to his heirs, but he was un-
able to obtain his due. When Ilyas
died, his heirs renewed the appeal to
the heirs of the debtor, by means of
the then famous lawyer.%he late
Ighnatiylis Ziyadah, who returned their
due to them after %ens of yearse.

(M <y

208. (Y) The writer of Al-Mugita'at al-
Kisrawanlyyah says - pe 335 - that
this incident took place on Dec. 9
of the year mentioned, he being one of
the eye-witnesses.
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for the Shaikhs, some of them made sweeping threats
agalnst the people, that they would expel them from the
country and kill some of them, while others (of the Shaikhs)
treated the people well, and their duty as guardians kept
them from any bad action. I « W, thk = words such as these,
the chieftains returned without benefit. During this
time there were meetings in al-Mazra'ah, and they made the
aforementioned HabIl the"Shaikh Shabab" (chief), and four
men with him, and they took to chanting and singing and
firing of rifles after they had endured many threats
before that. Then similarly their brothers the people of
Z8q Mtkd'Tl came forth and assaulted Shaikh 'Abbas al-
Khazin, who fled from them and hid in the monastery of
Page 80 al-Bisharah al-Khdzin. The people of al-Ziq (Zuq MIk3{I1)

207
were aroused and installed Na'man al-Munayyir as Shaikh

207. (Y) In the possession of the publisher
of these "Memoirs" is a statement of _
the names of the inhabitants of al-Zuq
at that time, entitled: "The sign of
the people of Zliq Mikayil."® It was
copied_by the priest Arsaniyls al-
Fakhiiri on April 12, 1861, from the
"ledger of daily accounts™ on the basis
of which the taxes were imposed on the
inhabitants of the village. I read
those names one by one and found no
individual called Na'man.

Most probably, the late Antfin al-
'AqIqI, the historian of this tratt,
erred {n writing the name, and in the
truth it is Ilyas Niq@lad al-Munayyir
not Na'min., This Ilyas was born in %he
year 1810 and died in June 1883. The
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action took place in all the villages, such as 'Ashqut,
Raiffin, FaitTfin, Mair@ibd, and all the villages. In
each village they chose a Shalkh Shabab. In Juniyah

he was Saj'an al-'Udaiml, in 'Ashqut 1t was Bakhus Abll
Ghalib, in Mairiiba, NasIf al-KhirI, and in al-Qlai'at,
Hass&n Sfair. As for Ghiista and 'Aramlin, they remained
quiet; and as for the Khazin Shaikhs, they began to
hold meetings among themselves and formed a number of
organisations, but they did not agree in their opinions.
They wrote to all the AmIrs and Shaikhs, all of whom
answered but took no action. Then they wrote to the
Druse Shaikhszlosuch as the Janbl&t and Tal@ﬁq families

211
and others but got no result from them. (Meanwhile)

209

209, (Y) Not soj; in fact they agreed to
erush the popular spirit, and they
registered the basis of their agreement
in a compact which we have published
under Numeral I in the Appendix to these
Memoirs; let the reader turn to it. (Chapter

210, dw juadl 7olis
1itera1&y, "the Shaikhs of the School".
This is a distortion of i j ol Ll
a phrase used by Christian writers
meaning simply "The Druse Shalkhs."
(This is the explanation of Shaikh 1Arif
Abu Nakad in a letter to me.)

211. (Y) This is the most faithful evidence
to support our statement that the
Maronite and Druse feudal chiefs were
mutually agreed upon the oppression of
the Maronite peasant and Druse peasant
together... The reader will soon see
how the struggle between the classes led
to sectarian warfare whose preparation
was presided over by the feudal chiefs
and their masters in the foreign

V)
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there were agreements made in the land, compacts written,

consulates and the Ottoman Government.
One of the most starting things to
recall is that the first uprising
which was encouraged by the imperial-
ists and feudalists in the year 1845,
assumed the form of class struggle in
a very clear and frank way. Monsieur
Poujade, who in that day was Consul

of France in Beirut, related that he
received a letter from the Christians
of Zahlah in which they complained of
the treachery gf the Turks to them;
they then say."™V..And among the benefits
which we received on that day was
confirmation that the Druses did not
come to fight us except when compelled
by the feudal landholders, who forced
them to do this by blows of the stick.
There is no denying that Lebanon will
not enjoy tranqulllity as long as her
chieftains have their privileges and
exemptions which the Amir of the
Mountain permitted them to have in re-
turn for thelr services, and which he
may revoke whenever he wishes..."

Then the Christians say in their
letter to Monsiéur Poujade:

"The (Turkish) Government banished
Sa'Id Bey Janbldt, Amir Muhammad Arslan
HamGd and NasIf Abd Nakad, Khattar 'Ema
and Ydsuf 'Abd al-Malik, but none of
them has been punished, and they were
allowed to return to Lebanon to stir up
the Druses against us.

"Establishing peace would be possible
between the Druse and Christlan peasants,
but that is impossible with their chief-
taimswho wish to keep thelr privileges
and authority over our brothers. Over
this we are not pleased..."etc. - Al-

rrarat s asi h, Vol. I’ Pe 183.

We have sald: t the Christians
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and oaths that the stroke would be a single one and
that all were brothers. Some of them they compelled

to carry arms, and he who had no weapon they obliged to
212

buy one. Then these met with Tanyfls Shahin in Raifun
HabIl al-'AqIqI from al-Mazra'ah with several menj; NasIf
al-KhiirI from Mairtiba with several menj; Salih Jir315218
from 'Ajaltiin with several men; the people of al-Qlai'at;
and Bakhtls Abli Ghdlib from 'Ashqiit. They invited Tanyiis
to Jjoin them in their rank and to have them appoint him
as general WakIl. After great arguments and disagree-
ments, he accepted, and they appointed him WakIl for the
village of Raiffin, and later over all the villages of

Kisrawan. He did more than what was expected of him

wrote about the Druse overlords, fthe
Druses could write about the Christian
overlords letter for letter...

(K) See above, Yazbak p. 10, footnote,
for French Text.

212.(Y) From the well-known family of
Sa'adah in Kisrawan, born in Raiffin
in the year 1815 an& died on February

3, 1895,

213.(&) He was of the well-known family of
Sfair. He held the leadership of the
popular movement at its beginning, the
WakIls of the villages - the "Shaikh
Shababs" - having appointed him as a
general WakIl over all of them.
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and began to address the Kh3zin family in offilcial
speeches, and to strengthen the country. He seemed to
them to be thelr redeemer, and to bring forth whatever
they needed, of whatever sort it might be. He gave

them rest from the shaikhs and took their wants into
consideration; and he began to tour from place to place,
everyone regarding him with the highest consideration.

In every village that he entered, everyone would prepare
him an excellent reception of Joy and happiness and
continuous shooting of rifles, as if it were the visit of
a ruler to his people. At that time the shaikhs met in an
assembly, which convened in Ghﬁs§§ and addressed the
WakIls of the villages concerning their (theWakil's)
requests. The WakIls, replied to them, we desire nothing
from you except the 1ifting of your impositions and the
rest of your demands from us. We also wish that there
should be only three Ma'mirs (officials), one for each
district ('uhdah) - for previously there were two Ma'mirs
for each - and that the rest of the shaikhs should be
like the people.214 Then, after there was a meeting and
discussion back and forth, the shaikhs accepted thatj; but
the people no longer accepted it and instead asked that

214, eVl el R PCR O
- Meaning, presumably, "That the
shaikhs be like the rest of the
people" - i.e. without privileges.
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there be one Ma'mur from them over Kisrawan, and under
him an assistant whom the people would elect; and this
the shaikhs did not accept.ngThey wanted to petition the
Government, and since AmIr Bashlr Ahmad, the Q&'im
Magam, was suspended from office because they had been
against him. They laid their petition to the

government before the Wil: of Beirut. They sent
representatives on their behalf, one of whom was Qa'dan
Bey, and with him three of his cousins. And when the
people learned that they were petitioning the government
and intending to ruin Kisrawan, they held a meeting and
reached a decision to expel the entire Khazin family
from Kisrawfin, both women and men. They began to
express themselves, saying that they would seize the
property of the Khazin family, and foremost among them

216
was Tanyls ShahIn, whom they called Bey. He began to

215. (Y) On the 13th of January, 1859, a
meeting of the populace was held in
the village of Dlibta to discuss
these requests and to make a final
decision on them, and on the fourth
day (January 17) the members of the
meeting wrote to the Patriarch inform-
ing him of them. We have published
their letter and their requests under
Numerals 2 and 3 in the Appendix to
these Memoirs, and let the reader turn
to them.

216. This title is said to have been officially
conferred upon him in June 1859, by
Khurshid Pasha. (Pou:loulat op.cit. ’p068)
But his assumption of the title was cited
in a memorial by the Kha@zins listing their
accusation against Tanyfls, with the
implication that he‘was not entitled to it.
(Syria Correspondence, I, p. 520.)
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deceive the shaikhs in order to expel them from
Kisrawan, Sometimes he would claim that they wanted

him killed, and sometimes he would say that they had
surrounded him in his house and fired bullets at him;

and sometimes he would support his words with the words
of the Patriarch Biilus Mas'ad who was then in office,
although his Beatitude was very much opposed to this
action, because all were his flock. Tanyus' purpose

in this was to instill enmity between the shalkhs and the
people, and by this means he was arousing the populace
against the shaikhs.217 The hatred grew and the evil
increased, until the shaikhs formed an assembly in Ghﬁs?i
and agreed to petition the government in Beirut. And at
that time Saj'an al-'UdaimI, the Shaikh Shabab of Jiniyah,
came up to them and with him a crowd from Sahil 'Alma,

Gh&dIr, and Dar'iin, and they expelled the shaikhs from

217. An incident cited verbally by Yazbak
to the translator is said to have
contributed to the general outbreak
of physical violence.

A woman of the Abli Shabakah family,
the grandmother of the currently
known Lebanese poet Ilyas Abu
Shabakah, was believed to be having
an 111icit affair with the Father
Superior of the Zllq Mikayil monastery,
Yusuf RajI al-Khazin. The incensed
people of the town attacked and beat
the priest; his Khazin relatives
sought to retaliate, and open hostili-
ties began.
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Seat, and a crowd came down to them from the villages and
expelled them from there, so they headed for Halat and
the Jubail country. Their departure from Kisrawan had
been made in great fear of death and undeserved blood-
shed, for unknown people had come and killed the wife

of Shaikh Diyab and her daughter in 'AJaltﬁn220 and took
what they found of furniture and jewelry. At that time
all the shalkhs left Kisrawdn, some going to Bait Shabab,
some to Biskintad, some to Beirut, and some to the Jubail

country and other places, and protested to the government

against this incident and (protested) that the people of

Kisrawin had stolen their money and property without right.

The government's order was issued for soldiers to go up

to Kisrawdn. They were led by the soldier Muhammad Agha
222
al-Saq'an, and with him were about 150 men, of whom
223
some were Albanians and some irregular forces.

221

220. See above, Footnote No. 184.

221. For a summary of the Kh@zins' grievances,
see Syria Correspondence, I, p. 520.

222, Moore in a dlspatch Teported that
KhfirshId had sent "60 horsemen" to
Kisrawan and quartered them on the ring-
leaders of the peasant movement, and had
issued a proclamation warning against
further outrages. (British Consular Files,
Moore to Bulwer, No. 5, Feb. 7, 1859.)
Poujoulat puts the number of troops at 50,
and states that KhiirshId secretly told the
peasants not to recognise the Khizins'
authority. (op.cit., p. 66.)

223. "Bash buzuq“_%commonly known as "bashi
buzligs").
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Ghﬁspi, because they thought that the people of Ghusta
would help them., But when the people of Ghlista saw
that the land was agitated against the shailkhs, they
stood aside.gl8 All the shaikhs proceeded to 'Aramin
and from there they dispersed to various places, some
of them going to the Armenian Catholic Monastery of
Our Lady of Bzummir, by way of al-Khalfa. Tanyus

knew about them and went to Bzummar with a great crowd
from all the villages with the intention of attacking
the monastery and demanding the shaikhs, but since His
Beatitude the Armenian Patriarch Gregorius VIII was
present in the monastery, and with him twe bishops and
some priests, out of consideration for His Beatitude
they desisted from this action for a time,zlg and during
the night the shaikhs went secretly from the monastery
through WadI al-Masailakh in great fear toward the
district of Bait Shabab. Then a number of the shaikhs

were found at the monastery of BkirkI, the Patriarchal

218. Yazbak's explanation for this, which
he expressed to the translator, is that
Ghlistd being the home of Qa'din Bey al-
Kh&zin, the Mugata'ji of the area, he
was inclined to treat the townsmen as
his special wards, sparing them the
abuses he practiced elsewhere.

219. Likewise at HarIsah a large group of
Khazin women and children were protected
by Padre Rapha®¥lo, Father Superior of the
monastery there, and by Mgr. Valerga, the
Papal Legate, who provided the fugitives
with a safe escort to Beirut. (Poujoulat,

gp.m.’ pp. 62-3).
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They made their headquarters in Juniyah and
al-Ziq, and afterwards a body of men went up to 'Ajaltin
and then a body to Mazra'ah Kafar Dabyan. They stayed
for a period of a month and a half in al-Zug, and
quartered themselves on the people of the land. The
people of al-Zlig provided for those that were with them
and charged (the expense) to the whole people of the
land, and likewise the people of 'Ajaltfin. At this time
the shaikhs offered bribery to Muhammad Aghd al-Saq'an
so that he should increase the punishment of the people
and report to the Wall of Beirut the evildoing of the
people, but this bribery went without benefit because
this aetion (ise. the evildoing) was in accord with the
inclinations of the government. As for the people, they
went immediately to Beirut, led by ?Enyﬁs ShahIn and the
WakIls of the country, who were Salih Jirjis from
'Ajaltlin, HabIl 'AqIqI from al-Mazra'ah, Ilyis Habalin
from Z{iq Mikayil, and Hassan Sfair from al-Qlai'at, and
the rest of the villages, with a WakIl from each village.
The case was raised in Beirut, and AmIr BashIr Ahmad
defended the people of the country because the shaikhs
were against him, and the foreign consuls sometimes

224
defended them (the people) and sometimes not. As for

224. 1l.e., some consuls (particularly the
French and Austrian) defended them,
and others (particularly the English)
took the part of the shaikhs.
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the State, it left matters alone as was its propensity,
and after numerous DIvans and conferences the troops were
removed from the country and the people began to strip
the possessions of the shaikhs by cutting the forests

and breaking the doors of the shaikhs' mansions, and

taking their produce of silk and wheat and oil and vines,

and everything they could take. The mulberry trees of
those shaikhs who had removed the raw silk with their own
hands, they divided among the people. If they found one

of the collaborators of the shaikhs taking anything to

his master, they would watch him and take from him all
that he had with him and take everything from him and
insult him. Then in the days of the harvest of the year
'59 the people made records of their money that was in the
possession of the shaikhs, and they took some of what
belonged to them - and far be it from us to know whether
it was true or false. Finally Tanylis ShahIn collected
some of the shaikhs' properties on the coast and in the

mountains, whether silk or wheat, and put them in his
house, and he took this by the authority of the populace.
He opened the provisions his house to people going and
coming, distributed munitions, behaving as owners of great

houses do, so that his name was spread through every

distriet. Every village that did not heed his words would
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have crowds sent to it from the other villages to make

it obey. He gave orders for the procuring of rights
and punishment of the wrong-doers however he willed, with-

out opposition, and he spoke with the authority of the

"Republican Government", He came to be regarded as great,
and his orders penetrated to everyone. Then after the

shaikhs had lost hope from the government and had grown

tired of, expenses and paying money, no one had given them

any help because this was the customary practice of the
government, and the common people were against them. and
against the Amirs also, as they were against the Khazin
family, because this poison was growing in all places and

fear overwhelmed everyone. There was no longer refuge

for anyone, whether of the people or the landowners.
Everyone was afraid for himself, and no longer was anyone
safe with anyone else, nor could anyone trust his own
brother. Evil abounded, hypocrisy increased, and supplies
became short. Those with personal aims demanded what

they wanted, and the people would watch each other closely
so that if they saw anyone taking anything to the shaikhs,
whether he were one of their colleagues or not, they would
take 1t from him foreibly. By this process poverty came
over everyone, both among the shaikhs because of the
selzure of their properties and the increase of their

expenses, and among the people, from their lack of employ-
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ment to give them the means of subsistence, and from
thelr resorting to evil practices. Great difficulties

arose, and when evils reached this sad state, the

shaikhs resolved to put an end to this course, and they
resolved to set the people against one another and to

return to their lands. But this went in vain, for they
desired to take Mazra'ah Kafar Dabyan and make it their
headquarters. They promised its people that they would
treat them as they (the people) wished, by refraining
from pressing claims against them and so on, and they
promised to give them money as well. They wrote
conditions which they promised to fulfill which they sent
by means of Qa'dan Bey al-Kh3zin, representing his
cousins, and made an agreement with some men from the
families of al-'Aqtq® and Abd KhalTl of Mairuba, and

they lived in al-Mazra'ah without fear. When Tanyus
ShahIn learned of this agreement, he and the other village
representatives immediately collected a great crowd from
the country and sent two groups, one to al-Mazra'ah and
one to Mairiiba to discipline the two villages. In
Mairliba they barred by force of arms the entrance of the
crowd into their village, and intended evil. As for al-
Mazra'ah, the crowd entered with the greatest ease, for

the inhabitants had no knowledge of the coming of the
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crowd. But afterward they drove the crowd from the
village. Since the people of al-Mazra'ah were divided
among themselves, they were unable to decide what their
opinion was; and if the reformerszashad not intervened,
the evil would have increased all the more. But when

the reformers came in, they righted what was amiss among
them (the people of Mazra'ah) and brought before Tanyis
Sh@hin in Raifiin those who had taken part in this action
(i.e., dealing with the Khdzins), and Tanylis threatened
them severely. Afterward he released them and peace came

among all. The purpose of the shaikhs in this under-
taking was not realised, and their hopes were disappointed.

225. l.e. Tanyls' faction.
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CHAPTER III
Commentary by the Irgnslator

Enough has been written about the massacres of 1860
to mgke further comment on them largely redundant. They
were the culmination of twenty years of social and politi-
cal unrest in Lebanon. They brought to the fore more than
ever before the inadequacy of Turkish rule and the interest
of Europe in the affairs of the LeVant., Details of the
massacres were reported in full detail in a mass of diplo-
matic dispatches, books, and pamphlets -- often inaccurate,
prejudiced, presumptuously passing judgment, but sufficient-
ly voluminous to cause one reasonably familiar with them to
read 'AqIqI's account with no great sense of discovery.

in som; respects 1860 was a repetition of 1845. The
troubles of both years seem in part to have been precipi-
tated by a certain arrogance on the part of the Maronite
clergy and general lack of public security in the country;
on both occasions the Turkish authority displayed a mixture
of active intrigue and cynical indifference.

But the fifteen years that had passed since 1845
trought added cause for bloodshed. There was now a memory
of past antagonism: Druse and Maronite in 1860 were more
accustomed to regard each other as enemlies. The system of
government of the Qa'im Magamiyy&hs did not provide order
in 1845 because it had not been satisfactorily instituted.
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In 1860 it had been proved a failure. Perhaps it need not
have been so; but without a minimum of support from Turkey
and the Powers and without the requisite cooperation among
them, no form of government could be effective,
Furthermore, whereas in the early 1840's Lebanon
was experiencing the immediate effects of the éverturn of
IbrahIm Pasha and AmIr BashIr II, in 1860 the causes of
social unrest were more deep-seated, They were rooted in
the decline of such traditional Institutions as feudal landed
authority and inter-family ties that cut across sectarian
lines, and in the disintegration of previously close-knit
interests of clergy and aristocracy. Churchill, perceptive
if not always reliable, ascirbes the abstention of AmIr
BashIr Ahmed and his Lama'l relatives from participation
in the civil war to their belief that "the triumph of the
Druses was that of feudalism... The dead ly enemies of the
Druses were not the Maronite aristocracy, but the Maronite
clergy. The former never embarked heartily in any move
against them... None of the Maronite sheikhs from the north
stirred at all." These feudal lords saw what had happened
to the Khazin family; they sensed a community of interest
with those Druse shaikhs of the Mixed Districts who faced
troubles of their own with their Christian tenantry. Only
the Maronite Shihab AmIrs, dispossessed of all prestige but
their name, lent their services to the Maronite clergy.aa?

227, Churehill, Ine Druses and the Marenites,
pp. 178-9.
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Far in the Mixed Digtricts on the eve of hostilities
the Christians showed some signs of losing patience with the
order of affairs, with stimulation from the churchmen in
Kdsrawan. They found their Druse overlords oppressive and
the authority of their own wakTls reduced to impotence.
Churchill considered Sa'lid Bey Janblat "among the most way-
ward, overbearing, and ﬁnscrupulous of these feudal marauders,"
with his confiscation of property and forging of Christian
testimonials to his just rule, The continued support by the
British Government of Shaikh Sa'lId, in Churchill's view, a
bad moral effect on Druses and éhristians alike.228

If the Maronite shailkhs of the north were apathetic! the
same cannot be saild of the peasantry, Letters Nos. hz-hé;giGew
some indication of the zeal of Tanylls Shahin's followers in
organising a force to send against the Druseé. Before the
actual outbreak of hostilities, a peasant force under Tanyls
marched to Nahr al-Kalb (Dog River) and encamped there, three
hours' march from Beirut. This had the effect of making the
Maronites to be the aggressors: although the river was not
the dividing line between the two Q&'m Magamiyyahs, it was
the border of the Matn district, theﬁonly partially Druse
area of the Christian province. T&nyfs crossed into the
Matn, though not across the borderline of the Druse Qa'im Ma-
gamiyyah at the Damascus Road, He refused KhiirshId's érder

-

228, Ibid., pp. 98-101, 158. See also
Souvenirs de S y Pe 1l.
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to withdraw; the Druses also invaded the Matn, and on
May 29 Bait MirY and 40 other vl llages were burned. After
this first reversal, Tanylis retired to Kisrawan and took
no further part in the fighting,229

The class tensions of the Christians which glien-
ated the feudal lords from the peasants and clergy prevented
them from uniting in a well-organised effort, whereas the
Druses, whose cause was "the cause of feudalism, "presented
a comparatively solid front. It may be true that "the
Jealousy between the Yazbakites and the Janblajites, comp-
licated by the ambitiomsof the Nakadites, the Malikites,
and so ony had much to do with the chiefs of those factions
being unable to restrain their followers when these had

smelled the blood of their traditional enemies."230 But this

229, Souvenirs de S y Pp. 27-36, Lord Duf=-
ferin later wrote, somewhat inaccurately,
"Flushed with success, and taking advant-
age of the popular excitement which various
causes had combined to produce, Tannus (sic)
Shahin and his supporters seem to have been
active in promoting the hostilities which
were designed against the Druses, and it
was thls Individual who led the first armed
band that passed the Christian frontier in-
to the Mixed Districts.”
(Syria Correspondence, II, p. 34. Dufferin
to Bulwer, March 29, 1861.)

230. Abkaréus, op. cit., footnote by Scheltema,
p. 10 [}
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was a very different sort of division than that which split
the Maronites; it did not separate the follower from his
leader. The social changes which we have referred to appear
to have affected primarily the Christians; relations among
the Druses continued to follow the old patterns of family
rather than class rivalry. If this is true, then we infer
that it was in the Mixed Districts that these changes led

to sectarian friction, as a by-product of tension in the
feudal relationship of landlord and tenant,

It may seem paradoxical that a weakening of the
feudal order should be accompanied by increased sectarian
consciousness and assertion by the Maronit e Church of its
political aims. Nervous energy, however, is not a sign of
latent strength: the intrigues of Maronite clergymen, insofar
as they existed, may have been more symptomatic of concern
for the Church's continued prestige than of new anfidence.
On the other h;nd, the new antagonism of the peasant toward
his chief gave the Church an opportunity to champion the
cause of the former., The avowed intention of France, fur-
thermore, to safeguard Christian political interests could
only encourage the Church to do likewise,

By thus creating an issue where there had been
none before, France perhaps did her protegés no good. "Et
pourtant," asked Voglé, "quel a été le fruit de cette
alliance, la récompense de cette fidélité? La protection
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frangalse a été la cause indirecte de plus grands malheurss.
N'osant attaquer la France en face, on 1l'a attaquée et
humiliée dans ses alliés,n231 )

The sectarian issue once having been raised, of
cour sey, most Frenchmen could herdly be expected to view
their role in this light. The Christians of Mt. Lebanon
were an enclave surrounded by infidels. France was thelr
hope; France owed them protection. It was this sense of
obligation, misplaced or not, that constituted French
"sentimental attachment" to the Christians of Lebanon.
This attitude was expressed by one: "On peut donc le dire,
le jour ol le drapeau tricolore cessera de flotter dans la
montagne biblique, la croix sera deracinée de cette terre od
elle demeure debout depuls dix-huit sidcles, arrosée du sang
des martyrs, en dépit de toutes les invasions et de toutes
les conquétes."232

In any event, it is clear that the material means
for civil war were well supplied from outside the country.
According to Lord Dufferin, '"customs-house returns can prove
that upwards of 120,000 stand of arms and 20,000 pistols
were imported into the Lebanon between January 1857 gnd the
spring of 1860, while the sinister influence exercised by

Bishop Tobia and his associates was so universally recognized

231. Vogﬁé, LD m.’ P 13
232. Frangois Lenormant, %u des
Massacres en Syrie en y Ps 131,



- 179 =

that his withdrawal from Beirut was insisted upon by the
French Consul as a necessary preliminary to all chance of
peace."233 With such weapons on hand, it is not surprising
that on the eve of the massacres the British Consul should
report, "Assassinations and reprisals are of almost daily
occurence between the Christians and Druses."23l+

What was the responsibility of the Porte? It is
easy enough to say that Lebanon being a part of her empire, it
was her duty to keep order; not only did she fail in this,
but she lent active assistance to the Druses., Those whose
analysis stops with these facts may conclude simply that
the massacres were "une vaste conspiration ourdie par les
soins des autorités ottomanes.” The Druses were only a
Turkish instrument fordestruction of the Chrisians; later
the Druses would be punished in their turn, and both sides
would thus be annihilated.23?

This oversimplified view need not be dismissed alto-
gether. We can surmise that Turkey had her motives for
bitterness not only toward the Christians of Lebanon but
toward French protection of them. The Ottomans were aware
that Anglo-French participation in the Crime an War was not
disinterested, and that it carried with it no respect for

233+ Syria Correspondence, I, 423, Dufferin
British Foreign Secretary Lord John Russell,

Dec. 19, 1860,
234, British Consular Files., Moore to Bulwer,
. No. 18, May 18, 1860
235+ Vogué, op. cit., pp. 8-9.
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Turkey; it implied nothing, in fact, but Turkey's own weak-
ness. They were aware of Western sympathy for éhe Christ-
ians of the Ottoman Empire and of the devotion of the Greek
Orthodox subjects to Russia. The Porte could secure Western
help against Russia, but in their internal problems all they
recelved from France and England was troublesome interfer-
ence, 236

Rif'at PaZsh¥, onetime Ottoman Faelgn Minister,
referred to the ©&8'im Magamiyyah arrangement as "la guerre
civile organisée."237 Under the circumstances this may be
true. The plan was not Turkey's. She knew of the problems
it involved -- mixed populations fearful for their security
and agitated by their leaders; local chieftains dependent
for advice and support not on the Turkish Pasha in Beirut
but on French, British, or Russian Consuls; and disagree-
ment among these diplomats on how the affairs of the country
should be directed. When Churchill asserts that the 1860
troubles would have been avoided had the British Ambassador
in Constgntinople intervened during the last three years to
secure the removal of certain Turkish officials,2380ne is
tempted to ask whether the very intervention that had imposed
the partition system of government in 1842 and had affected
its workings for the next 18 years had not been ill-advised.

236, Cf, Pougadeéggp. cit., pp. 226-30.

237. Ibid ., p. 2
238. _hg_m&D’ : S and the Maronites, p. 257.
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For Turkey to supervise the Q&'im Magamiyy&hs
effectively, in the face of their shorécomings andunpopula-
rity, required military force which she did not have,23?

It also required that the Mushir of Sidon have a reasonable
freedom from the interference both of the Consuls and of

his own Turkish colleague in Damascus.euo From 1861 to 1914
Lebanon was governed directly by a Turkish officilal == ad-
mittedly with severgl restrictions, but under an arrange-
ment acceptable to the Porte -- without any repetition of

the earlier disorders. Without drawing hasty conclusions,

one may ask 1f a freer hand for Turkey from 1842 to 1860 would

not have been to the benefit of Mt. Lebanon.
XXX XXXXXXXX

239. The French Ambassador in Constantinople
wrote to hls government, "Le difficulté
n'était pas dans les dispositions de la
Porte, mais dans ses embarras. On ne
pouvait, avec securité, envoyer en Syrie
des troupes nouvelles sans les payer; c 'eflt
été joindre aux pillards des hommes mécon-
tents et préts a désobéir,

"Aussit8t qu'on a pu se procurer de
l'argent pour selder l'arriére de mille
hemmes, on les a expediés..." (French
Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Documents

tiques, 1860, p. 201l. Marquis de

Lavalette to fhouvenel, July 18, 1860.)

240, Cf. Abkarius, « cit., introduction by
Scheltema, pe g?. KhfirshId P&EshZ in
his own defense complained of the enmity
of Ahmad Pasha, the WE1I of Syria and
Commander in Chief of the army of Arabistan.
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The massacres of Christians in Damascus from July
9 to July 13, 1860, touched off by events in Mt. Lebanon,
had causes of its own and merits.some separate consideration.

Unlike the Lebanon, Damascus since the Ottoman con-
quest had been included in a province directly administered
by a Turkish Pasha, with the exception of the few years of
IbrahIm Pasha's conquest. Here the Christians were a small
minority in an ancient and sacred Muslim city,akltradition-
ally without political or social privilege. To some Europ-
eans they seemed so inobtrusive as to mske the attack on
them appear to be completely unprovoked;zhawithin the last
few decades, however, changes had taken place. Sectarian
equality had been enforced by the Egyptians and confirmed
in 1856 by the reforms of the Hatti Humayun, which lifted
the poll tax from the Christians

241, The author of Souvenirs de S numbers
the Christians of Damascus in 1860 at
20,000 and its Muslims at 100,000 to
120,000. (p. 165.) Poujoulat's figures
are higher: 25,000 to 30,000 Christians
and 140,000 Muslims. (Quoted in Lenormant,
op. ¢it., p. 94.)

242, Poujoula% wrote: "On ne saurait rien ima=-
giner dans le monde de plus pacifique,
de plus humble, de plus soumis gue les
25,000 ou 30,000 chrétiens de Damas,
placés en face de 140,000 musulmans.

Les chrétiens de cette ville n'ont aucune
espdce d'armes dans leurs maisons, ils n'en
ont . amais eu, et c'est & cause de celd
que les cannibales et les voleurs sont
tombés sur eux." (Quoted in Lenormant, gop.
cit, P . 9"‘5-)

The writer of Souvenirs de Syrie contrasts
their peaceable behaviour with that of the
Maronites of Lebanon. (p.l66.)
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and placed military conscription on a basis of equality.
The Christians took advantage of theilr new liberties. Some
dressed in green =-- a colour traditionally reserved for
descendants of the Prophet -- and others opened wine-shops
in public places; Muslim resentment was aroused.2u3
The Christians were the commercial class of Damas-

cus, large-scale land ownership being closed to the wealthy
among them., Over the government financial service they

held a virtual monopoly. Those who prospered in such ser-

vice excited suspicion of dishonesty in the minds of

Muslims. 2L|J+

The Christians did not furthermore enjoy an unblemish-
ed reputation for good will among themselves. In 1857 a
bitter quarrel broke out within the Greek Catholic Church
over the order from Rome to gdopt the Gregorian calendar,
The ShargI party -- those who refused to change =-- sought
support from the Greek Orthodox churchmen, while the Gharbi's
advocated acceptance of Rome's decision. The guarrel ex- -
tended into the highest echeions of the clergy; the patriarch
had to flee for his life, and the Turkish authorities were

compelled to restore ordero2h5

24 Abkarius, gn. ., PPe. 126-7.

2 S gg p. 166-8 .

2%5. Ibid., 162. In 18 3 Poujade had found
the Greek Catholics and the Orthodox
of Damascus to be on unfriendly terms.

(ﬂ. mo, P 2096)
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As iIn Lebanon, the Turks were not free of blame for
encouraging the massacres. FEarly in March 1860 a meeting
of promiment Muslims was convened by Ahmad P&shd, attended
also by Ahmad Effendi, financial controller of the Sidon
pashalik. The group considered complaints made against
the Christians of the city; a fatwa is then said to have
been issued by the MuftI, 'Abdullah al-HalabI, declaring
that the Christians could Aot be considered legal equals
of the Muslims or excused from the tributary Kharaij tax,
and that should they flout the law of Islam in these
matters their extermination would be sanctioned.2h6

Another provocation was the wide circulation of the
text of a letter written during the Lebanese massacres by
a Damascene Muslim to a friend in Hamah, calling for ex-
termination of the Christians and claiming religious sanc-

tion. Neither the author of the letter nor its distributor

vere identified.2l+7

There appears to be no clear evidence of any direct
part taken by the Druses in inciting the bloodshed in Damas-
cus. Churchill gives it as the opinion of AmTr 'Abd al-Q&dir,
the Algerian protector of the Christians during £he attack
on them, that the massacre was stirred up by the Druses and

would not have occurred otherwise.ahBBut no details are given

246, Lenormant, op. ¢it., ppe 7-9. The same author
states that 1800 rifles were imported into

Damascus before the massacres as part of a
* plan prearranged by the MuftY and the WElT.
(Ibid., p. 100.)
247, The text of this letter is given in French
in Souvenirs de Syrie, pp. 112=7.
248, Churchill, The Druses and the Maronites. p.275.



- 185 -

to support this. A French writer states that at the time
of the outbreak no Druses had entered the city; only on
the night of July 9, after the killing head begun, about
150 Druses came in from neighbouring towns, and later more
from Hauran. About 600 Bedouins came to Damascus on July
11, most of them remaining just outside to loot the fleeing
Christians; very few entered the tcmmu.zh9
XXXXXXXX

At the close of the massacres in Lebanon, as fresh
troubles threatened Beirut and the Christian areas of the
north, KhurshId Pasha called the Druse and Christian Q&'im
Magams and other leaders to Belrut to negotiate peace. The
Druses insisted that this be only on the basis of the prin-
ciple of maga ma maga (what has passed has passed). To
this Khiirshfd assented; the Christian Q&'im Magd@m, Bashir
Abmad, was advised by the Consuls that sﬁch an agreement
could not bind the Porte or the Powers not to seek due
reparation for the Christians. Accordingly, the peace was

250
signed on the Druse terms,

The convention recognised that "since the commence-
ment of these disturbances, the government, the chiefs of
the country ... have never ceased to prevent their taking

place." Neither party would have the right to raise the

2""99 Lenormant’ ODo mo, PPe. 112"'3.
250. Souvenirs de Syrie, pp. 14+7-8.
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least claim for damages, but all would cooperate in re-
turning the refugees to their homes and restoring their
properties, and the Christians voiced their appeal to the
MushIr to secure for them their legitimate rights, which
gives the impression of an attempt to circumvent the
principle of mada ma mada. The Druse declaration threw
the blame on the Christians, and by implication especially
on Bishop TubiyyZ; what had happened was "the work of
Providence."zsl

As the Christians expected, the questions of re=-
paration and retribution were taken up by the Porte and the
Five Powers. The duties of the international commission 2
which sat from September 1860 to the following March were
defined by Thouvenel, the French Foreign Minister, as

follows:

251. The text of the peace convention is quo-
ted in French in Souvenirs de Syrie,
pp. 149 ff., and in English in Abkarius,

. citey p. 196, taken from the London
1mg of July 30 1860. For the latter
see Appendix B of this paper.

252, The commission members were Fu'ad P&ashid
for the Porte; L. Béclard, former French
Consul Generai in Wallachia, P. von Weck-
becker, Austrian Consul General in Bei-
rut; von Rehfues, secretary of the Prus-
sian Legation in Constantinople; E. Novi-
koff, Councellor of the Russian Legation
in Constantinople, and Lord Dufferin and
Claneboye as the British representative,
(Abkarius cit., conclusion by Schel-
tema, p. 160.)
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"(Le devoir de la commission) devait consister a
rechercher les circonstances qui ont amené les derniers
conflits,a déterminer la part de responsabilité des chefs
de l'insurrection et des agents de l'administration locale,
ainsi que les reparations dues aux victimes, et enfin a
étudier, pour les souméttre a l'approbation des Gouverne-
ments et de la Porte, les dispogitions qul pourraient &tre
adoptées pour conjurer de nouveaux malhevurs."zs3

The Commission estimated the total destruction of
property at 3,000,000 pounds sterling, including 1,250,000
sterling at Damascus. This figure was later reduced; Fu'ad
Pasha eventually insisted that the question of indemnities
be referred to the Porte, ruling out European intervention
in the matter. Two months later it was announced that the
Turkish Government could only secure payment of an indem-
nity of 350,000 pounds sterling in Damascus. The Ottoman au-
thorities did not maintain the refugee relief payments ins-
tituted, and in November would have stopped altogether had
Lord Dufferin advanced 5,000 sterling from his own fortune.

As for punishment of the guilty, according to Chur-
chill, a group of sixteen Christian deputies was named by
Fu's8d PEshd@ to submit a list of those Druses who had been
"the most barbarous." A 1list of 4,600 was given; it was re-

jected as being too long, and the Christians were accused of

E Churchill, The Druses and the Maronites,
PPe 260-2,
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having demanded 4,600 executions, which was not the case.
The 1list was pared to 800, then to 300. The sixteen depu-
tles were called upon to serve as accusers at the trial,
but refused to do son on the grounds that they had not per-
sonally been witnesses. In the end, about 240 Druses were
exiled to North Africa.2>”

While the Commission deliberated in late 1860, the
Druse Q&'im MagamiyyZh was abolished and placed directly
under Tu£kish control, pending a final arrangement,256while
AmTr Bashir Ahmed was at last deposed as Christian Qa'im
Magam and Yusuf Bey Karam appointed in his place. ’

‘The deliberations of the Commission on an organic law
for the country and the eventual institution of a new regime
are the beginnings of another story which lies outside the
scope of the present study. ©Suffice it to say that the
British representative, whose government had since 1843 sup=-
ported the experiment of the Q&'im Magamiyyahs, now considered
the country unfit for self—rule: "Were we actuated by no
other considerations than such as regard the tranquility of
the Mountain," he wrote to Sir Henry Bulwer at Constantinople,

"I have no hesitation in saying that the only sensible plan
would be to deprive its inhabitants of all their anomalous

255. Ibid., pp. 234-46. Lord Dufferin wrote
to Lord John Russell on December 19, 1860:
"Only yesterday, Fuad Pasha receive&, through
the bishops of their communities, a demand
for the heads of 4,500 persons, that is
the whole tax- aying Druse population of
the Lebanon." (Syria Correspondence, I, pe
424,) Scheltema reports a demand Tor i 4600
executions. (Abkarius, gp cit., p. 163 )

256. Syria C » Ly pe 339
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privileges, and to place them under the immediate control
of the Turkish Ruler of the province... All the blood shed
which has taken place during the lést twenty~-five years
would have been spared had the jurisdiction of the Turks
over the Lebanon been unlimited."227

The Commssion, to be sure, was free of all "other
considerations than such as regard the tranquillity of the
Mountain;" but in limited measure the principle of direct
Turkish rule was recognised. An Ottoman of Catholic faith

would be named, with the Powers! approval, as Mutagarrif

or Governor of all parts of the Lebanon, assisted by an
administrative council (mgjlis al-id#rgh) representing the
various sects. This plan, with subsequent modifications,
stood until l91h258with reasonable success.,

No one can say precisely how large a toll of lives
and property was taken by the events of 1860. We shall how-
ever quote the widely divergent estimates of two writers.

Churchill's figures (apparently including only Leba-
non) are as follows:

11,000 Christians massacred.

100,000 "sufferers" from the civil war.

20,000 widows and orphans.

4,000 Christians dead from exposure and destitution.

34000 Christian houses burned.
2,000,000 pounds sterling of property destroyed.259

257. Syrig Correspondence, I. p. 463, Dufferin
to Bulwer, Jan. 1, 1861,

258. A detailed evaluation of the Mutagarri-
fiyyah may be found in the London Times
of September 6, and October 14, 1907.

259, The Druses and the Maronites, p. 219.
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Lenormant gives two tables of figures. His estimates of
the lives taken in Lebanon are borken down into districts:

The area of al-Matn, al-Gharb, and Beirut - %00,
Sidon, JazzInﬁ and the land between them -1800.

Hagbayy& and REshayya - 2500.
Zahlah - 250.
Dalr al-Qamar - 2200,
Bait al-DIn - 121,
The Ba'albak area -__500.

Total 7771,

Alsos
360 villages destroyed.
560 churches "overturned."
42 monasteries burned.
28 schools destroyed, once occupied by 1830 St“d5885'
91 million francs or property destroyed in toto.
For the toll at Damascus, Lenormant lists 8500 Christians
killed and 3800 houses burned. In addition, 30,000 died

in Lebanon and Syria as a result of exposure.

260, Lenormant, op. cit., pp. 89-90.
261. Ibid., ppe 123 and 130.
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Commentary by the Editor

"The feuds (of the Druses and Maronites) are not
religious but tribe wars, (and) their social interests are
identical.

"It is the universal opinion of every person whose
experlence of the country entitles him to entertain one,
that, if a tolerable government existed, and no sinister
influence were allowed to engénder discord between them,
the Druse and Christian populations would be inclined to
live in perfect harmony."zsz

- Lord Duffer-in to the British Ambassador
in Constantinople, 1860.

"There is reason to believe the Russian and Greek

interests in this country, foreseeing the danger which

they incur of finding themselves suddenly placed under the
domination of a Maronite ascendancy, have been, lately,

busy in devising schemes for securing to their own community
& separate and independent jurisdiction... (the inhabitants
of the) Greek Christian villages, it is to be remarked,
assisted the Druses (in the civil war)... It is well known

that the Consul of the King of Greece has been encouraging

262. Original English text, copied from

Syria Correspondence, I, p. 329,
Lord Dufferin to Sir Henry Bulwer,

Nov. 14, 1860,
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263
the exodus from Damascus..."

= Lord Dufferin to the British Ambassador
in Constantinople, 1860.

'"When the news (the intentions of the Maronites of
Beirut to attack the Druses of the Matn) was communicated
to As'ad JawIsh, he went to Bishop Tubiyya ('Aun) and
asked him about the purpose of this plan, to explain to
him what ruin would result from it. His Eminence replied:
'If you, the people of Dair al-Qamar, do not obey, and
refused to march against the enemy, then I shall persuade
both the Druses and the Christians to attack you,'!

"Then the Bishop sent Bish@rah Far'aun to Tanyls
Shahin to hasten his attack. He also sent al-ShantIrI to
the Matn and al-Qafi' to gather the people of the district.
As for the leaders of this movement among the Maronites,
they were Khalll Effendi Nagqash, Na'dim QIganl, and As'ad
Th&bit...

"And when we saw that, As'ad JawIsh and I, we
foresaw the ruin of the country, and we went together to
the Bishops of our sect (Roman Catholic) and informed them
of what was happening, It seems that they were completely

263e¢ Original English text, copied from
S Corr ndence, I, p. 336.
Lord Dufferin to Sir H, Berlwer,
Nov. 15, 1860,
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ignorant of these matters, and they told us to go to the
English Consulate General, We did this, and informed the
Consul of what had happened,..

"The Roman Catholic Church wrote to its sons in
Zahlah advising them to remain steadfast in peace and to
inform the people that the promoters of this movement were
the Maronites alone. It is an established fact that the
Roman Catholics did not participate in the movement after
the arrival of these proclamations to them.

"The Greek Orthodox and the Roman Catholics in
Beirut refused to join the Maronites in their deed, but
despite this the Maronites assert that the Orthodox and
Catholics wanted war, while they (actually) were seeking
to avoid it..."

- From a letter from HabIb 'Akkawl, a

Catholic, to Sa'ld Janblat.

"It did certainly appear, consldering the history
of Syria for the last twenty years, that (England) was
deeply responsible for these atrocities (in Syria)...
We, in opposition to France, and (I believe) to some of
the other Powers of Europe, recommended ... That there
should be a chief of the Druses and a chief of the Maronites,
and that there should be a Turkish Pasha over both..."264

- Member Monsell in the English House of

Commons, 17 August 1860,

264. Original English text, quoted from Hansard,
Parliamentary Debates, Vol. CLX, Columns
1479-80, ESee Appendix C,)
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"(I have stated, and repeated in the House of
Commons,) that I felt ashamed of the part which I had
taken in the affairs of Syria. I was sent under the
orders of the Government, and I did my duty, though very
unwillingly. When the country was held by Mehemet Ali
it was peaceable and quiet...

"The Turks did everything they could to stir up
rebellion in Mount Lebanon... Lord Ponsonby sent an agent
into Mount Lebanon (to tell the inhabitants) they would
be better used by the Turks as an inducement to take up
arms, and if they had not joined us it would have been
quite impossible with our small force to have turned
30,000 or 40,000 Egyptians out of Mount Lebénon, and finally
out of Syria."265

- Sir Charles Napier in the House of

Commons on the same day.

"My friend (Mr. Monsell) has said that the blame
for the situation that has arisen in Syria falls on the
British Government. I deny that I have the slightest
share in this responsibility, and in any case it does not

fall on Her Majesty's Government...

265. 1bid., Columns 1480-1.
Yazbak's Arabic version has Napier
identify himself as Ponsonby's agent
(actually it was Richard Wood).
(See Appendix C,)
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"Rumors were broadecast among the Christians a
few months ago warning of events such as these in Syria
in the spring, and a quantity of European arms was
distributed to the Maronites. I ask: Where did they
come from, and who gave them? I am sure they gave arms
other than those they bought openly in Beirut...

"My friend (Mr. Monsell) said that the word is
on every tongue that the English Government 'protects the
Druses whatever outrages they commit.! I tell you flatly:
That 1s a base accusation which has no element of truth,
and I declare that the English Government had had no tie
to the Druses at a time when it was established that
another Government (meaning France) had a connection with
the Maronites..."266

- From the reply of Lord Palmerston,

English Prime Minister, to the two preceding speeches in

that session.

"You (the Maronites) foresaw it, and we (the
Druses) foresaw it, and both of us fell into it..."

- Sa'ld Janblay to Ghandfir al-Sa'd.

266+ Translation of Yazbak's text.
The original text of Palmerston's
remarks made in reply to Monsell and
Napler on August 17 is reproduced in
Appendix C. Only the first paragraph
quoted here by Yazbak appears to be
taken from that speech,
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"I fear that the (Ottoman) State is employing us
to strike someone else, and will not hesitate to return
and deal savagely with us..."

~ Shaikh Husain Talhiiq.

Once again we find ourselves compelled to interrupt
Antin Dahir al-'AqIgqI in order to call the reader's
attention to the nced for him to be steadfastly on his
guard and to be cautious, in his reading of the following
chapter. For its pages deal with the unfortunate events
which took place in the year '60. In the minds of the
people the picture has been imprinted with reprehensible
agltation and beastly slaughter between the Christians
and their brethren and countrymen the Druses. The mis-
leading history set down by the agents of imperialism and
their allies began to poisen spirits and intellects and
instill in them the notion that the Christians killed
their brothers the Druses because they followed a different
religionl And that the latter took revenge on their
Christian brothers because they vere Christiansl! This
poison circulated among the Lebanese, devastating their
spirits, until we have come to a time in which the entire
people, cultured and ignorant alike, believe in a falsehood
and, sad to say, that these fearful and accursed events

are the result of abominable bigotry, and are imbued with
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the feeling of enmity which that kind of imagining makes
inevitable.

In the preceding pages we have seen several earlier
events which brought us to these results and they are all,
as the reader has seen, social, economic, and political
reasons created by Lebanese feudalism and foreign colon-
lalism together.

We knew in the preceding pages, that the Lebanese
were, until the beginning of the ShihabI rule, divided in
thelr partisanship into Qaisites and Yemenites, and none
felt in his political life that he was a Druse or a
Christian. Then they became JanblatIs and YazbakIs (and
some remained neutral), and we found both Christians and
Druses on one side, proud of their partisanship, and
holding fast to its trifles, fighting with a single out-
look and a single weapon their opponents the Druses and
Christians, who were also United, on the second side.267
But the rule of Ibrahim P;sh;, covetous of occupying

thls country and reaping its benefits forever, was unable

267+ The leading Maronite families at
one time had all formed connections
with Druse factions: the Khizin and
KharI Jalih families to the Janblats,
the Dahdahs and Hubalshes to the
'Imadss ° '
(Perrier, gop.cit., pp. 313-4.)
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to achieve his wishes for him as long as he saw that
national unity in the Lebanese and that partisan
solidarity among them. With the help of his pack-animal
BashIr Shihab the Maltese, he began to breathe the

poison of religious bigotry in their hearts to divide
them, and paralleling his efforts isThis wicked plan
were the agents of England, Turkey, and Francej; and they
succeeded to a great extent. Among the reasons for their
success were the authority of feudalism and the ignorance
of the people, led by their leaders like sheep, and the
effect on them of their personal grudges and hatreds.

In this connection, the AmIr Bashir III (Abu ?@In)zsghad
8 carcely been installed by the English as ruler over
Lebanon, in place of his namesake and relative, when he
began treating some of the Druse leaders in a scornful

" way, detracting from their self-esteem, and abusing their
traditions whenever he encountered them. The Druses are
all famous for their reserve, for holding their tongues,
their courtesy in council, and sobriety in speech. Then
in agreement with the Turks and the English he worked

for the restraint of their welfare. He formed a DIwan to

deal with complaints and installed as Judge over it Shaikh

268. BashIr Qasim Shihab.



Cage 102

- 199 -

Bisharah al-Knirl Sa1ih. Shidyaq said:

"They abolished the positions of the Druse
(landTholders) in that DIwan, and they (The Druses) were
most strongly displeased, and began to seek from the
AmIr fulfillment of their rights and safeguarding of their
interests. He mocked them, sayiﬁg that he needed no one,
and began to speak openly of his desire to divide their
estates among his relatives. At that time they all united
together with some of the Christian Shalkhs (to work for)

269
his dismissal ..."

*
* %k

The governor put his words into effect by with-
drawing the village of Shimis?ér from the authority of
the 'Im3ds, who had held it solely by right of oc:cupat:l,ona:?O
and expropriated the "Ramadah® land in the village of
'Anjar and its mills from the Talhfigs and distributed
them among his relatives. Then he began to incite the

peasants of Dair al-Qamar against their NakadT Shaikhs.

269, (Y) Page 615, .
l.e., without positive title.
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Evildoing took place and colonialism took advantage of

it as a chance to intervene actively in the Mountain.
England began to support the Druses and the French
supported the Maronites, while the Turks, for their part,
encouraged both sides at once, acting on the idea of
Ahmad Pashad, Wall of Damascus, "that in Syria there are
two evils, the Christians and the Druses, and whenever

one slaughtered the other the Ottoman Sultanate profited}"
Thus the innocent blood of the people was shed unavenged
on the altar of feudalism and colonialism.

Despite the polsoning of hearts and minds by the
winds of that lamentable civil war, there remained people
in Lebanon who understood that the slaughter between those
innocent brothers was only to the interests of the land-
owners or those inciting them to evil, and that religion
was not one of its causes. Our basis for this opinion
1s that the Christian landholders were of various
inclinations and points of view in the ignition of that evil
civil war, and some of them joined their colleagues among
the Druse landholders in fighting the Christiansill We
are informed by Tannlis al-Shidy&q that the Lama'ls worked
to"strengthen the Druses in order to occupy Dair al-Qamar
and remove AmIr BashIr from the governorship"; and that

the Hubaishls agreed with the wife of Shaikh AmIn al-DIn
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in 'Abbaih during the heat of the battles "to return
all together to the coast.Fhey were bribed and decided
to return;" and "that they, that is, the gubaishis,

were meeting secretly with some of the Druse dignitaries
and made a compact with them that on the battlefield
they would desert the Christians, and the Druses would
attain their ends...“271 Shidyaq also informs us in
his published history272that the Roman Catholics in
'Alath were in the ranks of Shalkhs Mahmid and NasIf
Talhug, fighting against the Christians who were led by

) 273
AmIr Qals Shihab in Mt. Ka@@ﬁlahlll

271. (Y) T?e manuscript TérIkhial-A'z%n
al-Asllah, in the possession of Yasaf
Tbrahfm Yazbak: p. 385 ff,

272+ (Y) p. 705 (Akhbar al-A'yan).

273. A celebrated instance o good will
between the Catholics of the Upper Gharb
and the Talhuq family is the episode of
Dair al-ShIr, the_Catholic monastery
located between 'Alaih and Sfig al-Gharb.
During the month of massacres in 1860 a _
body of Druses led by a shaikh of the Abu
Nakads came from 'Abbaih to destroy the
monastery, Shaikh Mahmild Talhfig sent a
force from 'Alaih to'bar the way. The
marauders, in token fulfillment of their
oath to destroy the building, were
allowed to break a few chips of stone
from the outside; but the Christians of
the district remained then and after un-
moested,

After the arrival of the French expe-—
ditionary force in August, the Talhligs
and other Druses were obliged to flee,
the men to Jabal Druse and the women to
Ghabline Their valuables were deposited at
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He tells us also that some of the notables of
Za@lah had "intricate plans" to deceive their countrymen.

These incidents are many, and they all confirm
the soundness of our belief that there was no sectarian
enmity like that cultivated and base enmity which we see
today among us. It was personal hatred in the breasts of
individual landholders who dragged the people with them,
and who were alded in their crime by the agents of
Turkey, France, and England.

This was the state of affairs in the year '60.
We know from our grandfathers that individual Christians
were in the ranks of the Druses, just as we know that

many Druses refused to slip into that fearful abyss.

the monastery and guarded by the monks
until they could return and reclaim
them,

Since that year this mutual aid
between the monks and the shaikhs has
been annually commemorated in a
ceremonial visit paid by the monks to
the Talhligs in 'Alaih on Easter Monday,
and a return visit by the latter to
Dair al-Shir on the following day, in
which the eldest shaikh is invited to sit
in the chair normally reserved for the
highest dignitaries of the Catholic Church.
(Information received from 'AfIf Talhug,
great-grandson of Shaikh Mahmiid.)

It may be noted, however, that the
benevolence of the %alhﬁqs ala not extend
to the Christians of Hadath and B'abda,
Shaikh Mahmlid, a participant in the raid
on these towns, fled and escaped trial
after the massacres; Shaikh Husain of
'Aitat was among those condemned to death.
(See Syrian Correspondence, I, pp. 440-8).



- 203 -

Many of them opened their houses to welcome the passers-by
and to protect those in flight. We recall in relation to
this that Shalkh Muhammad Nisir al-DIn of Kafar Matta
participated in the battle of Daqun and fought gallantly
there in the defense of his co-religionists who were the
victims of aggression. When the battle of Dair al=Qamar
developed, the said Shaikh Muhammad hastened to it with
others among the people of his village, to ald the Druses;
but he did not fire a single shot. When he returned home
and was asked about the reasons for his conduct, he replied:
"It is not right or manly for us to attack the innocegnt.
At Daqlin we were defending. As for Dair al-Qamar, the
Druses were the aggressors, and this will not dol"

If we looked at those unfortunate incidents of
which we shall read in the following pages, with an alert
eye and a calm mind, far from being swayed by our abominable
sectarian upbringing, we would find that the Lebanese of
diverse faiths were - and still are - firewood in the
hearths of disgraceful feudalism and criminal imperialism.,

Antln DZhir al-'AqIiqI resumes his narration, saying:

Continuation of the Manuscript

Hatred continued to grow between the Shaikhs and
the people until differences arose between the Christians

and the Druses in the area of the Shif country. That was
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274
in the beginning of the year '60, and the reason for

its occurence was that some of the people of that region

egired rid them v f the d ch h

Amis of the House of Abm al-Lama' and other shaikhs, Druse

nd C d be heir rrupt tiv

Druse Shaikhs learned of this news and took to oppressging

the e by means of tricker nd thevy caused dist

ances between the two sects. Then differences arose
between them (the sects), the apparent reason being on
account of the collision of pack-animals with each other;
for the animal of one of the mule-drivers collided with
the animal of the other, who was a Druse. They fought and
struck each other with lethal weapons, and some were
wounded on both sides. The ery of alarm went up from both
sides, and a battle ensued in the southern Shiif district.
Then afterwards there were discussions between the two
sects, and also each sect by itself. Priests went to his
Beatitude the Patriarch, Bfllus, who was at that time
Patriarch of the Maronites, and he forbid the occurrence

274. 'AqIqI does not cite the outbreak of
August, 1859, in Bait MIrI, between
Druses and Christians. Starting with
two boys' quarml over a chicken, the
affair ended in a pitched battle in
which 12 Christians and 20 Druses were
killed. (Abkarius oCito, PP« 2"‘3;
Jessup, op.cit., 60L,I, P. 166.)
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of (events such as) this shameful affair. But at that

1A B of Beiru
275

encouraged the Christians and protested to the Consuls.

moment H nence Bishop Tu

275+ One finds numerous descriptions of

Bishop TubIyya, many of them unfavorable.
He was "the man who,next to the Patriarch
had done more than any other Maronite to
precipitate this awful civil war."
(Jessup, op.cit., Vol. I, p. 193).

"With regard éo Bishop Tobia," wrote
Lord Dufferin, "who may be cons{dered
one of the chief causes of all the
misery and bloodshed which has existed
in the Lebanon, I would only say that
his removal from the country is an
absolute necessity. Unfortunately, it
will be difficult to discover any &irect
evidence against him...(his) ambition
and passion for intrigue verify one's
conception of the worst specimen of a
medieval ecclesiastic." (Syria
Correspondence, I, p. 519. Dufferin to
Bulwer, Jan. 18, 1861.)

Tﬁbiyya was regarded within the Church
1ts8lf as something of an upstart.
Poujads considered him "un des hommes les
plus distingués que j'aie rencontrés en
Orlent. Il ne parle que 1'Arabe, mais
son esprit supérieur luil a fait deviner
le génie Buropéen, et c'est lui qui a
Joue le plus gran& role dans les affaires
politiques du Liban. Il avait été moins
et s'était mis & la t8te d'une rebellion
dans le convent de Saint-Antoine, contre
1'abbééde cet ordre,

"A cette occasion, i1 avalt été exilé &
1*8le de Chypre par les ordres de la sacrée
congrégation de la Propagande. Depuis, sa
conduite exemplaire lul a valu d'8tre
successivement évé%ue de ﬁain? Jegn dfAcre
in partibus et de Beyrouth, l'un des plus
importants discéses du Liban, & cause de
la residence du muchir ét des Consuls
Généraux. J'al rarement vu réunies au
méme degré la simplicité, la douceur et la
fermeté, la sagacité, la hauteur d'adme et
1'h111mil§té du Chrétien." (Poujade, op.cit.,
pP. 158.
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The aglitation increased in the Shuf country and the
district of JazzIn and Dair al-Qamar and that area.

They addressed the people of Kisrawan through ?Enyﬁs
ShahIn, asking whether they would help them or not, and
Tanyus ShahIn answered that he would help them against the
5ruses and that he had about 50,000 men under arms, if
needed, whom he could bring. At that time the Christians
living in those regions strengthened themselves and began
seeking trouble. As for the Druses, they were constantly
meeting and holding discussions among themselves every-
where, and they communicated with the Druses of gaurén,
Hagbayyd, and Syria, and making secret agreements among
themselves that their efforts would be united. The
Sublime State (the Turks) was strengthening them and
glving them force (arms) secretly so that they might

gnnihilate the Christians, with the knowledge of the

English government. Both sides strengthened themselves

and prepared for the advent of troubles, and not two

months went by before trouble began in the district of

al-'Arqib in the Shiif country. There was trouble there,
and four Christians and three Druses were killed. This
was after the Druses killed a priest who was passing on

the road and who was instigating trouble near the district

of Jazzin. At that, the troubles became notorious, and

each side met with its own party. The leaders of the
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Druses in the fighting was Shaikh Khattar Bey 'Imad,
the son of Shaikh Husain Talhiiq, two of the shaikhs of
the Abu Nakad family, and Shaikh Sa'Id Bey Janblﬁ?.

He (the latter) would always stay in his headquarters,
al-Mukhtarah, and send on his behalf people on whom he

276
relied; and all of the Druses depended on his word.

276. Shaikh Sa'Id's role in the 1860
troubles was a matter of great
controversy. He was said to be small,
of peaceful temperament, and dressed
not as a Druse but as a "modern Turkish
Effendi." "Il est fait qu'ostensible-
ment il ne participa pas 2 la lutte de
1860, et qu'on ne le vit nulle part
tremper personellement les mains dans
le sang des Chrétiens, Au contraire,
11 donna méme asile, & Moukhtara, 2
tous ceux qui furent assez heureux pour
arriver jusqu'a lui, et les mit en
sQreté." (Souvenirs de Syrie, pp. 45-7).
Jessup, on the other hand2 accuses
Sa'ld JanblZt and his sister, S5itt
Na'ifah, of fesponsibility for the slaughter
of 800 Christians at Hasbayya. (op.cit.
Vol. I, pp. 178-81). °‘They were exoneraéed
in the reports of British diplomatic
representatives, with whom Shaikh Sa'id
was a great favorite. (See Abkarius, gp.
cit., footnote by Scheltema, p. 40.5
Shaikh Khattdr 'Imad was a more war-
like 'c;ype'1 "bratvé Jjusqu'a la témerité."
Known as "the sword of the Druses," he
directed much of the military operations
and frequently appeared on the scene of
battle during the massacres. (Souvenirs

de Szﬁie, De 47,

e may note on gage 111 of Yazbak
that 'AqIqI lists Sa'Id Janbldt among the
Druse leaders in the attack on‘Zahlah,
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The State (the Turks) strengthened the Druses with even
more than they needed. This was in the time of the Lord
of the Royal Power (Sultan) 'Abd al-Majtd Khan al-
'"UthmanI, the Lord of his Age and the Unmatched of his
Times. ls intrigue was not his do that of hi
brother 'Abd al-'AzIz, who wrote letters to all Ottoman

cities to rise against the Christians and kill them;
and some of them heard and obeyed, while others took
account of the consequences of time and refused, That

was his purpose, in order to remove his brother from the

Throne and sit in his place. As for the Christians in the
Shif country, they were strengthening their means, but
without profit, for lack of someone to lead them and for
lack of paying attention to the consequences, for they
were mindful of all the money in the world, but not of
their own dignity. During this time the Druses met and
caused trouble with the Christians in the Shuf. The
Christians were defeated before them and they (the Druses)
burned the houses of the Christians and drove them from
their places. Killing began between the two sides, but
most died from among the Christians, and foremost among
them AbT Samrz of JazzIn. Then afterwards there was
trouble in the regimnof al-Matn, where several places of

the Christians were burned. Then trouble arose in Dair



- 209 -

al-Qamar. The Druses were repeatedly defeated and could
do nothing against the inhabitants of al-Dair, so then the
Druses left Dair al-Qamar and headed for al-Matn, in order
to take al-Matn and Hammana and the rest (of that area)
and afterward return to Dair al-Qamar. They left several
men around Dair al-Qamar to be always on the watch and

to deep the inhabitants of al-Dair occupled so that they
would not go out. And when the Druses arrived (in Matn)
and many troubles arose between the two sldes, and they
took a part of al-Matn and Hammana, the people of Zahlah
strengthened themselves and went out to face the Druses,
(but) the Druses had headed for the coastal region.

They took B'abda and burned it277together with the rest
of the village around it. The people of Kisrawan had

gone to B'abdd, and when the fighting began, because of

their being strangers in that region and because they had

277. "EmIr Bishir el-Kassim (sic.),
ex-Governor of Mt. Lebanon, a man
85 years of age and quite blind,
whilst being led away from his house
at B'abda by his servants was
attacked it is stated by Bashi-Borooks
(Ottoman irregulars) when his servants
fled and left the Emir to his fate.
The body on being recovered was found
wounded by sword cuts and the throat
cut."
(British Consular Files. Moore to
Bulwer, No. 24, May 31, 1860).
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no longer any one to be at their head, immediately

they turned tail, for they were dispersed.278 Some

of them stayed in BaIt MirIl and some in An?ilyﬁs, and
some in ROmiyyah, the seat of the Bishop of Beirut, in
order to protect it, Nevertheless the Druses did not
return. Ottoman troops came up from Belrut and settled
in al-Hazimiyyah to strengthen the Druses, who were
still burning the country, killing the people, and
plundering the wealth. They burned Bait Mirl 279and
Brummana, except for the house of AmIr BashIr Ahmad and
his cousin AmTr AmIn, and they burned the residence of
the Bishop of Beirut and the entire sea coast. Its
inhabitants who escaped death went down to Beirut with
their women and children and you could hear weeping and

walling from every direction; and the smoke from the fires

278, Jessup states that Tanylis from his
encampment at Nahr al-Kalb (Dog River)
sent 300 men to protect B'abda and
gadath on May 28, but the next day they

ispersed, on the orders of Khfirshid,
who pledged himself to defend the
district. On May 30 the Druses burned
the two villages. (Op.cit., Vol.I pP.172)

279, Voglié wrote that Khlirshid's departure
with his Turkish forces for B'abdi
(actually, Hazimiyyah) was announced by
the customary artillery salute; this was
a& pre-arranged signal for the ﬁruses to
attack at Bait-Mirf.

(Op.cit., p. 6).
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extended as far as Nahr IbrahIm. Fear fell on all the
Christians in all places, and as for the people of Dair
al-Qamar, they remained inside.the Dailr in the citadel.
There came to them those among the Christlians present in
the region whose places had been burned, and all stayed
in Dair al-Qamar. The Ottoman troops were present there,
and the Mutasallim as well, but they did not know what
was happening because they were cut off from news from
travelers going and coming. Then after the burning of
the country there was a second agreement that soldiers
would come from Kisrawan to the Druses' center in al-
'Ubaidiyyah, since all the Druses were there, and that
they (the soldiers) would come to them from below, from
the direction of the West, and that Ysuf Eghﬁ al-
ShantIrI would also come to them from above to the East, and
The people of Kisrawan together with a few men from the
Dair al-Qamar area who had left Dair al-Qamar before the
siege. Their total number was about 150 men. They went
to al-'Ubaidiyyah and troubles started; and since the
Christians' ascent was from an extremely difficult
position, they could not attain their end. But they
displayed their bravery to excess, burning two or three
houses of al-'Ubaidiyyah. They took courage from what
Yusuf Aghd al-ShantIrI had promised them, that he would
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come to them with his men, the people of Bikfayya and
al-Qatl', from the other side. From this they took
courage, but when he broke his promise and did not come,
the Druses defeated them and routed them after they had
been close to victory, because their location was poorly
situated. Sixty of them were killed, each of whom was
equlvalent to 20 fighters - and what a sad thing for the
deadl About seven of the Druseslwere killed, not
counting the wounded. Then after that the people of
Kisrawdn returned home in shame, burning (with anger)
at the betrayed of the compact with the above-mentioned
Yisuf Aghd. It was said that the government troops in
al-Hazimiyyah fought on the side of the Druses. This 1s
the more likely because ghell-fragments were found: and

some of the military men disguised themselves so that

they should not be known. The foreign consuls fell into

a great perplexity, and especially the Consul of France,
since the Mountain was under his protection; and the Wall
wag indisposed with this deed. At that time the pecple of

Zahlah, totaling about 600 rifles went forth to encounter

the Druses in 'Ain Darah, in the district of the mountains
of al-Matn, and there was trouble between them and the
Druses for the first time, and the Druses were put to

flight for an hour's distance. And on the third day there
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was a second battle in which the people of Hammana and

that area Joined them (the Christians), and the Druses were
victorious over the Christians. The cries of alarm extended
to Zahlah and those districts, but no one helped them; the
people of Zahlah were routed, took to thelr heels, and
returned to Zahlah. As for the Druses, they all met
together and (decided) to place a group of men to watch

over Dair al-Qamar while the rest of them set out in the
direction of JazzIn, al-'Arqtb; and BakfisIn. They

defeated the Christians and expelled them from their places.
Then they reached the Biga' country and seized the places

of the Christians. Every village that they took, they
burned, and they killed everyone they found. The Christians
fled before them from everywhere, and gathered in the
dwelling places and in the direction of the coast. They
went to Beirut with their women. In the Dair al-Qamar area
they went to the Dair, and in the areas of the Biqa!, al-
Shif, and Harmdna they went to Zahlah. A1l the Christlans
suffered great hardship from the killing and bloodshed,

the looting, and the burning, until there was not a single
Christian to be found in those districts. Then the Druses
went to besiege Zahlah, and they established their head-
quarters in Qubb Ilyas. At their head were Shalkh Sa'Id
Janblat and Khatfar Bey al-'Imad, and some of the Himidahs.
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They made agreements with the Mutawalls and the Muslims,
with the aid of several men of the Sublime State (the

Turks) and sent a message to the people of Zahlah telling
them to surrender to them. The people of Zahlah were
unwilling to surrender and put their trust in the large
number of men they had from all parts of the country. 250
Disagreements and hatreds fell among them. At that time
the Druses began to gather from all places, from gauran,
the shuf, the Matn, and elsewhere, They sought help from

281
the Arabs (Bedouins) and Mutawdlis to take Zahlah, for

280, l.e., refugees.

28l. It may be recalled that in 1855 there
had been a dispute between the people
of Zahlah and the Mutawall family of
Harffish in the Biq&a', and a settlement
favorable to Zahlah had been imposed
by the French Consul. (See above, p. 43)

The Maronites and Greek Catholics
of the town were reputed for bigotry and
intolerance toward the Orthodox and
Protestant inhabitants. (Abkarius, op.
cit., Scheltema footnote, pp. 89-96).
Their rejection of the Qa'im Magam's
authority and alternate attempts at self-
government and requests for a Turkish
governor, together with the factionalism
within the town, made Zahlah easier
prey to a Druse attack. °
(See Churchilli The Druses and the
8

Maronites, p. 18I).
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were

they (the Druses))afraid of Zahlah because they had been
defeated by them previously, in 1843 and 1842. For this
reason they devoted all their concern to taking 1t, after
they cut communication between Zahlah and Dair al-Qamar,
so that neither would receive any further news about the
other. The people of the Dair were perplexed over the
quietness of the Drusef, for the Druses had only placed a
guard over the Dair while the rest of them concerned
themselves with the matter of Zahlah and strove with the
greatest efforts to destroy Zahlah. And when they did
take it, they took all the people of the country. Mean-
while the people of Zahlah appealed to all Christians
everywhere in Kisrawdn, Bisharry, and al-Zawiyah to help
as much as they could. As for the people of al-Zawiyah,
they were afraid of the people of al-Dinniyyah because of
the fact that there was enmity between the two parties,
So a part of the Christians remained there, for the sole
purpose of keeping watch. Yidsuf Bey Karam made preparations
and sent from the people of Zgharta and those districts
about 250 men. He collected (men in the Batriin and Jubail
country and came with them to Kisrawan. He collected
about 4,000 men and went with them in the direction of
Bikfayya and Bhirgaf, intending to go with them to Zahlah
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in order to defend it. He gave the troops all they

needed of ammunition and explosives, which came to him

from some of the leading Christians of Beirut and the
Mountain,zszand he spent as much as possible on the soldiers.
When he determined to go to Zahlah, messages came to him
from the Wall of Beirutgaaand from some of the consuls,
asking him not to go to Zahlah, and saying that if he

did go, he would be responsible, and that the WalI would
prevent the war by other means. Likewise the Amirs

prevented him from proceeding, so that he should make no
advance. He delayed in setting forth and stayed quietly

in Bikfayya while the people of Zahlsh constantly asked
for him and the Druses worked zealously at completion of
their goal. They assaulted Zahlah and the fire of war
was ignited between Qubb Ilyas and Zahlah. The people of
Zahlah were routed and returned to their town. Again on
the third day the fire of war was 1it, but without result
to Zahlah. On the fifth day the Druses attacked Zahlah
from every side, they, the Arabs, and the Mutawalis, but

282, He is also said to have been supplied
by the French Government. (Vogué,
QE.Cito’ De 8.)

283. 1.e, Khtrshtd Pasha, Mushtr of Sidon
whose headquarters were in Beirut,
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they left a way open to the people of Zahlah on the
north side. The fires of war blazed, banners waved,
and horsemen collided from all directions; swords and
rifles flashed and there were stabs and blows between
the two sides. The people of Zahlah thought that Yasuf
Bey Karam had come to their aid from one direction,
because the banners were marked with crosses, but this
a trick of the Druses. Nevertheless, Yisuf Bey Karam
had on that day started with his troops from Bikfayya,
intending to help Zahlah, against the order of the Wall
of Beirut, because of what he had learned of the difficulties

284
of the people of Zahlah. And when the war intensified, the

284, A French writer's version was that the
people of Zahlah at first refused to
allow a Maronite relief force to enter
their lines, "attribuant au Général
Joseph Karam des projets de conguéte."
(Abkarius, op.cit., Jules Ferrette,
quoted by Scheltema in footnote, p. 94.)

Karam himself later explained that

he had been notified by Count Bentivoglia,
the French Consul, that if he left his
camp at Bikfayya he would incur the dis-
approval of all five leading European
Powers. Nevertheless he sent 200 of his
800 men ahead to M&r-Shwayya, six hours'
march from Zahlahj; these were fired upon_
by Turkish troops, sent by Khiirshid Pasha
to "enforce" the peace. When Karam learned
of the attack on Zahlah, he hastened to it,
but arrived to find'the houses in ruins
and the Druses already gone., ('Abd al-
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Druses rushed on Zahlah and set fire to it; and at

that moment the people of Zahlah were routed and started
to leave from the eastern side (of the town), together
with their women, carrying what they could. The hour
was nine o'clock in the morning. Everyone found in
front of the Druses was killed, except for the women.
What a great onslaught and a dreadful defeat! I need
not tell you of the crowds of people from all places
then taking refuge in Zahlah. How could they go out at
such a frightening hour? And what was the state of the
women and children, with the fires 11t? This is a thing
from whose description tongue and pens shrink.- At last,
in the evening, not a single Christian still remained in
Zahlah. Then plunder began in every direction in a
ferocious way. At four o'clock at night the Druses were
alerted by their leaders to leave Zahlah, after they had

burned a part of it, and to abstain from interfering with

with the women. So the Druses departed from it (Zahlah)

———— e e LS

Rahman 'Adrah: Brggm'; Lubng'%l' Appendix

II: Letter from ram to the ’ench

Government and to the Pope.) It is, then,

a gross exaggeration to say, as at least

one writer does, that Zahlah fell with a

Maronite army of 15,000 men only six hours

away, who did nothing because of the

ggalous quarr:ls ogei lgadership in)Kisrawan.
essup -C__'Lo Ol. s DPD. 185-6

ChurchIiTTa expianation for ths Christian

fallure was that it was "owing to the treason

of their selfish aristocracy and the bom-

bastic ravings of their bigoted and

coniempgible priesthood."(Quoted in Ibid.,

P. 186.
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after taking what they could, and then the Arabs,
Mutawdlis, and Muslims began to loot Zahlah because

there was nothing to prevent them. Add to this that they
also burned a part of the town. They remained thus for
about eight days. Ag for the people of Zahlah, they

came to Kisrawan naked and weak from hunger, There had
not been enough (food and clothes) for them, and no
longer could anyone help any of them, until children were
abandoned on the roads by their mothers. They were
scattered everywhere in the villages of Kisraw@n, until
1t was clear that Kisrawdn had room for no more people,
because besides those from Zahlah, the Biqa', the Shiif,
al-Matn, in the Ba'albak country as well the M&ktawdalls
and Musiims had risen against the Christlians and dealt
with them thus., Then the Druses and Muslims rose against
the Christians in the regions of Hagbayya and Réshayyézss
and caused trouble for them. They expelled the Christians

from there, and whoever escaped death went to Damascus,

285+ S5till ruled in 1860 by Muslim
Shihabs, who were generally on good
terms with their Christian wards and
at odds with the Druses. Hasbayya
was inhabited by approximately 6,000
Greek Orthodox and 1,500 Druses.
(Jessup, gp.cit., Vol. I, pp. 163-4).
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while these places remained in ruins. At Zahlah

about 20 were killed, including the sick and the aged,
and as for Hagbayya, approximately 40% were killed.

Then when these deeds took place and Yiisuf Bey Karam
returned disappointed because the defeat at Za@lah

took place before his arrival. Some of the AbUd al-Lama's
formed a society, and YOsuf Bey Karam was in consultation
with the chiefs. The meeting was in Mazra'ah Kafar
Dabyan, and (it was agreed) that each one would collect
as many men as he could, and they would go forth to the
Druses in order to protect themselves. DBesldes this
Yiisuf Bey Karam brought his men to al-Mazra'ah and stayed
there about four days. Then the Druses, after doing what
they had done, set forth to take Dair sl-Qamar, and they
1it fires of joy before the Dair in order to frighten
them (The inhabitants). As for the sons of the Dair,
they took courage at that time and began to encourage one
another everywhere., They distributed weapons and took up
their swords. On the second day the battle began between
the two sides, and during all this time none of the
Christians (outside Dair al-Qamar) was able to know what
was happening in the Dair, nor were any of the inhabitants
of the Dair able to know what had taken place outslde; for
until that time the people of the Dair had not known what
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had happened in Zahlah and the other places. Because

of that, they were greatly frightened, although they

took courage somewhat. The Druses sent them a message to
give themselves up, but they did not accept, and
strengthened their means of defense and prepared them-
selves for war, and their courage grew. 014 and young
among them carried arms, and they asked the help of Divine
Grace. Then the Mutasallim stationed in the Sarai
(citadel) of the Dair representing the Sublime State

sent a message to them ordering that all Christians in
Dair al-Qamar should come to him in the Sarai and

deliver their arms to him, and he would guarantee to keep
them from all harm. This was deception on his part, for
he had been bribed by the Druses, since they knew that
they had no chance against the Christians of the Dair
except by deception. The Christians, from the smallness
of their intelligence, the excess of their carelessness,
the simplicity of their hearts, the greatness of their
exhaustion from the struggle, and especially their lack of
imformation of what had happened elsewhere, delivered
themselves to the government, except for some few young
men who did not give themselves up. The others turned
over their arms and entered the Sarai in order to be safe

and to have the protection of the Government Troops from
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the enemy. After they were divested of their arms and
had become as sheep, their enemies the Druses rushed on
them, while the Ottoman Troops, instead of preventing
them, helped them, and they started attacking them

(the Christians) and murdering at will without hindrance.
They slaughtered the Christians like sheep, and took

them to the roof of the Saral on the southern side until
they formed a great heap. Then they attacked those out-
side the Saral and overwhelmed them, and plundered what
they found, and set fire everywhere, burning the Churches
and monasteries. They killed every male they found,
whether in the houses or the market, however they could
kill him. As for those Christians remaining of the
people of the Dair, they collected themselves and some of
the women and children together and fled secretly or
openly and went down to Sidon, from whence they could
proceed to Beirut on the customary road. A very few of
them fought off the Druse Shaikhs. As for those who went
to Sidon, they were met by the Muslims who wanted to rob
and attack them as they had done with the people of
JazzIn. They slew about thirty of them (i.e. the Muslims
slew the Christians) in the gardens of Sidon, but could
not defeat them because they (the Christians) had armed
themselves. They knew that they no longer had any means

of 1iving, wherever they went, except in this way.
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They remained there that night and then came to Beirut
penniless. The people (of Beirut) pitied them and the
people of JazzIn and those districts, and laid the

matter before the foreign consuls. The consuls, monks

and priests, merchants, and notables in Beirut, and every-
one whose feelings stirred him, proffered means of life

to the destitute, each according to his ability, with
abundant gifts and a generous hand. Letters and telegrams
went.to all corners of the world concerning the atrocities
that had taken place, whose equal had been unheard of in
Syria. Then the people of Hasbayya and Rashayya and

those living in that area, after they had been struck
with disaster by the Muslims and Druses and their places
had been burned, went to the capital city of Syria
(Damascus), and stayed there for a time. Then during this
time the Muslims in Damascus became agitated, and before
this happened there had been preparation on both sides,
Muslim and Christian. The Christians begﬁn to flee
secretly when they saw what was happening among the Muslims
concerning them. They petitioned the government, - but
it did not reply but rather (tried to) quiet them - and
the consuls. As for the Consul of France, he encouraged
some of them and drew the governmentfs attention to the
need for preventing the occurence of any incident. But
the government reassured him and forbid_those Christians

who wanted to leave to do so, because Zahlah had been



taken by the Druses and burned, as already mentioned.
Travel became very difficult for the Christians because
they were separated from their co-religionists and the
presence of enemies on the roads. But the French Consul
exhorted the zeal of 'Abd al-Qadir al-MaghribI - who had
formerly reigned in the west (Algeria), was expelled

from there, and now lived in Damascus - to prepare the
Algeriansliving there so that if incidents took place,
they would pretect the Christians from this misfortune.
He (the Consul) paid him (' Abd al-Qadir) a great deal of
money so that he could assign (this task to) the
Algerians, by hiring them if necessary, and buy arms for
them. The consul collected money from the Christian
merchants, on behalf of the Consulate, and paid it to
'Abd al-Qadir to complete these plans. Al-MaghribI ('Abd
al-Qadir) gathered together all the Algerians living in
Damascus and divided among them the weapons and money.
They were to be ready, should they find the slightest
reason, to come to him. They numbered about 250 men. And
he gave likewise to some of the leaders and notables of

the town. As for the inclinations of the Government at

h me wer d to this, for it (the Government

desired the annihilation of the Christians. The agitation

increased day by day, and the Christians were in great fear,



- 225 =

As for the Jews, they paild a large amount of money to

the Muslim notables and were given security for their
persons and property. Then not a moment passed until

the general agitation began, and the Muslims attacked the
Christian quarter, on Monday, at the end of June, 1860
A.D.286 They began to loot the houses and burned two

or three houses. Then the Government sent troops to the
Christian quarter to prétect it, equipped with cannon.
They stationed themselves in the middle (of the quarter)
and the Muslim men drew back somewhat. Then the troops
were withdrawn and the Muslims attacked the Christian
quarter all that day and looted it. Then on the next day,
Tuesday, fires were 1it in the Christian quarter. Men
were killed and women carried off, and shameful acts
committed. Tuesday and Wednesday the killing, looting,
and outraging of women continued. They burned the entire
Christian quarter and killed whomever they found without
mercy, and 1t made no differece whether he professed
Islam or not.287 They burned the monasteries, foreign and

otherwise, along with churches and homes. And what mis-

fortunes, the likes of which have never been seen! But to

286, ACtu&lly, July O
287. i.e. by repeating the Shahadah in
order to save himself.
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hear about it is not like seeing with one's own eyes,

for you would see the men flung on the ground like

sheep, f%he women naked, the children screaming, fires
burning, and cries raised from all directlions, until the
mother would no longer know her son, and the firing of
rifles and blow of the sword, and destruction of houses,

a thing indescribable and unimaginable to the human heart.
The stores and shops in the city were not harmed, Mean-
while 'Abd al-Qadir sent his Algerian men to bring the
French Consul to him with his belongings, and protected
them in his house. Similarly he sent for the monks of

St. Lazarus, with the nuns and the boys and girls with
them. He sent all the Algerians present in groups to

the Christlan quarter and ordered them to bring the
Christians under protection without any harm or molesting.
Whoever obtained the help of the Algerians kept his 1life
while those who did not, fell dead. The Algerians
expended their efforts to rescue the Christians, and like-
wise the Muhayinah family in the quarter of al-Maldan
protected the Christians in al-Maidan without harming them,
and protected some in the town as far as possible. The
Christians were very much afraid. Some of them fell into
wells, some of whom they (the Muslims) rescued and others

they killed., Conditions remained in this manner for three
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days, with striking, killing, destruction, and burning,
and such things. Finally the Christians gathered
together with their women and children who escaped
from the kllling, to confine them in the citadel, and
some with 'Abd al-Qadir, chief of the Algerians,
because he had kept and protected a large group of
Christians by means of his abundant zeal. And after
the incidents occurred in Damascus and the Christians
were summoned to the citadel, those who remained sent
them food so that they should not die, and they remained
about 15 days in this manner. It was said that about
4,000 souls were killed in Damascus during this incident,
and a large number of women and girls taken captive.
As for the English Consul, the Government sent him a
detachment of troops for his protection, and as for the
Franciscan monks, they were slain in their monastery with
those Christians who were with them. The number of those
present in their monastery was 35, of whom ten were
priests and monks and the rest the people of the town.
Now we return to Mount Lebanon.

After Zahlah, the Biqa', the Ba'albak country,
Dair al-Qamar, JazzIn, and all those areas were burned, -
since there was a general uprising against the Christians

as well as Hasbayyd, Rashayya, and Damascus, compacts



- 228 -

were made (by the Powers) that the Powers would come
with soldiers by sea. (Meanwhile) the Druses from the
Matn districts, and the Mutawalis from the direction of
the east 1n al-Jurd agreed that they would come to
Kisrawan and wipe out the Christians from Lebanon. The
people of Kisrawin, when they learned that the Mutawalis
and Muslims had sided with the Druses at Zahlah, and

had plundered and defeated the Christians in the Ba'albak
country and the Biqa', and driven them out of their
places, - when they learned of this, they rose against the
MutawalIs living in Jubbah al-Munaitarah and Lasd and
those areas, defeated them, expelled them from their

places, looted their property, and killed some of them.

288. The Druses were prepared to invade
Kisrawdn, says Churchill, and Khurshid
had two regiments ready to go there to
"protect" the Christians, when the
Consuls sent a message tc the Druse
chiefs, demanding in the strongest
terms thelr forbearance. This had the
desired effect.

(Churchill, The Druses and the Maronites,
pp. 199-205),
Lenormant asserts that it was the final
union of the Maronites under Yusuf
Karam that averted the Druse invasion,
but I find no corroboration of this.
(Lenormant, op.cit., pp. 86=7).
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Because of all this, at this time this agreement was
made by all anti-Christian parties, with the result

that the Muslims of Beirut and Tripoli thought to molest
the Christians, as had been done in Damascus. But since
the Christians of Beirut were more numerous than its
Moslims, even not counting the (Christian) strangers and
these from Dair al-Qamar, JazzIn, the Shilf, the Matn,
who totaled a great number, they (the Muslims) could not
do what they had wanted to. As for Tripoll and al-
Pinniyyah, because of the presence of the brave men of
Zgharta, BisharrI, and al-Zawlyah, they also did not dare
fulfill their plan, but instead remained waiting to see
what would happen; and émeanwhile) the threat of an up-

289
rising became general. As for the people of Kisrawan

289. Sunday, June 24th was the date set for
massacre of the Christians in Beirut.
25000 Druses had infiltrated the town
%?d were concealedvin Mgslim ?ogﬁes.

essup, op.cit. ol. P. 189).
A few dayERBE?gfé this, the corpse of
a Muslim butcher-boy was found at dawn
in the market, apparently killed by a
fellow Muslim, since his throat had
the cut of a butcher-knife and all
Beirut's butchers were Muslims., A
Maronite was seized, dragged to the
Sarai, and accused of the crime; two
witnesses were produced who with the
ald of bribery testified to his guilt.
Although this was insufficient evidence
according to Muslim law, he was convicted
and hanged. The Mufti was dismissed by
Ahmad Effendi (Khfirshid's deputy) for
réfusing to sign the sentence. (Lchorman+7

(wt 3 PDe 81-4).
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they became afraid and wary of this agreement as much as
they could be. Before the (uprising) could take place,
in accordance with the above-mentioned compact telegrams
were sent to the (European) commanders. First of all a
frigate arrived, sent by the Russian Government. Since
they (the Russian crew) were determined to proceed,290

1t arrived in Beirut about 4 a.m., although the agreement
had been that it would arrive at 8 a.m., when preparations
could have been made. When this warship arrived at
Beirut, immediately it fired its cannons and displayed
signs of great wrath. It fired its cannons like a
continuous fire (continuously) and sent word to the
government that unless there was restraint (of those
planning to attack the Christians) it would fire on
Beirut and destroy it. At that, the execution of the
intended plan was stopped in order to see what would
happen. At 10 a.m. came four French units (ships) loaded
with troops and the necessary supplies and munitlions, and
they fired their cannons like continuous fire at Beirut.

The enemies (the Muslims of Beirut) then gave up fulfilling

290. . = ,.‘Jl J‘ -H‘ rﬁ J' "
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their plasms.g91 Afterward ships arrived from all the
European powers, a unit or two from every ]:c:!.ngdom,g92
and they fired their cannons. Then other units also
arrived on behalf of the French Government with 6,000
equipped troops.ggB They disembarked at Beirut and
encamped at the pine forest, with their cavalry and all
that they would need for a period of two years. Then
ships arrived sent by the Ottoman Government, and with
them was his Eminent Excellency Fu'ad Pasha, sent by
the government to set right and appraise what had

294
happened; he was at that time Foreign Minister,

291. This was due not only to the presence
of the warships but to the arrival on
June 23 of 1800 Ottoman troops under
the command of Ismd'tl Pasha (an
erstwhile Hungarian Protestant named
Km&ty), who took stern steps to assure
order. (Jessup, op.cit., Vol. I, p. 190)

292. These included five French ships, two
British, one Dutch, two Austrian, two
Sardinian, one Russian, two Greek, and
three Turkish. (Abkarius, gp.cit.,
footnote by Scheltema, p. 144,)

293. These arrived on August 16, under the
command of General Beaufor% d 'Hautpoul,
who 20 years before had served in Syria
on the staff of Ibrahim Pashz.

(Abkarius, gp.cit., introduction by
Scheltema, p. 36,.)

294. Fu'ad Pashd reached Beirut on July 17,
not after the French army as 'AqIgl
states. He was equipped with absolute
powers delegated from the Sultan, with the
particular duties of "repression, re-
paration, and reorganisation.” (fbid.,
DPe 37=8).
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Immediately upon his arrival the blazing fires died
down. He set to work, making full use of his superior
wisdom, to please the representatives of the Powers who
were present. He executed several Druses and banished
about 25 of the Druse leaders, including His Excellency
Sa'ld (more correctly - As'ad) Bey Talhiig, and members
of the Janblat and Abn Nakad families.ggs The French
soldiers went up to Dair al-Qamar, and some Englishmen
with them, and witnessed the distruction of 1ife and
property that had taken place. With them were a crowd

295. KhiirshId Pashd, his military commander
Tahir Pash&, Sulaiman NarI Bey (Turkish
Sommander at Zahlah), the Kakhiyd Wasri
Effendi, and the comptroller Ahmad
Effendi, all received sentences of 1life
imprisonment. Eleven Druse shaikhs
were sentenced to death, including
Sa'ld Bey Janblat, gusain Talhﬂ? As'ad
Talhflg, Qasim Abt Nakad, As'ad 'imad,
Amfr Muhammad Qa&sim Arslan (a relative
of the (Qa'tm Magam), Salim Janblat, Jamal
al-Din Hamddn, MuhI al-Din Shibli, 'Alx
Sa'fd, and Bashfr MIrf Sa'Id. Amfr
Muhammad Arslfn, the Q& 'im Magam and a
youth of about 20 years, received no
sentence., Among 33 Druses who had fled
and escaped trial were Khattar 'Imdd and
Mahmid Talhfiqe (For a summary of the
cgarges against the agove persons and
their sentences, see Syria Cor ondence,
I, p. 440-8),

Churchill asserted in 1862 that "none of
these sentences have been carried into
execution, whether of death or of penal
impriso?ment.“ (Ihe Druses and the Maronites
pP. 233.
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of the Christlans of that area. As for the Druses, they
fled before them, and some were hunted down and killed,
Fu'ad Pasha dealt with matters as gently as possible, by
financial compensation ang soothing people's minds, until
he had pleased everyone. IHe began the rebuilding of Dair
al-Qamar with the Sublime State's funds, and with much
money indemnified what had been burned and stolen.

He took a great amount of money from the Druses
and Muslims. Then a group of the French troops went up
to Qubb Ilyds, and Fu'ad Pashi and some French officers
went to Zahlah and Damascus and saw what had happened.
Immediately after arrlving in Damascus Fu'ad Pisha

296
executed the P3Zsh& who had been governor of the town

at the time of the incidents, for it was confirmed that

he had been the cause. He also executed more than 50 of

the notables of the tovn, and took a large amount of

money from the Muslims and pald the Christians the value
297
of what had been stolen and burned., The Christians

296. Ahmad Pishi,

297. Scheltema reports that punishments in
Damascus totalled 70 hanged, 115 shot,
147 sentenced to hard labor for 1life,
186 sentenced to hard labor for a term,
248 banished, and 83 condemned to death
by default (in absentia)., No one was
spared on account of rank or influence.
(Abkarius, op.cit., p. 154).
Churchill estimates that the 200,000
pounds levied on the Muslims of ﬁamascus
for indemnity equalled only a tenth of
the value of property destroyed,

(Ihe Druses and the Maronites, p. 232).
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came back to their homes. The French Army was pleased
with such deeds. It had come in order to defend the
Christians by whatever means necessary, even if it meant
starting war - and its presence, in the opinien of the
other states, was for Just that purpese. His Excellency
Fu'ad Pisha satisfied the Pewers with this werk, and he
distributed money to the dispossessed Christians of
JazzIn, Dair al-Qamar, the Shif, the Matn, Zahlah, the
Biqa', Ba'albak, Damascus, Hasbayya, Rashayya, and every-
where else. How much money he distributed on account of
these incidents is not known. A part of it he took from
the Muslims, and this was the greatest part. He sent for
some of the Christians, seo that they should submit a
petitien acknowledging that he had returned their rights
to thems This was done, with the result that he was able
t; send the French Army away from Lebanon; for only by
this means could he accomplish that.298 Then a new

Pashd ruled over Damascus and Beirut.

298. The last French seldier left Syria
on June 8, 1861, The original
convention between the Powers had
provided for an occupation of ne
more than six menths; this however
was later extended.

(Jess‘llp, QEoLiEo, Vel. I, Pe 209).
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Further Cemmentary by the Editer
(Quotationsg):

"As Yusef Karam is supposed to be very much
in the hands of the Bishop Tobia ('Ann), I did not
think it inadvisable to allow the Greek portion of
the Lebanon to have an oppertunity of ascertaining
the kind of administration they might éxpect were the
whole Mountain consigned to the demination of the
Maronites.

"Mr. Novikew (Russia's delegate on the
International Commission to organise the affairs of
Lebanon) has assured me in cenfidence that, unless
constrained by his Government, he would never consent
to have his co-religionists under the sway of such a

299
ruler.,"

299, Original English text, copied from
Syria Correspendence I, p. 358.
ﬁﬁ%ferin to Bulwer, Nov. 20, 1860,
Yazbak's text contains a distortion
which reverses the meaning of the
first paragraph:

"I think it fitting that the
Greeks be allewed to erect an
independent government for them-
selves, if it is desired to extend
the rule of the Maronites over the
whole of Lebanon."

It is on the basis of this
distertion that Yazbak, in the first
two pages of his commentary below
makes the implication that Dufferin's
intention was to encourage creation
of an Orthodex State.
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- From Lerd Dufferin to the Ambassador
of England in Istambul.

"The Druses, like the Christians, are un-
trustworthy and clethed in hypocrisy..."
- Alisen, secretary of the English
Embassy in Istambul.

"The Christians of Lebanon are a tribe of
ruffians and barbarians, incapable of managing their
affairs for themselves, and with the clergy and the
aristocracy consumed in mutual hatred, the fires of
enmity are now being kindled in their breafs. The
peasants of the Maronite feudal estates are rebellious
against their chiefs, the holders of the estates.“aoo

- Lord Dufferin te the English

Ambassador in Istambul.

300, This is Yazbak's Arabic versien.
It may be compared with the eriginal
English, which is found in Syria
Correspendence, I, p. 463, as
follows:

"The various elements which com-
pose its (Lebanon's) population are
incapable of governing either each
other or themselves. While perpetual
strife has deluged the Mixed Districts
with bloed, an internecive warfare
between the peasantry and their feudal
chiefs has rendered the Christian
Kesronan the theatre of anarchy and
crimes not less sanguinary." (Dufferin
to Sir H. Bulwer, January 1, 1861)
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"The Damascenes are simply fanatical assassins:
but...to depict the quarrel between the Druses and the
Maronites as an onslaught of savage heathens on the in-
offensive followers of Christ's religion, is a simple
misrepresentation. It was a feud between twe equally
barbarious tribes, in which the victors inflicted on
their enemies the fate with which they themselves had
been threatened. If the contest was distinguished by
circumstances of more than usual brutality, it is te be
attributed to the interference of the Turks, and the
intensity of the hatred which the previous threats and
arrogance of the Christians had proveked. In their
day of triumph, these last have not proved themselves
a whitiess blood thirsty than their enem;I.es...":301

- Lord Dufferin to the Foreign

Secretary of England.,

We have seen in the foregoing that the Censular
Agents of France and Britain, and the officials of the
Ottoman Government, succeeded, alas, in ineiting
rebellion among the Lebanese, and in making it appear

that most ef the incidents were due to sectarianism.

301. Original English text copied from
Ibid., I, pp. 423-4, lord Dufferin
to Lord J. Russell, Dec. 19, 1860.
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The masses were driven behind their self-appointed
leaders, susceptible as they were teo this hateful
agitation, and evil spread.

The Eurepean Powers were on the lookout for
that awaited day, and in its course they did much.
France hastened to send a military force whese
ostensible purpeose was to protect the Christians,
ﬁut whose real aim was the final occupation of Lebanen
and Syria. London was werried by these measures and
worked with the European powers to send a commissien
to Lebanon, representing the Otteman Sultanate,
Prussia, Austria, Russia, France, and England, on the
pretext of establishing a system of rule there,
indemnifying its (Lebanon's) victims, and preventing
recurrence of the outbreaks there. But the real
intentien in all that was to thwart the plans of the
Paris Government, with which she was competing to
plant her foot in lands neighbouring the route to
India, '

A new theme appeared which the Mountain had
never heard before that time. This was none other
than the finding of an "Orthedex entityin Having
succeeded in slicing Lebanon inte Druses and Christians,
imperialism was noet satisfied with this disaster that
it had brought down upon the country. Lerd Dufferin,
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England's representative on the International Commission,
began to urge his colleague the Russian delegate to
ask for an Independent Orthedox Government so that the
sons of this community should not be subordinated to
the yoke of the Maronites...

Participating in the hatching of this new plot
were the clergymen of the American Missions, all of
whom worked in this path, intriguing and deceiving.
England's intention was to lessen the French influence
which used to, and still does, unnerve and disturb
them in this part of the East. Lord Dufferin himself
admitted in one of his dispatches that he had resolved
to incite his French and Russian colleagues on the
International Commission te disagree in their opinions,

302
in order to execute his own policy. In all the

302. (Y) On the 15th of November 1860,
Lord Dufferin, English representative
on the commission to reorganise the
regime in Lebanon, wrote to the
Ambassador of his Government in the
Turkish capital in which he said to
hims

"I have reason to believe that
Mr. Béclard (the French member of
the sald commission) is striving te
secure the appointment of Yusef
Kerami (YOsuf Karam) as Amir of
Lebanon. This Yusef Kerami may be
looked on as the tool of Bishop
Tobia ('Aun) and the Maronite clergy.
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political records one finds a large body of such scandals

His appointment to the Kaimakamship
will prove distasteful to the

ristocratical portien of his own
nation (sect), while the extension
of his jurisdiction over the members
of the Greek Community would dis-
please Russia in that it would be
harmful to her interests.

"From a conversation I had to-
day with Mr. Novikow (the Russian
delegate on the International
Commission), it is very evident
that he attributes the formation of
this plan to Mr. Béelard. I am not
as yet prepared to say whether, if
unable to carry out his idea of an
Independent Greek Autenomy, it would
be from the domination of the Turks
or from that of the Maronites he
would prefer to rescue his co-
religionists. Hostile as he is to
the former, I think his horror of the
latter (i.e., for the Maronites) 1is
still greater )

"...at all events, it is pretty
certain Russia would not beheld with
pleasure the undisputed ascendancy of
the Marenites in Lebanon.

"Under these circumstances I
propose to encourage the French and
Russian Commissioners te urge their
respective positions. Should it
become apparent that theilr views are
irreconcileable, it might then be a
not unfitting opportunity te prepose
the adoption of that plan which, to my
mind, offers, with all its drewbacks,
the least objectionable solution of
the difficulty."

Al-Muharrardt al-Siyasiyyah, Vol. III,
p. 874 -
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Page 131 committed by European and Ottoman imperialism, to
divide our country against itself and gain contrel
over its destinies, neither merciful nor compassimate,

The Druses expected that the Turkish officials
would look faverably on their actien in slaughtering
their brothers, the Christians, because they were
Muslims like them, even if they were of a different
sect. They submitted to this belief, ignorant of

(K) This text follews Yazbak's
Arabic version and contalins a
number of departures from the
original English, which is found

in Correspondence Relating to the
Affairs of S!;ia, I, Pe. 337.

The incerrect Passages appear
in the original dispatch as follows:

"I have reason to believe that
Mr. Béclard entertains a faint
expectation that the Yusef Kerami
I mentioned in my last dispatch may
be worked up into g Prince of the
Mountain..."

"...the extension of his
Jurisdictioen over the members of
the Greek Community would be con-
sidered by the Russian interest an
inteolerable indignity.n"

"esslt 1s very evident that (Mr.
Novikow) dreads the consummation of
such a plan as has been devised by
Mr. Béclard, but I am net as yet
prepared to say whether, if unable to
carry out his idea...it would be to
the domination of the Turks or to
that of the Maronites he would prefer
tg deliver over his co-religionists..,"
(Dufferin to Sir. H. Bulwer, Nov. 15,

1860).
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the fact that Turkey's sympathies in their regard were
that the two groups should destrey each other and be
wiped out together, so that Turkey might govern the
Mountain directly. When the evil intentions of the
Turks became clear to some of the (Druse) elders, they
conceived an uneasiness in their minds, and Shaikh
Husain Talhiig uttered his historic phrase: "I fear
that the Ottoman State is employing us teo strike at
others (i.e., to strike at the Maronites) and that it
will not hesitate te return and attack us." When the
fears of this leader had been beorne out, and disaster
had settled on the Druses, Sa'ld Janblat sald te
Ghandflr al-Sa'd who had come to visit him in his prison:
"You (the Maronites) foresaw it and we (the Druses)
foresaw it, and we both fell into it..." The two
statements indicate bitter repentance, but the hour

303
was too late to repent.

303. (Y) Most of the paragraphs
published in the introductions
to the chapters of this book
which are quotations from poii-
ticlans on the affairs of Lebanon
and its incidents which we are
dealing with, have been taken from

Mg jm0'ah al-Muharrarat al-Siyasiyyah.



- 243 =~

There is no better indication of the wickedness
of those Ottoman officials and of their evil intent,
than their wrath against the best of the Muslims who
retained their spiritual virtues and their human
sympathies and were unmoved by the intrigues of the
Turks, but rather were sympathetic with the dispersed
unfortunates. Lord Dufferin related in one of his
messages to the English Ambassador in Constantinople
that the Turkish Government was "disturbed by those
Muslims who protected the Christians during the
massacres,"304in Damascus, and that the Wall, AmIn
Pasha, "removed from membership in the Council (Majlis)
one of the principal Muslims who was well known for
his help to the Christians and saving their lives..."305

Antun Dahir al-'Aqiql mentioned that the

Page 133 generous family of al-Muhayini, which was devoutly
Muslim, holding fast to the teachings of its religion,
protected the Christians, and many who possessed humane
qualities followed their example. Some of the most

virtuous Druses acted likewise at a time when they

were in the midst of the conflagration. The

304. (Y) Al-Muharr&t al-Siyasiyyah,
Vol. ITI, p. 106.
305. (Y) Ibid., p. 404,
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leader of the French expedition, De Beaufort, says
in one of his reperts te the Minister of War in Paris
that 1t was many of the Muslim chieftains in the
cities of Palestine who protected the Christians from...
The Government officials, and that "when the Christians
(in Galilee) had escaped, all declared that when they
had no confidence in the Turks' officials, because
of the confirmed bad intentions and incompetence of
the latter, they owed their salvation to 'AqIl Agha,
the Bedouin Chief."306
All this testimony confirms that the sons of
these lands were not created for bigotry and hatred,
and that that fiery storm that raged over them was
lighted by the feudalists and fanned by the foreigners.
We do not know to what extent it is reasonable
to accuse the Khazin family of prearranging this civil
war so that the foreign pewers might intervene in the
affairs of Lebanon, in hopes of putting an end to the
republican government proclaimed by the noble and pat-

riotic revolutionary and glerious popular leader, Tanyus

306. (Y) Ibid., p. 294.
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ShahIn, and in hopes that they - the Khazins - would
return to their previous authority. We have seen them
(pe 81) sending messages to their coelleagues and allies,
the Druse feudalists, urging them to crush the popular
awakening in its cradle. In other words, Maronites were
asking Druses for help in defeating Maronites... Then
we saw them inciting the Consuls against the rebels in
Kisraw@n. When the fires of civil war were 1it and

the Consuls, the feudalists, and some Maronite bishops
worked to widen the breach, the people were affected by
this sinful incitement. They forgot about their
oppressors and hastened to take the field against their
brothers, oppressed like them. But the misleading
claim represented them (the Druses) to them (the
Maronites) as enemies, and the course of the revelutien
was changed!

What the Lebanese reaped from that was that they
were subordinated to the intrigues of the foreigners and
made their (the foreigners') desires come true, only to
receive insults and scorn in return! The representatives
of the Powers, and especially the English, started to
vilify the reputation of the Druses and Christians to-
gether, and depict them to European public opinion as
rascals, barbarians, and wild beasts!

To this day we still hear the words: "Sales
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Syriens! Sales Libanais! ... "from all foreigners,

and yet insist on prostrating ourselves at their feet!



CHAPTER IV,

YOSUF BZY KARA



CHAPTER IV.

Commentary by the Translator

This chapter may be regarded as a postscript to the
body of Yazbak's publication, the chief concern of the
latter being the events of 1840 to 1860. The career of
Yusuf Bey Karam has little to do with those events, and a
brief comment on him is appropriate only because the follow-
ing pages of translation from part of 'AqIq® manuscript.

We have already had a few glimpses of Karam, in his
quarrel with his brother Mtkhayil over title to the
Mugata'ah of BisharrI and in the part he played during the
massacre at Zahlah in 1860. In 1845 he had taken the lead
in protecting the newly elected Patriarch Yusuf al-Khazin
at al-DIman by driving off a crowd of the Patriarch's
opponents who sought to intimidate him into renouncing his
new positionoso7

He enjoyed a great reputation for piety and sense
of honour and was by 1860 a favorite with the Maronite
clergy and population at large;308 there was little love

lost between him ahd the

307. Poujoulat, op.cit., pp. 373-4.

308. See Ibid., p. 374, and Souvenirs
de Syrie, pp. 48-50. Poujoulat
refutes the legends that Karam was
a godson of the Prince de Joinville
and that he had been educated at the
Lazarite College at 'Antilirah.
(Q_Q-Q_Lt. ’ p' 371)

- 248 -
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English in Lebanon generally. In 1857 the British Conmsul
at Belrut reported Kram gnd his followers from Ihdin and
Zgharta had picked a quarrel with the people of near-by
BisharrI. Karam, wrote the Consul, represented those Maro-
nites considering themselves "les Francals de 1'Orient;" the
Bisharrl inhabitants were more reliant on Englaﬁd and were
becoming known as "the English mrty." Karam, under close
French sponsorship, was in frequent consultation with the
French Consul and receiving French arms; a minor war was
- raging between the two parties.309
Lord Dufferin wrote in 1860 of Karam, "He 1siyoung
man of about 33 (he was actually 37 at the time), speaks
French, and seems pretty intelligent; but I observed nothing
in his conversation or countenance that impressed me ...
The antecedents of his family are obscure. His father was
the first of the race who assumed the title of Sheikh, and
Yusef himself only shared a Mokata with his elder brother.“3lo
In the summer of 1860, after the massacres, Karam
was charged with formation of a squadron of 200 Maronite
horsemen to police the coastal area between Beirut and

Tripoli.311 On November 18 he was named Q&'im Magam of the

-

309, British Consular Files. Moore to Strat-
ford, No. 47, July 21, 1857.

310. Syria ggxgggpggggggg I, p. 357. Dufferin
To Bulwer, Nov. 20, 1864,

311. Poujouj-at’ op. m-, Pe 28.
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Christlians, replacing BgshIr Abmad AbQl al-Lama', thereby
becoming the first Maronite chief since the Tuﬁkish con=-
quest in 1516 not to be of noble family origin, a fact
which was viewed with great distaste by the amIrs and
shailkhs of thecountry.312 On the eve of his appointment
Dufferin had commented that "it 1s probable his appointment
will cause great dissatisfaction among the Maronite Sheikhs,
who dread his anti-feudal tendencies and despise his mean
extraction." Karam was "the tool of Bishop Tobia and the
Maronite clergy."313

The French liked hime "Il & l'insigne honneur d'étre
detesté par les Anglais," was Poujoulét's opinion. "Auséi
bien, 11 ne serait pas Karam si les Angiais pouvaient
l'aimer! Joseph est Maronite-francais, catholigue, Jje ne
pﬁis me—lasser de le dire...m31k4

After Karam had asserted his authority as Qa'im
Magd8m by occupying Kisrawan and expelling Tanyus Sh&hTn

for the refusal of the latter to cooperate in tax collection,315

312, Ibid., p. 368. After three months in
Office he was said to have "thrown into
prison certain Christian notables for
having addressed him as 'the eminent and
revered Bek' (Bey) instead of 'the Majestic

Bek'." (Syria gggggggggggg§ L, pe 628,
Dufferin to Bulwer, Feb. 15, 1861.)
313. Ibld., I, p. 536.

31 . Poujoula‘t, Op. ey Do 3?2-
315, See below, 'AqIgqI text and Footnote No.

%2, -
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opinions began to change. In reporting Karam's success
Lord Dufferin commented that "the conduct of éhe Christian
Kaimakam seems to have been most praiseworthy," while T&n-
yis received the protection of France, much to Karam's irri-
tation, inasmuch as he had orders from the Turkish Gévern-
ment for Tanyus' arrest.3l6 The latter went to Beirut and
took refuge witﬁ the French Consul, who called on the Qa'im
Maqd@m to restore his property to him.3l7General Beaufort;
commander of the French expeditionary force, and the Maro-
nite Patrigrch then brought TanyUs and Karam to a partial
reconciliation by which the latter renounced his personal
charges against the rebel but refused an official pardon,
while T&nyts was to ieave Kisrawan and remain on good be-

318

haviour.

316. Syria Correspondence, II, p. 152, Dufferin
to Bulwer, April 20, 1861.

317. Ibid., II, p. 134%. Moore to Bulwer, April
11, 1360,

318, Ibid., 11, pp. 152-4. Statement by Karam
to Moore. April 15, 1861. The French tried
without success to prevail upon Ahmad P&shZ,
the MushIr, to admit T&nyfs' lnnocence;
Beaufort threatened that were T&nyls arrest-
ed, he would release him by force. (Ibid.,
II, pe 144, Col. Burnaby to Dufferin.
A further source of irritation between.
Karam and Beaufort was the former's comp=-
laint that the French Commander amd his
subordinates were engaged in solliciting
petitions for the return of Shihab sover-
elgnty to Lebanon, the favored candidate
being AmTr MajTd Shihzb. (Ibid.,pp. 152-k.)
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This episode had brought a turnabout in Karam's
position and for the time led him under British favo;
against the French. When his brief period of office came
to an end in May, it was to the British Consul that he
wrote to express his gratitude for the support received from
that quarter and to pledge his future loyalty.319

In these circumstances, it appears that Karam's
later opposition to Dawld PZsh& was in part condition;d by
his disappointment in the fall of his own political fortunes
and in the failure of France and the Maronite Church to con-
tinue to support him, as well as the more evident fact that
it was Dawtd who succeeded to Karam's authority.

Nevertheless Karam, once inhexile, reserved his
greatest bitterness for Patriarch Bulus Mas'ad, whom he
held responsible for preventing his return.“ In g letter to
the French Government and the Pope, he complained that Mas'ad's
policies had proved ruinous to the Maronites and that his én--
couragement of T&nyWs Sh&hIn's rebellion had led to the 1860
massacres and thereby lost fér the Maronites their remaining
degree of autonomy.32° He accused Mas'ad of fomenting touble
among the Maronites, giving his own bishops no chance to

express their sympathy for Karam, abetting Dawlid Pasha's

-~

319, Ibid., II, p. 277+ Moore to Bulwer,
Moy 18, 1861.
320, "Et cel2 (the Kisrawan revolt) fit croftre
1'esprit de dissention entre les chefs
et les habitants dans tout le Liban."

('Adrah’ OP- m., Appendix II’ Pe l+.)
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disregard of the law, and in general leaving the Maronite
community weak in the face of the dangers confronting it.
Most important, "le Patriarche voulant suivre son gncien
projet de ne pas accorder aux maronites un chef civil,
s'éfforce de convaincre et d'amener le Moutsarref (Dawid)
a-m'interdire le retour au Liban.“321
i After the fall of the French Empire, Karam sought

the good offices of the Third Republic to secure his return
from exile. The French Ambassador at the Porte, Comte
Melchior de Vogle, obtained a favorable view from the Ottoman
authorities, but the guestion was referred to Mas'ad, who
declined to assent on the grounds that Karam's reéurn would
be "inappropriate" and likely to cause troubie. The Porte
persuaded Voglie that the Patriarch in his "zeal and far-
sightedness" knew best, and the case was closed.322

What were the Patriarch's motives? Karam's bio-
grapher sums them up as follows; -

"Yusuf Karam had always supported the principle of
separation of the spiritual and temporal authorities and

said that the Maronite Patriarch, in his capacity as head

321, Ibid., p. 29. He went so far as to accuse
Mas'aé of financial dishonesty, saying
that Michel Tlibiyy&, a well-known and
wealthy benefactor of Karam, had on his
death left a third of his estate in the
charge of the Patriarch to be given to
a medical college. The college was later
abando?ed and the money disappeared. (Ibid.,
Pe 21. -

322, Saj'an al-Kh&8zin, Yusuf Bey Karam f£I'l-
manfd, pp. 113-6. -
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of the Maronite Church, should only concern himself with
affairs of the Church, and that only in this good work
could he preserve his authority and high station, and
should everyone tender him respect and obedience ... Karam
had def;;ﬂed this valid prindple in his youth, at the time
he was Q&'im Maq@m of the Christians of Lebanon, and during
his conflict with Dawid P&shd. He likewise defended it
throughout the period of his exile. It was evident that
Patriarch Bfllus Mas'ad would oppose Karam's return to
Lebanon, as long as-he was the standard béarer of freedom
in the country'." But he concealed these motives, saying
instead that "Karam's return to Lebanon would in itself
excit e disturbance; in the country.“323

Yisuf Karam's exile continued from the day he sailed
for Algeria in 1867 to his death in 1889. He remained only
one year in Algeria, going from there to Paris, then Brussels,
Vienna, Rome and Corfu. At Corfu he made an attempt to or-
ganise an armed force with which to return to Lebanon;
failing in this, he returned to Rome.32l+ Following the death
of Franco Pasha, who had succeeded Dawlid for a brief period
as Mutagarrif, Karam went to the Ottoman capital to seek
permission to return, but without success. He was offered
by the Grend Vizler, Rashfd P&sh@, a "sultable" post‘in
the Ottoman Government, which he declined,325 Before leaving

32 . . p' 117
323. o; pp. 85“'95.
325. ey PPe 173=5. The writer does not state

where the post would be. Karam himself
wrote of the effort of Patriarch Mas'ad

-
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Constantinople he made one more attempt, no more fruitful
than the first, to organise an armed expedition to "save"
the Lebanon°326

He returned to Italy and in 1878, according to
Khazin, abandoned politics "to devote his 1life to the ser-
vice of God." He made two final appeals to the Porte in
1888 and 1889 to be allowed to return peaceably to his
native land, pledging his obedience to the authorities; both
requests went unanswered. Yusuf Dibs, Maronite Bishop of
Beirut, attempted to secure a reconciliation between Karam
and Patriarch Mas'ad which falled when the exile consented
to "forgiveness" Between himself and the latter only on a
reciprocal basis.327

He died on April 7, 1889, in Razzina, Italy, of
pneumonia, having spent the last 22 years of his 1life in
exile.328 His body was brought to his native village of
Ihdin a few months_later329 and may still be seen preserved
in state in the village church, honoured to the present day

as the remains of a martyr to the Maronite political cause.

to persuade him to accept employment
in D&wlld Pasha's administration in
Lebanon (this was before Karam's visit
to Constantinople), thereby signifying
his subservience to the Mutagarrif; but
he was unwilling to end his exile on these
compromising terms. ('Adrah, op. cit.,
Appendix II’ p. 11.) -

326. S&J '%n al KhEzin ODe« mo’ DPD» 235 ff.

327. Ibid., pp. 388-91.

328. Ibid., pp. 391-2

329. Ibid., p. M4,
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The Manuscript

Then Y@isuf Bey Karam of Ihdin ruled over all
of Lebanon. He employed all means to secure the
removal of the French troops from these parts, and
after he had employed effective measures for six
months, the French soldiers were removed from Lebanon
and went away empty-handed. Yisuf Bey Karam ruled
over all of Lebanonssofor about four or five months by
order of Fu'ad Pzishd, the Grand Vizier;aalthe situation
was calm and conditions were quiet in all parts (of the
country). Rebuilding of what had been burned began in
all districts, and the Christians returned to their
homes everywhere., Yiisuf Bey Karam ruled in the Mountain,
as mentioned. During that time there were some causes
of trouble between him and Tinylls ShahIn. He (Karam)
went up to him from Jiniyah to Raifun, and with him
were some people from Ghlista, Ghadtr, and al-Z0q.

Tanylis had men from 'Ashqiit, al-Qlai'at, and elsevhere,

330. More correctly, only the Christian
Qa'im Magimiyyah.

33l. Na'ib al-Shaukatlil: literally,
the deputy of him who has authority
(the Sultan).
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332
and the two parties clashed above 'Ashqiit.

There was light rifle fire without anyone being

harmed, except for one of Yiusuf Bey Karam's followers
from the region of Hagbayyd who was wounded. Finally
Tanylis fled with those who were with him. Yisuf Bey
came to Raiffin and settled in the Raifiin schoolhouse,
and ordered the looting of T&nylis ShahIn's house.

They plundered it of everything in it, and ?anyﬁs

took to his heels secretly.saaIt was sald that all that
was the idea of his Beatitude (the Patriarch), for

certain reasons. Since Tanyls was especially under

the protection of the French Order of St. Lazarus,

332. The cause of trouble was Tanyls'
refusal to collect and pay the
mIrt tax; Karam had come to en-
force payment. (Syria Correspondence,
IT1, pp. 152-4. Statement by Karam
to Nevin Moore, British Consul at
Beirut, April 15, 1861).

On November 16, i860, an assembly of
the people of al-Zflg had announced t
their willingness to pay taxes to no
one but Ylsuf Karam. It was in part
for this purpose that he was named
Qa'im Magam two days later and en-
couraged by Fu'ad Pasha to expel
Tanylls ?hEhIn. (Poujoulat, op.cit.,
Pe 367,

333« On March 29, 1861, Lord Dufferin wrote
to Sir Henry Bulwer at the Porte that
Karam had established the authority of
his government in Kisrawdn. "A few days
ago Keram took advantage of a hostile
demonstration on the part of Shahin, to
march into his country, disperse his
followers, and garrison all the revolted
villages with his own police. Shahin
himself is now in flight." (Syria

Correspondence, II, p. 34.)
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and the commander of the French troops, called Abi
Far (Beaufort) had visited him previously, he (Tanyiis)
remained hopeful, but to no avail. Then afterward
Yisuf Bey returned to Sakhr Jiniyah and began to send
tax-collectors to all places, af'ter he had become
Kapud ji BEshI334by order of the sublime government.

Affairs progressed and conditions improved somewhat,

and he collected the collective village (MIrI) taxes

from the country., His orders were issued to everyone,
landholders and others, and no order was disobeyed. He
seized a number of hostages from the country and ‘put

them in prison. All that was before the departure of

the French army from here, and great honor was done to
him. As for the Kh&zins, they remained outside Kisrawan
because of the fear that was upon them and all that had
happened to the Khazin Shaikhs in the way of persecution,
hatred, expulsion from their homes, contempt, sequestra-

tion of their property by injustice, tyranny, and

334. ks
Literally in Turkish, "head of
the door-keepers," A high officer
in the Sultan's palace retinue;
here, a military rank,
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335
aggression. But despite all this we see not a

single one of them turning away from his upright faith,
and nothing occurred neither on the part of all of
them as a group, nor of the individuals among them,
that would damage their religious and temporal reputa-
tion. Indeed they were steadfast in keeping to their
principles of piety and personal honour, and their
homes and places of residence remained - even though
they were outside their original homes - in accordance
with their station and their honour. Nevertheless it
seemed to some of them, and to others, that the source
of what had happened to them lay chiefly with the clergy;
and yet we saw them enhanced by every laudatory
description and reputed for pious works, despite all
they were offered by others to depart from their
principles, whether by the Protestants or by otherse.

335« The Khdzins, wrote Dufferin, were
unable to regain their rights and
return to Kisrawan because of the
hostility of Bishop Tidbiyya and the
Maronite clergy. Thé&y had been "a
little too tenacious of their
aristocratic privileges," and
offended by Karam's invitation to
submit their claims to his court
"because it was not couched in the
preclise terms of honour they consider
due to their station." Karam, for
his part, as their inferior in origin
was "a little too imperative" in
setting his conditions." (Syri

Correspondence, II, p. 34, erin
to Bulwer, March 25, 1861.)
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They took no account of that; to them it was better
to lose their temporal honour and their wealth, so
long as they kept their religious honour, which is
unceasing. In truth, they are a noble family. They
deserve every measure of pride, praise, and eulogy,
and I ask Him, may He be exalted, to be gracious unto
all of them, that they may be an example to others;
for a man is known by testing.

. As for the presents they offered to the
government, they were intermittent. They bribed the
Ottoman Walls for the return of their rights, and they
followed these methods without benefit, for the purpose
of the Walls was the destruction of persons of rank,
them (the Khdzins) and others. Because of this, action
of this type was not effective for them, and they paid
so much bribery to the WalIs that a great deal of
expenses accumulated on them, until most of them were
deep in debts which increased with daily interest rates.
Add to that the barrenness of the harvests and the lack
of income from the fruits of the earth, and you have
another reason why their debts increased, while they
continued to maintain their standard of living and their
generosity, etc. Then, after the time had passed of

Yiisuf Bey Karam's government in Lebanon, there came to
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this Mount on behalf of the Sublime State, by high
decree and on the advice of the Allied Powers, after
the excellent reforms and meéasures of the Powers,

His Excellency Effendi Dawid Pasha, an Armenian Catholic,
to be Mufagarrif over Mount Lebanon in its entirety,

in accordance with the new order that took place in
Istambul the Sublime, on advice of the Powers. His
arrival here was late in the year 1860?361n the days of
His Majesty 'Abdul 'Aziz, for His Majesty 'Abdul Ma jId
Kh@n had died during these events, and his brother,
"Abdul 'Aziz Khan, had occupied the throne. So His
Excellency D3awid Pisha arrived, and was under the
surveillance of the esteemed Government of France. He
started to stamp out the fires of discord between the
Christians and the Druses in the region of Jabal-al-
Shiif and elsewhere. Buildings belonging to the Christ-
lans increased daily in Dair al-Qamar, Zahlah, and
everywhere. He ruled with the greatest justice, and

- appointed in Lebanon a director (MudIr) under him in

every district (Muqé?a'ah). He set up a Council (Dtwan)

336. More correctly, he was invested
in office June 22, 1861, (Syri
Correspondence, If, pe. 331.
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to be especially under him, which he named "consultative"
and then in the capital of his Muta§arrifiyyah - first

in Dair al-Qamar and then in Bait al-Din - a judicial
council (Majlis) composed of six Judges, one from each
religious sect, and a member to represent himself. He
also established an administrative council composed of
one member from each Mugata'ah; a council called the

Arab Office (Qalam 'ArabI) and another called the Foreign
Office (Qalam AjnabI);337 a center for the postal service
and one like it for the Lebanese Gazette, for which

he imported a printing press at his own expense. He
arranged that every village would have a Shaikh sulh
(Justice of the Peace) together with a Mukhtir (Mayor)

or two Mukhtars, according to the size of the village.

In every Mugata'ah he established a Judicial Council
composed of members in accordance with the sects located
in that district. He gave orders to the Druses to remain
in their own localities, in order that there should not
be a second cause (for disorders), and to this end he

ordered that Dair al-Qamar should be for the Christians,

337+ For interior and foreign affairs,
apparently.
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without Druses living there; that was by official
decree. He also urged the Druses to remove the full
amount of their property from the Dair, and this they
refused to do, although a few of them complied, while
some have not done so to the present time. Some of
them went to Hauran and some to the Qadas of Shilf and
Matn. Reconstruction began in the Dair and the other
places that had been burnéd. The people were at peace,
but they had scarcely calmed down for a moment when
agitation began in the north of Lebanon against the
Mutagarrif, Dawlld Pishi. Some wanted him replaced and
presented their reasons for it, and spoke about him in
an unnecessary (improper) way, in every part of North
Lebanon. As for His Excellency, he began treating the
people gently and promising them improvements, saying
that he desiréd the success and tranquillity of the
country and its rebuilding, as in truth he did, relying

on the support of France. But these incidents were

prompted by the intrigues of several agents of the

Sublime State. As it is sald, God knows best. Some
people objected that he was taking more (money) from the
country than the requested amount, for the amount request-
ed of the country had previously been fixed at no more

than 3500 bags, and he was now asking for 7000 bags.



Page 139

- 264 -

As for His Excellency, he replied that this matter was
dependent upon the Government (at Istambul), not on
him. He urged his Beatitude Patriarch Bilus, who was
the incumbent Maronite Patriarch, and the bishops and
the leaders of the country to present the grievance
about that to the Sublime State, saying that he would
give them what help they needed to the best of his
ability; but this was to no avail. He ordered that a
survey of property be begun, starting with South
Lebanon, by six teams, or rather squadrons, each team
being composed of six selected men, one sent by each
sect. Each team had one chief and two clerks, plus one
clerk who was of the village where the squadrom was,

to keep one register in the village, and the survey
officials, headed by a Maronite and a Druse. They
surveyed the property until the year 1863, and had
completed the survey as far as Dog River (Nahr al-Kalb)
when troubles began in the country and the agitation
increased, His Excellency (Dawlld PEshd) at this time
organised the Lebanese Army, totalling about 800 men
and officers. Its commander and organiser was the then

338
famous Frenchman Altap. He sent a squadron of men to

338. Spelled by 'AqTqT " Ll
(Qaltab) but by Karam "Altap",
(See '%drah, op.cit., Appendix II,
P. 15,
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Juniyah. His Excellency also went to Jiniyah and
stayed in the soap-factory, to supervise the country.
Some people were submissive and obedient to him, and
others not. He stayed for a time and then went to
GhazIr, where he stationed a body of troops. Then he
went up to Dair Bzummir and then went on to Jubail,
Batrun, al-Zawiyyah, and BisharrI, and returned to Bait
al-DIn. Governing these areas under his (Dawid's)
command was AmIr Majid Shihab. The collective village
(MIrI) taxes continued to be paid to the amount of
half what had been asked for a three year period, for
he (the AmIr) had arranged for it to be taken in two
parts, as a boon to the people. They paid a part and
left the other.339 As for His Excellency, he advised
them to behave amicably and peacefully and not to do
anything that would require punishment. He was most
generous to all. No one who has come to Lebanon has
equalled his munificence and zeal. He was wealthy, but
was not concerned with his wealth; he had a very
penetrating mind and abundant zeal, especially with his

mediators, the French Government. But his efforts went

339. l.e. pending a decision on their
complaint.
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uselessly, without benefit, although he was well
prepared to make Lebanon independent by itself, and
one of the great vilayets, for he arranged its affairs
well and made it worthy of imitation. Despite all this,
unhappily for the country, he could not accomplish
what he desired, for no time passed before disputes
arose between him and some of the people, especially
in the area of al-Zawiyah. The people there were led
by Yusuf Bey Karam. He staged meetings and sent
messages in all directions in this particular. Among
other things, when his Excellency was in Joni¥ah to-
gether with a body of soldiers, some of the ignorant
people of the country came down to just above GhadIr

340
and began unseemly chanting and fired bullets. The

340. Karam's own later explanation was
that he had come to pay a visit to
the Mutagarrif, and that the armed
body of suppor%ers accompanied him
and fired bullets in the air in
accordance with the legitimate custom
of the country., Dawfld Pishd mistook
this for a hostile demonstration and
attacked Karam's men. Karam thus
became an outlaw unwillingly through
this misunderstanding; the Pasha
vowed to take him dead or alive.
('Adrah, op.cit., Appendix II, p. 12.)
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soldiers who were with him came up to meet them, after
he enjoined them (the soldiers) not to shoot to kill,
since he was well aware of the smallness of their
intelligence and of their ignorance. He did however
find some people of reasonable mind, such as Yflhanna
Bey Abill §a'b. The Bishops were present with his
Beatitude at the monastery of BkirkI. They intervened
and kept the people of the country from what they
wanted (to do). Nevertheless his Excellency underwent
a change of mind over this affair which was full of
ignorance and wanted to send troops to 'Ashqtut, Dar'@in,
and elsewhere; but the Bishops laid their plea before
him and persuaded him to issue a decree of pardon to
those ignorant men, and so they (the Bishops) prevented
these infectiofts and harmful incidents from happening.
Conditions became quiet for a time. Then he stationed
a squadron of troops in GhazIr, and a few men in Jfniyah
and Jubail. At that time communications were sent by
the people of Kisrawan to His Excellency Yidsuf Bey
Karam of Zgharta, that they did not want the governmént
of Dawud Pasha in Lebanon. The movement continued to
grow and increase until the year 1866, when the agree-
ment was made that Yusuf Bey would come with his men to
the sea road, while the people of Kisrawan would come

down from there and drive the troops from Ghazir and
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Dawiid Pasha from Juniyah. An agreement was reached
with some of the people of Ghazir also, and there was
intrigue on the part of certain men of the (Ottoman)
Government in order to drive Dawlid Pashd from Lebanon,

because he was protected and supported by the government
of France., Fearful of the consequences, they employed
these means. Yfsuf Bey Karam arrived at the sea road
together with AmIr Sulaiman al-Harflish, who had incurred
the Government's anger, and a large army from al-Zawiah,
al-Jabbah, Batrun, and the Jubail country. They came to
al-RagIf. A crowd meanwhile came down from the country
(of Kisraw@n) and they joined together at GhUistd. Then
on the second day they descended on the troops in GhazIr,
in accordance with the agreement, and Yfisuf Bey came up
to al-RasIf, and the trouble began in the two places with
the troops. But the people of GhazIr betrayed their
promise and fought on the side of the troops, who
numbered about 400 men, while YOisuf Bey Karam was defeated
at al-RasIf and retreated. Of his forces two men were
killed, one of whom was taken to Juniyah to Dawnd P&sh:.
The forces of Kisrawan were also defeated. One of

their number was killed, a man from 'Ashqit, and five
were wounded. As for the army (of Dawiid Pasha) they

lost one man killed and an unknown number wounded. The
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fighting continued until three hours before sunset.

Then the army descended on its return as far as the
village of Shnan'Ir, looted it, killed four of its men,
and returned to Ghazlr. Here relations with the people
of Ghazir became estranged because of the treachery.
That was at the beginning of the year 1867. After

that Dawlld PaZshd wanted to send an army to the villages
of the country and arrest persons who had been the cause
of this affair. Among them were Bakhiis Abl Ghalib of
'Ashqit, Tannfls Sargbylit (more correctly: Sarabylin)

and As'ad Ramya of Ghiista, NasIf al-KhiirI KhalIl of
Mairiiba, HabIl 'AqIqI of Kafar Dabyan, and several
others as well. The agent ('Amil) at that time in the
mountain villages was Shaikh Tanyis ShdhIn of Raifin,
whom we have mentioned before. He laid his plea before
His Excellency, with the result that the latter gave up
the idea of sending the troops, although he continued to
demand the men. Then a plea was put before him while he
was at the monastery of Mar Antinylls Khashabu concerning
the excessiveness of communal (MIrI) taxes, and asking
that he not collect the first part, that is half of
what had been asked for the period 1277 A.H. to 1280 A.H.
and that he ask the state at this time to renounce the

money, on account of the poverty of the country. After
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Y@suf Bey Karam had returned to his home he remained
rebellious against His Excellency. He would not

permit payment of taxes on any basis other than that

of 3500 bags (i.e. half the tax levied). He threatened
the Government officers and would not accept them.

The authorities did not have their complete freedom

(of action), while there were plots by certain people
from Kisrawan, that they and he (Ylisuf Bey) would

work along similar lines. His Excellency had imposed
the "Dfmf0s" (tithes) in Kisrawan, also, and in the
Jubail country, and imposed a tax of 1/12 on each load
of paper, 1/12 on each bucket of wheat,341 fifteen
plastres on vineyard products, and olives, and on other
items 1/24. When his Excellency learned of this
agitation against the Government, he ordered the arrest
of those mentioned above. Bakhfis Abd Ghalib, HabIl al-
'AqIqI, Tannus Sardbyiin, and As'ad Ramya of Kisrawan.
He declared thaé whoever brought one of these men to
him would receive great honours from his generous hand.
As for Nasif al-Khurl of Mairfibd, he employed a
mediator and sought the favor of His Excellency“s and

Hle & il a0 00"
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as for Tannus Sarabyin, there was no news of him. As
for the three from Kisrawan - Bakhfls Abfi Ghalib, As'ad
Ramy&, and HabIl 'AqIqI - the demand for them continued,
until he posted notice in Jiniyah that whoever brought
one of them to him would receive honours. Those whose
names we have mentloned fled from place to place, until
one day Bakhils Abl Ghalib was discovered by chance in
'Ashqut. The officers (who found him) were four in
number, and he fled before them, with a man from 'Ashqut
whose name was Mangur Dﬁmi?. He took refuge in the
valley, and there was shooting of rifles between them,
and he fled.e The demand for them continued. Yiisuf
Bey Karam formed an illustrious society in al-Zawiyah
in the area of Zgharta, distributed munitions, and
taught them how to fight. All preparations were made
for trouble. His Excellency sent troops to the Zawiyah
district. Yusuf Bey confronted him and denied him
entrance to the town. He came with his men near Bilad
Juball and began to threaten the constables of the
Government wherever they were. With him were some men
from Kisrawan and also from Bilad Jubail, al-Jabbah,
and Batriine Finally there was fighting between him and
the people of Amyfin. He came and robbed them and in-

Jured some of them because they were on the side of the
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Government. He stayed a few days in al-Kiirah, in a
place called Rds Kaifda. Then troops from Tripoli came
to him and there were a number of incidents between them,
but without result. The forces of the (Turkish) State
and the national (Lebanese) troops were watching over
him without result. Finally an army came up from
Tripoli numbering about 2500 troops, plus the national
army of about 600 men. The trouble between them started
near Zgharta, without either side being defeated. Then
it was renewed by the two sides and a great second
battle was fought. The Government (Turkish) troops
entered Zgharta and erected fortifications around the
town, % Yusuf Karam retreated with his men. The army
caught 40 lawbreakers and others from among the people
of Zghartd and took them to Tripoli, and from there

sent them by sea to al-Batrun, since His Excellency

was in Batrfin and had a frigate there named, after him,
al-Dawlldiyyah and which hé nicknamed al-Lubnaniyyah.
From there he sent them to Beirut by sea. Meanwhile

the disturbances continued in al-Zawiyah, from place to
place. Then Dawlld Pishd went to Zgharti with one of
the Pashds of the State and the army. They wrote to the
Wall of Damascus, the Sirr-'Askar, and he came with an
army of about 5,000. They besieged Yusuf Bey in a
place in al-Zawiyah but could not defeat him, and lost
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a number killed between al-Kurah and al-Zawiyah.

Then 1éter there was an incident between the army

and Ydsuf Bey, known as the incident of Bnash'I?éz

It began at sunrise and lasted for a time. Yusuf Bey was
defeated in the valley and overtaken by the troops. As
for his men, they concealed themselves in the valley,
turned on the government troops, and drove them out.
They followed in their tracks after the defeat and took
a large number of weapons from them. They were said to
have killed about 300 of the State (Turkish) troops,
not counting the wounded, and four of the National (Le-
banese) army, while ten of Yiisuf Bey's men were killed
by cannon fire. Among them were Butrus Tuma, famed for
. his courage. They continued to pursue the State's army

until they entered Zghartz as far as Asniin (?)

342, Just before this incident, according
to Karam, he had met with AmIn Pasha,
the Turkish officer who was pursuing
him with 9,000 men. Karam offered
to submit to the Mutasarrif if he
were assured of a faif trial; Amin
departed to transmit this message to
Dawlld, but meanwhile his troops
opened the attack. (Ibid., pp. 12-13).
343. The question mark is Yazbak's.
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Conditions became unpleasant. Then after these battles
the dispute intensified. The anger of the Government
was aroused by this business and it wanted to annihilate
the people of the country. One of the army leaders

went to Yusuf Bey by way of al-Masala. He sent after
(Yusuf), who was with His Eminence Bishop Biilus at his
resldence, in order to communicate with him. This was

a trick,for wvhile they were in consultation the State
troops patroled around in order to catch Yiisuf Bey.

The patrol reached him and he ran in flight amid firing
of rifles between the two sides. The matter passed;
then there was another incident in the district of
Qazhiyya, and then another in the Ihdin area. Then
Yisuf Bey went with his men to 'Ain Qarna and stayed
there for a time. The army reached him, taking him by
surprise, and he fled. They took about eight of his men,
among whom was As'ad Blilus, famed for his courage.

Yusuf Bey had but a few men with him at this time. 1In
his flight he fell into the river, but escaped by God's
help. Then he fled secretly to an unknown place. The
State forces went to Ihdin, and with them three Pashis:
Darwish Pasha, Mustafa Pashd, and Dawud Pashid. They
lived in Yfisuf Bey's quarters for a time, taking a great
amount of goods from it. As for MIkhiyil Bey Karam,
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the brother of Yisuf Bey, he was in agreement with the
government and cooperated against his brother, for he was
displeased by the activities of his brother. His
(Mikhayil's) son Butrus Bey was under the guardianship

of his uncle Yasuf Bey and with him constantly. Then
Yusuf Bey disappeared for a time and AmIr Sulaimin went
toward Ba'albak. He fell sick there in the wilderness
and sent for a doctor to attend him. But the messenger
betrayed him and informed the government, with the result
that several soldiers came on behalf of the government
and took him captive to Damascus, where he died in 1866.
Yisuf Bey then went to the area of al-LaimiinT and stayed
in hiding there for a while. Afterward some soldiers
came to him from the Mutasallim of Ba'albak to take him,
but they could not overpower him, for he fought them,
though he had only six men with him344while those who
had come to get him were about forty cavalrymen. He
killed one of them and captured two of their horses.

Then after the army departed from Ihdin, leaving a few
individuals behind, Yiisuf Bey came to Ihdin, drove the

344, Only four, according to Karam.
('Adra?, op.cit., Appendix II,
Pe 14).
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soldiers from his home, and entered it victorious. After
he had remained there for a time the troops again came
for him in force, with four Pashas. He got out of

thelr way and they looted his house of all its furnishings,
taking countless valuables and ruining a part of the
building. They stayed there for a time and became a
burden to the villagers, for they looted some of the
churches of the village and its environs and took
captives from them. They caused ruin in the entire
district until it became a thing to sadden the heart.
Yusuf Karam then went to 'Ain Qarna and stayed there for
a time with a few men. Sometimes he had about 200 men
with him, sometimes he had even more, and other times
only eight. One day the army laid plans. They went to
him secretly, after dividing into four parts and after
one of the army officers had gone up to him to interview
him with the (ostensible) intention of improving relations
between him and the government. The result was that the
army reached him and trapped him by means of deceit.

A group of men came to Y@suf Bey, the army having
surrounded him, and rushed on him. The men that were
with him were only a few, so he fled, only to find that
the soldiers were in all directions waiting on the look-

out for him. He thought that the end had come. He



- 277 -

called to those men who were with him; they asked the
aid of the All-Powerful (God) and attacked like prey-
ing lions. They set fire (to the house), it being

late morning, and killed several of the troops. From
among Yiusuf's men two were killed and five captured,
including the courageous As'ad Bﬁlus.345As for Ydasuf
Bey, when he saw that he must surely drink the

peisoned cup, he threw himself at one of the groups of
soldiers, crying to them, "Make way for Karam!" and
firing at them. His clothes were changed (disgulsed).
The soldiers opened a path, and Yusuf Bey rushed through
with five of his men. After he had passed, the soldiers
realised that this was Y@lsuf Bey. They followed on his
heels and overtook him somewhere, and fired their rifles
at him. For his part, he threw himself from a high
place. They thought him dead; he entered a mill by one
door, left it by ancther, and fled unharmed. He went
secretly into the wilderness, where news came to him
from all places of what was happening concerning him.
His strength and his name became known to all the Powers,

and he caused great annoyance to the (Ottoman) state,

345. (Y) He is the grandfather_of
Messrs. Jawad and Farifd Bulus.
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while the French Government was sorely displeased

with his deeds.346 He made a great name for himself,
and the people were anxious to see his face. All the
merchants and leading men of Beirut, Mount Lebanon,

and Tripoli would send him gifts and money and all

that he needed. Everyone prayed for his vietory and
aided him with all that they could, and they called
this period of time the "war of Yusuf Karam." As for
the Ottoman troups, whenever they heard mention of
Karam, thelr hearts would quake in fear of him, because
of what they had seen of him and his men, and of the
fiery zeal that they displayed. In truth, no man in
Lebanon has been seen or heard of equalling him in
bravery, generosity, knowledge, and graciousness all
found in the same person; and rarely is anyone like him
found anywhere in the world, especially in the area of
Syria. He struck fear in the hearts of everyone.
(Then) because there was no one to help him, he hid in
the wilderness, and his name was no longer heard. He

remained in this way for a time, wandering from place to

346. cf. Scheltema's statement that
the French Government "warmly
espoused" Karam's cause, which
was the cause of French interests
in Syria. (Abkarius, op.cit.,

Pe 1730)
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place secretly. The troops returned to their homes

and for some time the country became quiet. His
Excellency Dawlid Pashd returned to Bait al-Din. He
stationed troops on behalf of the government in al-
Zawiyah, and of the local recrults he placed about

400 men around Imdi, 'Irjis, Karam Saddi, and al-
Kiirah in order to protect them from him (Yiisuf Karam)
and in order to collect the collective (MIrI) taxes.
The Governmental Authority in ZghartZ he entrusted to
MIkhayIl Bey Karam, the brother of Yfisuf Bey, since

he found Him to be opposed to the deeds of his brother.
He also installed a general Qa'im Ma§§m in the environs
of al-Batrun and established a judicial council there.
He began to ask for the collective (Mirt) tax money
with complete freedom and to pay a great amount of
money for the capture of Ydsuf Bey, alive or dead. All
this was in vain, for the news would reach the Bey
immediately, without delay, his cause having a strong
attraction to every Christian.

The Almighty was alding him, for though he
fell in great danger God saved him from it and from
many evils. He was divinely favoured and enjoyed the
respect of all men. No one would mention him without

wishing him success, because of his good deeds, superior
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nobility, and great bravery, the likes of which were
unheard of in those parts and areas. For if I wished
to disclose phe place, circumstances, and number of all
his battles, it would require a long time, and I am
unable to complete it in detail, for he had already
made considerable trouble by the time he surprised the
State forces in their tents one night on the plain of
TannlrIn. Of his own men, Ibn 'Abdi 'Isa of 'Ashqiit

was killed - for throughout all his battles he still
had men with him from Kisrawan, numbering from 30 to
three, according to the circumstances of the time, and
similarly from the areas of Dair al-Qamar, the Shiuf, and
elsewhere. We left off mentioning everything for fear
of prolonging (our account), so let us return to what
we were discussing. After Yfisuf Bey hid himself at
this time, the army had returned home, and conditions
had become quiet, one day in November, 1867, Yisuf Bey
gathered about 150 of his men in the area of al-Zawiyah,
without any one knowing about it, and crept with them
through the mountains near al-Batriin and Juball till he
came to Kisrawan. He came to Qartaba, passed through
al-Futth, and crossed through 'Ibarah Shawwdn. Then he
came to Ghlistd, to the house of the gentleman (Khawa j&)
As'ad Ramyd. His arrival was a surprise without anyone

knowing about his coming, for everyone had understood
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that he had gone to Europe, and no one had any
knowledge of him until he arrived im Ghiisti. There

was great fear and the people were perplexed because

of his coming, for no one know how he had come. Fear
fell on the people of Ghlistd and its environs on
account of the government the people of Ghiis{d received
him and his men with all courtesy and cheerfulness,
dividing them among the houses and giving them the
necessary food. He himself stayed in the house of
Khawaja As'ad, where the priests and chieftains of
Ghuista came to him to extend their full welcome. Then
he wrote letters to His Beatitude (the Patriarch) in
Bkirki and to his friends 1n Beirut and elsewhere; then
the next day he sent to Jiniyah for provisions for his
men, both cereals and other kinds. He stayed the
entire second day, and on the third day left Ghﬁs?ﬁ

and passed through 'Ashqut. When he reached the spring
of 'Ashqut he was overtaken by the interpreter from the
French Consulate in Beirut with another horseman, and
they conferred for a moment. Then the interpreter from
the Consulate returned to Beirut, while he (Yfisuf) left
with his army. He slept in Dair al-Rumiyyah, and his
men either in DArayya or with him. At that time the
Frenchman Altap with his National (Lebanese) army of
about 400 men had arrived in Ghazir, following in the
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tracks of YUsuf Bey. He asked about him and heard

the news that he was in Darayya. Then the next day
Yusuf Bey left Darayya to go to Bikfayya, and according
to what was said, going (from there) to Bait al-DiIn to
release the prisoners. Then Altap and his army left
Ghazir and slept in Darayya. The army of the State
(Ottomans) of about 500 men was in Juniyah and stayed
there, Meanwhile Yusuf Karam had reached Bait Shabab .
With him were several men from Kisrawin, besides those
who had been with him earlier. That night Yfisuf Bey
(and his men) slept in the monastery of Mar Anyﬁnyﬁs
al-Naba' and Mar Butrus, fhe fig orchards, and there-
abouts. He placed scouts in the valley with Abu Firan.
Then the next day Altap left Darayya to go after Yusuf
Bey. The latter received the news and replied, "It 1is
all right," and when Altap reached the valley, he was
met by some of Yusuf Bey's men in the valley. There
was fighting in the valley, and meanwhile Yasuf Bey's
men were up above. At the height of the battle Yiusuf
came out, with a dog following him. They recognised him
and fired at him. As for him, he knew who had fired at
him; he reproached him and, taking a gun, fired at him
and killed him. And while they were engaged in this
batfle, Shaikh SallbI Kan'an al-Khazin arrived carrying
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lettgrs from the Consuls in Beirut. He presented

them to Altap, and after the latter had read them

he told the Shaikh to take them to Yidisuf Bey in case
the battle was prolonged. He fastened a white flag

on his rifle and went to Yiisuf Bey and presented

him with the 1etters.347 After he read them, he
motioned to his men to cease fighting, and went away
toward the bare mountains, passing by al-Tabshah and
passing the night in the village of Bq&'tfitd while his
men dispersed. The next day his men met together with
him. He took them to al-Mazra'ah, and then went down
with them to BkirkI. With him was a great crowd from
Kisrawan. He went to Bkirk! to see the (Consul) General

of the French Government and, representing the English
348
Government, the Vice Consul. They remained that night

347. The letters were apprarently summons
to Karam and Altap to meet with Des
Essarts, the French Consul, at the
Patriarchal Monastery of BkirkI.

(See Ibid., p. 15.)

348. The Meeting at BkirkT had been preceeded
by appeals from Patriarch Bfllus Mas'ad
to Karam to give himself up, although
by a strange twist Dawtd Pasha at one
time accused Mas'ad of encouraging the
outlaw. Karam later asserted that the
Patriarch had been bought by Dawiid by
means of pensions to his relatives and
by nomination of his brother as a pub-
lic official in Kisrawdn. The Patriarch,
in return, allegedly used his influence
with the french Government to secure
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and it was agreed that the next day YiisGif Bey would

go to Beirut. His men and the people of the country
knew of that, and a very great number came down from

the country, even including the women. (They thought it)
impossible that they should abandon the Bey, or that
they should wish him to go to Beirut. They began
threatening and storming the monastery. Then Yusuf

Bey came out to them and exhorted them, saying that he
wished to go of his own free will and that this was in
conformity with his interests and the interests of the
country. When they knew that he was not going for their
sake (i.e. for the sake of the French and English) they
left things as they were and returned home. Then on

the third day Yusif Bey and the Consul went to the

Dawld's appointment to a second term
of office.

Karam also complained that his
offer to surrender and submit to a
falr trial was dismissed by Mas'ad
as an attempt to prejudge himself in
his own favor.

The agreement finally struck
between Karam_ and Des Essarts, approved
by Dawid Pash® and the Patriarch
provided that Karam would be exiied for
the time being to Algeria, under French
protection, Dawilid thus being enabled to
re-establish his full authority in Mt.
Lebanon. (fn return Dawlld was to pledge
just rule: the safety of Karam's
followers and his property would be
guaranteed by France. Karam charged
that the latter condition was later
violated; his followers were arrested
and his property sequestrated.

(Ibid., ppe. 15-19)
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monastery at 'Ainturah of the Lazarites and from there
to Beirut. On his arrival at Nahr al-Kalb (Dog River)
those accompanying him returned home, while about eight
men from Zgharta and eight men from elsewhere remained
with him. When he arrived at the Beirut River he

found carriages ready to take him, supplied by the
Consuls and chief men and notables of Beirut. He
entered the carriage of the French Consul, then was
changed to another one. During his passage along the
road one could see bands playing, women singing, and
orange-blossom water being scattered. Everyone was
crowding together, and the celebrating women were a
thing unheard of, until the town was in commotion.

Most of the people only wanted to see him because they
had seen his picture on paper, with him holding his
blood~-smeared sword, and these were so many pictures

of him (like this) that he was known as the Blood-
Shedde#r, Then after he had arrived in Beirut and stayed
there four or five days, he went one day to attend Mass
at the Maronite Church. While he was present in the
church all eyes were staring at him, and on his exit
from the church he could not pass through the street
because of the congestion of people trying to see him.

So he rode on horseback, which everyone saw, while his
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attendants walked in front of him carrying arms. He
had the privilege of kissing the fingertips of His
Grace Bishop ?ﬁbiyya 'Aun, the much respected Bishop

of Belrut. He (the Bishop) showed him hospitality, as
did Khawa J& As'ad al—Mul@imah who was one of his dearest
friends. He visited the principal men of the town, and
wherever he went, the people came running to see him.
Then after this time, he traveled to Marseilles.349 It
was sald that he received great honors there. He then
proceeded to Paris, where he was honored by some, not
including the King of France, Napoleon, who was not
willing to meet him, nor some of the ministers either.
Then he came to Egypt, where he was also honored, and
returned to France. There were somgsgauses of discord

between him and the Prime Minister, such as his request

for honors and other things.

349, Actually, Algeria,
Karam on the evening of Jan. 31, 1867
boarded a French ship which had been
prepared to carry Empress Eugénie to
Rome but sent to Beirut for Karam
when the Empress cancelled her voyage.
It sailed from Beirut February 1,
carrying Karam, his secretary Rizq-
Allah Khadra, and eight companions.
(Saj'an al-Kh&zin, op.cit., D. 3.)

350. Saj'an al-Khazin states that Karam
met both the Emperor and his Cabinet
and received their sympathy (Ibid.,
Pe 55.), but had a falling out with
the Foreign Minister. (p. 71)
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He had a strong party (of supporters) there
and he wrote a letter to the Prime Minister. Then
he went from there to Rome, for he could no longer
stay in France, on account of the presence of his
opponents. Then he wrote a letter, addressed to His
Excellency Dawtd Pashd in Lebanon, in which he gave
evidence to show that justice was against His Excellency
and to clear himself;(coples of) it are in the
possession of most moneyed people.:351 Then after he
had arrived in Rome and had been honored by the places
where trod the feet of the Supreme Pontiff, Pope Pius
IX, and received the blessing, he remained in Rome for
a time., Letters concerning him went to the Sublime
State (in Istambul), concerning permission for him to
return to his country. He did not receive that,
although it was permitted to him to go wherever he
wished except Lebanon and the lands surrounding it.
Then he went to Athens, in the land of the Greeks, and
then elsewhere. Efforts have continued to be made
concerning his return until the present time. As for

Dawid Pasha, after Ylisuf Bey had gone, he ruled with

351. 'O.,_J,..:.J‘ ‘_;)-300(;-;)35Y| Qe J 9> ge g“J.

Presumably he sent copies of the
letter to a large number of in-
fluential persons.
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Justice in Lebanon and conducted a general land survey
throughout his reign. He levied the collective tax
(MIrI) on property and number of inhabitants and collect-
ed 1t on the basis of 7,000 bags, over and above taxes
levied by other bureaus.352 He organised affairs well
throughout the land. He established eight deputies
(Qa'im Magams) in the districts (Mugata'ahs) with a
director (MudIr) under each of them. He was exceeding-
ly zealous in the building up of the country and its
expansion everywhere. He took a part of the Biga' under
a sort of guarantee at first, as a step towards its
later becoming part of Lebanon. He also asked that
Beirut, Tripoli, Sidon, and a part of al-?inniyyah
belong to the country and that Lebanon be free like
other areas. In this he was supported by France. The
country became completely quiet and at rest for a time;
then, after the quieting of the situation, he went to
Istambul in this concern in order to request what has
been mentioned,
In his place he organised an administrative

council whose president was Na'iim Effendi QIqantl. After

his arrival in Istambul, several men in the government

352.

3_..:!-_)[:'-.”‘,)1 JY'!J !'_L.
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arranged a plot (by telling him to) ask for the above
mentioned areas and to request that there be no Pasha
other than himself in Lebanon. If this were not
granted to him, he would resign in protest and the
government would be obliged to grant him his request
and not relieve him (from office). After his request
was made, it was not granted him, so he presented his
resignation in protest to the Sublime Porte. Immed-
lately his fesignation was accepted, for he had been
deceived by Fu'ad Pashd whom we mentioned earlier.353
Because of the fact that earlier, when His Beatitude
Patriarch Bulus had come to Istambul, Franco Effendi

had been appointed by the government to attend to him,

353. Saj'dn al-Kh#zin explains Dawiid's
expressed desire to add the above-
mentioned areas to Lebanon as a
bid on his part to regain his
rapidly disappearing popularity.

His proposal reached the ears of

Fu'ad Pasha, the Grand Vizier, who
ordered Dawud to return to Constant-
inople and then to resign. There is

no mention of a plot; Dawlld had simply
served his purpose and was discarded,
(Saj'an al-Khazin, op.cit., pp. 66-7.
Cf. also M. Jouplain, La Question du
Liban, p. 506.)

Some time afterward he was returned to
Fu'ad's good graces and was sent to
Europe on a loan-raising mission.
While there he was accused in Constant-
inople of financial dishonesty and dis-
loyalty to the Government. Not daring
to return, he died abroad in 1869,
(Sad'an al-Kl‘l.a-Zin’ QEC_C_!-_E.’ pl 87.)



- 290 -

had given him the necessary servants, had liked him very
much, and had hoped for his (Bulus's) appointment (to
the Patriarchate), - because of this, when Dawnd Pasha
resigned, Franco Effendi was appointed to be Muta§arr1f
of Lebanen, after being made a P§sh§.354He came to
Lebanon in the year 1868 and ruled over Mount Lebanon,
with everything continuing to be organised in the way it
had been previously (under Dawdd). Friendly relations
grew between him and His Beatitude the Patriarch and

all the Bishopsj, and clergy. He was a man appropriate
for the period and suited to the times. He established
new offices for which the orders had previously been
1ssued by the government, but which Dawiid Pishad had not
considered good for the inhabitants of Lebanon. His
Excellency (Franco) ordered their execution (the orders),
such as a tax on petitions, promissory notes, deeds of
sale, and other such things. He dismissed some of the
troops, journalists, and postal officialsj he lowered
some salaries and renewed others. He removed people

living near the clergy. He collected funds that previous-

354. NasrI Franco Pashd had been on friendly
terms with Yfisuf Karam ever since he
had served as secretary to Fu'ad Pashi's
mission to Lebanon in 1860-1.
(Ibid., p. 68).
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ly had been neglected for years. He continued as
governor for a period of five years, and them con-
tracted an incurable disease, which lasted about four
months until his death in Beirut. Before his death he
had ordered that he be buried in the cemetery of al-
Durtib in al-Hazmiyyah, above Beirut. They buried him
there as he had asked, and his tomb is still there.

The direction of the government had been provisionally
delegated to the administrative council under the
presidency of Shaikh 'Id Hatim, After his (Franco's)
death the matter was referred to the Sublime Porte,
which confirmed the said provisional government, and
the reins of government remained provisional about four
or five months. Then afterwards Rustum Pashd ItdlyanI
("the Italian") arrived as Mutasarrif of Lebanon, to
whom were delegated greater powers than those of his
predecessors. Conditions remained unchanged except for
the fact that he dismissed some officials from the
administration - such as the Daftar Khané, the military
council, and other officials - and transferred the
collection of debts to the Treasury, and issued other
orders which it would be difficult to enumerate. Then
he favored the people by opening schools of learning in
most inhabited regions. He raised money for the teachers'

wages from the pockets of all government officials, from
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His Excellency (himself) down to the policeman, taking
two and a half plastres out of every hundred, from
each according to his ability. These schools were
established by government order for all its subjects,
according to location (in the most suitable places).
They would learn simple reading, grammar, arithmetic,
and handwriting. The "MAzIziyyah" school was in Dair al-
Qamar. It was the largest in Lebanon, having six
teachers of the subjects mentioned and other subjects,
except for the Dawlidiyyah school in Bait al-D%tn and
the one like it in 'Abbailh for the Druse sect. He
favored the teachers with wages according to what was
required of them.

Among the schools was one opened in Kafar Dabyan
on December 8 of the year '73 which had two teachers:
the priest Ilyas al-'AqIqI for simple reading, with
permanent status at a wage of 100 piastres monthly, and
the priest YOhannd Salam, for grammar and arithmetic on

a temporary basis, at a wage of 150 piastres.



CHAPTER V,

UNDISCLOSED LETTZRS



Commentary by the Editor

Some Considerations on these"Memoirs".

The Memoirs of the late An}iin RQEhir al-'AqIqI are
ended - would that they had not ended: - and fr;m their
pages we have drawn some fear{ullconsiderations which should
restore to us the courage to lddk at realities with an eye
clear of all prejudices:

1. The Turks deceived the Lebanese and incited them
to slaughter one another in order to annihilate both the
Christians and the Druses and clear the air for the Ottoman
Sultanate in this beautiful corner of th? Arab lands.

2. The English and French (and then the Russians)
split the Lebanese into religious sects and armed them to
slaughter one another.

3. The feudal landholders in Lebanon tyrannised and
oppressed the people by varicus means; and when the human
conscience of those oppressed was awakened and they sprang
to 1ift the yoke from their necks and recover their viola-
ted rights, the feudalists incited all the Powers against
them, changing the course of their revolt to a religious
civil war which was destructive and fruitless.

4., All these events offer clear proof of two things:

First, none of the forelgn powers smiled on us

once except to make us weep a thousand times. We have seen

how they twisted and turned as they wooed our sects to their
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side, and swore their friendship for them one day only to
betray them the next,.

The second thing is the absence among the Lebanese
feudalists of wise men who would think clearly, or possess
patriotic feelings. We have seen how the feudalists, pushed
on by their personal petty feelings and hatreds, ignited
the religious civil war, after certain etemenfd among them
had diverted it from its course as a class rebellion. We
have seen how some of them imposed their "divine" haughtiness
in a base and shameful way. The absence among the feudalists
of wise persons to prevent the masses from mutual slaughter
is an Indication of the fact that private interest in the
class system does not understand the meaning of national
security or national unity, and will give up no part of its
"divine" rights except to exchange them for a thousand new
rights/!

_ Perhaps one of our most sacred duties is to point
out on this occasion that the political feudalism which has
died as a system in Lebanon and Syria is still alive, work-
ing under a new guise and a new name, and that the amlrs,
shaikhs and prominent men who lie hidden with their sins
and their shameful record in the grave, have left us many
grandsons who live in the spirlt, feelings, and thoughts
of their grandfathers. The people must warn them to ensure
the abolition of the spirit of evil in them, for their

intrigues are congenitall...

-
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When I presented these "Memoirs" for printing, I
hesitated over whether to leave them as t hey were or to
omit from them the profuse description of the infortunate
events that took place in the year '60. I was anxious
and disturbed by this hesitation, since I saw some use in
printing the manuscript in its entirety, and some other
use in omitting some of its pages. So I consulted my
friends in my "crisis}] and most of them advised me to print
the source completely, as a service to history and learning.
Then I saw that the curtailing of those accursed events would
not negate their having happened. An attempt on my part
to soften their description here would not prevent the
appearance of many biased books recounting them with lies
and shameful insimuations. ©So to print them, then, as set
down by their well-intentioned author, even if he erred at
times, was more truthful and right; and so this was donel

I have seen fit to follow these "Memoirs" with ’
historic letters having a direct connection with the re-
volution of the proud people of Kisraw@n and their heroie
leader T&nylis Sh@hIn. They are undisclosed letters, scattered
everywhere, that hitherto have not been published. Some of
them I copied from the collections of the offce of the
Maronite Patriarch in BkirkT. My good friend NajIb Sallm
al-Dahdalh and one of his relatives were kind enocugh to accom-
pany me there and help me with the copying. Some of the

others I cagme across in the possession of my brothers and



friends who have looked deeply into that blessed revolu-
tion and its heroic noble leader. They were kind enough

to give them to me, sharing in unveiling an aspect of those
glorious days of which alone the Lebanese deserve to be
proud. In them the readers will see a true pattern of the
1life of the revolution and its heroes, and an authentic
presentation of its events and the nobility of its aims.
Perhaps we shall facilitate our effort to collect everything
connected with it and to publish it at an early date; we
might render our beautiful country, Lebanon, and the cause
of its people a service incumbent on all who believe that
Lebanon is dear because of its people, andnot because of

the executioners who have ruled it.

And so to the readers I present the aforementioned

letters :
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Undisclos Letters

Related to the revolution of the Adventurous
leader T&nyfls Sh&hIn.

I. The reason for writing it:

"Whereas the well-known prevailing conditions,
which are known to all, require that we be united in out-
look and deed in all that is related to our interests in
the removal of oppression, whether against us or by us
against anyone, and that we all behave in accordance with
what law and Jjustice require; and whereas our people are
S0 numerous: we have established as our representatives
(wakIls) to arrange these interests our brothers Hugn
and Qa'dan, and to expend all that is required for that,
whethef in expenditures or favors, with all that is ne-
cessary, be it 1little or much, entrusting that to tleir
Judgment, wisdom, and consciencey whatever they spend, we
are bound as a group to repay it to them. It shall be
distributed on us equally according to our income, with-
out question, but according to their statement and their
conscience. For their part, they are obliged to deal with
these interests earnestly and perseveringly, in all that
is required, and to be mindful of these interests. We have
made a compact with them and have called as our witnesses

the Creator - may He be exalted over us, and may His names
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be glorious! - The Holy Eucharist, and the Mother of God,
whose purit§ is universal, to witness that we shall be
obedient to them (the two wakTls) and follow what they tell
us regarding our interests and what concerns our Joining
together in, and preparation for, conduct satisfactory to

the Almighty, - may He be exaltedl - to the head of our
religious denomination, the rever;nd Patriarch whose bea-
titude is universal, to those in authority, and to the

rights of mankind. Simllarly they (the representatives)

have called as their witnesses the Creator - may He be
exalted! - the Holy Eucharist, and the Mother of God, that

on thei£ post there will be no neglect of what these interests
" require, nor any deceit as to expenditures, whether by excess
or deficiency, and that they will do all that is required.
Whoever leaves us in disagreement, the mass of us shall be
against him and deal with him as he deserves; and on this

our satisfaction and agreement are complete.

Recorded on the 13th of December, 1858.

"Concurring,

The family of AbU Naufal al-KhZzin."
IT. Letter from certain villages to Patriarch Biilus Mas'ad.

"To the most holy Father, may God prolong his reignl
"After kissing the places where your sacred feet have

trod, and seeking your Apostolic blessing forever, we submit

to you:
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"The disturbances that have taken place in this
district are no secret to your Beatitude. Because of
them we have been robbed of our peace, on account of the
presence of ignorant people. In view of the fact that on
this date your son our brother Shaikh Saj'an al-'Ugaimf
came to us on behalf of the people living.in the‘region of
al-Zlq, asking of us the union which would bring peace to
all of us, we, your children the people of the villages
whose names are recorded at the end of this petition,
therefore met in the village of D1ibt® on the 12th of
this month. After deliberation with the representatives
(wakIls) of all our people, we came to an agreement, Since
your Beatitude is consid ered to be a spiritual father to
us, we present to your Beatitude this petition, which we
beg you to examing with a generous eye, with an explanation
of the headings listed above, so that by force of your
superior wisdom you will be obliged in conscience to return
our rights to us, not only for the present but for always
everlastingly. Since your children who are presenting this
are unable to secure for themselves the foregoing and your
Beatitude will feel obliged to inquire about that, we there-
fore repeat our plea, knocking at the gates of your pater-
nal justice and compassion, saying : Look at our weakness
and save us from our oppressor. As for the question of
the office of "ma'mlr" this we entrust to the command

and the wish of yéur Beatitude. Whomever you consider suit-

able to déal with our situation and able to restore the
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general peace, we shall recognize his orderé. Where-
as not everything is explalined in our petition, at this
time the bearers of this petition, who were appointed
to present it to you will lay the matter before you
more adequately. All depends on what your commands call
for. May God prolong your reignl
Again we kiss the places where your feet have trod.
December 17, 1859.
"Your Beatitude's children,
The people of
Al-.udaidah, Shnan'ir, D1ibta, 'Aramin, Ghusta, Baha.

III. The demands of the peopley, referred to in the pre
ceding letter, Number II.

"Statement of the items requested by which peace
may be secured for us and for their Excellencies the Shalkhs.
"First: that the distribution of the collection
(MTrI) tax money be in accordance with princi ples, as the
head tax, on the great and the small according to the
register instituted by His Grace ShakIb Pasha, so that
even the Shaikhs shall be obliged to pay what i1s appro-
tioned to them in the collective and head taxes, without

the people having to bear an excessive head tax.



. - 302 =

"Second: Oppressions, wrongdoings, exaction of
extras from travelers and servants, and the money trans-
fers355taken from the people through their Excellencies
the various Shaikhs, this being contrary to the laws of
the Sublime State and the beneficial arrangements3’° -
when these deeds are verified at the place deslignated,
whether thepresent council or elsewhere, the doer of these
offenses and of violations of the law, after confir mation,
must return and repay what he has taken in its entirety.

"Third: the presents and marriage taxes currently
paid to their Excellencies the Shalkhs in certain places,
or the presents to the Shalkhs attached to the sale of
their goods to the people, must be discontinued and removed
in their entirety.

";ggggh: As for the question of the office of
"ma ‘mOr", which is of the greatest importance, having to
do ;1th governing the people and removing grievances and
violations, the political ma'mir must act in accordance
with justice and law so that-there shall be no further dis-
putes between us and their Excellencies the Shaikhs. Who-
ever is appointed to deal with our affairs, we pray that
he will be deserving of this position and worthy of it, and
possessing all the conditions suited to the authority «:d

355.., W’ |
356. »Jf“ﬁ:j:-)Jl possiblg a reference to
the Hatti Humayun of 1856.
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and activities of ma'mirs. Similarly it is incumbent on
all the people to reﬁder their due obedience and consider-
ation to the ma'mlir, he being distinct from the mass of
the people, andnthere must be great efforts made to keep
his commands. For every village one or two representatives
(wakTls) should be instituted, according to the large or
small size of the village, so as to achieve peace and fa-
cilitate the ma'mlr's orders and to facilitate his work
and interests withoﬁt hindrance.

"Fifth: Whereas the Sublime State - may the Lord
of Creation preserve it! - favored us with universal equa-
lity and complete freed;m, so that there should be no dis-
tinctions or degradations in addressing persons, and so
that all the old principles should be changed in what con=-
cerns the registers,357 and whereas new taxes have been
levied on all, we pray that all this may be kept in mind
by your Beatitude.

"Sixth: The submission of the question of ma'mirs
in Kisrawan to the orders of your Beatitude is done ;n
condition that the order of the ma'mir be effective on every-
one without exception in accordanc; with the reform measures
taken, so that from now on no one will be set apart and dis-
tinguished from the general public except for the ma'mir
himself. As for those remaining of thdr Excellencieé the

Shaikhs, if any offenses on their part occur against the

357."’huﬁerresumably, the registers of
tax assessment.
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people, they shall be punished in accordance with the laws
it
upon confirmation by the council, as/shall be done to offend-

ers from among the people,

IV. (To Patriarch Mas'ad.)

-

"Previously a petition was laid before you from us
in particular and from the family in general, concerning
the prevailing conditions and the excitement, in simple form.
We all agreed on complete quiet and forbearance from the least
possible cause (for trouble), so much so that we were willing
to bear all insults, expecting that in that way the situation
would become quiet. For the complaint of those who were ex-
cited was against the overlordship of the family, and we
thought that if we gave up the overlordship, the excitement
would cease. We were all expecting your Beatitude to honour
us (with a visit) to prescribe the treatment (tc cure this
situation). At this time there arose a new various aims
to further this excitement. A4 coﬁncil was formed in al-Zuq
exceedingly ﬁell situated to spread these aims because of
the connection of this council to Beirut. There was in this
council a strange diabolic policy to impregnate everyone in
Beirut, from the high-ranking to the humble, with those of
the aims that was appropriate to him: to the governor what
was agreeable to him, to the Qa'im Maqdm the same; the Muslim

would be indoctrinated with what he desired, the foreigner °



the same, and similarly the Christians of various sects.

By this indoctrination you see that the excitement was agree=
able to all; and in the same way the policy was used with the
common people. The wise persons among the people tried to.
persuade the council that the (proper) aim was solely to
improve and reform the overlordship, not to destroy it, and
that should the excitement reach the highest degree, the
reform would not be achieved. The ignorant people have

been fully indoctrinated, each according to his interests.
The agitators among the people are persuaded that since they
have openly become involved in hostility (to the Khazin
family), they no longer have security in the corinuance of
the family or its authority, for whenever the situation becomes
quiet, the family will certainly destroy them. There now
prevalls a hellish situation, so much that they cannot ima-
gine that the pillars of hell could support more. Am what
has newly happened in stimulating the excitement would take

a long time to describe. The day before yesterday there was
a plot to gather the people together and send them to Beirut.
The agltators arranged that T&nyfs Sh&hIn of Raiflin, the wakTl
of the villages, would get up at night, fire shots in his
house, and call for help saying that the Shaikhs had ambushed
him. This was done; a large crowd gathered and went down to
al-Zuq, from whence they were sent to Beirut. A petition

was formed for every village, containing the enumeration of
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all sorts of outrages and composed according to the incli-
nations of all (the types of people) we have mentioned. With
them (the crowd from Zug) went members of the polygot council
of al-Zuq and other people from al-Zig. And the next night,
which was the day before yesterday, there was another trick,
by which $511Q Jirjis Manslr was also "attacked", and shots
were fired in the night, until the excitement reached the
highest degree. The people of 'Ajaltin brandished their
weapons at our cousins, insulteé them with unbearable inso-
lent words, and threatened them with destruction. Our cousins
stood by their weapons and wrote to our cousins in Ghusta to
come and defend them. They remained in this situation and
kept their patience till morning. In brief, the shedding of
blood has become closer than the eyelid is to the eye.358
May the Creator be graglous by blessing your prayers andpre-
venting ruin. It will now have become apparent to your‘wisdom
and zeal how necessary it is that you should hasten to honour
us (with a visit),, even if you are in poor health - may God
forbid such a thing. This petition of ours is presented in
the gpirit of our belonging to your Beatitude, and for this
reason we take coumge and submit that the prevailing opinion
among the common people is that the delay in your honouring
us (by coming) results from indifference, while most of the
reasonable people explain that the delay 1s made in order that
the matter be dealt with in the proper way. But actually the

358, ‘1.e., imminent.
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situation is otherwise, for with your delay the excite-
ment 1s increasing hour by hour, and the danger of ruin
is imminent, as we submitted., This is all that could
be presented briefly. The matter rests with you. May

your life be long.

'Abbas Shaiban al Khézin

gge 165 V. (The people of al-Zluq, who were the heroes of the re=-

volution and had taken the lead in starting 1t, had written
at the onset of the action to the Patriarch as follows):

"0 most holy Father, universal in blessedness,

"Qur petition, after kissing your sacred foot-
steps and seeking the goodness of your apostolic prayers,
concerns the fact that discord has arisen between us and

e 166 their respected Excellencies Shaikh Yusuf Radwan and

Shaikh 'Abb@s Shaiban al-Khazin. We now understand that
all thir Excellencies the Shaikhs of the Khazin family
are meeting in one of the villages of Kisrawan and are
gathering together with the intention of besieging us in
our places aﬁd robbing us of our possessions. We do not
know whether they will actually do that or not, but for
fear that they might carry out their intentions we are
present ing this petition to your Beatitude's sacred hands,

seeking your paternal compassion, that you-may consider our



protection in accordance with the wisdom of your Blessed-
ness. At the same time we have presented petitions to
His Grace the Consul-General of the great French Govern-
ment, for the sake of our safety and in consideration of
the matter of our protection. Everything depends on the
command of your Beatitude, May God perpetuate the days

of your Blessedness, our Master.

"Your servants,

December 10, 1858. _
The people of Zuq MIkayil"

VI. (One week later (December 18) the people of Mazra'ah
Kafar Dabyan, fellow-villagers of Antlin Rahir al-‘AqiqI,
author of these "Memoirs" sent a petition to the Patriarch
in which they complained against certain members of the

Khazin family., Here is its text):

"Most Holy Father,

"After stooping to kiss the ground where your most
sacred feet have trod, praying fo; the continuation of
your noble Beatitude, and seeking blessing from your most
holy mouth forever, our plea is to disclose to your Bea=-
titude's hearing what concerns Ilyas Ibn YUsuf al-Zukh
and ho; he was lost for a period of a month and a half,

and was searched for by means of sanctions359emanating

3590 .Crl—_‘)f-.
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from your Beatitude. And now 'Abdullah Jarbfi' has come
from Bga'tlita and concluded after talking to our priests
and prominent men of the village that their respected
Excellencies Shaikh Haikal T{im& and Shaikh SarkIs Jad
al-Kh¥zin seized him (i.e. Ily&s) in a place called S&g-
iyah al-@arIqah at the outskirts of the village and sealed
his mouth with a handkerchief. This was on Tuesday even-
ing. After they had tied him, and the a@bresaid 'Abdallah
and this prisoner went with them to Saglyah Bqﬁ'iuta, the
aforesaid 'Abdullah left them and went home, while their
Excellenciés took the prisoner on the road and went to-
ward the Monastery of Our Lady; and it is not known what
else happened. This is what was contained in the trans-
cribed report.

We have laid it before your Beatitude so that all
may be known to you. We prostrate ourselves at the feet
of your Beatitude in supplication that you shall command
us to do whatever is right, hopeful that we shall continue
to be included in your prayers. May Almighty God prolong

the noble presence of your Beatitude forever. Amen,

"The people of Mazra'ah

December 18, 1858 Kafar Ibyan"



VII. (While we were copying these letters in the 1lib-

rary at BkirkI, we came across another petition with the
same content, written by the people of some of the rebelling
villages, with the date omitted, to Bilus Mas'ad also. Here

-

is its text):

"Most Holy Father, may God prolong his life, Amen.

"After kissing the places where your most sacred
feet have trod, with all humility and respect, and seeking
the Apostolic Blessing from your most holy”ﬁputh forever,
we plead: that the news is known to have reached your
noble ears of the dispute existing among the family of thelr
Excellencies the Khazin Shaikhs because of their devious
plans about which they have their secret thoughts. This
dispute has done obvious harm to us. Although one group
among them desire us to support them in order to complete
their plans that they have laid aanhe other does not want
our support, both are employing 1n§ults and blowe on us to
fulfill their aims. Because of this we are caught in a
(painful) dilemna, so much so that from the start of this
dispute we have had no security, peace, oOr quiet. For if
we obey the one side, the other will set a trap for us to
upset our peace; and matters have already progressed in
that way more than we could bear, by the outright killing,
which 1is ﬁell known to your Beatitude, of some of the
prominent among us, by robbing our property, and by outrages.
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At the same time we kept quiet, hoping that that was a
temporary incident and would pass away and cease, and
desiring to keep the peace and taking into consideration
the nobility of their forefathers. Now, upon thorough
consideration and deliberations upon that matter by all

of us, we have found that the past, as compared to the
present and the future, is to be reckoned as nocthing. For
this reason we can no longer bear the unbearable, and in
protection to the lives of all of us and in order to pre-
serve our honour and status, we, the people of the villages
listed below, have met together, and after thorough con-
sideration of our existing means of protection against what
we have enumerated, we have found no sure way to ward off
the said evils from us as a group and individually, except
to bind ourselves together in the spirit of love free from
decelit, and to stand aside from all disturbing causes,

Upon the occurence of oppression in any village, a petition
shall be presented to whoever is in authority on behalf of
all of us as a group. This bond has been entered into by
all of us, and we have confirmed it by grave oaths. We
have drawn up a list of our grievances by which to clarify
our compact. And because the peace of your children 1is

a special concern of your Beatitude, it was necessary to
present the petition of this to your blessed person, so
that it might reach the honoured ears of your Beatitude.

Consequently, if now you command anything conducive to the
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welfare oy}our oppressed children concerning what we asked
of Him (Géd), whose station is illustrious, He will guard
for us the honour of your presence, coupled with glory
and power. We repeat the kissing of the earth under your
sanctified feet with great reverence and humility. May

God, be He exalted, prolong your presence forever., Amen,

"The people of GhadIr, J'aitd, Ballunah, D&rayyi,
'Ajaltiin, Raifun, 'Ashqﬁt, Biq'ata, 'Ashqllt, al-
dlai'Et, Mazra'ah,-Kafar Dby&nﬁ' ‘

VIII. "Most Holy Father,

After kissing the ground under your Beatitude's pure
feet, seeking your Apostolic blessing, and offering ﬁrayer
to God for the continuance of your life forever: We submit
to your noble personage that it is not hidden from your
Begtitude at this time that there prevails a great un-
easiness over the presence of the Shaikhs in the seat of
the Maronite faith, on the part of all the people. We beg
your Beatitude most earnestly to remove them from the said
place, for the chief reason (for the trouble) is their
presence there, as 1s known, It is not possible to put off
and delay the people except by their (the Shaikhs') removal,
by bringing a large band of men. In any case, yo&r Beati=-
tude does not wish this cause (of trouble), for far be it
from your wishes that it should happen, In addition to this,

we beg that peace may be made general and the trouble
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ensuing from this business be averted. With all honour and
respect we repeat the kissing of your feet, and may God -
be He exaltedd - prolong your stay (on earth) forever.

-

"Your children

January 3, 1859.
The people of the villages of Kisrawd@n."

IX. '"Most Holy Father,

"After kissing the ground where your feet have trcd,
with all honour and respect, seeking the Apostolic blessing
from your most holy mouth forever, and praying for the
continuance of the honour of your Beatitude's presence:

We submit to you that yesterday morning, Tu;sday, two men
came to us from al-=QGlai'at asking that wakIls be sent from
the district of Dlibti,h'Aerﬁn, and al-Judaidat to attend

a meeting in the villageqof Raifun. There was general debate;
and this, by request of Shaikh T&nyUs Sh&hIn, was verbal,
without written record. After the two men went away from
us, our brother Shaikh Saj'@n al-'Udaiml came with about

40 men, carrying in his haﬁd a written statement signed by
the wakIls, the portent of which, according to its literal
text, was, "Kindly give consideration (to what we reguested
of you)"36° We your children have consulted among ourselves
(and agreed) to go tomorrow, Thursday, to D1ibta and ask
the people of Ghlsta and ShnanTr, After deliberation among

360, AL Ly, ab Li > o) yo s o paian

.‘r;)i-”
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ourselves, we shall give him a reply. What we have noticed
in regard to Saj'an is that he has never taken from us
any written commitment to unite with him or with the
wakIls, so he feels free to mistreat any of us going to-
ward Jiniyah and elsewhere.
Since the meeting is tomorrow, we shall give him

the reply in Dlibta. We must present our case to the
ears of your Beatitude so that everything may continue
to be known to you. We ask God - be He exaltedd - to
support your leadership and inspire you with wh;tever may
lead to the welfare of our people. We repeat the kissing
of your footsteps with all humility forever.

"Your children,

January 12, 1859. - -
The people of 'Aramun and Judaidah"

X. The "Statement from the WakIls" mentioned in Letter

No. 9.

"To their Excellencies our esteemed and respected
brothers,

"After offaing our respects andagsking about your
wlshes: a number of persons are coming from your villages
to make it clear that all of your people are united in
deed and word, and that your inclinations are the same
as ours. Inasmuch as successive reports are reaching us

of actions by certain people among you in conflict with
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our actions and the good of the populace, it is necessary
for our brother Saj'an al-'Udaimi to visit each of your
villages to learn tﬁe trutﬁ from all of the population that
wish to unite with us; their union (with us) will be in
accordance with what they are told by our brother Saj'an,
whom we have mentioned. Whoever 1s in opposition, --God
forbid! - he will inform us so that we may be on our guard;
and this is sufficient.

"Your brothers,

The people of the allied villages."

(signed): Antfn Bisharah Qatt&n (seal)

Ilyas Khadra (seal)

Salih Jirjis (seal)
XI. "Most holy Father, may God - be exalted! - prolong
your life. -

"After respectfully kissing the ground where your
Beatitude's pure feet have trod, seeking your Apostolic
blessing,-and praying to the Almighty - may He be exalted! -
to grant perpetuation of your life: In accordance with -
your command, we sent your Beatitude's letter to the
Fathers the priests of al-Meazra'ah, éith the muleteer
Nasr As'ad of Biq'&td. No sooner had he arrived at Nahr
al-?alIﬁ than he ;as met by a group from the organization
of al-Mazra'ah., They beat him and struck him even more

than they had used to do, although he made them understand
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that he had the honour of bringing a letter from your
Beatitude to their priests. At that, they snatched the
letter and opened it, increasing their boisterousness

and speaking characteristically. After much discussion
they released him upon certain conditions, particularly
that if one of us killed any of your children, he should
be brought to justice. To date we have not received a
reply to forward to you, nor the flour.(?) It was ne-
cessary to lay this before you so that you may command
what your Grace wills, The purpose of our plea is that

we should continue to enjoy your satisfaction. We repeat
the kissing of the ground under your feet and direct our
prayers to the Aimighty - may He be exalted! - to preserve
your presence for the support and pleasure ;f everyone for-

ever,

"Your son,

January 18, 1859.
AmTn Kisrawan al-Kh&zin."

XII. March 1859.
"Most holy Father,

"After kissing the ground under the pure feet of
your Beatitude, seeking your Apostolic blessing andpraying
to the Almighty to prolong your life forever: we submit
to you that news has reached us that you convened some of
the wakIls and talked to them concerning three ma'miirs,
(officials), one for each district ('uhdah). Forﬁerly
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they used to receive thelr authority from the government,
since they were government officials. It is not we who
sanction their authority, and we shall not make any written
acknowledgment of their authority over us. We beg your
Beatitude, in as much as you are seeking (their appointment,
to wait till) after they go with us before the court of law,
and in accordance with its decision, we shall accept what-
ever you command. For when they do go to Beirut (to the
court) it will be only by your issuing of an order to them.
It is not expected that you will destroy the rights of your
poor children. We wish you had proceeded with this action,
before impositions and losses befell us, by doing what would
have been more suitable. For now some of them have returned
to their places and are full of insults and derision. From
the beginning, had we employed their methods, we would have
secured peace rather than respecting your Beatitude, your
prosperous council (Diwan), and the commands of his Grace
(the @&8'im Magam), may God support him. For it appears
that ou£ obedience to him (the Q&'im Mag@m) has led to

the destruction of our houses, as‘signs indicate to all our
peoples We have presented to your Beatitude and to the
Government a general wakIl who will present what we request
from the Khazin family and will consult us on anything new
that arises. When we heard this news we went to him be-

cause he was sick, and these things were unknown to him.

Because of this reply of his we have dared to submit this
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petition, And if your reply is issued to our general
wakIl in Raifun (Tanyls ShahIn) we shall do what you com-
mand. With all deference and respect we again kiss your
feets May God prolong your life forever.
Your$ servants, thePeople of the villages,"

XITII. Enjoying the attention of his Excellency the es-
teemed Shaikh TanyWls Sha&hIn, may his life be long,

"Our esteemed, beloved, dear, most exalted, and
respected son, may his life be long.

"After presenting you with the appropriate greet-
ings and inquiring after your previous health and your
well-being:

"We inform your reverence that on the last Feast
of Our Lady, which fell on the 15th of August, we sent
the mule-driver of the monastery to buy cheese from Sha'rah
in the Ba'albak country. The said mule-driver placed iﬁ
the hands-of one called Jirjis Jibran, from Mrzh el-MIr,
the cost of 40 ratls3610f cheese, the price per rotl being
8% gold and 2 silver pieces.362 The cheese was to be brought
here and weighed on our scales. The said Jirjis brought us
20 of the original 40 rafls at that time, but the remain-
der of the requested amount he has delayed in bringing

361, A ratl equals 2% kilograms.
362.  ry i WA s b I e



till the present time. Some time ago we sent the monas-
tery mule-driver to him with a paper stating our request
for what belongs to us, at which time he left his house
and the muleteer returned having accomplished nothing.
And now, since we understand that you have authority and
that you restore lost rights, we beg of your celebrated
zeal to restore the rights of your monastery. For on
account of the procrastination of this person we have
been compelled to buy cheese at a price of 15 per ra{l,
and for this he must reimburse us for the difference.
That is what thave to say; because of your zeal there is
no need for fufther clarification. May the Lord ... to
us your presence perpetually. February, 1859 ...

"Appealing to you

The priest

(signature 11legible)3®3

The servant of the Monastery of Bisharah."

XIV. "Enjoying the attention of their Excellencies our
great and illustrious brothers, the respected Tanytls
ShahIn, general wakil, and HabIb J&m&tI, may their lives

be prolonged.

"To their Excellencies our respected brother,

may their lives be prolonged.

"After our respects and bearing witness to you our

»

363° .L.)'“J'_""". . » -"
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brothers' goodness and generosity, we inform you our bro-
thers th;t Ga'd@n Bey (al-KhZzin) arrived tonight in al=-
Mazra'ah. We‘did not know where he was heading, for
sunse£ had come. Tight men‘were with him. For our part,
we are still hindered up to today from finishing the
matter of which you knowe We pray you to inform us
frankly of what has happened newly and what was declded
with his Beatitude. If it is necessary for us to come
now, we shall come with all possible speed, even 1f our in=-
terests demand otherwise, for they are private, while your
interests are general. We beg a reply with all possible
speed, for we are in great anxlety because we know nothing
of what has been happening. It appears that we shall com-
plete our business soon. May your life be prolonged.
February 20, 1859.

Written by your brother,

HabId al-Khiiri AqIqI"

(And in the margin:)

"After we wrote this it occurred to us to send
some people to him. A great crowd went to him, and imme-
diately he left the village in the middle of the night to
go to Big'ata. We shall send after him to discover what
h® is up %o and we shall imform you of it. We beg you
not to accept from the Shalkhs that you should take up
the case with them in the presence of his Beatitude, until

you see the seals of the entire Khazin family from the
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young to the old, and they (the segls) are affixed to their
papers of authorisation. You are more clear sighted than
we, and perhaps you will not accept from them, but ... we

(should 1like to) remind you about that."

XV, "Most Holy Father, ' ~ )

"After kissing the earth upon which your Beati-
tude's pure feet have trod, seeking your Apostolic blessing,
and 6ffenlng prayers to God to prolong your life forever:
We submit that we were honoured to receive your Beatitude's
letter and praised the Creator that you are pleased. You‘
wrote for us to come to kiss your footprints in order to
deal with the matter., What we understand from the wakIls
is that you spoke to them of three ma'mirs, that is, ma'milrs
for each district ('undah). But after the debate in the
council concerning fhe previous dispute, and since Shaikh
'Abdullah Kha{{ar arranged in Beirut that on Monday, the
fast dayy they will come to the council, for that reason
we refused to deal with matters until they came to the
coundile This is what we must lay before you. We repeat
the kissing of your fingertips, and may God perpetrate
the pleasure of your life forever.

March 6, 1859.
"Your son

TEnyus Shahtn"36%

364k, Yazbak has told the translator that
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"Your sons the wakIls of 'Ashqut: Kan'&n Shibll,
BEkhls Abu Ghalib, SarkIs Mas'ad, 'Abdullah Mis&, Hannd
Dahir al Hajj, Ydsuf Anton Nagr, SarkTs TEbit.
"The wakIls of Biq'At&: Faris Manslr, Janadyls al-
Kh@irT, Jirjis Na'man, YGsuf KhalwBn.
"The wains of Raiffin: Marfn BarjTs, Nekhil Sfair,
FEris al-Hawat, Faris Antlin, 'Abdullah Sim'an, Manstr DaryZn,
"The wakIls of Qlai'ﬁgi Hassan §fa£r, Jirjis Tannus
gfair, Bu;rus Kan'&n Kassab; WakTm al-QE'I, Ya'qUb Mufarrij.
"The wakTls of Ballfinah: Khalll ai-Mazzﬁq.
"The wakIls of al-Suh&ilah: YupannZ al Shamall,
Sallba al-Q&'I, Sulaiman al-Shamall.
"The wakIls of J'Ttah: Nasr Niqild, Marin al-Qim.

-

The people of 'Ajaltun."

XVI., "The items demanded by us from the Khazins.

"Article 1. General claims shall be settled by two
elected individuals, one elected to represent us and the
secord elected to represent the shaikhs. Whatever amount
it is decided that they owe shall be paid immediately.

"Article 2, The shaikhs shall pay the expenses
that we have incurred because of them, our payment of money
exacted from us and the fees of the wakTls,

"Article 3. The rank of the shaikhs shall be the
same as ours in all things without any exception whatever.

"Article 4, None of the shaikhs shall be appoint=-
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ed as a ma'mlir over us.

"Article 5. The donation taxes which they are
imposing upon us on the basis of receipts given at the
time of their sale to us of places belonging to them,
whereas they have been exacted by force, shall be null
and void for the past, the present, and the future."

(Without date)

XVII. (This letter, also without date, is written in
the same handwriging as the "articles" (No. XVI) and on
the same paper, and is connected with it.)

"After kissing the ground upon which your Beati-
tude's sacred feet have trod, with all honour and respect,
seeking the abundance of the Apostolic blessing, and pray-
ing for the honour of your Beatitude's presence forever,
we submit: that on Thursday, the 30tﬁ of last month, the
respected Fathers Bufrus Manassa and 'Abdulleh al-Mu'annaq
came with several priests, by your oréers, and a numﬁer
of notables well known in all five villagess There was
a meeting of all our wakIls in the village of Raifiin,
and after the meeting there were speeches by the priests
and the others addressed to all our wakIls concerning your
Beatitude's orders for improvement and pacification of our
relations-with their Excellencies the Kh@zin Shaikhs = a
thing which we desire with all our hearts, in obedience

to your command. From the begimning of the disturbances
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we have not rejected the idea of a reconciliation, which
would bring peace to all of us. But it is no secret

to you tHat their Excellencies up to now have not abated

in presenting petitions to the Government in which they
make false complaints, while on the other hand they send
petitions to your Beatitude about a reconciliation, which
throws doubt upon their good intentions. Besldes that,
they are finding ways to harm us by means of their oppress-
jons. It has been confirmed to your Beatitude by Shailkhs
Haidar and Ramih and the priest IghnatiylUs al-Kh&zin, to-
gether with Buprus Tannlls of 'Ajeltlin and Mansur Bujrus

of Raiffin, how in the village of Lijfid they were insulted
and painfully beaten, so that as a result they were wound ed
and confined to their beds, and are (still) not free of
danger., Nevertheless the fact is, in truth, despite thelr
disreputable deeds and intentions they do evil things and
attribute them to us. And now after our meeting, in accord-
ance with your command, we have made up our minds that we
shall all be satisfied with laying our wishes and our obe-
dience in all humility under your command, hoping from the
nobility and graciousness of your character that you will
accept our petition here presented, and that 1t will re-
ceive consideration, in accordancevith your wisdom, for
what peace and tranquility it may promote for all of us.
We, presenting it, offer our obedience to you in the words

of our own tongues, for the sake of our tranquility. We



pray that it may be accepted, and in all respects author-
ity is yours. The object of our plea is that we may con-
tinue to enjoy your pure and noble consideration. May God
prolong the honour of your presence forever. Amen.

"Your children,

The people of Kisrawdn in a body."

XVIII. "Most holy Father, may your life be perpetuated.
"ifter kissing your pure footprints with all respect
and seeking your Apostolic blessing forever, we submitj that
we understood the letter that came from his Excellency
Shaikh YGsuf 'Id al-Khazin to their Excellencies his cousins,
and the earne;tness of the message of the wakIls to his
Excellency. Because of this it seemed good to us to send
the son of your Beatitude, our son Yusuf, in hopes that he
might facilitate the handling of the matter with them. They
replied only that it was impossible for them to accept a
ma'mir from among their Excellencies the Shaikhs, and that
th;y had certain rights that they wanted to regain without
anyone else's mediation. Our son (Ylsuf) understood from
them that tﬁey remained determined and in a state of complete
excitement that would pave the way to ruin, so that even if
the office of Ma'mur were abolished, their aim would continue
to be the takingnof their rights which they are determined
to have, without due process of law., For with conditions

such as they are, we have become afraid that a cause of
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trouble may occur at any moment, and this time the situation
is not safe as it used to be%ss We are ashamed to have to
call upon the paternal zeal of your Beatitude to prevent this
eiltement. Whatever you see fit to do and whatever God ins-
pires you to do, we ask Him who is most high to keep your
Beatitude, and we repeat the kissing of your footprints,
May your presence be prolonged forever.

"Your son,

May 8, 1859.
Ya'qUb al-BItar.

XIX. "Most holy Father,

"pfter kissing the ground upon which your pure feet
have t rod, seeking the Apostolic blessing from your holy
mouth, and praying for the continuance of your leadership
perpetually, we submit to your generous attention: A man
from one of our villages, Shnan'Ir, a lime-seller by trade,
was gsked by the most respectfui Bishop Agh8blyls to work
for him. When he arrived in Mazra'ah Kafar Dabyan he en-
countered some people of that villége who beat him painfully
and stripped him. Then two men from al-Judaidah were fourd
in another place by the trouble-makers and were treated in
the same way as the man from Shnan'Ir.

Then, following the foregoiné petition: An official
letter came from T&nyfs ShEhIn in which he mentioned that he
plans to come with an army of 800 men to Mi'r&b and ask from

each of our villages 200 uqgq@s(500 1b.) of bread, plus one

365, 'c———-:l—Jl?gu ¥i ullein , This appears
to be a reference to the colloquial proverb,

"i ENIUC SR %,
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plagre from each man.

If we delay, he will send to the coastal towns
for trouble makers to come and assault us in order to
procure the amount now demanded. Whereas we your child=-
ren from the start have entrusted our situation to your
Beatitude, body and soul, and whereas from our part
there has been no excitement or disorder, we must submit
the matter to your compassion. Our complaint is that

Pgge 182 first of all, most of our villagers left thelr homes
this year, some going to Beirut and some to other places.
Because of the prevailing hardships, they could not grow
silk because of the high prices of silkworms' eggs, and
consequently were unable to earn their daily-bread. Re=
maining thus in their houses, unpble to buy their daily
bread, how could they pay anything to Tanylis? Neverthe-
less, we have found a way to fulfill his demand . Perhaps
he might place himself in the hands of your Beatitude as
we have done, put an end to the agitation, and bring peace
and quiet to everyone. If the matter is dealt with in
this way, then we shall exert ourselves to fulfill Tapus'
request, even if it costs us two plastres to give one. -
And if - God forbid - they (T&nyWs and his men) continue
to act as they now do, this demand of theirs will bring
them no return. On the contrary, ruin will doubtless come
down upon them, soul and body. We advised them (of this)
many times, but they did not accept our advice. May the

Creator be generous to us and to them. This is what we
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must lay before you. We pray that we shall continue to
enjoy your noble consideration. May God keep you with us
for many years. Aren.

May 19, 1859.

"Your children: "Your children "Your children
The pecple of The people of The people of
al-Judaidah. Shnan'Ir. D1libta

-

"Your children  "Your children

The people of The people of

tAramin, Ghiista."

XXe 366The Apostolic blessing is extended over our
children the most honorable wakils of the village of Kis-
rawan,

After sending our good wishes: We desire that you
come to us in BkirkI on this day, Wednesday, even if it be
after sunset, so that we may explaln to you what is ne=-
cessary concerning the current incidents. Do not delay
in coming after these lines reach you. Once again the
Apostolic blessing is extended over youe.

June 15, 1859,

The poor Bulus Biiles.
Butrus,the Patriarch The seal of Butrus
of Antioch." The Patriarch of Antioch.

366. This letter from the Patriarch is the
only one of this entire collection
written in clear and correct classical
Arabic.
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XXI. "Most holy Father,

"After kissing the places where the pure feet of
your Beatitude have trod, and seeking the Apostolic
blessing from your most holy mouth forever, we submit:
that this evening, Monday, Farj Qalawis of 'Ashqlit came
to us from you and explained to us verballyqthat it was
your Beatitude's idea that some men from the villages
should go to his Excellency the illustrious Amlr gasan.367
We did not know the reason necessitating that, for we
were not at fault and had done nothing against him,
And if there have been persons pursuing their own aims
who have made petitions to his Excellency which are at
variance with realities, that is something to which we
have done nothing similar. On the contrary, at all times
we are obedient to your orders and the orders of the
Sublime State - may the Lord of Creation preserve it!
This is what we must lay before you, and whatever seems
best to you, tell us of it, For all our people are obe-
dient to whatever you command, and we continue to offer
many prayers for your welfare. May God perpetuate your
1life.

June 22, 1859.
"Your children,
The wakIls of the villages

of Kisrawan."

367. AmIr Hasan AbT al-Lama', the
acting Q&'im Maq¥m. -
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XXII. (To TanyfUs Bey ShghTIn.)
"To his most illustrious and glorious Excellency:
"After our respects and asking after your precious
health - may God, be He exalted, grant that you are in
perfect health - we submit: what has happened on the part
of the army is that their intention is to go up and dis-
tribute munitions. We hope that you will und erstand
your business and make the necessary arrangements and be
on your guard. For the number of soldiers includes 250
men, plus 90 irregulars and Albanians, not more. Do
not expect them to be more. What I understood from the
soldiers themselves is that at the beginning of the battle
they will surrender to you.368The shaikhs have gone to
KgkhI Pashd, so, God willing, they will go up before the
soldiers;enlist your men for servie, and prepare for war,
because if there is a surrender or running away 1in secret,
the country would be ruined. For the Qaww§§ (kevass)
of his Grace the French Consul told us that. Take care
that none of the enemies cheat you, for they aredecelt-
ful and confirmed cheaters. We have from GhadIr about
50 men standing ready by their arms. So if it is necessary,
let us know so that we may come. We hope there will be no

fear; all the villages in our vicinity have come to us,

SO [ETT FURPIPY L
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having been informed by your Excellency to come. Streng-
then yourself for war. May God give you victory over
yowr foes, and may God prolong your life,
July 17, 1859.

"Your brother,

'Abdullgh al-KhirI."
XXIII. (To Shaikh T&nyQs Sh&hIn)

"To his illustrious, glorious, respected Ex-

cellency, may his life be prolonged.

"After tendering our profuse respects and ardent
good wishes, desiring your kind attention with all good=
ness and bountrys:

We begin by saying that a debt is owed to us by
Shaikh Sim'a@n Ibn Niqula Haidar Hubaish, of GhazIr, in
accordance-with the written statement here enclosed, in
the amount of 160 piastres, from last year. We have
asked for it repeatedly, but he continues to procrastinate.
We beg you to sign the enclosed letter for us with your
seal at this time, for perhaps he will pay us. If he
does not pay and yet does not contest our right, we
know of no way to get the money except through your efforts,
for you have the means of obtaining it, and your words are
heeded by the said shailkh. He will accept what you say and
desist from his procrastination and excuses. We ask the
Almighty - may He be exalted - to prolong your life.
September.B, 1859.

"Your brother;
Mikhayil 'Agaf (7)369

369. The guestion mark is Yazbak's.
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XXIV, "To his Excellency, the most illustrious, glorious,
respected, and esteemed Tanyls Bey, may his life be pro-
longed.

"After expressing our hope that you are well and
asking after your health = we were honoured to recdve
your letter dealing with the matter of the trouble that
has arisen between their Excellencies our brothers,
Messrs, Hann& NehrZ al-Hadd&d and his nephews HabIb
and Haidar. One of them, Hamnna, came to inform us of the
aggressions of his nephews against him. In connection
with him you directed us to send our brother Sim'Zn
'Atalldh to investigate, and afterwards to give §our
éxcellency a description of the situation by means of a
written report, so that justice might be done by punish-
ing the aggressor by order of the Government. All that
has been understood. But since we were quite certain of
your constant desire for 1d@ve and friendship with every-
one, and that you absolutely did not want there to be aay
causes for the cessation of the general peace, in accord=-
ance with your upright inclinations we have resolved the
issue between the two parties by sending the Fathers,
the priests of the locality, and we have removed all issues
between them to their satisfaction. As we said, since the
exlstence of peace is pleasing to you, we have lost no
time in submitting it (the petition). We seek Divine
favor for your support, and may God prolormg your life.

' "Your brothers,

The wakIls of 'Aramun."
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XXV. (To Shaikh Tanyus ShahIn)

"To his.most illustrious, glorious, and respected
Excellency, may his life be prolonged !

"After tendering our respects ;nd asking after your
well-being, we submit; that on this date Sim'an and Jir-
Jis Rigan were carrying several ratls of vegegables to
sell them, when Faris al-Ard and some people from Nahr
al-S5alfb appeared, shouted to them that they were the
tenants37oof Shaikh Y@suf 'Id (al-Kh&@zin). They took
two MajIdl riy&ls from them to keep until they (Sim'an
and Jirjis) could produce an order from your Excelléncy
to give back the two riy&ls. We therefore beg you to
give them (Sim'an and Jirjis) a letter from your Excellen-
cy to carry wiéh them so that no one may obstruct them
on the road, for we authorised them to take to Shaikh
Yusuf his provisions, vegetables, and all that he desires.
Without a written statement from you they can bring no-
thing. This is what we must say; and may your life be
prolonged.

"Your brothers,

September 18, 1859,
P ’ Butrus al-gajj."(2)371

370, " el 5 2
371. The question mark is Yazbak's.

-
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And in the margin?

"Also, concerning the uncultivated lands3720f
Yusuf 'Id (i.e. Shaikh YUsuf al-Khazin) there are comp-
1aints-about them,

"We beg you to give them (the owners) a letter to
warn them so that thils aggression shall not take place,

because the cattle .., (rest of the phrase cut off)."

XXVI, (From the "priest" Yuhannz al-HabTb to Patriarch

Blilus Mas'ad).
"Most holy father, may God perpetuate his noble

presence, -
"After kissing the ground where your pure feet
have trod, with all humility and respect and seeking the
issue of the Apostolic blessing from your most pure mouth
forever.,
"I was most honored to receive your Beatitude's
generous letter, of this month.373l praised Him = ma§ He
be exalted! - for your well-being and peace of mind, seek-
ing from Him - may He be praised! - to preserve for us your
presence from all evils and trougles perpetually. What you

commanded your son to do I have cagrried outj; but no result

372, " 2l ,>":forests or uncultivated land
used for grazing or wood-cutting. Bvi-
dently Shalkh Y@isuf's cattle grazing on
this land are tresspassing on other per-
,sons' property

373« \sJL__edlﬁ; 3 iiterally "the current," or
"instant." It could here mean "the current
day", but more probably there is a number

missing; a date of the current month.
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has been obtained @xcept that I have endured fatigue and
have been consoled by my thoughts. This is what must be
laid before you, hoping from ... universal ... that I
may continue to enjoy your blessed favor and have the honor
of serving you. I repeat the kissing of the places where
your pure feet have trod with respect.

"Your Beatitude's son

October 17, 1859. -
(the one who 1is known to you.")

(And in the margin:)

"Since you previously ordered me to remain here, I
submit to‘you the fee of the messenger. I submit that it
was 29 plastres, of which one MajTdT Riyal was to here
and the remainder to a messenger whom I sent to Brummana
to deliver the reply to Shaikh 'Id in connection with what
I had brought to his attention." Were 1t not for the large
amount I spent for benefits negljected by everyone else,
such as the cost of riding animals for Journeys, messengers,
and bearing the expenses of food and drink, excluding the
hardships of fatigue, I would not have brought this matter

before yous I am at your orders."

XXVIII. "Having the honour to kiss the hands of the greatly

respected Father, the respected priest Yuhanmnd @abib, may

God - be He exalted! - prolong his goodness and his life,.
"Most respected Father, may God - be He exaltedj -

-

prolong his goodness and his life.
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"After kissing your unblemished hands and seeking
the benefit of your pure prayers of intercession forever:
The matter submitted to your Fatherliness is that we were
honoured by a visit from the representative of the great
state of France, who looked forward to seeing you in order
to confer with you. This being the case, I, your Father-
liness's son, fervently hope that you will do the honour
of visiting us. I am sending our mule-dirver Jibra'Il
so that he may be at your service. Since, as I have
sald, your presence is fervently hoped for, we pray you
to come, even though ... as you desire. We shall not
accept from your Fatherliness any excuse for failing to
come to us. We repeat the kissing of your hands, and
may God - be He exalted! - prolong your life.

"Your son,
October 18, 1859,
Tanylis Sh&hIn.

(And in the marginz:)

"P.S. The writer kisses your hands and asks after
the health of your Fatherliness, may his life be prolonged.
We repeat our wish that your Fatherliness come to honour
us in the morning, and that in the interests of your
comfort, arrangements have been completed to fulfill your
desires. His Excellency the most 1llustrious gentelman
Ydsuf Habballn kisses your kands and asks after the health
of your Fatherliness.

(The seal) Tanyls ShahIn."
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XXVIII. "By the Grace of God.,

"Being favored with the attention of the gracious-
Father, the priest Yuhanna HabIb, who is greatly respected,
may his life be long.

"Most respected and gracious Father,

"After a brotherly kiss andheartfelt wishes to behold
your countenance content with ever} bounty : We were most
fortunate to receive your Fatherliness's letter which ref-
lected the perfection of your qualities and in which you
displayed your treasured graciousness which has become known
to us. May we not lose the bonds of your affection, and
whatever good wishes you hold toward us, we reciprocate
them many times over. We ask Him who 1s most high that by
His Grace we may meet at the earliest possible time.

"Then, concerning what you mentioned in connection
with meeting his Excellency your son, Mr. T&nyls ShahIn:
You and he did not come to an agreement, for your Father-
liness wants first of all a letter from us so that the
people can be informed of what the decision is. Above all
your Fatherliness knows that we have no object except solely
the general good, which we love from the bottom of our hearts;
for we see what harm is about to visit the people of Kisrawan
should no measures be taken to deal with this injury which
1s ready to bring death to its friend, Because of this,
in view of our vast and present love for the people of

Kisrawan, we must exert ourselves in dealing with this matter
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which has been handled in a disorganised way,3/® and which those
with evil motives desire to spread. For what can be done, if the
people do not agree on a single course, and our effort goes in
vain? Therefore it is necessary that first the people agree,
whether to elect two ma'murs from the peasants plus a third
outsider such as Yusuf Karam, or something else: and after this
agreement they should present petitions concerning the matter to
the (Turkish) mushIr and to His Grace the esteemed General, our375
dean. God willing, with His help, we shall not fail to take no-
tice of all that would help in solving this problem and in fur-
thering the immediate and general good. The whole purpose is

that the opinlion of the masses may be resolutely invited. We

met with His Grace the General, and the necessary negotiations in
this particular took place; God willing, the outcome of this matter
will be favorable. Later another matter will be laid before you.
If it 1s suitable, hasten to present the petitions in accordance
with what was agreed when we parted, signed by the populace, So
that an effort may be made to carry out the order as desired. Your
Fatherliness is aware that the more there is neglect in finishing
this action, the more its completion will be difficult, and the
more difficult it will be to heal this wound without amputation.

. 191 Because of your wisdom

37%e "L— 5wl Ly 22U The writer in an attempt ato
erudition has misused a classic idion which 1is
sald to stem from the breaking of the great Ma'rib
Dam in Yemen. Tha Saba' (Sabaean) tribe fled in
confusion; hence the phrase .i____*u_§d1lr)ﬂl 547

or ey J¢ 9Y ) I
The idion properly connotes disorderly movement
or dispersion.

375. Probably a reference to the French Consul General.
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it is not necessary to elaborate excessively on this matter.
Always send us news of what happens. We repeat the kissing
of your hands a second and a third time, and may your boun-
ty continue.

October 20, 1859, "Hoping for your prayers,
F. Leroy. Father Frangols the Lazarite.

General Father in Syria."376

XXIX. "Most holy Father,

"After most respectfully kissing the ground under
your pure feet, seeking the grant of the Apostolic bless-
ing and offering of prayers of benevolence to preserve
the honour of your presence forever, I submit: I was ho-
noured to recelve two letters, one a reply and one inform-
ative. All that you commanded meets with the acknowledge-
ment of your son. Praise be to Him who is most high for
your well-being and comfort and the health of yow most
noble personage, who is the protection of peace and sta-
bllity throughout the centuries, Enclosed in my petition
is something I would be honoured to have you look at. I
seek the favor of being eternally included within the fold
of happiness, and I repeat the kissing of the ground under
your pure feet with the utmost respect.

October 27, 1859, "Your Beatitude's son,
The Priest Yuhanni HabIb

376. Plre Leroy was Father Superior of the
'An{Ur& monastery and chief of the
Lazarite mission in Syria. Presumably
this letter was written for him by a
Lebanese colleague,
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age 192 XXX. (A$ for Father Yuhanna HabIb's statement in the
sbore letter, "Enclosed in my petitian is something I would
be honoured to have you look at," it is a "shuggah" ( a
secret letter) on two sheets of paper, in four filled

pages. Here is its text):
"What you wrote on the three pages meets with my

obedience: First of all I ask you to overlook my anger
that I displayed previ ously. What caused it was fear of
de@struction, and I believe that your doing Jjustice would
meet with no obstruction from me because of my clear con-
science. The 29 plastres that were paid to the messenger
are still with the messenger. He was greedy and wanted to
take all of them, even though I had bargained with him for
one Majldaf riyal, the remainder being the wage of a messen-
ger to Brumm#ZnZ. It has not been necessary to send him,for
by chance someone was going that way, with whom I sent a
short message to 'I. ('Ia Hatim)as you ordered.

What happeﬁed n;wly is that I received a letter from
the Amigo (i.ee Tanyls ShahTn) which I am sending you. I
went to him, but did not find the government representa-
tive (i.es the French Consul). He told me that that was
a device on his part to prevent me from excusing myself
from coming, for he knew of my anger at his actions. He
told me tha£ the P;dre Frengois Leroy, theLazarite had
come from the country to 'Aintlr&. (The Padre) asked for

(Tanyus) so (Janyls) went to see him. (The Padre) inguired
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of him what was happening. (T&nyls)told him that the
people would only be satisfied with a ma'mir from among
the people themselves. The Father pledgéd himself to
(T&ny%s) on that, that they would agree on an individual
and present a petition tc the government of the MushIr

and that of the (Consul) General, The Father advised him
not to accept the office because it would be troublesome
to him, and said that he (the Father) would arrange a
fitting means of protection. He replied, "I do not seek
it (the office), but if they were to agree on me, what
could I do?" I was surprised at his words, and told him
that I would not believe it till I had written to the
Padre. 1 éent him (the Padre) a letter containing an in-
%uiry as to the substance of what the Amigo had told me,
and saying that if it were true, the people ought to be
informed of that. He sent me the enclosed reply; if 1t 1is
convenient, have it returned to me. As for the Padre's
enclosed comment, that he shares my opinion and the oéinion
of His Excellency etc., he was imagining that I wrote to
him that my belief was that (the ma'mir) should be from
the people themselves, while actualiy his Excellency and I
simply agreed that he (the Padre) should be asked for in-
formation. Both before the arrival of the Padre's reply
and after it, the Amigo sent asking for his agenés and
clients and urged then#o elect him as ma'mur over Kisrawan

within two or three days, for the Padre was trying to thwart
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him. They answered his request and toured the vi llages
fulfilling his wishes. After the arrival of the Padre's
reply to me, which was well known here, many people seﬁt
inquiries toc me which I answered. I considered gbove all
that we should agree on his election, because disagreement
would only lead him to insist on his goal. He promised me
that if this matter did not turn out in his interest, he
would return snd compromise, and would be satisfied to accept
a ma'mir chosen by the Q&'im Magam, on condition that he
be iéformed of him in adv;nce so that he could see whether
it was agreeable to accept him. He would also make the
condition that the man's subordinates must be from Kisra-
wan. Thils promise won-my agreement, gnd the villages of
the valley supported my opinion. As for the wakils of
Zug, the ignorant (i.e. common people) rose against them
and cried in a loud voice that their ma'mir was the AmIgo
(1.e. TanylQs Sh&hIn). I stayed with the AmTgo three days,
constantly repeating (my views) to him. It appeared he
was determined to have the office, and that if he did not
get it because he was disqualified, he thought to transfer
it to his nephew. Then the Padre promised me in his reply
that he would write to me again, but to this date no in-
formation has come to me from him. So far no objectives
have been forthcoming and I do not know what has happened to
the Amigo since I returned from him three days ago. For

he was concerned with the petitions and in a hurry to
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collect and present them. Today I received news that

he was no longer hurried and that he said that I had the
petitions for office (i.e. for his election), so there

was no hurry, This led me to suppose that he had received
word from the Padre that his request had not been fulfilled;
. and it is probable that it was not fulfilled, for the con-
suls do not agree to it because he has incurred the anger
of the government.

My belief 1s that the situation in Kisrawan will not
improve, except either by compelling force to check the
present growing rebellion, - for even if they were to accept
a ma'mur chosen by the government and asked for him they
woulé not obey him - or by the AmTgo compromising and
solving the excitement, or by giving the office to him;
and this is the quickest way to quiet the situation. It
is also best for the shaikhs (the Kh@zins), for if the
ma'mir was someone other than he, they would be worried
about their possessions, whereas if he were the ma'mur,
they would be able to return and regain their stolen
possessions and provisions. For the AmIgo when he became
the ma'mur would exploit his position (beneficially), do
justic; and dissolve extremism;377 for he would not longer

cook in large pots378 nor heed the ignorant.H&semen would

O3] _
377 | Jems Saly Jew 2

378, " oAl Al i, e,, entertain lavishly
to sollicti the support of large num-
. bers of people.
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surround him, and he would listen to them. This course
would be more successful than others. All the courses
have thelr dangers except for this one. But everyone will
oppose this idea with heresy and unbelief and because the
idea is sourd, evil-doers and those with selfish aims
will not allow it to be fulfilled. I wrote to Shaikh 'Id
about it and also to the priest Hannd, even though I might
be considered ignorant or an unbellever by other persons.

There is no response now from Beirut and the matter
of the petitions of election has become a passing amusement
to the Government,

There continues to be speculation over the outbreak
of fighting between the Christians and the Druses.

The Mutasallim of Zahlah3/’continues in his usual

situation;

The school continues to be in the situation des-

cribed,

When the AmTgo asked for me, he delegated me to
submit to you what he had told me from the Padre, about
+380

the need to delay tha until the reply arrived from the

Padre, After the reply came, I made him understand the
necessity to wait for the letter that the Padre had pro-

mised us in his reply. I came from him in these circums-

379. The Muslim Turkish official who had
been placed over the town at the re-
quest of the inhabitants. _

380, 1i.e., selection of the ma'mur.
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"We submit to your Beatitude:

"On October 25 a letter reached us from his Grace
the (Consul) General of the French Government, just as
letters were :=nt to others than us, totalling seven in
all: to his Reverence Bishop Niq@ild Murad; the clergy-
man JQnadiyUs, general director of the Aleppine monks ;
to Father Francis Zwain; to Father HannZ@ HabIbj; to Father
'Abdullah 'AqIqI; and to Father Butrus Sfair. All of
éhem carriéd a single theme = that the rumor spreed by
TanyQs ShahIn, on behalf of the Padre Frangols the
Lazarite, that the said (Congul) General had voiced his
wish that the said T&nyls be ma'mur over Kisrawdn - that
all this troubled him (the Consﬁl) greatly, because there
was no truth to it as regards either the (Consul) General
or the aforementioned Padre. The only element of truth
was that Tanyls went to the said Padre expecting sympathy
for the sake of his personal status and the status of
Kisrawan in general saying that the people desired a ma'miir
from among themselves. The afore-mentioned (Padre) rep;
lied that he would intercede with the (Consul) General
for the protection of Tanyls' person, and in the interests
of Kisrawén, if it were possible, to have three ma'mirs,
one from outside and two from Kisrawdn under his (the
outsider's) orders, All this he made clear to him and
submitted it to His Grace tie MushIr, but it brought no
result except that he (the MushIr) showed his anger and
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strong displeasure. This was the essence of the letter,

He desires us to show his letter to the people in our
district. For our part, since at the time the letter
arrived we were in GhazIr in order to deal with a claim

in connection with our judicial functions, and it had to

be finished, we were unable to attend at the time. We
thought that the Fathers referred to, representing every
district of Kisrawan, could make that (letter) public and
seek to do what was written in the said letter. When we
departed from GhazIr, on the road we met Fathers Yuhanna

and Frangols, and asked them what had taken place. They
replied that the people of the valley were behaving as

the (Consul) General asked, and that they had encountered

us opposition. Therefore they are only awaiting the

(reply of) the others; perhaps the reply will be unanimous.
We in our district have publicised the letter, but the reply
has not been complete. On this date a meeting is taking
place in Raifun, and there is still no agreement on a single
reply. We ask the Creator - may he be exalted - through
your prayers to grant what is beneficial for yowr children
the people of Kisrawan as a body. We beg you, and beg again,
to extend to your children the hand of your concern for them
with what the Creator inspires you with for their welfare.
Your wisdom is abundant. There is no need to send any reply,

but rather that matter is dependent on your wisdom.
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XXXII. From the priest Yuhanna HabIb (later a Bishop)
to Patriarch Bilus Mas'ad.

December 19, 1359.

"I am submitting thils secretly to your person,
in view of my identity.

"After I was honoured with your Beatitude's letter
and the secret sheet enclosed, and after I asked His
Excellency Shaikh 'Id (Hatim) about matters related to
it and about the s%ate of conditions that le had noticed
in the general gnd local government, I went specially to
my friend (T&nymns) with his Excellency and spoke to him,
first privately and then in company (with 'Id Hatim). We
explained to him the consequences of the bﬁsiness and all
the risks and dangers that might occur. To some extent
he appeared to be convinced in accordance with your opin-
ion: That is, to present the above-mentioned thing in
the presence of the Q&'im Magam and the council, and a
sworn statement showiné his faithful dependence on the
advice of the populace with which he is associated. In
order to convince him (T&nyfs) of this I used the argument
that both his alliance with them (the populace) and his
position as general wakIl required him to obtain their

consent before making a decision;BazFor this reason

382.*#)#'}ru..:w|J%qJLUIFJJZ¢UI'
Lﬂ‘*‘#ﬂ‘),—@‘;),&d‘sduy‘m

A8 5y ding s eIl 1 1 s el iy iy
Ve JIAN U6 als ), Sal L, da L)



- 350 -

it was deemed desirable to hold a public meeting, and

a request went out to all the villages that their wa-

kTls should appear on Saturday in Raifiine On the same

day Shaikh 'Id went to them and found that in most
(villages) people were coming (to Raifiin) with the
exception of 'Ajaltun and its farms at Mazra'ah and its
surroundings, GhadIr, Juniyah, and Shnan'Ir; from these
places no one came. On the arrival of his Excellency ('Ia)
he met first with @abib al-JamdtI, and told him of what had
happened on his trip, and of his recent observations of
opposition from the other faction in al-Zuq, etc. After
that his Excellency entered the meeting place, proclaimed
the decrees of his Grace (the Q&'im Magam) and their Emi-
nences (?)383 plus an account of the decrees of the Mushir,
together with the necessary explanation of them, officially
and unofficially. He described the situation, contradicti ng
what was agreed on in the special meeting between us. But
by his thorough insinuation he was even able to convince
those present who were best known for their opposition =
the wakIls of 'Ashgiit and Raifun and Bishd@rah Ghanim and

a man from Harah Sakhr - to write replies to his Grace
(the Qa'im Magam) and their Eminences containing a summary
of the content of the decrees and showing this obedience,

(and to agree) that the cases raised against them, and

383, The question mark is the translator's.



claims laid by them and against them should be submitted

to a special council under the chairmanship and surveil-

lance of the Qa'im Magam. Whatever was asked of them

legally, they wéuld deliver it without appealing to the

Qa'im Magam on asking him to come to the district. His
age 199 Exéellency ('Id Hatim) left them in this condition,

leaving them-to re-draft the petitions and sign them,

On his return to them today, Sunday, he found that most

of the wakIls had gone, amd none remained except the
: wakils of Ralfin and 'Ashqlit, YUsuf Hab&lIn of al-Zig,
Bisharah GhZnim,and Mikhayil A}laf the latter being
present with the others though not sharing in their opin-
ion. When he asked about the petition that had been
written, he was answered by ?Enyus in the presence of the
populace, that they had declded to change the petition
into its present form z2nd that it would be written in no
other way. He asked them for the reasons. They replied
that the MushIr had not addressed them, so there was no
call for a reply to him. As for the Qa'im Magam, they did
not consider him to be the confirmed ruier, so his presence
need not be sought. They said that since the beginning of
their movement they had not strayed outside the bounds
of his (the Qa'im Magam's) opinion and guidance in what
they had done,- When neéessary they had petitioned him,
in writing and verbally, about certain pressing matters,

asking that they be set right, and he would answer "I am
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debatned before the court; you can see that I have been

summoned, together with a woman from Zaplah.Bsu"And he
would refer them to the MushIr. What they are now asking
is that if he (the Qa'im Maqam) is confirmed in office,
they want to become aéquainted with the high decrees 1issued
in this connection; and then, once they knew him to be a
Christian Q&'im Magam of conduct befitting his position in
the consider;tion of his co=religionists, they would put
their trust in him and seek his judgment of their claims.
The consider that this threatening and menacing conduct

of his was a result of the general agreement made among
the lamdholders; that the issue of the MushTIr's orders was
at his behestd and that if the Mushir had waﬁted them to
do that,385he‘would have written them special orders which
they would have obeyed without opposing whomever was em-
powered to govern them, be it the MushIr or the Qa'im
Magam. Then secondly he asked them about their answer to
their Eminences and zbout informing his Beatitude (the
Patriarch) of the opinion they would present to them. They
replied that when they received decrees of confidence in

384. AmIr BashIr ad, the Qa'im Magam, was
found in court to be indebted to a woman
from Zahlah for a piece of land he had
unlawfully seized from her. Count Eenti=-
voglio, the French Consul, made represen-
tations to the Turkish authorities asking
reduction of the AmIr's debt. (British
Consular Files, Beirut. Moore to Bulwer,
No. 1, January 10, 1860.)

385. L.es, if the Mushir really wanted the
people to obey the orders.



the confirmation of the Q&'im Magam and assurances of his

Just behavior toward themy they would not hesitate to

accept him.

Then he asked them thirdly about answering the
council and the judge of the (Maronite) sect, 386 and
how it would be, since they had been asked to give an
opinion about thelr decision to deal with the case of
Kisrawan, They answered that when the council was free,
and could conduct its work freely, then they would give
their reply. Previously they had asked for a "Majlis
Commission,“387 but their opponents had not accepted it
while conditions were thus. They were not secking anything,
but would reply to whatever was put before them, If the
MushTr came with troops to Kisrawan, they would meet him
at the river-crossing obediently, according to his wishes,
ete. These thoughts and contradictions were expressed

only by those who were already mentioned. The wakils of
'Ashqit, al-Qlai'at, Raiftun and 'Ajaltiin only.

- - -~

And written on a small clipping attached to this
letter:

"Since I must expect to inform 'Id of your reply
concerning what I have written concerning him, tell me how

I should write to him. Then because your letter was secret,

386. Each sect wasrepresented on the Majlis
of the Qa'im Magamiyyah by two members
one of whem was a Jjudgee.

387, A council designated to supervise affalrs
of the religious community, serving as
liaison between the clergy and people.



- 354 =

I was unable to help 'Id. Nevertheless I informed my
friend of its meaning‘in hopes that the request would

be fulfilled. He answered me (agreeing), but afterward
changed (his mind). I destroyed the letter, though there

was nothing worth noting in it."388

XXXIII. ( A petition to the G&'im Magam, Amir Ahmad Abd

-

al-Lama' ) .

-“After the introductory greetings = We were
honored to receive your Grace's decree brought by your
servant, Shaikh 'Id Hatim, and all that you decreed in

ge 201 writing and verbélly transmitted by the said Shaikh. We
have also had the honour to receive an gccount of the
general content of the noble decrees issulng from the
Mushir by order of your Grace. All that was easily under-
stood and meets with our obedience; it should be followed
and obeyed. The situation in reality, Effendi, is that
conditions with us were not what they were observed to be.
For at all times wé have been bound by the chain of obedience
and acceptance of leadership, in all concerning your noble
constitutional wishes. And since we gre the slaves of our

master the Great Sultan, andunder the wing of the noble
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royal sympathy, we have not the least fears of vicious
rumours, nor of the issue of your Grace's decree to us,
nor the sympathies shown to us. We praise Him who is

most high for keeping your Grace as a refuge and source

of mercy to all of us. Whenever we have th®s honour $o
recelve special decrees from the MushIr, or protectlive
arrangements, then we will be obedient as before to
execute the orders. By God'!s grace we shall not allow the
least disturbance from amoné us to the Sublime State, may

the Lord of the Land protect ity May God prolong your life."

(Most probably this petition is connected to the
contents of the letter written by Father Yuhannd al-HabIb
to Patriarch Mas'ad on December 19, 1859.)

XXXIV. (Probably to Tanyus ShahIn.)

"Containing news.

"We submit to you that your letter reached us
carrying an enclosure which we read and whose contents we
understood. First you mention the reason for the meeting
of Tuesday as being in order to hear the reading of commands
issued by his Grace the Count, the Consul of the Great Rench
Government389 Actually this meeting was not for this but
rather for other things ... We understand, gnd your Ex-

cellency likewise, etc..

389.. Count de Bentivoglio.
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"Then you also mention that at the time of the

Pagge 202 meeting an individual came to the people and assured them
that there would be a ma'mir from among the people of
Kisrawgn, if they would ﬁay all (the taxes) that were
asked from the country.390This brother of ours has connec-
tions with yourself and with the people, and since you
see that such an arrangement is suitable and beneficial
both to you and to the people, and since your orders were
1ssued to all the people in connection with that, our ad-
vice is no longer of any use. Similarly you mention that
we should propose to the Father Superior39l the thing that
you mention. But we have observed and made very sure that
he would not consider such things. This has been our opin-
ion from the beginning, for what is done is doney, gnd no-
thing can be done about it. And thus it is with axch
governments: so far nothing has been effective., This should
have been made clear earlier. In view of your statement
that perhaps the people will follow a government other than
that of our brother, we beg you to note ... Do not embark
on untimely writing (to anyone)3?2because you think that the

French Government would concern itself with the people of

391, ;ira Frangois Leroy. G TR
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Kisrawan if they left their religion. This is something
that would be beneficial to their welfare and to them-
selves as well. Do not even think that other states have
the opportunity and power without the consent of the afire-
393

sald state (i.e. France). For both you and others under=
stand the strength and power of the great French State.

If the foregolng is sound, you will consider these matters
and leave such actions which do not seem reasonable to us

or to anyone else; indeed, if your friendship for us is
real, and you understand that we wish your welfare and the
welfare of the masses as much as our own welfare, you would
tell us truly what is going on in your mind, so that we
could know well what we wish to do. We tell you that this
action coming from you and from the people ... the wery

same destruction. It will not be suitable for long, because
you are becoming like a ruler, giving orders and not obeying.
oo As for your statement that we believed thus, we do not
entertain this idea at all, because the first deed ... to
this extent. You got what you were thinking of, and more,
and now, if you wish ... what suits you and suits people

will endure.

393. Poujoulat States (.QB' mo’ P 71)
that in 1860 Cononel Churchill attemp-
ted to persuade TanyUs to ,oin the
British cause by pressing for the se-
lection of Amir 'Abdullah ShihEb
(Churchill's son~in-law) as Christian
Qa'im Mag&m, but Tanylis refused.
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Continue to obey the ruling authorities, znd also
the great French 5tate. Do not think that this idea can
be realised without efforts, for from the start you have
rejected the ideas that have been put to your Excellency,
and you did not accept them. So now you will have to work
extremely hard at being appropriately diplomatic, and aban-
don your present ideas. Understand that the authorities
are not incapable of disciplining the people of Kisrawan,
and you do not realise what an army they have ... We have
information that you are not lacking in wisdom and reason-
ableness in such matters, as the proverb says that ... will
happen soon gnd all the effort will be in vain. Therefore
we shall shorten our explanation. If it is possible for
you to come secretly to whatever place you wish, let us
know so that we can meet you and explain to you corally.
For as you said, not everything can be written that 1is on
the mind of the writer.39h Your conscience will t€1 you to
whom you wrote thus, and will also inform you that we are
always alert to whatever leads to your welfare and that
of the people; but far be it from anyone to appreciate thatd9?
what was completed and will be completed in the council of
his Grace the Consul and elsewhere. Send us a reply ...

immediately in writing and inform us of your wishes."

395. e Jo e e e ey L T
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(Without signature or date. The dots replace the words

that were torn from the letter.)

XXXV, "Hoping for the attention of his illustrious Ex-
cellency T®8nyus Bey, the most noble and venerable, may
his 1life be perpetuated.

"We submit: that we are being besieged in Faigal's
mansion. For God's szke - may He be exalted! -~ send tréops

to help us. God ieep you.
"Beseeching your Excellency,
"HabIb 'Abdullah al-KhurI."
“(without date)

XXXVI. "Favored with the atiention of the respected Tanyils
Bey Sh&hTn.
"To his Excellency, our respected spiritual son.
"After bestowing upon you our blessing and express-
ing our hope to find you well and happy, we must first ask
how you are and whether you are in good spirits. May God
grant that your Excellency is happy in fact and in name.
"Previously we were honoured to receive a letter
from your Excellency in which you asked about us, and we
wished your Excellency victory and success. Furthermore,
a letter was brought to your Excellency previously, on our
behalf, by our son Ilyas, concerning the recovery o certain

rights; and we do not know whether or not he reached you,
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for your Excellency was visiting his Beatitude, Now our
son passed through Shwatd@ to try to collect some money owed
to him by one named Husain. Haldar of Shw&t& and by 'Ali
Hasan 'Abbas. They maltreated him and beat him painfully.
Since &our Excellency asked after us when we had no comp-
laints, now that we do have complaints you must ask after
us (again) and restrain the MutawBlIs from us. For the
Creator gave you a vivid voice with which to defend the
rights of all Christians and set our minds at rest. As for
the MutawalIs, they are disrespectful of you. We hope to
recover our rights (and indemnity of) the beating, May the
Grace of our Lord keep your Excellency, and may God prolong
your life,
"Praying that your life may be long-}96
"Father Mikhayil al-Sh&mTI,

Servant of Sir'ayya."

And in the margin:

"Those who assaulted our son were five men, namely

Hamtd Haidar, HemUd Husain, Husain 'All Shadid, 'AlI Hasan,

- -

and Husain Jaldar."

(Without date)

XXXVII. (To Tanyms Shahin)
"Containing news.

"$=1ih and Shawul are in great difficulties of every

396s (il gyl —S) " gl
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sort and suffering losses and stoppage of work. They be-
lieve that whoever is your follower, you will obtain for
him his rights and honor. They put their hope in your
great zeal, that whoever joins with your Excellency, no

one will be able any longer to take advantage of him.
Swearing by God and their women-folk (their honour) they
cried that if the AmIr or the notables of the country that
does not belong to his Excellency T&nyTs Bey offered us

an indemnity (for our losses) and the property of the coun-
try, we would not accept, nor would we make a reconciliation
except by order of his Excellency (J&nym@s). Ve hope that
the appeals of those who act in such a way (as $&lijp and
Sh&wll) will not be neglected - especially when they say
that they have goods gnd children which they sacrifice for
your disposal for the sake of yowhonour, so that the enemy
will not say to them, "What has he done for you as a result
of your joining him?"

We know no more than that, for the hardship we ex-
perienced in al-'Aglirah had never happened to us before.
For the sake of éhe Virgin Mary, take us home once and for
all, Were we to go broken with shame, we would rather kill
ourselves. For had we actually done anything wrong, (that

would be one thing); but (they) did it intentionally.387
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There is no disgrace in defeating those who are
partial or fickle. Should you wish to order us to take
men from Afq&, let us know, for when we came to 'Aqirah
ten men came with us. We felt obliged to suppor£ the peo-
ple of 'Kqlirah; and at the time we did support them."

(Without date or signature),

XXXVIII. "Favored with the attention of his most 1llust-
rious and generous Excellency Tanyls Bey, may his life be
prolonged.

"Illustrious and glorious Excellency,

"After our most abundant respects and our desire
to have the privilege of seeing you in the best of spirits
and well-being, we are writing to ask after your precious
health. It was a most blessed occasion when we were fort-
unate enough to recelve your letter announcing the good
news of your good health; we praised Him who is most high
for that. We understood its contents; and in regard to the
debt owed by our brother Hanna Naggdr to our brother Bujrus
al-Khurl of 'Ashqfit, upon the arrvial (of the letter) we
summoned the aforesaid Hanng and settled the claim by award-
ing an oxload valued at 470 piastres to the said Butrus.
As for the remainder of the debt, it was decided that he
(Hanna)should produce a statement of income from the priest,
Father Ni'mat-Allah al-Dahdah, to repay the rest and give
it to him (Bujrus). As for the claim raised by ZiyZdsh
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Mas'ad against Ant{in Sarkis: previously we contacted the
said Antln, and he put us off, saying that he would look

to see what (money) was available to him. Then vhen we
summoned him, he replied that he wanted Ziyadah to go with
him to the judge, to see what should be done in view of

his difficulties, and that he would then write out an acknow-
ledgment of what he owed him, if the validity of the debt

in that amount were confirmed. Whatever the court decided,
he would act in accordance with it. As for the appendage

(to your letter), we understood it and are pleased with

your goodness in dispatching repligg that refute thespeech
makers, We thank you for your goodness in improving the
welfare of the common people, and especlally for your desire
to deal with the question of Kisrawan, as soon as their Ex-
cellencies the Shaikhs of the Kh&zin family choose a wakIl
for themselves to deal with it in a Jjust manner. This is
what was agreed upon, gznd your Excellency is obliged to do

so because of your position as general wakIl for the common
people of Kisrawdn. For our part we have nothing that we need
explain: indeed we rely on the continuation of friendship and
concord among all of us. We hope that whatever is new with
you, you will explain it to us as 1t occurs. We ask Him who
is most high to make things turn out well and to inspire you
to every good work, snd may he perpetuate your life.

"Your brothers,

January 4, 1860. - .
The wakils of the village of 'Aramun.”
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Written on the back of this letter is the following:
"I, Ya'qub, have opened the letter." This Ya'qub was the

nephew of the chleftain.

XXXIX. "Having the honour to kiss the hands of the illust-
rious Fathers, the respected priests of 'Aramlin, may their
lives be prolonged! )

"Respecteanathers,

"After kissing your noble hands and seeking the
bounty of your intercessory prayers forever, we must ask
after your previous health. May God who is most high grant
you all his blessings. Then we inform your Reverences what
must already be known to you, concerning the incidents that
occur on festival days as a result of drinking 'Arag and
wine, The Council agreed that it was necessary éo announce
in all places that whoever drinks 'araq or wine outside hk
house and there results from it an§ mischief, unseemly talk,
cursing and quarrelling, etc., this is in itself a very vile
thing. Then may God - be He exalted!, the faithful of the
Church, and the leaders all proclaim‘this. We hope that
your Reverences will announce this in church to all the po-
pulace. Whoever transgresses after the announcement is
made, and does the slightest mischief, his punishment will
be one month (imprisonment) or several times that much,

We are sure that such things will not occur from among your

congregation, but since the announcement was to be made in



- 365 =

all places, it was necessary to inform your Reverences
and the populace of it. We hope we shall always be in=-
cluded in your prayers.

"Your son,

February 8, 1860.
Tanyts ShahIn." (The seal)

XL, (To T=nyfs Sh&hfn)
"To his most illustrious, glorious, and respected

Excellency.

age 209 "After offering our due respects and inquiring about
your previous health gnd proud and peaceful temperament, we
ask Him, may he be glorified, to keep you in all ease. We
submit: that an incident hgs occurred between IbrahIm Gha-
nim al-Buwayyiz and his sons, and Jannd al-Mulhimah. The
desire of the said Hannd@ al-Mulhimah is to ruin what you
have repgired in this land. For he is working to persuade
certain people in Z0g to cause lnsurrection and disturbances.
For the said individual has taken money from persons whom
you know, and he goes on trips to Balt Mirl every day, in
order to achieve his aim. He does not appear to have had
any success, but he is laying his hand on cooper goods,
provisions, ... in which are accounts belonging to the dead
cousin of Jirjis Mir'I al-Buwayyiz. If you ask why we do
not drive him away aﬁd not leave this responsibility to
you, the reason is that he has supporters among certain people

in al-Zlig. Were it not for that, we would expel him and his
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family and put him in the middle of the sea, with your
approval. We laid these facts before his Beatitude (the
Patriarch) and his Beatitude's order was that they be sub-
mitted to your Excellency. if convenient, send two men

of yours to remove his violence from our land and hand over
the properties, 3980ne by one because what he deserves is
to be burned, since he disturbed the peace by spreading the
news every day that the army was coming. The messenger will
submit this to you, he is the son of IbrahiIm Ghanim al-
al-Buwayylz. This is what must be laid before you. Call
upon us for whatever services you regure; and may God pro-

long your life,

"Your brother,
March 27, 1860.
"HabIb al-Zind." ( Seal)
And in tle margin:
"Enclosed is a memorandum on which are names. If
you approve, honour us by sealing it, and command whomever
you send to fetch them. Some are with Saj'an, and the

others you knew about previcusly.

Page 210 XLI. (To T&EnyfWs ShahIn, The first part of the letter is lost.)
««s"explain to you concerning the people of Harzjil,

and that some of our people assaulted them. We submit that

e (gl sl
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such was not the case, for the one who performed this deed
was a man from GhazIr called LawTs (Louls) Bairam. It

is true that one of our people was with him, but when he
first arrived he took us part in the dispute,399 according
to what we have heard. Since our brother-in-law has gone
to see you at Raifun, when he returns we shall give him
your letter and ... go to you at Dair BkirkI before he goes
home., Concerning the question of some of our men going to
Bisharah Ghanim, we have become concerned about that, as
our son Yusuf will inform you about sending the men and
about the solution (of theproblem). This is what must be
salds Call upon us for whatever services we can render,
May the grace of Jesus keep you for us.

"Appealing to your Excellency,

March 26, 1860,
Father Francis Shugair (or Sagar)"

XLIT*00 "Haying the good fortune and honour to gain the atten-
tion of his most illustrious, glorious, Execellency, the illus-

329 0 b iyl !t

00, The following letter from Tanyfs ShZhIn
to the people of Juball is not included
by Yazbgk in this collection, although
he gquotes from it briefly on page 59 of
his volume. It is printed in English in
Correspondence Relating to the Affsirs
.Q;: S!I‘LQ, l s l’ I, po 79. (Enc:l.osw
in a dispatech from Lord Dufferin to Sir
H. Bulwer, March 10, 1861,) Dated April
3, 1860, it belongs here in chronological
sequences;
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trious, glorious, Excellency, the illustrious, respected

TZnyWs Bey, may be live forever,

"(After compliments):

"I have received your letter and under-
stood all that you say with regard to
the arrival of Amir Yousef and the Bim-
bashi, bearing a bouyocurouldi for the
administration of Jebail. Do not accept,
far I have a bouyourouldi from the Se-
ven Soverelgns for the emancipation of
all the Christians, who are no longer
to be in bondage to anyocne; if you de-
sire to be emancipated from your sla-
very no one can prevent you, neither
the Mushir nor the Kaimskam. I endorse
an order to the Emir Yousef to return
to his place: deliver it to him with-
out delay, and do not fear anything.
Ifyou require a body of men let me
krnow, and I will come myself with all
my men. Fear nothing, for this is a
matter which no longer concerns you,

it concerns me. Any village of Jebail
that wishes to unite with you let it
neme Vakeels over it in the village,
who will enter their names with the
Vakeel, lest the assembly should break
up entirely; he that wishes to do so
let him come on the part of the village,
or let him inscribe his name in the re-
gister which will be sufficient. I have
charged the bearer with certain verbal
communications which he will deliver to
you. Your brother, Tanios Shaheen(dgned
and sealed.) P.S. I transmit herewith

a letter to Emir Yousef; deliver it to
him at once and immedistely, for it is
most important that it should be deli-
vered; and let me know what his answer
will be; for I have plainly told him
that if he hesitates he will have my
men upon him from every direction. I
also enclose a letter to Yezbek Lahood;
deliver it to him and intimate to him
verbally that he is to desist from de-
sign; do not fear anything; and this is
sufficient for your sagacity. (sealed)
Tanios Shaheen.
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"After asking what your wishes are, we submit:
We went to Antlly&s (Anfilyas), where there are a number
of Druse houses, On our arrival they fled and we were
unable to calm them down. As for thelr houses and be-
longings, we did what was necessary. This which happened,
we have put before you: But Oh excellent Bey, it has become
very, very necessary for you to rise up ( in arms ), and
1f you do not arise in a mass immediately, there will be
shame for the people of Kisrawan, and cowardice ascribed
to the people of Kisraw@n. If you have not risen because
of the scarcity of ammunition, go to Antlilyas and you will
recelve all the ammunition and other things that you need,
and we o..e If you are walting to learn the wishes of his
Beatitude, then there is no more need to wait. We are at
Mar Ilyas and swear by Mar Ilyas that your presence has
become necessary in this region. Oh excellent Bey, listen
to our opinion this time. If anything 1s done contrary to
your wishes, we will gladly be without religion. Oh Bey,
Oh Bey, do not kick away this opportunity. The decision
rests with you. The news has been confirmed to us that
Biskinta, Shwair, al-Qati', and all districts have risen,
with the sole exception of Kisrawan and those taking refuge
tere. Tomorrow we shall be in Bgit MirI. May your life
be long.

May 24, 1860,
Your brothers,

Na'mg&n 'Id and

Bakhi@s Abd Ghilib."
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And in the margin =

"Just when we were writing, some gentlemen came to
us from Beirut and spoke to us, asking,what would you like
us to bring you? Our reply was that we would ask for what
ve needed to-morrow, for because of the fewness of our

people we did not have the nerve to ask.uo1

XLIII. "His Excellency the most illustrious, glorious, res-
pected TanyuUs Bey, may he live long.

"After our deference and respect and earnest good
wishes, we submit that with all ... your Excellency's
message. We understood it, praising the Creator fo; your
good health ... that we meet with your Excellency in Anti-
ly&s, we and our brothers the Shaikhs ... the main thing
being to talk over the prevailing conditions. For our
part it was ... to come and meet with your Excellency, but
we must excuse ourselves for many compelling reasons that
prevent us from going to the designated place. Since our
brother Yusuf R&shid is going to represent us, he can act
as needed on our behalf. We beg you to accept our apolegies.
We hope always to hear good news of your well-being, andmay
your life be long.

May 27, 1860, "Appealing to you,
"1Agl ShadId."™

-

1+01. “'J';u-:"-’ rJ)L“L.._J.EJ ‘)S.g)l..p'dl l;._,l,q-&;,lii"
Tl e WL e
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XLIV, "To the villages of al-Fatlh and al-Kafir.

"To their Excellencies our respected brother.

"ifter offering our respects: since it has been
agreed that we all rise with our people to aid of our
brother Christians, to defend them and to protect our
homes, it is necessary that you send men to carry supplles
and also send with your people some clever wmen to carry
water for your people. You must also choose two intelli-
gent individuals to be members of the council in al-Zug.

There is no need further to urge your concern and zeal.

lMay your lives be long.

"Your brother, (seal)

June l, 1860.
"Tanyns Shahln.

And in the margin:

"As regards ammunition, we have it, so do not give

it a thought.

"It is necessary to have the priests come, since

this is an undertaking of Christian zeale.

XIV. "Enjoying the attention of his most noble Excellency,
the most illustrious, glorious, respected ?Enyus Bey ShahIn,
may his life be longe
"To his most noble Excellency, the most illustrious,
glorious, and respected, may his life be long.
| "After most deferentially tendering our respects and

seeking your wishes: The arrival of your Excellency's

-
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message was a most pleasing occasion, and we praised
Him who 1s most high for your good health. All that you
informed us of, concerning the need for us to come to
Dair BkirkI to discuss what has been happening, is un-
derstood; and 1ﬁ accordance with your wishes, God will-
ing, tomorrow morning, Saturday, if it please God we
shall come and find you well. This is what must be

explained, and may your life be long.

"Praying that your life may be long,

June 1, 1860, _
"Ilyas Nagr."

Amd in the margin:
"The reason for the delay of our arrival until to-

morrow, Saturday, is that the messenger was late in reach-

ing us."

XIVI., "His most honorable Excellency the most illustrious,
glorious, and honoured T&nyWls Bey ShahIn, may his life

be long.

"After seeking your esteemed wishes, we submit:
we have examined your Excellency's letter and understood
all that you explained. You tolé us to meet with you,
with the men who are with us, in order to go with your
ixcellency to Bikfayy& . The reply to that is that, in
the first place, we have spent 5 days in al-Zug, Jiniyah,
Magbah, and H&rah Sakhr, and to the present date we have

been unable to obtain 100 men. At present we are in
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ge 214 al-Zug and have been promised (only) 50 men from al-Zug
to go with us, although altogether there are over 100
men presert here. We shall go today to Bikfayya, and
we wish your Excellency to meet us in Bikfayya, and inform
all the villages of Kisrawan that, since the distribution
(of men) will take place from al-Zig to all the villages,
by all means every sixth man should come.“OZWe beg you
to make haste and proceed, and that your Excellency rise
up on the wings of speed with a great multitude and go
to Bikfayya in order, trusting in God, to defeat our ene-
mies and rescue our Christian brothers. If your Excellency
is successful, we shall learn it from you. Do not ask us
to return to your Excellency from Bikfayyﬁ?ogather we
desire your accustomed zeal in rising up immediately so
that we may know your commands in all districts and they
may be put into effect. Whoever do not obey your orders,
let us know, so that we may return with our people to
compel them by force. This is what we must submit to you.
Everything rests with you. May your life be prolonged.

"Praying that your life may be long,

June ’ 1860.
"Bisharah Gh&nim."

402, L B8 g1 55 3 g e e LS
| LP r)L|J|
403, i.e. by not coming yourself.
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XIVII., "Agreement drawn up of the conditions for the
return of the Shaikhs of the Khazin family to the district
of Kisrawan.

"Since as everyone knows there has been a disagree-
ment between us, the people of the district of Kisrawan,
and the Shailkhs of the Kha&zin family, due to various rea-
sons, and as time passed the disagreement grew and spread
by the incitement of certain masters of corruption, so
that the aforesaid Shaikhs left their homes and property
and went to other places, - for this reason certain sel-
fisﬂﬁnntivated persons induced us into rebellion against
the commands of the govermment. Therefore on this date
there came on behalf of the high authorities his Reverence
the eminent Bishop Tibiyy& 'Aun, Bishop of Beirut, who is
most honored and respected,-to warn and advise us to sub-
mit our obedience and acknowledgement of the orders and
laws of the gracious Sublime State, - may the Lord of the
land protect and preserve the honour of its existence, -
and to put an end to this disagreement prevailing between
us and the aforesaid Shaikhs, so that they may return to
their homes and regain their property and their sustenance
and other produce, without opposition from us. Whereas
since long ago we have been found to keep our full obed=-
jence and submission to the commands of our lawful govern-
ment, respecting the laws of those in authority over us,

without the slightest disorder, as is well known, thus we



- 375 -

now declare ourselves submissive and obedient to the
commands and laws of the gracious Sublime State, We

have accepted the previcusly mentioned advice and warning
which came to us from the high authorities. On our part
there is no one who will prevent or oppcs e the return of
the aforesaid Shaikhs to their homes, and their recovery

of all their sustenance and property and other produce,
Therefore whenever they wish they can return and recover
(this property) as was said, since on our part there is

not the slightest objection that would keep them from
doing that. If they have debts or propertieSAOhto collect
from any of us, or if any of us has debts or overdue accounts
to settle with any of them, then those in debt from both
sides should make payment of what they owe to the others.
Wherever there 1s delay, refusal, or protest, the signature
of the delayer, refuser, or protestor shall be given in
legal form. As for the remaining claims resulting from this
disagreement, 1t is left to a meeting with the aforesaid
Shaikhs to mgke amends and&o exchange forgiveness and
absolution from them. And now, in witness to our obedience,
respects, and acceptance with full willingness of all that
is written in this manifesto, it must be signed and sealed

age 216 by us and submitted to the government, with a plea for

WOy e dim b grge ®
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the putting into execution of what 1s necessary. Written on
July 29, 1860.

Tanylis Shahin, general wakIl of Kisrawan - (seal)
The people of (Nst® and its farms
(Seals: Father Butrus Manassa,

Tlyas Khallfah,

Ilyas Faris,

Father Antfin Istafan,

Sim'an Istafan,

Ishaq Shahwan,

and three other illegible seals,)
The people.of 'Aramin and its farms
(seals: Father Jibrail Sabat,

1Abbas ASET,

‘HabIb Nahrd al-Haddad,

Mikhayil Agaf,

Mangur Agaf,

MIkh&yil Jirmanus, amd

'Abdullah FransIs.)
The peoplé of 'Ashqlit and Bag'ata

(Father Janzdyl@s,

Qﬁhir Najm,

DUnTY 'Isa,

NEaI sa'd,

Yusuf Aﬁ;ﬁn,

AbT Hugn Abh Ghalib,
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Hanna Abu HabIb,
DIb Y¥suf DIb,
Butrus al-Khuri,
Dahir Shahin, and
'Isa Tabit.)
The people-a of al-Judaldah ,
(seals: FransIs Ziy&dah,
Jibra'Il Fulaifil,
tAbdullah Fulaifil,
ﬁangﬁr al-Turk, and
Father FransIs Farhat.)
The people of Shnan'Ir:
Father Fransis Nasr,
Antlin and Ilyas Nagr.
The people of Dlibta:
(seals: Yusuf Bishzarah al-KhirI,
Jibra'Il al-Khuri,
TbrahIm Bisharah,
Rafayil and Kan'an Rumayya,
Father Ya'qlb Jumayyil.)
The people of garaﬂ Sakhr:
tAbdullah Na'min gnd
Eisharah Ghﬁﬁim.
The people of Sahil 'Alma:
Father Y@suf 1fErfn,
Ayylb AbT Zaid, and

Fransls Matar.
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The people of Dar'fin and environs:

Father Ya'gdb Jirjis,
Faris Isb;han,

'Abduh HannZ DIb,
ﬁangﬁr Shahwan, and

Father Ilyas Surur.)

The people of al-glail'at:

NiqUl& Hantfish and his family,
Kan'an Kassab and his family,
Ya'qiib Nauhara and his family
Jirjis Tannfs and his family,
Sim'&n Abu §alip and his family,
An;ﬁn Nagglr and his family, and
Antln 4b3 Fiyad.

The people of Mairiba:

@annﬁs Rashid Sa'adah and

- Antfin Arsdniydis and their families,

Ylsuf al-Jadd and his family,
Nasif al-Khiirl, o
KhalIl and his family.

The people of 'A alttn and its farms:

Salih Jirjis (§fair),
Ya'qub Lutfallah,

Yisuf al-Zughtl,

Jabbiir al KhiirI Khalifah,

Mangur al-gamu',
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'Abdullah Tannus Tabit,
Makhldf Barldah,
N§§If Sa'd from Darayya, and
Faris Mar'I from Darayya.
The people of Raifﬁn 3
Jirjis BarjIs,
Faris al-HawwEE, and
Marin BarjIs.
The people of Faitarin:
Nagsar al-QassTs,
Dawud al-BarIdI, and
Musa al-Khiri.
The people of Mazra'ah Kafar Dabya@n and its farms:
Ilyis Zghaib and his family,
I.{ab'fb Yazbak and his family, and
HabIb al-KhiirI 'AqIql and his family.
The people of Hardjil:
Sim'an Abu 'Aun and
Tannls al-IfranjiI,
The people of Farayya:
Shalllta AbU Hammam and
Gh&8lib Naffa!',
The people of §arb§;
(Seals : the people of Sarba.)
The people of GhadIr:
(Seal: the people of Ghadir)
The people of the village of 'Aintfirah al Zug

-

(Seal: HabIb al-JEmEtT.)
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The people of Bandar Ziig MIkayil
(Seal: the people of Zilq Mikayil.)

THE NCBLE ADVERSARY

XLVIII. "For the attention of his Excellency the respected
Shaikh Tanyus ShahIn, may he live long 1n prosperity.

"Your respected Excellency Our brother.

"After tendering our respects and great desire to
find you well: We have written you many letters to set our
minds at rest concerning your health and to ask you to in-
form us why our partner Jirmanis does not present himself
before the council with us, and zlso to ask the expulsion
of his sons from our property in al-glai'at. Now, since
our hope is fastened on your taking an iﬁterest (in the
matter), we hope that the said sons may be expelled from
our house in al-Qlai'at and their hand be lifted from owr
property, and that Jirmanﬂs be brought with us to the amuncil.
For we have been waiting for 20 days in GhazIr. We hope
for areply so that we may understand (what has happened.)
In our previous letters we have sufficiently explained
the matter to yous and to ask to have one's case reviewed
is to ask for justice. It was necessary £o send you this
commmication to set our minds at rest concerning your
heglth and to obtain an answer to what we have mentioned.

God willing, we may always come (to you for help). May



e 21

- 381 -

your life be long.

Your brother,
September 10, 1363.

Sarh&@n al-Kh&zin.

Ten days (?)%09

XLIX. "Favored with the attention of his most illustrious
Excellency Shagikh Tanyls ShahIn, the respected agent of
the district of Jurd Kisrawan, may his life be long.

"To his Excellency our respected son:

"After bestowlng upon you the divine blessing,
expressing the desire to see you enjoying all benefit am
well-being, and asking about your good health which we
hope for; may God grarmt you every success. We inform you
that 'Ass&f Shahwan of Faitarun owes us nine ﬁqiyyahsh06
of silk belonging to the sons of Tannus al-QEmA' al-Quggar.
We asked him for them and he replied that BOlds Najm Murad
had taken them. We do not know Bliles Najm, so we made our

Llr07as is not unknown to you. We hope

demand to the tenant,
that you will serve a writ on the aforesaid 'Assaf for him
to deliver the silk to the persons mentioned; or its price,
at a rate of 570 per ratl. Do not delay in this, for the

said sons no longer have any silk to trade. Set our minds

405, The question mark is the translator's.

406 ., An uqiy¥ah equals 200 grams.

407, * L "1, e. we hold the tenant
responsible.
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at rest concerning your health. The divine blessing is
once again extended over you.

September 20, 1863.
"Appealing to you,
"Istaf&n al-Khazin,

Bishop of Damascus.

L, "Favored with the attention of his Excellency our
brother Shaikh T&nyls Sh&hIn, the respected agent for
Jurd Kisrawan, may his life be long.

"To his Excellency our respected brother.

"After tendering our respects and great desire to
see that you, our brother, are enjoying all benefits, and
asking after your health - may God grant that you are in
complete health: We wrote to you previously and repeated
many times by way of Hanna Sulaiman and others ... the
produce of our orchard which Sulaiman maliciously took ...
from al-Qlal'at. Four months have passed since then, so
it was neces;ary to repeat it. What we hope for from you
is the regaining of our rights from the person we have
mentioned. We are entrusting DR&hir Najm with a message
that will clarify the matter to you sufficiently. The most
we hope for is to be reassured that you are in full health;

and God keep you.
Your brother,

December 2, 1865 (seal)
Qansh al-Khazin."



- 383 -

And in the margin:

"The writer, owr son DablIn, will give you what
is required. He hopes that you will recover his rights
from Yusuf HannZ lianglr (or Nagglr) of MairTbE.




COLCLUSION
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Postscript by the Editor

To the Spirit of Sha'ya alJAqiqi

Martyr of the Popular Crusade in Kisrawan

You left us, Sha'ya, at the beginning of the road when
the crops had not yet grown. How fondly we remember you, and
how choked we are with grief, as we recall the recent past and
see you searching diligently for the seeds which we have been
looking for to cast with the wind over the soil of the liountain --
our Mountain, sweet in its perfumed greenery -- that they may
nourish the spirits of our people and refresh their innermost
thoughts.

You used to say: "That seed is good for that ground,
and this seed will not be of any use in this soil, For there
the people are alert, and a slight dose will stir them, whereas
here the people are heedless and must be shaken violently."

I still hear the tap of your knock on the door; then you
put your head in gently, with your woollen cap appeéring Just
before you enter. Your eyes turn, searching to find me in the
room, and then you smile in that sincere, strong way, and say:

"Good day, siri"

How great was your joy when you brought me an unpublished
letter having to do with Tanyus Shahin (Pardont Uhat did I mean
by breaking the agreement? Didn't we agree not to call the
illustrious leader, Tanyus Shahin, by his name, but to confer on

him the name of "The Chief?").
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‘age 222 Oh, yes, we were both happy, and greatly overjoyed, con-
versing, making plans, and saying: A book must be written about
The Chief, His picture should be in every Lebanese home. Lvery
Lebanese must read the story of Tanyls ShahIn. We must set up a
memorial to him in Raifin. But where? - At the entrance to the
town., No, in front of the church. lio, in the public square, lot
this, not that; we shall buy land and build on it a reading center
called "The ;Enyﬁs Shahin Center." llo, we shall build a school in
his name to teach the children of the poor, There must be, and
there must be ... The money? ...lhere shall we get the money?
lisrawan is generous; the manliness of its people has been
aroused, and their humanity has awakened. They have come to sense
their honour, to demand their rights, and to say, I want...}

Will they neglect their duty to the first popular hero who said:
"T want to liberate Kisrawd@n from the yoke of tyranny and op-
pression"?

essfOu used to say to me: I guarantee to collect the ex-
penses of the statue from the sale of the book about The Chief,
through my relativés abroad: In America there are more than two

408 4f the 'Aqiqi family, and more than twenty

hundred "lions"
thousand "lions" from Kisrawan, who hold sacred the idea proclaimed
by Tanyus ShahIn, and glorify the noble goal toward which The Chief
marched. These, and others like them, are the ones who would do
what the Lebanese "governmenti" is always unable to do in every

noble field (of endeavor)...

408, (Y) The Lebanese say: "So-and-so is a "lion and use this
word to denote manliness, courage, and good qualities,
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I prepared for printing this manusecript which you brought
e 223 me, your heart leaping with joy and happiness -- as if you were
bringing me title to a part of Paradise! I would read to you
part of my annotation of it, and you would sway with pleasure and
satisfaction, and be unable to contain your uncontrollable spirits;
and you would jump at me and kiss me, saying:

"Bravo!{ that's how it should be saidi"

Certain "reasons..." prevented us from proceeding with
the printing, and after the third folio,409 as you came and went
asking for explanations, and I was too ashamed to tell you what
had delayed us in our work, I would soothe your worry by reading
some of the Chief's letters to his agents or supporters in the
sacred revolution, and once more you would sway with pleasure and
satisfaction, and we would part, our hopes overflowing,

Those happy days passed, and then someone came and made
my heart Jjump by saying:

"Sha'ya al—'AqEqE is deadl"

The world stood still within me. Better for it to have
torn out a part of my heart, and thrown it in some remote place
which I could see but to which I would be unable to go, as I looked
on helplessly, burning with the anguish of living on.

Your remembrance has appeared to me a thousand times
above the sources of the Great wrathflo whenever I heard mention
of the affairs of Kisrawan, Your faithful appearance is there as

a guest in my library, greeting me morning and evening whenever

409, i.,e., the first 48 pages.

410.0) The "Great Wrath" is the popular revolution if Kisrawan
against feudal rule, As for its sources, they are al-Zigq,
Raiftin, Mazra'ah Kafar Dabyan, 'Ajaltun, and their allies.,
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I enter it and reach out my hand to a book having to do with the
revolution and the Chief, I imagine it speaking with me, even
reproving me, on quiet nights, repeating insistently: "What's wrong
with you -~ why don't you publish a book: 'Revolution and Civil
War in The Lebanon'? lhat is delaying you from writing your
history of the Chief?" So I found the courage to stir the ge-
nerosity of some of my countrymen, and al-?alz'ah - it, too -
played its part;4ll and so we fulfilled your wish and completed
the printing of this manuscript, whose publication is thanks
primarily to you, and which I dedicate to you to convey my venera-
tion, esteem, and love,

And now that I have made known my "confession" to you,
pure priest, I beg you to grant me absolution for my sin.

The first planting is in bloom, what we planted, Sha'ya.
So tell the illustrious Chief to descend to us with his noble spirit,
and may his supporters descend with him: al-'Udaim? and al-
lMunayyir, al-Jamati and Sfair, your ancestor al-'AqEqE and Habalin,
and their brothers. TYou, too, come with them, for the harvest is
abundant and the hungry are many.

I have remained true to the agreement, and I still say
what we used to say together in our sessions, and wished every-
one would say:

"God is in the Heavens, and ?anyﬁs Shahin is on Larthi"

Permit me to add: "The memory of Sha'yd al-'Aqiqi is in

men's heartsi"

411, (Y) Amoéng them I recall gratefully my two good friends,
Messrs, Sa'dullah al-JabiIri and Louis Zigadah; and
al-Tali'ah recalls with esteem its generdus supporter,

*

Dr. Fu'ad al-'Aql, in the United States.
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God give you rest, thou bravest partisan of the people
and most faithful of friends, and peace be upon you.

From your brother who kept his promise to you,

Yusuf.



Conclusion

Sweeping judgments on the misfortunes which befell Lebanon
between 1840 and 1860 are easy to form and still easier to find
in the writings of men of various allegiances. These generally
show little more than the prejudice or indignation of French
Catholic against Turkish or Druse "barbarianism$" Englishman
against lMaronite "bigotry," French "machinations," and Turkish
cynicismjy or a combination of these, as in the case of Colonel
Churchill and Henry Harris Jessup, who echoes him.

Yazbak's own conclusions deserve more analysis. His
principal finding is that the underlying social struggle of the
1860 period was that of the peasantry against their oppressive
feudal chiefs, and that the latter, with the help of Turkish,
French, and British imperialists, were able to subvert this move-
ment into a purely sectarian conflict between Druse and Christian.

To support his argument Yazbak supplies each party with
its motive, but adduces little direct evidence that such sub-
version took place. The KhAzin family exiled from Kisrawan by
the peasant revolt, could hope to gain the chance to return to
their homes if their subjects turned their wrath against the
Druses, or if a major disorder took place in Lebanon and brought
foreign intervention. The French and British, he says, each
encouraged civil war as a means of combatting the other and of
gaining control over the country. The Turks' intention was "that

the two groups should destroy each other and be wiped out
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together, so that Turkey might govern the llountain directly.“412

We shall examine the position of each of these parties
in turn. There is no evidence that the Khazéns incited Christian
against Drusé. There is the fact that landlords of both sects
had a common interest to preserve against any threat to their
feudal position. We have cited Chruchill's statement that many
Maronite landholders took no active part in the 1860 war
because they saw that "the triumph of the Druses was that of
feudalism...The deadly enemies of the Druses were not the
laronite aristocracy, but the Maronite clergy."4l3 Yazbak corro-
borates this by noting the effort of the Khazin family to obtain
help against their peasants from the Druse Janblat and Talhiiq
fémilies.4l4 These consgsiderations do not imply that the llaronite
peasants were incited against the Druses on a sectarian basis,
or vice versa. Indeed they can as easily suggest that llaronite
landholders had every reason to hope that the Christian tenants
of their Druse colleages would remain submissive, and that if
anything they lacked sectarian consciousness.

If any group within the Lebanese population can be
charged with incitement to religious hostility, it would seem to
be the laronite Church rather than the aristocracy. Ixamples
of its inflammatory interest in the political fortunes of the
Christians of the llixed Districts date back to 1841, when the

Patriarch had in effect attempted to dispossess the Druse

412. YaZbak’ pu 1310
4123, The Druses and the llaronites, p. 178.
414. Y-a—iba{l p. _BT:




- 392 -

feudalists of their authority.415

It is, however, difficult to disentangle the separate
threads of the feudal and sectarian issues. The Patriarch's
interest in the Ilixed District Christians was a sectarian one,
but it led to antagonism between tenant and landlord. The

KIsrawan insurrection was a social class movement, but insofar as
its repercussions were felt among Druse-governed Christian
peasants, it contributed to sectarian tension. DBut if the cause
of the Druses was that of feudalism, and that of the Christians
in the lNixed Districts was anti-feudal, it was not only so by
virtue of geographical coincidence. The Maronite Church in the
nature of the case had its reasons to see in the authority of
any shaikh over his subjects competition for the influence of
the Church itself. The llaronite clergy customarily exercised
great civil as well as moral sway over its flock, even to the

415 In Kisrawan, where the

extent of financial impositions.
Church begrudged the influence of the Khazin family in eccle-
siastical matters, it had a further reason to dislike the feudal

institution.¥17

Directly and indirectly, then, both for religious
and political reasons, the aims of the Church made for increased
sectarian friction. The role of the feudalists themselves was
defensive, and any contribution by them to religious animosity,

if there was any, came as a reaction and was therefore secondary

in importance.

415, See above, p. 10,
4l6. See Perrier, op. cit., pp. 298-9.

417, Poujoulat, op. Cites pe. 74,
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What of the French and British? Yazbak may be over-
stating the case in saying that each sought to gain full political
authority over Léhw&on, particularly in the case of Britain,
whose diplomacy by 1860 does not seem to have envisaged outright
territorial colonialism in the Ottoman Impire. It is nevertheless
quite clear that France through the Maronites and ingland through
the Druses sought to enhance their prestige in the land, and their
ovn rivalry could not but rub off to some degree on their
protegés. The (a'in Magamiyyah system of government gave each
nation its sphere of influence, and when the system foundered
for reasons of its own, the effects of their competition were
all the more keenly felt, If, as we have maintained, the
Maronite Church contributed to the sectarian conflict, the close
ties of that church with France and the support it received fronm
it provided added encouragement.

To Yazbak's mind the confidence of Druses and llaronites
in their sponsors was badly misplaced. At least one prominent
HMaronite shared this view. Bishop ?ﬁbiyya *Aun, much condermed
for his own encouragement of sectarian intolerance, told an
Inglishman, "I wish you to know that we are not attached to France.
France is to us an oppression, from which we would be most happy
to escape; we have proved this by acts, but no account is taken
of them. How France came to be considered our protector is an
old story, into which it is needless to enter. The connection
awakened against us the hatred of the Turks and of the Greeks,
and to it may be attributed the past suffering of our people from

both. Here axl: the other parts of Syria, in Lgypt and in Cyprus,
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from the middle of the last century to the close of the campaign
of Napoleon, we reckon that the blood of 40,000 llaronites has
been shed by the Turks or the Greeks. This is the debt we owe
to French protection. When, in 1840, the French government sent
to us to require us to support Ibrahim Pasha and Imir Beshir,
(our reply)...which had been decided by the Bishops and Chiefs,
(was): 'The llaronites had heard much of, but had never seen,
the fruit of the protection of France, and could not, in the
hope of it, expose themselves to the risks they were now required
to run.'..."The laronite leaders, continued Tubiyya, had in 1840
urged Colonel Rose, the British Consul, to bring them under
Ingland's protection; Rose replied, "You are, soul and body,
French; England has no alternative but to support the Druses."418

These words were briefly echoed even by a French writer
who said of the French protectorate of the llaronites, "Le mot
etait trés pompeux mais la chose était trés petite."419

France and Zngland took inevitably opposing sides on the
feudal issue as well as the sectarian, both in the liixed Districts
question and in Kisrawan. The cause of the Christian tenants in
the Ilixed Districts and of Tanyus Shahin's rebels received French
support together with that of the lMaronite Church, while the
concern of Britain in both cases was for the protection of the
traditional rights of the landed aristocracy.

But in what ways did France or Ihgland directly incite

418, Urquhart, op. cit., vol. II, pp. 261-5,
419, ZXavier Raymond, quoted in Abkarius, op. cit., introduction
by Scheltema, p. 31l.
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sectarian hostility as such? Ve recall that "upwards of 120,000
stand of arms and 20,000 pistols were imported into the Lebanon
between January 1857 and the spring of 1860."420  This is the
kind of evidence that implicates but does not convict, It is
perhaps most truthful to say only that France and Ingland through
their respective policies encouraged a partisanship that paved
the way for open conflict,

Even the role of Turkey is not entirely clear. She
has her critics and her apologists, and is entitled to both.,
There is no doubt of her willingness to precipitate disorder in
the country from 1843 to 1845, by taking only half-measures to
institute the Qa'im laqamiyyah system of government and by
actively aiding the Druses in the 1845 bloodshed, %21 Again in
1858 she took half-measures in the dispute over Amir BashlIr
Ahmad, and in the Kisrawan in 1859 the rebels received her en-
couragement.422 In 1860 Turkish complicity in the bloodshed at
¥5§bayy5, Zahlah, Dair al-Uamar, Damascus, and elsewhere was only
too clear,

These facts do not establish Turkey's motives. There is
evidence that she did not have the military strength to enforce
an effective peace.423 She was dissatisfied with the political
420, %%%%gigfrigzg?ndence, I, p. 423. Dufferin to Russell,
421, See above, pp. 29-33.

422, Cf. lloore's statement, quoted above: "If Khorsheed Pasha
were sincere in his desire to restore order in the dis-
turbed district, he has abundant means at his disposal..."
(British Consular Files., Moore to Bulwer, llo. 16, llay 9,
1860,) Also Poujoulat, op.cit., pp. 64-8, cited above,
for instances of Khlirshid's intrigues.

423. See Abkarius..%g. cit., Scheltema introduction, pp. 25-6,
and Documents Diplomatigques, p. 201, both cited above.
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system in the country but powerless to change it, except perhaps
indirectly by creating anarchy. Whether she actually desired the
annihilation of Druse and Christian, as Yazbak and others claim,
or whether she was satisfied to have the existing system of
government demonstrated a failure, or whether her misdeeds may
be blamed only on individual officials, Turkey lacked the
necessary responsibility, and therefore the will, to keep order
in Lebanon.

But again, did the Ottomans subvert an anti-feudal
struggle into an inter-religious one? Or did they simply encour-
age discord in whatever form it arose, sectarian or otherwise?

If they incited the Druses against the llaronites, was it not
because the opportunity presented itself -- that the animosity
between the two groups already existed?

There were enough reasons for a Druse-Maronite conflict
without conscious subversion by any party of the feudal issue.
The two issues were already sufficiently entangled, as we have
said, to subvert themselves. It would be significant were
evidence to appear that the Druse subjects of the Druse
Huqaga'jis were rebellious, and were persuaded by their Huqata' jis
to turn with them against the Christians instead -- or that the
converse happened among the Christians in the north -- but such
evidence is lacking. We do have evidence that the rights
newly gained by the Christians under Ibrahim Pasha, the latter's
use of them against Druse rebels, the conversion to Christianity
of Amir BashIr II, and support from Catholic ZIZurope tended to
make the lMaronites, and particularly their clergy, overly con-

scious of the favored position to which they had been exalted.
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We have further evidence that the feudal institution was
progressively weakened from the reign of Bashir II through the
Mixed Districts arrangements of 1845 to the Kisrawin revolt, and
that by the time of the latter event the interests of the
lMaronite Church and those of the landlord had broken apart.
We should prefer to emphasize these facts than to lay Lebanon's
misfortunes at the door of a handful of petty individuals, who
could perhaps make use of historical circumstances but did not
create them.

Yazbak's initial premise, that the primary fact of
social change in Lebanon from 1840 to 1860 was the peasant's bid
for emancipation, therefore seems incomplete., The cleavage
between tenant and feudal lord must be placed alongside that
between Christian and Druse (or better, Catlolic and non-Catholic),
Maronite civil governor and Maronite clergy, llaronite and Turk,
French protegé and Inglish protegé. and, in some cases, French
Consul and lMaronite. It was this abundant store of dissatisfac-
tions and antagonisms that combined to produce nationwide anarchy

and eventually civil war,
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APPENDIX A.

Male population of the Mugata'ahs - (1849)*

Christians Druses Muslim
al-Zawia 1731 - 60
al-Klra 2500 ~-- 126
al-Quwaita' 1458 - 139
Jubbat Bisharri 10200 - -
Bilad al-Batriin 6803 - 188
Bilad Jubail 5000 - 1600
al-Fattﬂ.l 2099 - -
Kisrawan 10044 - 19
al-Qati' 4181 -- -
al-Matn 6699 2154 105
Sahil Beirut 3000 -- 300
al-Ghardb al-Asfal 1451 1081 -
al-Gharb al-A'la 1563 771 100
al-Shahar 1631 990 -
al-Jurd 2016 891 -
al-ManE§if 3894 1138 10
al-'Arqiib 1305 1153 -
al-Shif 1325 3517 B
Iqlim Jazzin 3271 97 -
al-Shif al-Biyadl 11473 -- 1000
Iqlim al-Tuffah 1784 31l --
Iqlim al-Khariib 1502 200 815
Jabal al-RThan 8735; 1§6§§ 6322

* _ Copied from al-Shidy&3q, op.cit., p. 34.
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APPENDIX B.

Convention of Peace Between the Christians and the Drusgs,18§0,*

We, the undersigned Kaimakam, Onakils (Ouakils),
Mokatadgis, Dwan (Diwan% and the principal people among

the Christians, having gone according to the orders of

His Excellency the Mushir of Saida, to His Excellency the
Kada and Kaimakam of His Escellency Onasfi (Ouasfi) Effendi,
after having conferred with the Kalmakam, the Onakils,
Mokatadgis, Dwan and principals of the Druses, endeavouring
both one and the other to root out the causes of disunion
which have taken place, and to secure public tranquillity
for the future, conformably to the orders of His Excellency
and for the love of the country.

We admit that since the commencement of these
disturbances, the Government, the Chiefs of the country,
the reasonable men and those who love the country and
tranquillity, have never ceased to prevent their taking
place. But whereas from the machinations of those who love
disorder, and principally persons who have no pity on new-
born babes, young boys and girls, and from the obstinacy of
unreasonabie men, they were not able to prevent war from
breaking out, admitting also that in such a state of things
there is no other means of putting an end to the effusion
of blood, and producing a general peace than concluding a
treaty between the belligerent parties, conformably to the
condition of that which was made in the year 1261 of the
Hegira (1845), which is "Oblivion of what has taken place,"

It has consequently been agreed, with the help of
God, to draw up this treaty of General ﬁeace on the above-
mentioned conditions, and that for all that has happened from
the commencement of %he general war to the present time none
of the parties has the right of making any claims either for
the present or the future; that after the signature of this
treaty whoever shall seek to break the peace shall be
immediately punished by the authorities, and whoever shall

* ~ Copied from Abkarius, op.cit., Appendix,
First published in the London Times, July
30, 1860.
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endeavour to protect him shall be also punished., All
the chiefs must in such a case unite to prevent the re-
currence of such g fact.

The orders of the authorities will be issued in
conformity to the regulations of the Mountain. The Kaimakam
and the Mokatadgis must also conform their actions to the
administrative regulations of the Lebanon without any change,
and must promptly execute all the orders of the authorities,
and make the latter acquainted with the state of affairs
whenever it may be necessary so to do. They must use all
their efforts to promote union, friendship and concord bet-
ween the two nations; to procure the tranquillity and wel-
fare of all its inhabitants and particularly to endeavour to
bring every individual back to his house, to live there in
peace, and resume the possession of his property, without
anyone throwing any obstacle or molesting him in so doing.
They shall in case of need, lend their cooperation to the
people, in conformity with the regulations of the Government
and with the aid of His Excellency the Muschir.

Prompt means shall be adopted as soon as possible
to put an end to any cause of disunion, and restore relations
of friendship and general tranquillity, conformably to the
will and the orders of the Sultan, whom God preserve, and to
the intentions of His Excellency the MuschIr. But, as it is
admitted that the principal causes of disorder are to be
found in the carelessness with which the orders and regula-
tions of the administration are executed, the undersigned
beseech His Excellency to take effective measures for the
administration of justice with impartiality to every one.

All the Mokatadgis and officials must perform the
duties confided to them with zeal and attention, in con-
formity with the regulations of the Mountain. w thout allow-
ing anyone to be treated with the slightest Injustice -
duties which it is hoped they will fulfil with conscientious
eagerness and impartiality.

Conformably with the above peace is concluded
between us on the condition above named, and it has been
considered proper to draw up four coples of it, signed by
each nation, two of which will be exchanged be%ween the
parties, and two will be presented to His Excellency the
Muschir, to be kept in the archives of the government, and
Served as the rule of conduct for the present and the

uture.

(Here follow the signatures)



APPENDIX C.

Speeches in the House of Commons, August 17 1860, on the
massacres in Syria.* (See above, pp 193-1955

THE SYRIAN MASSACRES.-QUESTION,

Mr. Monsell said he wished to know what instructions
had been given to Lord Dufferin on his appointment as
Commissioner to Syria with reference to the atrocities
recently perpetrated there, and whether those instructions
would be laid on the table of the House? Within the last
two or three days a new set of papers had been printed with
regard to these lamentable occurrences, and among them a
most remarkable letter from Mr, Cyril éraham, a gentleman
of great ability, sent by the European Powers to Syria to
ascertain what were the real facts with regard to these
horrible massacres. The scenes which that gentleman
described were, he (Mr. Monsell) ventured to say, such as it
never could have entered into the mind of any man to con-
celve. The atrocities were utterly abominable. Mr. Graham
stated in the most distinet manner that the Turkish
authorities - many of them being of the highest grade in the
district - were actually accomplices in the perpetration of
the worst of these atrocities. Whether it would have been
possible to prevent them if more attention had been paid to
the circular letter written in April, he would not stop to
inquire. He would not stop to inquire whether, if negotiat-
ions had been entered into with France in time, the evil
might have been prevented. But it did certainly appear,
considering the history of Syria for the last twenty years
that this country was deeply responsible for these atrocit{es.
What did we do twenty years ago? We found Ibrahim Pasha
governing these disturbed districts of Syria. Under his
rule these horrible scenes did not take place. We, in
opposition certainly to France, and he believed to some of
the other Powers of Europe, recommended a change of
Government. We recommended that there should be a chief of
the Druses and a chief of the Maronites, and that there
should be a Turkish Pasha over both. We were warned in the

* _ Text copied from Hansard, Parliamentar
Debates, 3rd Series, 23 and 24 Victoriae,
1860, Vol. CLX, 23 July 1860 to 28 August
1860. Columns 1479 to 1486.



strongest manner possible by Monsieur Guizot, on several
occasion, and by Monsieur Thiers, when Prime Minister of
France, as to what the effect of this would be. We were
told that we were handing over these provinces to un-
limited sway on the part of the Sultan which never existed
before - that we were changing his suzerainty into a so-
vereignty. The gallant Admiral the Member of Southwark
(Sir Charles Napier), who took part in the transactions in
Syria in 1840, mentioned at a meeting in Edinburgh in 1845
that he felt 1t a disgrace to have had anything co do with
transactions which produced such lamentable results. In
1844 the Earl of Aberdeen distinetly recognized the position
of responsibility in which we had placed ourselves, In
1845 and in 1847 scenes on a smaller scale than those that
had just taken place - but still terrible scenes - took
place in these districts, and the Turkish Pasha in those
cases also was an accompiice, and took part in the horrible
transactions. On one occasion 150 Turkish soldiers looked
on whilst some terrible murders were perpetrated, and two
convents sacked. What he wished to know from the noble Lord
at the head of the Government was this - whether, it having
been found that the system which was adopted twenty years ago
owing very much to the influence of this country - was a
complete fallure, the commissioners who had now been sent by
the different Powers of Europe had received any instructions
to reconsider that systemy and whether the Lebanon district
would be placed in a posiéion in which it would be more
free from the tyranny of the Pashas and replaced in that
Eosition with regard to the Ottoman Porte which it occupied
n 1840.

Sir Charles Napier said, that what the right hon.
Gentleman had stated was quite correct. He had stated at
Edinburgh, and also in that House, that he felt ashamed of
the part which he had taken in the affairs of Syria. He
was sent under the orders of the Government, and he did his
duty, though very unwillingly. When the country was held by
Mehemet Ali it was peaceable and quiet. The roads were
secure and the people comparatively happy. The Turks did
everything they could to stir up rebellion in Mount Lebanon,
and he was afraid that the allied Powers did a great deal
which had the same effect. Lord Ponsonby sent an agent into
Mount Lebanon to do everything which he could to stir up
the inhabitants, and it was notorious that they were told
they would be better used by the Turks as an inducement to
take up arms. The inhabitants did take up arms, and if they
had not joined us it would have been quite impossible with
our small force to have turned 30,000 or 40,000 Egyptians
out of Mount Lebanon, and finally out of Syria. But before
the English left the mountain the tyranny of the Turks
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began before their faces. Sir Robert Stopford and

himself did everything in their power to get rid of

the Governor sent there, as he was a regular tyrannical,
cruel, old Turk. After Mehemet Ali was driven out of

Syria, they left that wretch as Governor of Mount Lebanon.
Before the ink was dry on the treaty, the Turkish troops

or the Turkish Government broke faith with Mehemet Ali.

They sent an army to disturb his retreat, and if hon.
Members read the blue-book published in #hat day, they
would see that the Turkish Government boasted of having
destroyed 30,000 men in the retreat from Damasecus. A1l

that was done under the patronage of the allied Powers,
They took no steps to leave Syria in a state of safety and
good Government. He did as much as he could, and he

advised Mehemet Ali not to receive the Pasha who was sent
by the Porte. A very short time after the English left,

the Turkish Government fomented all sorts of quarrels
between the Druses and the Maronites. Colonel Rose, in

his despatches, stated the manner in which the Turks be-
haved, and what little pains they took to prevent the
Druses and Maronites coming to blows. They did come to
blows, and almost the first thing which Colonel Rose saw
was a number of Turkish troops looking on and not preventing
the Druses marching past with Christian heads on their
plkes. If it had not been for the gallant conduct of
Colonel Rose, he believed that there would have been many
more massacres then than had since taken place. He never
believed that the plan of a chief of the Druses and a chief
of the Maronites, both under a Turk, was the way to pacify
Syria. The French were now sending troops to Syria. It
was a dangerous maneuvre for the French to be in possess-
lon of Syria. They knew what the French did when they took
possession of Rome, and he thought they would do the same
in Syria. Yet he confessed that he for one would sooner see
the French establish themselves permanently in Syria, if
they would give protection to the unfortunate inhabi%ants,
than see them again left to the tender mercies of the Turks.
He trusted that whatever arrangement the allied Powers made
with the French Government as a condition for their quitting
the mountain, some steps would be taken - he did not care
what steps they were - to protect the people. As to leav-
ing them in the hands of the Turks again, he hoped that was
out of the question. Whatever promises the Turkish Govern-~
ment might made, or their Pashas might choose to make to

the Turkish Government, Europe might depend upon it that no
attention would be paié to them after European troops were
out of the country. It was not in the nature of the Turks
to govern properly. They bought their places, and they
ground the people down as much as they could in order to re-
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pay the money which they had had to borrow at Constantinople
to purchase their places. As to expecting anything like
common humanity, it was totally out of the question. There
was never anything like humanity in Mount Lebanon. There
was no humanity for the Christians in any part of Syria.
They were the last remnant of Christians in the East. The
allied Powers, when they drove out Mehemet Ali, promised
them a better Government. They had forfeited their word.
Almost the first thing which the Turkish Government did at
that time was to arrest the chief of the Maronites, and
take him to Constantinople, where he was kept a prisoner for
ten years. He well remembered the noble Lord at the head

of the present Government making a speech of two hours the
night before Parliament was prorogued, in 1841 or 1842, and
calling on the Government to interfere. The chief was kept
a prisoner for ten years. He was sent back without any
power, and the Druses had completed the catastrophe by
cutting his throat.

P T ! «ee My hon. Friend the Member
for Perth (Mr. Kinnairdi has asked whether any instructions
have been given for the purpose of endeavouring to rescue
from the harems in the interior those unhappy women who
were carried off in great numbers from Damascus. Lord
Dufferin has instructions, when he visits Syria, to take
steps with this end in view, and communications will also
be made to the Ambassadors at Constantinople to induce the
Turkish authorities to co-operate with Lord Dufferin in
endeavouring to accomplish this object. The two chiefs,
Kurschid Pasha and Osman Bey, have, it is true, been sent to
Constantinople for the purpose of being tried. Whether one
of them, being a military officer, was received with the
military honours attaching to his rank I do not know, and
cannot consequently inform the Housej; but it is also true
that they have been sent back to Syria, to be there tried
for their crimes. Evidence will, of course, be more easily
obtained on the spot, and I hope and trust that when they
are arraigned they may receive the reward due to their
atrocities. My right hon. Friend the Member for Limerick
(Mr. Monsell) has entered into the general question of the
state of Syria. He seems to imagine that these recent events
were the result of the tyranny of the Turks. So far from
that being the case, they have in a great degree resulted
from the absence of direct authority on the part of the
Turkish empire.
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Mr. Monsell explained that he had referred, not
to the tyranny of the Turks, but to their policy of
fomenting civil war among the tribes by setting the
Druses and Maronites one against the other.

Viscount Palmerston: My right hon. Friend, at all
events, held the English Government responsible for these
events. I beg in the most direct and positive manner to
Tepudiate on our part any share of the responsibility. It
is not for me, sitting here, to say on whom that responsibi-
lity rests; it 1s not with us - that is all I will say.

There are very strange reports as to the party that was the
aggressor. In fact, there is little doubt that the

Maronites commenced the disturbances, though to what extent
they are responsible for the lamentable outbreak I am un-
able to say. There is a report that the first acts of
violence are to be attributed to them; but it is impossible to
attach importance to rumours of so vague a character. This
subject has elicited the remarks of the gallant Admiral the
Member for Southwark. My hon. and gallant Friend distinguished
himself, he will allow me to say, in the Syrian war, not

only as a naval but as a military commander, and also as a
negotiator, and performed great services in each of the three
capaclties. First of all, he gallantly conducted the attack
on Acre; he then defeated the forces of Ibrahim Pasha on land,
and finally he went to Alexandria, and extorted a very good
treaty from Mehemit Ali. An arrangement was, however, made
after the period to which he refers, by which the government
of that district, instead of being carried on by the direct
authority of the Sultan, was to be placed in the hands of two
native chiefs - a Maronite chieftain to govern the Maronites,
and a Druse chieftain to control the Druses - both being to a
certain extent subservient to the representative of the
Turkish Government. Primid facie one would imagine this to

be a good arrangement, and that these tribes would be better
governed under their own chieftains than by the direct
authority of a Turkish officer. Of late I have not had
official knowledge of the facts, but as long as I remained

at the Foreign Office and the papers passed under my observ-
atlon it was the constant endeavour of the Government at
Constantinople to overthrow this system of administration,
and to place Syria on the same footing as all the other
provinces under the control of the Porte. Therefore, so far
from the arrangement being favourable to Turkish tyranny, it
was one, on the contrary, which was specially directed to

the withdrawal of the two tribes from the direct dominion of
the Porte. And that it has to a great extent been successful
is evident, because, though you cannot expect that, in an
uncivilized country, where there are two races which have



been from time immemorial at war with each other, conflicts
will not be liable to arise there has been nothing at all
to be compared since 1841 with the atrocious outrages which
have now taken place. I am not at present prepared to lay
the instructions to Lord Dufferin on the table of the
House; it is not usual to do so when instructions are in
course of execution. But I may state that one of the
duties with which Lord Dufferin has been intrusted is to
inquire, in conjunction with his colleagues, into the

state of the country, and to suggest the system of govern-
ment that would be most conducive to the good and welfare
of the people, and most likely to prevent a recurrence of
the unfortunate collision which has taken place.,
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